
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  & PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

Hamilton Elementary School Multipurpose Room/Zoom/Facebook Live 
277 Capay Avenue, Hamilton City, CA 95951 

Wednesday, October 26, 2022 
www.husdschools.org  

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m.  

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. Please join the meeting by attending in 
person or via the livestream on Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook Group page or through the below Zoom 
link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09 

 
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in by phone: 
        +1 669 900 6833 US  
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: 826421 

 
1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 

a. Call to order and roll call 
 

_______Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  _______Rod Boone, Clerk   _______Gabriel Leal 
_______Genaro Reyes    _______Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 

may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters. 
a. Government Code Section 54957, Personnel Issue. To consider public employee, evaluation, reassignment, 

resignation, release, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and/or certificated employee. 
b. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
c. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 

Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 
 
Report out action taken in closed session. 

 
5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:   

 
6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 

  

Page 1 of 459

http://www.husdschools.org/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09


7.0   COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS: 
a. Board Member Comments/Reports
b. ASB President and Student Council President Reports

i. Hamilton High School – Alyssa Fox
ii. Hamilton Elementary School

c. District Reports (written)
i. Technology Report by Frank James (p. 4)

ii. Nutrition Services Report by Erendida Moreno (p. 5)
iii. Operations Report by Alan Joksch (p. 6)

d. Principal and Dean of Student Reports (written)
i. Ulises Tellechea, Hamilton Elementary School Principal (presentation)

ii. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students (handout)
iii. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal (p. 7)
iv. Silvia Robles, Adult School (p. 9)

e. Chief Business Official Report by Kristen Hamman (p. 10)
f. Superintendent Report by Jeremy Powell (p.11)

8.0  PRESENTATIONS: 
a. Hamilton Elementary School Presentation

9.0  CORRESPONDENCE: 
a. None

10.0   INFORMATION ITEMS: 
a. HUSD Enrollment History for 5 years (p. 12)
b. Bond Status: Fund 21 Update  (p. 14)
c. Hamilton Elementary Restroom Renovation, Trash Enclosure & Solar Array Projects Updates
d. GCOE review and approval letter of HUSD July 1, 2022 LCAP and Budget (p. 19)

11.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 
a. Review draft RFQ/P HUSD Facilities Master Plan & obtain direction regarding scope of work (p. 20)
b. HUSD 2023 Draft Board Meeting Schedule and Agenda Item Deadlines for Review and Discussion (p. 43)
c. CSBA Policies review for first readings and discussion (p. 44)

i. Board Policy 4140: Bargaining Units
ii. Board Policy 4240: Bargaining Units

iii. Board Policy 4340: Bargaining Units
iv. Administrative Regulation 4161.2: Personal Leaves
v. Administrative Regulation 4261.2: Personal Leaves

vi. Administrative Regulation 4361.2: Personal Leaves
vii. Administrative Regulation 4161.5: Military Leave

viii. Administrative Regulation 4261.5: Military Leave
ix. Administrative Regulation 4361.5: Military Leave
x. Board Policy 4216: Probationary/Permanent Status

xi. Board Policy 4218: Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action
xii. Administrative Regulation 4218: Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action

xiii. Board Policy 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements
xiv. Administrative Regulation 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements

1. Delete
xv. Board Policy 6158: Independent Study

xvi. Administrative Regulation 6158: Independent Study
xvii. Board Policy 6178: Career Technical Education

xviii. Administrative Regulation 6178: Career Technical Education
xix. Board Policy 6200: Adult Education
xx. Administrative Regulation 6200: Adult Education

xxi. Board Policy 7150: Site Selection and Development
xxii. Administrative Regulation 7150: Site Selection and Development

xxiii. Board Policy 9100: Organization
1. Option 1

Page 2 of 459



12.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 
heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 

 
13.0   ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Approve job description for Preschool Director/Career Technical Education Teacher at Hamilton High State 
Preschool. (p. 258) 

b. Approve updated Other Duty 2022-23 salary schedule  - clarification language only. (p. 262) 
c. Authorize Superintendent or designee to enter into an agreement with the lowest responsive bidder for the 

Hamilton Elementary School Restroom Alterations Project (p. 264) 
d. Approve NV5 Proposals for Construction Quality Assurance/Inspection Services for Hamilton Elementary and 

Hamilton High School Solar Array Installations. (p. 265) 
e. Approve 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified School District. (p. 288) 
f. Approve District and CSEA intention to negotiate “Sunshine” requirements for the 2022-23 school year 

consistent with Government Code Section 3547 “Sunshine” requirements.(p. 350) 
g. Approve District and HTA intention to negotiate “Sunshine” requirements for the 2022-23 school year 

consistent with Government Code Section 3547 “Sunshine” requirements. (p. 353) 
h. Approve 2022-23 Butte-Glenn Community College District Allocation Agreement for California Adult Education 

Program (p. 356) 
i. Re-Affirm 2000-01 Adopted CIF Pursuing Victory with Honor Principles. (p. 384) 
j. Approve HUSD Significant Disproportionality Report to CDE (p. 388) 

 
14.0   CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one 

motion.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or public 
request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent agenda 
approved by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 

a. Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on September 28, 2022 (p. 423) 
b. Minutes from Special Board Meeting on October 5, 2022 (p. 426) 
c. Authorize Superintendent to approve and execute Notice of Exemption of CEQA (California Environmental 

Quality Act) for HES Restroom Alterations (p. 428) 
d. Authorize Superintendent to approve and execute Notice of Exemption of CEQA (California Environmental 

Quality Act) for HES & HHS Solar Array Installations (p. 430) 
e. Warrants and Expenditures (p. 432) 
f. Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually). 

i. Out 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. None 
2. Hamilton High School 

a. None 
ii. In 

1. Hamilton Elementary School 
a. None 

2. Hamilton High School 
a. 9th x 1 

 

g. Personnel Actions as Presented: 
i. New hires: 

Erendida Moreno Interim Director of Nutrition & Student Welfare HUSD 
Sean Montgomery Child Nutrition Lead HES 
Nayeli Medina-Duran SPED Paraeducator HES 
Alissa Moreno Paraeducator/Library Media Technician HES 
Michael Watson Information Systems Technician HUSD 

 
ii. Resignations/Retirement: 

Sean Montgomery Director of Nutrition & Student Welfare HUSD 
Erendida Moreno Child Nutrition Lead HES 
   

 
15.0   ADJOURNMENT: 

Page 3 of 459



Technology Report 

Board Meeting on October 26, 2022 

Frank James, Director of Technology 

Completed and in Progress Tasks  

 

• Dell Computers: 

o Continuing to replace computers for staff members as well as upgrade some of the older 

equipment by adding more RAM to improve performance 

• E-Rate Funding: 

o We’re starting the process of Category 2 E-Rate funding. 

o This project will encompass replacing all HUSD Wi-Fi access points, the primary HUSD 

Firewall and backbone network switches. 

o I’ve submitted the SKUs to our E-rate consultants and they will be putting together the 

proposal. 

• E-Waste: 

o Mike and I palletized all of the equipment that we were decommissioning and had 

Computers for Classrooms pick up the pallets. 

o This freed up a lot of storage space as we had dozens of old monitors, phones and 

computers. 

• Speaker Clocks: 

o We’ve reprogrammed all of the speaker clocks around campus. 

o Every time the power would go out, all the clocks would revert to their default 

programming. 

o They are now updated with a static configuration that will prevent this from happening. 

Page 4 of 459



HUSD Food Service Report 

Board Meeting on October 26, 2022 

Erendida Moreno, Interim Director of Nutrition 

 

 

 

• Since the beginning of October, I have accepted the Food Service Director position.  

• I would like to report its been a smooth transition for both positions involved.  

• Sean is doing great as Lead Cook and is also helpful to me in my position. 

• I am working to better organize the High School site. 

• Claims for reimbursement of meals for August have been submitted with a total of 17 days of 

service.  

o High School Breakfast: 2,641 meals 

o High School Lunch: 2,659 meals 

o Hamilton Elementary Breakfast: 2,636 meals 

o Hamilton Elementary Lunch: 5,895 meals  

o This brings The Food service Department a total of $64,362.57  

• I am researching equipment and kitchen items for the High School kitchen under KIT grant that 

is available for immediate use.  

• As the month progresses I will be submitting claims for September.   

 

Page 5 of 459



HUSD Maintenance Report 

Board Meeting on October 26, 2022 

Alan Joksch, Director of Maintenance and Transportation 

 
 

 

Maintenance and Operations: 

• Four new drinking fountains with chilled water and attached water bottle fillers were 

purchased: 

o Three will be installed at the High School  

o One will be installed in the Elementary Cafeteria. 

• We assisted the Elementary with materials for the campus clean-up day. 

• We cleaned and prepped the High School Gym and campus for the regular Fall sports season 

wrap up.  

• We will be transitioning the fields to Soccer as the Football season ends 

 

Transportation 

• Van usage is increasing with Fall Sports Playoffs, Winter Sports beginning and Campus 

Tours 

• Daily bussing is proceeding as scheduled with added mid-day runs during parent teacher 

conferences.  

 

 

Page 6 of 459



Page 7 of 459



Page 8 of 459



Hamilton Adult Education 

Board Meeting Report-October 26, 2022 

Silvia Robles/Director 

 

 

Completed and in Progress Tasks – October, 2022 

1. Enrollment and students served to date for all programs:  

• Citizenship ............................................................ 6 

• Computer Basics .................................................. 8 

• CPR/First Aid ........................................................  October 2022 

• ESL ........................................................................ 10 

• Fine Arts/Applied Art Cake Decorating…..…………14  

• Floral Design ........................................................ 17  

• Forklift Training………. .......................................... 15  

• High School Diploma ............................................ 16 

TOTAL: .............................................................86 

 

2. Enrollment and Testing is ongoing as needed. 

3. Participated in “Dia Del Campesino” event in Chico, Ca.  

4. Outreach and recruit with non-profit organizations, local businesses, employers… 

5. WIOA II Network Meeting 

6. Conduct Employment and Earnings Survey of former students who left program.  

7. Complete Technology Skills Survey with current students. 

8. A new course in Applied Art/ Cake Decorating group 1 was implemented back in 

September and is now concluding 6 weeks of introductory skills.  

9. Arrangements for a 2nd group of Cake Decorating to start in November is now 

underway. 

Page 9 of 459



Hamilton Unified School District

General Fund - Unrestricted and Restricted

October 26, 2022 Board Report

2022-23 2022-23 2021-22 2021-22

Approved Year To Date Approved Year To Date

Budget As of 10/18/22 Budget As of 10/18/21

Revenues

LCFF Sources 8,933,097$    722,795$        8,125,100$    1,412,439$     

All Other Federal Revenue 1,069,285$    4,422$             236,750$        168,317$        

Other State Revenue 368,759$        70,782$          553,175$        95,859$          

Other Local Revenue 80,829$          25,470$          46,669$          50,493$          

Other Financing Sources -$                 31,016$          -$                 -$                 

Total Revenues 10,451,970$  854,485$        8,961,694$    1,727,108$     

Expenditures

Certificated Personnel Salaries 3,870,816$    736,837$        3,580,239$    672,588$        

Classified Personnel Salaries 1,346,175$    316,385$        1,168,056$    272,696$        

Employee Benefits 2,171,864$    499,353$        2,059,770$    453,656$        

Books and Supplies 595,189$        192,328$        738,305$        99,816$          

Travel and Conferences 128,177$        33,344$          111,724$        5,501$             

Dues and Memberships 13,650$          14,426$          14,850$          10,834$          

Other Insurance 112,347$        112,347$        97,584$          91,902$          

All Other Utilities 273,000$        110,276$        273,000$        104,303$        

Rents/Leases/Repairs 61,275$          19,964$          72,245$          23,794$          

Other Operating Expenditures 409,557$        134,546$        416,429$        182,147$        

Capital Outlay 346,533$        41,431$          405,000$        118,726$        

Other Outgo 1,485,551$    13,262$          896,147$        10,579$          

Total Expenditures 10,814,134$  2,224,499$     9,833,349$    2,046,542$     

Net Increase (Decrease) in Fund (362,164)$      (1,370,014)$   (871,655)$      (319,434)$       

Beg. Fund Balance at 7/1/22 (21-22 Unaudited Actuals) 2,453,356$    

Projected Ending Fund Balance 2,091,192$    

P
age 10 of 459



HUSD Superintendent Report  

Board Meeting on October 26, 2022 

Jeremy Powell, Ed. D. 

 

October tends to be a LONG month for many different reasons: changing of the weather, the “newness” of school 
has begun to wear off, and students begin to push the boundaries their teachers have earlier put in place.  This 
year, however, October has flown by!  The excitement of learning and “regular” school activities has created an 
environment throughout the District of renewed hope and pride in our schools!  Our teachers and staff are 
focused on supporting ALL students in their academic and emotional needs. 

 

District Highlights for September & October:

 

● Hamilton High School continues to shine in the classroom and community: 
o Gear Up Partnership with UC Davis is helping to support our students as they look beyond 

high school through multiple trips to colleges throughout California. 
o Athletics continue to thrive by providing our student-athletes the opportunity to learn the 

critical skills of teamwork,  dedication, and overcoming adversity.  All of our teams have 
represented our school and community with great honor and pride!   

o College and Scholarship Night was a great success!  Our Library was packed with parents 
eager to help their children look ahead to the exciting year planned for them! 

● Hamilton Elementary continues to connect with parents and students: 
o Academic Parent Teacher Teams!  This year we have 12 teachers providing teacher-parent 

partnerships to better support student learning.   
o The Hamilton Elementary “Zen Den” is providing a safe place where students are supported 

emotionally and socially.  Working with an adult, students are able to learn self-regulation 
techniques in a quiet and calm environment. 

o Final plans and bids have gone out for the Elementary School restroom renovation, the trash 
area has been DSA approved, and solar panels will be installed at both HES and HHS over the 
Winter Break! 

   
● Make sure to Follow us on: 

o Instagram: HamiltonUnified 
o Twitter: @hamiltonunified 
o Facebook: HamiltonUnifiedSchool District 

 

Upcoming Events:

● October 27th: Halloween Carnival 

● November 7st: Bond Oversight Committee Meeting in the Library @ 5:30 

● November 11th-No School Veterans Day

● November 21nd -27th: Thanksgiving Break 

● December 7th: HULC in HHS Library at 3:30 

● December 14th: HUSD Board Meeting in HHS Library @ 5:30 

Page 11 of 459



HUSD ENROLLMENT OVER SIX YEARS

2017-2023

269 HHS 286 HHS 265 HHS 295 HHS 288 HHS 299 HHS

12 EBHS 9 EBHS 13 EBHS 11 EBHS 10 EBHS 16 EBHS

279 K-5 292 K-5 272 K-5 269 K-5 260 K-5 269 K-5

133 6-8 125 6-8 153 6-8 146 6-8 149 6-8 128 6-8

693 ENROLLMENT 712 ENROLLMENT 703 ENROLLMENT 723 ENROLLMENT 707 ENROLLMENT 712 ENROLLMENT

672.21 ADA 687.87 ADA 668.36 ADA 686.28 ADA 658.76 ADA 691.45 ADA

Enrollment and ADA totals above are based on P2 Data Reporting except current year based on current reporting

5

2021-222020-212019-202018-192017-18

1 2 3 4 6

2022-23

693

712

703

723

707
712

672.21

687.87

668.36

686.28

658.76

691.45

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23

D
is

tr
ic

t 
En

ro
llm

e
n

t 
&

 A
D

A

Enrollment  ADA

Enrollment & ADA by School Year

P
age 12 of 459



HUSD ENROLLMENT OVER SIX YEARS

2017-2023

#STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE

12 TK 12 TK 11.29 12 TK 11.15 TK TK

37 K 38 K 29.86 37 K 35.61 K K

42 1 43 1 40.93 43 1 41.61 1 1

47 2 47 2 45.14 47 2 45.55 2 2

45 3 44 3 44.00 45 3 43.55 3 3

46 4 46 4 44.64 45 4 44.06 4 4

40 5 40 5 38.57 40 5 38.58 5 5

39 6 38 6 38.07 38 6 37.52 6 6

47 7 47 7 45.57 47 7 45.85 7 7

45 8 43 8 42.71 43 8 42.76 8 8

96 9 97 9 93.93 96 9 92.88 9 9

64 10 64 10 62.43 63 10 61.06 10 10

82 11 80 11 78.57 80 11 77.85 11 11

77 12 76 12 74.5 76 12 73.42 12 12

719 TOTAL 715 TOTAL 690.21 712 TOTAL 691.45 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00

#STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE #STU GRADE

TK TK TK TK TK

K K K K K

1 1 1 1 1

2 2 2 2 2

3 3 3 3 3

4 4 4 4 4

5 5 5 5 5

6 6 6 6 6

7 7 7 7 7

8 8 8 8 8

9 9 9 9 9

10 10 10 10 10

11 11 11 11 11

12 12 12 12 12

0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00 0 TOTAL 0.00

ADA

2022-23

8/29-9/23
ADA

2022-23

ADA

ADA

2022-23

ADA

2022-23

ADA

2022-23

2022-23 2022-23

2022-23

8/16/2022

2022-23

8/1-8/26/22

ADA

2022-23

ADA

P
age 13 of 459



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2022-23

For October 26, 2022 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through October 18, 2022

PO #/Pymt ID Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable*

252-2475134 7/12/2022 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 2022-23 750.00$                

PO23-00161 8/17/2022 Division of the State Architect (DSA) Filing fees for Elem Trash Project 500.00$                

PO23-00066 9/21/2022 Robertson Erickson Inc. Elem Trash Project - civil engineering services for design 2,000.00$             

PO23-00023 10/5/2022 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to expansion property 357.50$                
Total expenditures through 10/18/22 3,607.50$             

*  YES means the expenditure is eligible for state reimbursement using a formula depending on the type of expenditure.

P
age 14 of 459



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2021-22

For August 24, 2022 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through June 30, 2022

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable*

PV 16 9/8/2021 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; RE: Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 750.00$                 No

22-105 8/18/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,400.00$             Yes

22-105 10/13/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,680.00$             Yes

22-105 3/16/2022 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,080.00$             Yes

22-105 5/27/2022 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,500.00$             Yes

22-105 6/22/2022 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 2,520.00$             Yes

20-495 10/20/2021 Integrated Educational Planning & Programming Building/Expansion Project 22,740.00$           

22-287 12/1/2021 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 1,150.00$             n/a

22-287 3/2/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 447.50$                 n/a

22-287 5/27/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 447.50$                 n/a

22-287 6/22/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 1,342.50$             n/a

22-287 6/30/2022 Robertson Erickson Surveying/civil engineering for HES trash area 2,237.50$             n/a
Total expenditures through 6/30/2022 41,295.00$           

*  YES means the expenditure is eligible for state reimbursement using a formula depending on the type of expenditure.

P
age 15 of 459



 Building Fund 21 (Bond) Expenditures for 2020-21

For September 22, 2021 HUSD Board Meeting

Total Expenditures through June 30, 2021

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable*

PV 1 7/22/2020 Bank of New York Mellon Paying Agent Fee; RE: Election of 2018, GO Bonds, Series A 750.00$                No

423 9/23/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 490.50$                Yes

423 10/21/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 2,256.00$             Yes

423 12/2/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 90.00$                   Yes

423 12/9/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 12,913.50$           Yes

423 2/3/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 3,598.50$             Yes

423 2/24/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 10,069.50$           Yes

423 3/24/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 14,973.00$           Yes

423 4/28/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 8,113.50$             Yes

423 5/26/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 5,380.50$             Yes

423 6/30/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 2,130.00$             Yes

423 6/30/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 5,023.50$             Yes

EP 71 6/30/2021 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal fees related to land acquisition 306.00$                Yes

PV 12 10/7/2020 Department of Toxic Substances Control - DTSC Property purchase testing 577.58$                Yes

21-150 8/19/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,360.00$             Yes

21-150 9/16/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 4,480.00$             Yes

21-150 10/14/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 3,920.00$             Yes

21-150 11/10/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 4,200.00$             Yes

21-150 12/9/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 2,520.00$             Yes

21-150 1/13/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,120.00$             Yes

21-150 2/10/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,120.00$             Yes

21-150 6/30/2021 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Program Management Services 1,680.00$             Yes

PV 32 11/10/2020 Hamilton Unified Revolving Fund for Glenn County File a parcel map in Glenn County 1,136.00$             No

PV 91 6/2/2021 Hamilton Unified Revolving Fund for Glenn County Timios Title - closing costs for purchase of property 2,335.28$             No

ER 5 6/30/2021 Revolving Ck# 1678 refund refund - parcel map - See PV 32 dated 11/10/20 (1,136.00)$            No

20-495 6/16/2021 Integrated Educational Building/Expansion Project 10,260.00$           No

19-515 11/10/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Study/Expansion 2,097.38$             Yes

19-515 11/10/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Study/Expansion 2,186.63$             Yes

21-152 8/19/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,650.00$             Yes

21-152 10/21/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 740.00$                Yes

21-152 12/16/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 540.00$                Yes

21-152 12/16/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,105.00$             Yes

21-152 2/3/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 180.00$                Yes

21-152 2/24/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 740.00$                Yes

21-152 6/23/2021 Robertson Erickson Inc Final survey and map package for county recorder 1,225.00$             Yes

448 9/2/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal ad for public hearing related to high school expansion 82.00$                   Yes

TV 301 3/19/2021 Timios Escrow Deposit into escrow for acquisition of property 50,000.00$           Yes

TV 353 5/7/2021 Timios Escrow Purchase of property 1,073,500.00$     Yes
Total expenditures through 6/30/2021** 1,235,713.37$     

*  YES means the expenditure is eligible for state reimbursement using a formula depending on the type of expenditure.
 

** Total expenditures through 6/30/21 after year end closing entries.

P
age 16 of 459



FUND 21 (Bond) Expenditures

FY 2019-2020

PO # Date Vendor Description Amount Reimbursable

423 9/27/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 802.00$                Yes

423 10/30/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,126.00$             Yes

423 11/13/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 165.00$                Yes

423 12/11/2019 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 2,969.00$             Yes

423 1/8/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518/1103 807.00$                Yes

423 5/6/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 754.50$                Yes

423 5/20/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,833.50$             Yes

423 6/24/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 1,194.50$             Yes

423 6/30/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 2,179.50$             Yes

423 6/30/2020 Dannis Woliver Kelley Legal Fees related to land acquisition - matter ending 518 9,317.00$             Yes

19397 9/27/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,057.63$             Yes

19397 9/27/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,445.00$             Yes

19397 10/16/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 2,960.00$             Yes

19397 10/23/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 171.62$                Yes

19397 12/11/2019 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 12,940.58$           Yes

19397 2/5/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 12,895.93$           Yes

19397 2/5/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 560.00$                Yes

19397 3/18/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 4,475.12$             Yes

19397 3/18/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,252.38$             Yes

19397 6/17/2020 Holdrege & Kull (NV5) Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 1,366.98$             Yes

19515 9/27/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 4,692.02$             Yes

19515 10/2/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 5,009.48$             Yes

19515 11/20/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 9,667.98$             Yes

19515 11/20/2019 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 14,715.59$           Yes

19515 6/17/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 15,933.69$           Yes

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 430.49$                Yes

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 9,341.19$             Yes

19515 6/30/2020 Placeworks Inc. CEQA Review; expansion project 2,588.26$             Yes

20202 9/27/2019 Department of Toxic Substances Control - DTSC Property Purchase Testing 14,480.00$           Yes

20219 9/27/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,040.00$             Yes

20219 9/27/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,200.00$             Yes

20219 11/13/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,480.00$             Yes

20219 12/11/2019 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 3,080.00$             Yes

20219 1/15/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 2,520.00$             Yes

20219 2/12/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 2,380.00$             Yes

20219 3/11/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,480.00$             Yes

20219 4/15/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,320.00$             Yes

20219 5/20/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 3,920.00$             Yes

20219 6/17/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 4,200.00$             Yes

20219 6/30/2020 Educational Facilities Program Management LLC Consulting for HHS Expansion Project 5,180.00$             Yes

20247 11/20/2019 Timios Title Title Report for new property 400.00$                Yes

20287 10/9/2019 Robertson Erickson Inc. Survey for land 3,250.00$             Yes

20287 6/30/2020 Robertson Erickson Inc. Survey for land 3,250.00$             Yes

20495 6/30/2020 Integrated Educational Planning & Programming Building/Expansion Project 4,800.00$             No

PV 98 3/11/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal Ad - Notice of Prep. of a Prelim. Environmental Assess. 90.20$                  Yes

PV 119 6/17/2020 Sacramento Valley Mirror Legal Ad - Expansion Project 139.40$                Yes
Total expenditures through 6/30/2020 193,861.54$        

P
age 17 of 459



2018-19 Bond and Property Expenses

Vendor PO # Description Amount Reimbursable

California Appraisals 19-567 Appraisal for future site 4,000.00$   Yes

Educational Facilities Program Management LLC 19-134 Bond Development & Election 34,440.00$ Yes

Glenn County Elections PV#69 Bond Election Fees 3,466.00$   No

Holdrege & Kull (NV5) 19-309 Environmental Site Assessment 4,600.00$   Yes

Holdrege & Kull (NV5) 19-397 Prelim Assessment #032-230-015 4,060.62$   Yes

HUSD Revolving Fund 19-524 New property project 1,500.00$   Yes

Placeworks Inc. 19-514 Title 5 Risk Assessment 15,210.00$ Yes

Placeworks Inc. 19-515 CEQA Review; Expansion Project 5,877.75$   Yes

School Works Inc. 18-639 Development Fee Study 6,000.00$   No

Western Valuation Professional 19-596 Appraisal - new property 3,500.00$   Yes

Dannis Woliver Kelley 423 matter # 10518 Property Purchase Negotiaion 6,470$         Yes

Dannis Woliver Kelley 423 matter # 10418 2018 Bond Discussions 1,017$         No

Total Amount Expended 90,140.87$ 

Reimbursable Total 79,657.87$ 

2018-2019 Bond and Property Related Expenses

P
age 18 of 459



Page 19 of 459



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

REQUEST FOR STATEMENTS OF 
QUALIFICATIONS/PROPOSALS 
 
LONG-RANGE FACILITIES MASTER PLAN 
DEVELOPMENT 
 
HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
HUSD 
 
Issued: xx, xx 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS & SCHEDULES 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 20 of 459



 

Page  Title 
3 Notice Inviting Statements of 

Qualifications/Proposals 
4 Summary 

4 Scope of Work 
5 RFQ/P Requirements 
5 Evaluation Criteria 
6 Area Calculations Recap 
6 Location of Services 
7 Agreement 

11 Exhibit A: Scope of Services 
12 Exhibit B: Compensation 
13 Exhibit C: General Terms and Conditions 
17  Exhibit D: Insurance 

Addenda – All addenda issued by the District become a part of the RFQ/P 
 

SCHEDULES 
 

RFQ/P Available:         
Request for Information By:   

Proposals Due By:         

Presentations/Interviews (if needed):     

Consultant Selection:       
Board Approval of Consultant Contract:   

 
 
 
 
 

END OF DOCUMENT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21 of 459



 

NOTICE 
INVITING STATEMENTS OF QUALIFICATIONS/PROPOSALS FOR 
DEVELOPMENT OF A LONG-RANGE FACILITIES MASTER PLAN 

FOR HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT (HUSD) 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Governing Board of the Hamilton Unified School District will 
receive up to, but not later than, day of week, month day, 2022at xx:xx p.m. local time, 
statements of qualifications and proposals for Facilities Master Plan Development as outlined in 
the RFQ/P. Responses are to be delivered to the HUSD District Office located at 620 Canal 
Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951. 
 
A copy of the RFQ/P is available for download from the HUSD website at the following web 
address: 
INSERT LINK 
 
Each bid must conform and be fully responsive to the RFQ/P. 
 
The District reserves the right to reject any and all proposals and to waive any informalities or 
irregularities in the bidding. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 22 of 459



 
SUMMARY 

Hamilton Unified School District is requesting proposals from qualified consultants to 
create a Long-Range Facilities Master Plan for the District's five schools and support 
facilities. The plan shall identify facility needs for the next ten (10) years. This plan will 
be utilized to guide planning, operations, and financial decisions regarding District 
facilities and programs. 

 
Hamilton Unified School District incorporates over ?? square miles in Glenn County, 
California, and provides quality educational services to 709 students in grades TK-12. The 
schools offer TK-8, 7-12, 9-12 and 10-12 configurations along with a preschool program. 
Hamilton is located 102 miles north of Sacramento in a lush agricultural area near the 
Sacramento River. Hamilton High School and Hamilton Elementary School unified in 
2009. 

 
Scope of Work: 

 
The consultant shall seek input from the District and various stakeholders to create a 
10-year master plan to serve as a basis for future facilities planning, operations, and 
financial decisions. 

 
The master plan will include an overview of the school district and include specific 
components: educational program plans, facility standards based on existing and/or future 
needs, facility condition and suitability assessments of all schools and support buildings, 
capacity and utilization analyses, enrollment projections, demographics study, and capital 
availability analysis. Among other things, the master plan needs to include the following 
information: 

 
1. Assessments of each facility, including operating condition, 

mechanical/electrical equipment condition, fire/life/safety issues, pedestrian and 
vehicle safety, security, athletic facilities, utility infrastructure, educational 
suitability, energy consumption, space utilization, and technology infrastructure. 
Consultant shall conduct site inspections and review facilities histories. 

 
2. The consultant shall work with the District to define the specific types and 

characteristics of spaces for the assessment. Evaluate how facilities meet standards 
and support specific functions, including both instructional areas (i.e., classrooms, 
labs, media center, gym) and other supporting areas (i.e., administration, clinic, 
counseling, cafeteria, playgrounds, etc.). 

 
3. Consultant shall utilize the District-approved High School Educational 

Specifications as a guide and provide recommendations for Elementary School 
Educational Specifications to be consistent with the District's Educational 
Facilities Program. 

 
 

Page 23 of 459



4. Identify expansion, remodeling, and new schools needed to meet the projected 
student enrollment and the instructional goals of the education program.  

5. Identify missing, current, and future facility gaps. 

6. Identify and quantify all deficient conditions in terms of deferred maintenance, 
preventative maintenance, and code compliance (including building and fire/life 
safety code noncompliance issues). Define clearly and accurately the cause or 
nature of each deficient condition and propose methods of correction for each 
deficient condition. 

 
7. Define strategies to improve site vehicle and pedestrian circulation, safety, 

security, and functionality of school grounds and surrounding roads. 
 

8. Include community engagement from the school community, school board, 
staff, and other community members regarding the facility issues. Consultant 
shall also propose additional methods (e.g., website, interviews, surveys, 
community forums and focus groups) to gather information and schedule to 
obtain additional community input regarding school facilities. 

 
9. Provide a yearly schedule of projected facility needs and their associated costs 

for the next 10 years. 
 

10. Provide cost estimates for each project identified by industry standards, published 
construction and facilities maintenance cost estimating data that includes 
appropriate adjustments for local labor and material costs. Costs shall include soft 
costs for design fees, architect/engineering (A/E), Project Manager (PM) fees, 
DSA inspector fees, and permit fees, as well as the identification of appropriate 
escalation and contingency costs. 

 
11. The use of life cycle cost analysis and remaining useful life will be used to 

determine if a building or building component should be repaired or replaced. 
 

Request for Proposal Requirements: 
 

1. Firm Submitting information: Provide firm name, address, contact, and the 
number of years providing facility condition and functional adequacy assessment 
services and master planning services. Include a statement of capability to 
complete the scope of work. 

 
2. Project team: Include an organizational chart depicting proposed team 

members' reporting responsibilities—from company officers to professional 
field staff. Include resumes for each team member. Please list possible 
consultants you might use. 

 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 459



3. Project experience: Provide a brief description of Facility Condition Assessment, 
Deferred Maintenance, Preventative Maintenance Planning experience, and master 
planning services. Provide three examples of projects ongoing or completed within 
the last three years that include(d) Facility Condition Assessment, Deferred 
Maintenance Planning, and Preventative Maintenance services. 

4. List references and provide phone numbers of owner's representatives. Please 
include at least two examples of small public K-12 districts, preferably more, that 
are located in Northern California. 
 

5. Technical approach and management plan: Provide the firm's technical 
approach and management plan. 

 
6. Fee Proposal 

 
7. Schedule: Provide a proposed schedule that includes at least the following: 

 
a) Initial date available to start 
b) Reviews with district key staff 
c) Field data collection 
d) Project planning 
e) Budget development 
f) Project building workshop with district staff and other appropriate 

individuals or groups. 
g) Community Outreach Meetings (number of and frequency) 
h) Estimated draft completion 

 
Evaluation Criteria: 

 
Hamilton Unified School District shall use the following criteria in evaluating proposals 
received. A review and selection committee composed of key district officials will 
evaluate proposals. Consideration may also be given to any additional information 
helpful to the District. The District is not bound to accept the lowest-priced proposal if 
that proposal is not the most advantageous to the District as determined by the selection 
committee. 

 
Scoring Criteria: 

 
30% Firm experience and staff 
20% Technical approach and 
management plan 15% Sample 
deliverables 
10% Proposed schedule 
25% Proposed fee 

 
At the District's discretion, a presentation and oral interviews may be scheduled. 

END OF DOCUMENT 

Page 25 of 459



AREA CALCULATIONS RECAP 
 

 
SCHOOL 

CLASSROOM 
COUNT 

PERM. BLDG. 
SQ. FT. 

RELOCATABLE 
SQ. FT. 

CORRIDORS 
SQ. FT. 

TOTAL 
SQ. FT. 

Hamilton Elementary 
School 

     

Hamilton High School      
Hamilton State 
Preschool 

     

Hamilton Community 
Day School 

     

Ella Barkley High      
Totals      

 

 

 

 

 

END OF DOCUMENT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26 of 459



 LOCATION OF SERVICES  

 

District Office 
 

Hamilton High School 
 

Hamilton Elementary School 

620 Canal Street 620 Canal Street 277 Capay Avenue 

Hamilton City, CA 95951 Hamilton City, CA 95951 Hamilton City, CA 95951 

 
Hamilton State Preschool 

 
Hamilton Community Day School 

 
Ella Barkley High 

620 Canal Street 535 Sacramento Avenue 620 Canal Street 

Hamilton City, CA 95951 Hamilton City, CA 95951 Hamilton City, CA 95951 

 
Hamilton Unified School District Office 

Transportation/Maintenance  

Warehouse/Food Services  

 
 

END OF DOCUMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27 of 459



INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT FOR 
SERVICES 

Facilities Master Plan Development 
 

This Agreement ("Agreement") is by and between the Hamilton Unified School 
District ("District") and [Contractor Name] ("Contractor") (together, they are referred to 
as "Parties," and individually, as a "Party"). 

 
AGREEMENT 

 

1. EXHIBITS 
 

This Agreement has multiple Exhibits. Any Exhibit that is specified in this 
Agreement is by this reference made a part of it. 

 
Exhibits include: 

 
• Exhibit A:  Scope of Services 
• Exhibit B:  Compensation 
• Exhibit C:  General Terms and Conditions 
• Exhibit D:  Insurance 

 
2. EFFECTIVE DATE AND TERM 

 
a. This Agreement is effective on [Insert Date] ("Effective Date"). 

 
b. Unless terminated or otherwise cancelled in accordance with a provision 

of this Agreement, the term of this Agreement shall be: (i) from the Effective 
Date to (ii) [insert Ending Date]. 

 
3. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

 
Contractor, in the performance of this Agreement, is and shall act as an 
independent contractor. Contractor understands and agrees that Contractor and all 
of Contractor's employees shall not be considered officers, employees, agents, 
partner, or joint venture of the District, and are not entitled to benefits of any kind 
or nature normally provided employees of the District and/or to which District's 
employees are normally entitled, including,  but  not  limited  to,  State  
Unemployment  Compensation  or W o r k e r s '  Compensation. Contractor shall 
assume full responsibility for payment of all federal, state and local taxes or 
contributions, including unemployment insurance, social security and income taxes 
with respect to Contractor's employees. 

 
4. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 
Contractor shall furnish to the District the services described in Exhibit A ("Services"). 

Page 28 of 459



5.   COMPENSATION 
Contractor shall receive payment, for Services satisfactorily rendered pursuant to 
this Agreement, as specified in Exhibit B ("Compensation"). 

 
6.   GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
The General Terms and Conditions are set forth in Exhibit C. 

 

7.   INSURANCE 
 

Exhibit D, entitled Insurance, is attached and incorporated by reference. 
 

8.   NOTICE 
 

Any notice required by this Agreement may be given either by personal 
service or by deposit (postage prepaid) in the U.S. mail addressed as follows: 

 
To District: 
Hamilton Unified School District 620 Canal Street 
Hamilton City, CA 95991 
Attn: Superintendent: Jeremy Powell 
To Contractor: [Contractor Name] [Contractor Address] 
[Contractor City, State, Zip code] Attn: [Contractor Contact] 

9.   LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 
 
Other than as provided in this Agreement, the District's financial obligations under this 
Agreement shall be limited to the payment of the compensation provided in this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in no event, shall the 
District be liable, regardless of whether any claim is based on contract or tort, for any 
special, consequential, indirect or incidental damages, including, but not limited to, lost 
profits or revenue, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement for the services 
performed in connection with this Agreement. 
 
The Parties have executed this Agreement on the dates indicated below. 
 
Hamilton Unified School District 
Date:                 , 20   
[Contractor Name] 
Date:                 , 20   
 
By:                         Print Name:                    Its:                  
 
By:                         Print Name:                    Its:      

Page 29 of 459



EXHIBIT to AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

The consultant shall seek input from the District and various stakeholders to update the 
existing 10-year master plan to serve as a basis for future facilities planning, 
operations, and financial decisions. 

 
The master plan will include an overview of the school district and include specific 
components: educational program plans, facility standards based on existing and/or future 
needs, facility condition and suitability assessments of all schools and support buildings, 
capacity and utilization analyses, enrollment projections, demographics study, and capital 
availability analysis. Among other things, the master plan needs to include the following 
information: 

 
1. Assessments of each facility, including operating condition, disability 

requirements, mechanical/electrical equipment condition, fire/life/safety issues, 
security, athletic facilities, utility infrastructure, educational suitability, energy 
consumption, space utilization, and technology infrastructure. Consultant shall 
conduct site inspections and review maintenance and operating histories. 

 
2. The consultant shall work with the District to define the specific types and 

characteristics of spaces for the assessment. Evaluate how facilities meet standards 
and support specific functions, including both instructional areas (i.e., classrooms, 
labs, media center, gym) and other supporting areas (i.e., administration, clinic, 
counseling, cafeteria, playgrounds, etc.). 

 
3. Consultant shall utilize the District-approved Educational Specifications and 

provide recommendations for updates to be consistent with the District's 
Educational Facilities Program. 

 
4. Identify expansion, remodeling, new schools, and site acquisitions needed to 

meet the projected student enrollment and the instructional goals of the education 
program. Identify opportunities for combined schools, closures, or attendance 
boundary changes. 

 
5. Identify missing, current, and future facility gaps. 

 
6. Identify and quantify all deficient conditions in terms of deferred maintenance, 

preventative maintenance, and code compliance (including building and fire/life 
safety code noncompliance issues). Define clearly and accurately the cause or 
nature of each deficient condition and propose methods of correction for each 
deficient condition. 

 
7. Define strategies to improve site vehicle and pedestrian circulation, safety, 

security, and functionality of school grounds. 

Page 30 of 459



8. Include community engagement from the school community, school board, staff, 
and other community members regarding the facility issues. Consultant shall also 
propose additional methods (e.g., website, interviews, surveys, community 
forums and focus 

 
 

INSERT SCOPE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31 of 459



EXHIBIT B to AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 
 

COMPENSATION 
 

A. Compensation 
 

Not to exceed the sum of         . 
 

B. Payment 
 

Payment shall be made (for all undisputed amounts) within thirty (30) calendar days 
after Contractor submits an invoice to the District for Services actually completed. 

 
  

Page 32 of 459



EXHIBIT C to AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 
 

GENERAL TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS 

 

1. STANDARD OF CARE. Contractor's Services will be performed, findings obtained, a n d  reports and 
recommendations prepared in accordance with generally and currently accepted principles and 
practices of his/her profession for services to California school districts. 

2. ORIGINALITY OF SERVICES. Contractor 
agrees that all technologies, formulae, procedures, processes,  methods,  writings,  ideas,  dialogue, 
compositions,  recordings, teleplays, and video productions prepared for, written for, or submitted to 
the District and/or used in connection with this Agreement, shall be wholly original to Contractor and shall 
not be copied in whole or in part from any other source, except those submitted to Contractor by the District 
as a basis for such services. 

3. PRODUCT. Contractor understands and agrees that all matters produced under this Agreement shall 
become the property of the District and cannot be used without the D i s t r i c t ' s  express written 
permission. The District shall have all right, title, and interest in said matters, including the right to 
secure and maintain the copyright, trademark and/or patent of said matter in the name of the District. 
Contractor consents to use of Contractor's name in conjunction with the sale, use, performance, and 
distribution of the matters, for any purpose and in any medium. 

4. TERMINATION. 
a. Without Cause by District. The District may, at any time, with or without reason, terminate this 

Agreement and compensate Contractor only for services satisfactorily rendered to the date of termination. 
Written notice by the District shall be sufficient to stop further performance of services by Contractor. 
Notice shall be deemed given when received by Contractor or no later than three (3) days after the 
day of mailing, whichever is sooner. 

b. Without Cause by Contractor. Contractor may not terminate this Agreement without cause. 
c. With Cause by the District. The District may terminate this Agreement upon giving written notice 

of intent to terminate for cause. Cause shall include: 
(1) material violation of this Agreement by Contractor; or 
(2) any act by Contractor exposing the District to liability to others for personal injury or property 

damage; or 
(3) Contractor is adjudged bankrupt, Contractor makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or 

a receiver is appointed on account of Contractor's insolvency. 
Written notice by the District shall contain the reasons for such intent to terminate and unless within three 
(3) calendar days after that notice the condition or violation shall cease, or satisfactory arrangements 
for the correction thereof be made, this Agreement shall upon the expiration of the three (3) calendar days 
cease and terminate. In the event of this termination, the District may secure the required services from 
another Contractor. If the expense, fees, and/or costs to the District exceeds the cost of providing  the  
service  pursuant  to  this Agreement, Contractor shall immediately pay the excess expense, fees, 
and/or costs to the District upon the receipt of the District's notice of these expense, fees, and/or costs. 
The foregoing provisions are in addition to and not a limitation of any other rights or remedies available 
to the District. 

d. With Cause by Contractor. Contractor may terminate this Agreement upon giving of written notice of 
intention to terminate for cause. Cause shall include: 
(1) material violation of this Agreement by the District; or 
(2) any act by the District exposing Contractor to liability to others for personal injury or property damage; 

or 
(3) the District is adjudged bankrupt, the District makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 

a receiver is appointed on account of Contractor's insolvency. 
Written notice by Contractor shall contain the reasons for such intention to terminate and unless within 
thirty (30) calendar days after that notice the condition or violation shall cease, or satisfactory arrangements 
for the correction thereof be made, this Agreement shall upon the expiration of the thirty (30) calendar days 

Page 33 of 459



cease and terminate. The foregoing provisions are in addition to and not a limitation of any other rights 
or remedies available to Contractor. 

e. Upon termination, Contractor shall provide the District  with  all  documents  produced maintained 
or collected by Contractor pursuant to  this  Agreement,  whether  or  not  such documents are final or 
draft documents. 

5. INDEMNIFICATION/  DEFENSE  /HOLD HARMLESS. 
a. Generally. To the furthest extent permitted by California law, Contractor shall indemnify, defend,  

and  hold  free  and  harmless  the Indemnified Parties from any Claim to the extent that the 
Claim: 
(1) arises out of, pertains to, or relates to the negligent errors or omissions (active or passive, 

ordinary or gross), recklessness (ordinary or gross), or willful misconduct of Contractor, its 
directors, officials, officers, employees,  contractors,  subcontractors, consultants, or 
subconsultants; or 

(2) arises out of, pertains to, or relates to the performance of this Agreement 
b. Indemnified   Parties,   Defined.   The "Indemnified Parties" are the District, its officers, 

consultants, employees, and trustees. 
c. Claim, Defined. A "Claim" consists of actions, assessments, counts, citations, claims, costs, damages, 

demands, judgments, liabilities (legal, administrative or otherwise), losses, notices, expenses,  fines,  
penalties,  proceedings, responsibilities,   violations,   reasonable attorney's and consultants' 
fees and causes of action to property or persons, including personal injury and/or death, except that: 
(1) If the Contract is a contract for design professional services under Civ. Code, § 2782.8, a 

"Claim" shall be limited to those that arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence,  
recklessness,  or  willful misconduct of Contractor; and 

(2) If the Contract is a construction contract with a public agency under Civ. Code, § 2782, a "Claim" 
shall exclude any loss to the extent that such loss arises from the active negligence,  sole 
negligence,  or willful misconduct of the Indemnified Parties or defects in design furnished by 
those persons. 

d. The District may accept or reject legal counsel Contractor proposes to defend the District with, in its 
sole and absolute discretion, and may thereafter appoint, legal counsel to defend the District at 
Contractor's expense against a Claim set forth in Section 5.a, supra, of this Exhibit C. 

6. INSURANCE. Contractor shall procure and maintain at all times it performs any portion of the Services 
the insurances specified in Exhibit D to the Agreement. 

7. CONFIDENTIALITY.     Contractor and Contractor's agents, personnel, employee(s), and/or 
subcontractor(s) shall maintain the confidentiality of all information received in the course of 
performing the Services   ("Confidential Information"), and shall not disclose Confidential Information, 
including information derived from Confidential Information, to any person not a party to this Agreement 
without the express prior written consent of the District, except as required by law or as necessary for 
Contractor's agents, personnel, employee(s), and/or subcontractor(s) to perform the Services. If Contractor 
or any of Contractor's agents, personnel, employee(s),   and/or subcontractor(s) is served with any 
subpoena, court order, or other legal process seeking disclosure of any Confidential Information, both 
Contractor and the person served shall each promptly send to the District notice(s) of the legal process", 
but in no event shall do so any later than forty-eight (48) hours or such shorter time frame as necessary so 
that the District may exercise any applicable legal rights and remedies. Contractor shall require its agents, 
personnel, employee(s), and/or subcontractor(s), as a  condition of their  retention, appointment, 
employment, or contract, to agree to comply with the provisions of this Section, and shall not permit its 
agents,  personnel,  employee(s),  and/or subcontractor(s) access to Confidential Information in the 
absence of such Agreement being effective. The obligations imposed in this Section shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement. 

8. CONFLICT  OF  INTEREST. Through  its 
execution of this  Agreement,  Contractor acknowledges that it is familiar with the provisions of Gov. Code, 
§ 1090 et seq. and Chapter 7 of the Political Reform Act of 1974 (Gov. Code, § 87100 et seq.), and certifies that 
it does not know of any facts that constitute a violation of those provisions. In the event Contractor receives 
any information subsequent to execution of this Agreement that might constitute a violation of these 
provisions, Contractor agrees it shall immediately notify the District of this information. 

9. APPROVAL OF LEGISLATIVE BODY. This Agreement shall not be binding upon the District until the 
District's Governing Board has approved all the terms and conditions contained herein. 

Page 34 of 459



10. DISPUTES. In the event of a dispute between the parties as to performance of Services, Agreement 
interpretation, or payment, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute by negotiation and/or mediation, 
if agreed to by the Parties. Pending resolution of the dispute, Contractor shall neither rescind the Agreement 
nor stop performing the Services. 

11. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. Contractor shall observe and comply with all rules and regulations of the 
governing board of the District and all federal, state, and local laws, ordinances and regulations. Contractor 
shall give all notices required by any law, ordinance, rule and regulation bearing on conduct of the Services 
as indicated or specified. If Contractor observes that any of the Services required by this Agreement is at 
variance with any such laws,  ordinance,  rules,  or regulations, Contractor shall notify the District, in writing, 
and, at the sole option of the District, any necessary changes to the scope of the Services shall be made, and 
this Agreement shall be appropriately amended in writing, or this Agreement shall be terminated effective upon 
Contractor's receipt of a written termination notice from the District. If Contractor performs any work that is 
in violation of any laws, ordinances, rules or regulations without first notifying the District of the violation, 
Contractor shall bear all costs arising therefrom. 

12. PERMITS/LICENSES.   Contractor and all Contractor's employees or agents shall secure and maintain 
in force all permits and licenses that are required by law in connection with the furnishing of Services 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

13. SAFETY AND  SECURITY.   Contractor is responsible for maintaining safety in the performance 
of this Agreement. Contractor shall be responsible to ascertain from the District the rules and regulations 
pertaining to safety, security, and driving on school grounds, particularly when children are present. 

14. ANTI-DISCRIMINATION. It is the policy of the District that in connection with all work performed under 
contracts there be no discrimination against any employee engaged in the work because of race, religious 
creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability,  mental disability,  medical condition, genetic 
information, marital status, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or 
military and veteran status, or any other class or status protected by applicable law, and therefore Contractor 
agrees to comply with applicable Federal and California laws including, but not limited to the California 
Fair Employment and Housing Act beginning with Government Code Section 12900 and Labor Code 
Section 1735. In addition,  Contractor  agrees  to  require  like compliance by all its subcontractor(s). 

15. FINGERPRINTING  OF  EMPLOYEES. 
Contractor shall comply with the provisions of Education Code section 45125.1 regarding the 
submission  of  employee fingerprints  to the California  Department of  Justice and the completion 
of criminal background investigations of its employees if required by law to do so. Contractor shall 
not permit any employee to have any contact with District pupils until such time as Contractor has verified 
in writing to the governing board of the District that the employee has not been convicted of a felony, as 
defined in Education Code section 45122.1. Contractor's responsibility shall extend to all employees, 
subcontractors, agents, and employees or agents of subcontractors regardless of whether those individuals 
are paid or unpaid, concurrently employed by the District, or acting as independent contractors of 
Contractor. Verification of compliance with this Section shall be provided in writing to the District prior to 
each individual's contact with any student. 

16. AUDIT. Contractor shall establish and maintain books,  records,  and systems of account,  in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, reflecting all business operations of Contractor  transacted 
under this  Agreement. Contractor shall retain these books, records, and systems of account during the 
Term of this Agreement and for three (3) years thereafter. Contractor shall permit the District, its agent, 
other representatives, or an independent auditor to audit, examine, and make excerpts, copies, and transcripts from 
all books and records, and to make audit(s) of all billing statements, invoices, records, and other data related 
to the Services covered by this Agreement. Audit(s) may be performed at any time, provided that the District 
shall give reasonable prior notice to Contractor and shall conduct audit(s) during Contractor's normal business 
hours, unless Contractor otherwise consents. 

17. EVALUATION OF CONTRACTOR AND 
SUBORDINATES. The District may evaluate Contractor in any manner which is permissible under the 
law. The District's evaluation may include, without limitation: 
a. Requesting that District employee(s) evaluate Contractor and Contractor's employees and subcontractors 

and each of their performance. 
b. Announced and unannounced observance of Contractor, Contractor's employee(s), and/or 

subcontractor(s) 

Page 35 of 459



18. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE. Time is of the essence in the performance of Services and the timing 
requirements agreed upon by the Parties, if any, shall be strictly adhered to unless otherwise modified in 
writing in accordance with Section 28 of this Agreement. Contractor shall commence performance and shall 
complete all required Services no later than the dates agreed upon by the Parties. Any Services for which 
times for performance are not specified shall be commenced and completed by Contractor in a reasonably 
prompt and timely manner based upon the circumstances and direction communicated to Contractor by the 
District. 

19. PROVISIONS REQUIRED BY LAW DEEMED 
INSERTED. Each and every provision of law and clause required by law to be inserted in this Agreement 
shall be deemed to be inserted and this Agreement shall be read and enforced as though it were included. If 
through mistake or otherwise, any provision is not inserted or is not correctly inserted, then  upon  application  
of  either  Party,  the
Agreement shall be amended to make the insertion or correction. All references to statutes and regulations 
shall include all amendments, replacements, and enactments in the subject which are in effect as of the date 
of this Agreement, and any later changes which do not materially and substantially alter the positions of the 
Parties. 

20. ASSIGNMENT AND SUCCESSORS. Neither 
the District nor Contractor shall, without the prior written consent of the other Party, assign the benefit or in any 
way transfer their respective obligations under this Agreement. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 
and be binding upon the Parties hereto and, except as otherwise provided herein, upon their executors, 
administrators, successors, and assigns. 

21. SEVERABILITY. In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be construed to be illegal or invalid 
for any reason, said illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining provisions hereof, but such illegal or 
invalid provision shall be fully severable and this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal 
or invalid provision had never been included herein, unless to do so would frustrate the intent and purpose of 
this Agreement. 

22. FORCE MAJEURE. No Party shall be liable to any other Party for any loss or damage of any kind or for any 
default or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement (except for payment obligations) 
if and to the extent that the same is caused, directly or indirectly, by fire, flood, earthquake,  elements of 
nature,  epidemics, pandemics, quarantines, acts of God, acts of war, terrorism, civil unrest or political, 
religious, civil or economic strife, or any other cause beyond a Party's reasonable control. 

23. VENUE/GOVERNING LAWS. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California 
and venue shall be in the County and/or federal judicial District in which the District's principal administrative 
office is located. 

24. ATTORNEY'S FEES. If suit is brought by either Party to enforce any of the terms of this Agreement, each Party 
shall bear its own attorney's fees and costs. 

 
25. EXHIBITS. All Exhibits referred to in this Agreement are incorporated in this Agreement and made a 

part of this Agreement as if fully set forth herein. 
26. ENTIRE  AGREEMENT.   This  Agreement represents the entire Agreement between the District and  

Contractor  and  supersedes  all  prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either written or oral. 
This Agreement may be amended or modified only by an agreement in writing, signed by both the District and 
Contractor. 

27. MODIFICATION. This Agreement may be amended at any time by the written Agreement of the District and 
Contractor. 

28. WAIVER. Waiver of a breach or default under this Agreement shall not constitute a continuing waiver of a 
subsequent breach of the same or any other provision under this Agreement. 

29. AUTHORITY. The individual executing this Agreement on behalf of Contractor warrants that he/she is 
authorized to execute the Agreement on behalf of Contractor and that Contractor will be bound by the terms 
and conditions contained herein. 

30. HEADINGS AND CONSTRUCTION. Headings 
at  the  beginning  of  each  paragraph  and subparagraph are solely for the convenience of the Parties 
and are not a part of the Agreement. Whenever  required  by  the  context  of  this Agreement, the 
singular shall include the plural and the masculine shall include the feminine and vice versa. This Agreement 
shall not be construed as if it had been prepared by one of the Parties, but rather as if both Parties had prepared 

Page 36 of 459



the same. Unless otherwise indicated, all references to paragraphs, sections, subparagraphs, and subsections 
are to this Agreement. 

31. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 
original, but all of which, together, when signed by all of the Parties hereto, shall constitute one and the same 
instrument. A facsimile or electronic signature shall be as valid as an original. 

 
 
  

Page 37 of 459



EXHIBIT D to AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES 

INSURANCE 
 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract, and for X years thereafter, 

insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property which may ariase from or in 

connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, his agents, representatives, 

employees, or subcontractors. 

MIMIUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INURANCE 

Coverage shall be at least as broad as:  

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL) Insurance Services Office (ISO) Form CG 00 01 
covering CGL on an “occurrence” basis, including products and completed operations, 
property damage, bodily injury and personal and advertising injury with limits no less 
than $5,000,000 per occurrence. If a general aggregate limit applies, either the general 
aggregate limit shall apply separately to this project/ location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or 
the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required occurrence limit. 

2. Automobile Liability Insurance Services Office Form CA 0001 covering Code 1 (any 
auto), with limits no less than $5,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property 
damage.  

3. Worker’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory 
Limits, and Employers’ Liability insurance with a limit of no less than $1,000,000 per 
accident for bodily injury or disease.  

4. Builder’s Risk (Course of Construction) insurance utilizing an “All Risk” (Special 
Perils) coverage from, with limits equal to the completed value of the project an no 
coinsurance penalty provisions.  

5. Surety Bonds as described below. 
6. Professional Liability (is Design/Build), with limits no less than $2,000,000 per 

occurrence or claim, and $2,000,000 policy aggregate. 
7. Contractors’ Pollution Legal Liability and/or Asbestos Legal Liability and/or Errors 

and Omissions (if project involves environmental hazards) with limits no less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, and $2,000,000 policy aggregate. 

 

If the contractor maintains broader coverage and/ or higher limits than the minimums shown above, the 

Entity requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher limits maintained by the 

contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and 

coverage shall be available to the Entity. 

 
Self-Insured Retentions 

Self-insured retentions must declared to and approved by the Entity. The Entity may require the 

Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of ability to pay losses and 

related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention. The policy 

language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured retention may be satisfied by 

Page 38 of 459



either the named insured or Entity. The CGL and and any policies, including Excess liability policies, may 

not be subject to a self-insured retention (SIR) or deductible that exceeds $25,000 (fill in the amount for 

the comfort level for the specific Contractor and job- it could be much higher, or in the case of a very 

small Contractor, you might want it lower) unless approved in writing by Entity. Any and all deductibles 

and SIRs shall be the sole responsibility of Contractor or subcontractor who procured such insurance and 

shall not apply to the Indemnified Additional Insured Parties. Entity may deduct from any self-insured 

retention (SIR) provision that limits the satisfaction of the SIR to the Named Insured. The policy must 

also provide that Defense costs, including the Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses, will satisfy the SIR or 

deductible. Entity reserves the right to obtain a copy of any policies and endorsements for verification.   

 NOTE to Agencies: If the SIR is not paid, there is NO COVERAGE for the Insured or you as the 

Additional Insured or Indemnified Party. Since there is usually a requirement in the SIR provisions on the 

Contractor’s policy that the Named Insured Contractor (not the Agency as an Additional Insured) is the 

only party allowed to make the payment of the SIR 

Other Insurance Provisions 

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

1. The Entity, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as 
additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or 
operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including materials, parts, or 
equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations and automobiles owned, 
leased, hired, or borrowed by or on behalf of the Contractor. General liability coverage 
can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the Contractor’s insurance (at least as 
broad as ISO Form CG 20 10, GC 11 85 or both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 
20 38; and CG 20 37 forms if later revisions used). 

2. For any claims related to this project, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be 
primary and non-contributory insurance coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 
13 as respects the Entity, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance 
or self-insurance maintained by the Entity, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers 
shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. This 
requirement shall also apply to any Excess or Umbrella liability policies. 

3. Each insurance policy required by this clause shall provide that coverage shall not be 
canceled, except with notice to the Entity. 

 

Builder’s Risk (Course of Construction) Insurance 

Contractor may submit evidence of Builder’s Risk insurance in the form of Course of Contractor may 

submit evidence of Builder’s Risk insurance in the form of Course of Construction coverage. Such 

coverage shall name the Entity as a loss payee as their interest may appear.  

If the project does not involve a new or major reconstruction, at the option of Entity, an Installation 

Floater may be acceptable. For such projects, a Property Installation Floater shall be obtained that 

provides for the improvement, remodel, modification, alteration, conversion or adjustment to the 

existing buildings, structures, processes, machinery and equipment. The Property Installation Floater 

shall provide property damage coverage for any building, structure, machinery or equipment damaged, 

Page 39 of 459



impaired, broken, or destroyed during the performance of the Work, including during transit, 

installation, and testing at the Entity’s site. 

Claims Made Policies- (If at all possible avoid and require occurrence type CGL policies)  If any 

coverage required is written on a claims- made coverage form:  

1. The retroactive date must be shown, and this date must be before the execution date of 
the contract or the beginning of contract work. 

2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least 
five (5) years after completion of contract work. 

3. If coverage is cancelled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made 
policy form with retroactive date prior to the contract effective, or start of work date, the 
Contractor must purchase extended reporting period coverage for a minimum of five (5) 
years after completion of contract work.  

4. A copy of the claims reporting requirements must be submitted to the Entity for review.  
5. IF the services involved lead-based paint or asbestos identification/remediation, the 

Contractors Pollution Liability policy shall not contain lead-base paint or asbestos 
exclusions. If the services involve mold identification/remediation, the Contractors 
Pollution Liability Policy shall not contain lead-based paint or asbestos exclusions. If the 
services involve mold identification/remediation, the Contractors Pollution Liability 
policy shall not contain a mold exclusion and the definition of Pollution shall include 
microbial matter, including mold. 

 

Umbrella or Excess Policies 

The Contractor may use Umbrella or Excess Policies to provide the liability limits as requir3ed in this 

agreement. This form of insurance will be acceptable provided that all of the Primary and Umbrella or 

excess Policies shall provide all of the insurance coverages her3ein required, including, but not limited 

to, primary and non-contributory, additional insured, Self-Insured Retentions (SIRs), indemnity, and 

defense requirements. The Umbrella or Excess policies shall be provided on the underlying Commercial 

General Liability insurance. No insurance policies maintained by the Additional Insureds, whether 

primary or excess, and which also apply to a loss covered hereunder, shall be called upon to contribute 

to a loss until the Contractor’s primary and excess liability policies are exhausted.  

NOTE to Agencies: Please see the section on THE myth of “Following Form” Excess Limits 

Insurance Policies for additional explanatory information on this very common Excess policy 

problem that needs to be verified and corrected.  

Acceptability of Insurers 

Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the state with a current A.M. 

Best rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to the Entity.  

Waiver of Subrogation 

Contractor hereby agrees to waive rights of subrogation which any insurer of Contractor may acquire 

from Contractor by virtue of the payment of any loss. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that 

may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation. The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be 

Page 40 of 459



endorsed with a waiver of subrogation in favor of the Entity for all work performed by the Contractor, 

its employees, agents and subcontractors.  

 

Verification of Coverage 

Contractor shall furnish the Entity with Original certificates and amendatory endorsements or copies of 

the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause and a copy of the declarations 

and Endorsements Pages of the CGL and any Excess policies listing all policy endorsements. All 

certificates and endorsements and copies of the Declarations & Endorsements pages are to be received 

and approved by the Entity before work commences. However, failure to obtain the required 

documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the Contractor’s obligation to provide them. The 

Entity reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including 

endorsements required by these specifications, at any time. Entity reserves the right to modify these 

requirements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or 

other special circumstances. 

Subcontractors 

Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting all requirements 

stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Entity is an additional insured on insurance required 

from subcontractors. For CGL coverage, subcontractors shall provide coverage with a form at least as 

broad as CG20 38 04 13.  

Duration of Coverage 

CGL & Excess liability polices for any construction related work, including, but not limited to, 

maintenance, service, or repair work, shall continue coverage for a minimum of 5 years for completed 

Operations liability coverage.  Such Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be 

provided for at least five (5) years after completion of the contract of work. 

Surety Bonds 

1. Bid Bond 
2. Performance Bond 
3. Payment Bond 
4. Maintenance Bond 

 
The payment bond and performance bond shall be in a sum equal to the contract price. If the 

Performance Bond provides for a one-year warranty a separate Maintenance Bond is not necessary. IF 

the warranty period specified in the contract is for longer than one year a Maintenance Bond equal to 

10% of the contract price is required. Bonds shall duly executed by a responsible corporate surety, 

authorized to issue such bonds in the State of California and secured through an authorized agent with 

an office in California.  

Special Risks or Circumstances 

Page 41 of 459



Entity reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature of the risk, 

prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other circumstances. 

Page 42 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

2023 BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE AND AGENDA ITEM DEADLINES 
 

2023 Schedule For Review at 10/26/2022 Regular Meeting 

 
Time: 6:00 p.m. (public session begins at 6:00 pm., but no later than 6:30 p.m. unless 

otherwise noted on agenda) 
Location: Hamilton High School Library 

620 Canal Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 (unless otherwise noted) 

When: Fourth Wednesday of the month* (unless otherwise noted) 
 

 
 

BOARD MEETING DATE 

 
 

REGULAR OR 
SPECIAL 

 
AGENDA ITEMS 
DEADLINE TO 

DISTRICT OFFICE BY 
3:00 P.M. 

 

 
AGENDA REVIEW: 
BOARD PRESIDENT 

AND 
SUPERINTENDENT 
(subject to change) 

January 25, 2023 
 

Regular January 11, 2023 January 17, 2023 

February 22, 2023 
 

Regular February 8, 2023 February 13, 2023 

March 8, 2023 
2nd Interim & LCAP Stakeholders 

Special February 22, 2023 February 27, 2023 

March 22, 2023 
 

Regular March 8, 2023 March 13, 2023 

April 26, 2023 
 

Regular April 12, 2023 April 17, 2023 

May 24, 2023 
 

Regular May 10, 2023 May 15, 2023 

June 7, 2023 
LCAP/Budget Hearing 

Special May 24, 2023 May 30, 2023 

June 28, 2023 
Approval of LCAP and Budget 

Regular June 14, 2023 June 20, 2023 

July 26, 2023 
 

Regular July 12, 2023 July 17, 2023 
 

August 23, 2023 
 

Regular August 9, 2023 August 14, 2023 

September 27, 2023 
 

Regular September 13, 2023 September 18, 2023 

October 4, 2023 
GANN Limit & Unaudited Actuals 

Special September 20, 2023 September 25, 2023 

October 25, 2023 
*At Hamilton Elementary Multipurpose Room 

Regular October 11, 2023 October 16, 2023 

December 13, 2023 
Annual Reorganization & 1st Interim 

Regular November 29, 2023 December 4, 2023 

 
*Dates and times of meetings and workshop(s) are subject to change. 
 
   

Page 43 of 459



CSBA UPDATE CHECKLIST – September 2022 
 

District Name: Hamilton Unified School District

  

 

Contact Name: Tiffany Wilhelm  Phone: (530) 826-3261  Email: 

twilhelm@husdschools.org  
 

POLICY TITLE OPTIONS/BLANKS ADOPT 
DATE 

BP 4140 Bargaining Units New Law  

BP 4240 Bargaining Units New Law  

BP 4340 Bargaining Units New Law  

AR 4161.2 Personal Leaves New Law  

AR 4261.2 Personal Leaves New Law  

AR 4361.2 Personal Leaves New Law  

AR 4161.5 Military Leave New Law  

AR 4261.5 Military Leave New Law  

AR 4361.5 Military Leave New Law  

BP 4216 Probationary/Permanent Status New Law  

BP 4218 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action New Court Decision  

AR 4218 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action New Court Decision  

BP 6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements Fill in Blanks 
Senior project and 20 
hours of community 
service during senior 
year. 
 

  

AR 6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements Delete AR  ◼Yes   

BP 6158 Independent Study New Law  

AR 6158 Independent Study New Law  

BP 6178 Career Technical Education New Law  

AR 6178 Career Technical Education New Law  

BP 6200 Adult Education New Law  

Page 44 of 459

mailto:twilhelm@husdschools.org


CSBA UPDATE CHECKLIST – September 2022 
 

POLICY TITLE OPTIONS/BLANKS ADOPT 
DATE 

AR 6200 Adult Education New Law New Law  

BP 7150 Site Selection and Development New Law  

AR 7150 Site Selection and Development New Law  

BB 9100 Organization New Law 

OPTION 1: ◼ 

 

  

 

Page 45 of 459



CSBA POLICY GUIDE SHEET 
September 2022 

 
 

Board Policy 4140/4240/4340 – Bargaining Units 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 270, 2021) which allows a district 20 days to cure a violation of 
the district’s employee information disclosure obligation when the district is notified by an employee 
organization, and limits district opportunity to cure a violation that involves the provision of an inaccurate or 
incomplete list to three times in any 12-month period. Policy also updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 191, 
2022) which provides additional obligations for a district when an “inperson orientation” cannot be held by 
the district. Additionally, policy updated to include heading change from “Access to Employee Orientations” 
to “Access to New Employee Orientations, and to clarify language in this section and in “Formation of 
Bargaining Unit” section. 

 
Administrative Regulation 4161.2/4261.2/4361.2 – Personal Leaves 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (SB 294, 2021) which clarifies that leave of absence granted an 
employee to serve as an elected officer of an employee organization is in addition to other leaves to which 
the employee may be entitled by law or agreement and NEW LAW (AB 1033, 2021) which defines “parent” 
to include “parents-in-law.” Regulation also updated to change heading “Legal Duties” to “Leave to Perform 
Legal Duties” and to make clarifying changes throughout. 

 
Administrative Regulation 4161.5/4261.5/4361.5 – Military Leave 

Regulation updated to include explanatory notes for the “Pension Plan Service Credit” and “Employment 
Status” sections, clarify language throughout, and delete dated and unnecessary material. 

 
Board Policy 4216 – Probationary/Permanent Status 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 486, 2021) which requires full-time district police officers, and 
public safety dispatchers as specified, to serve in a probationary status for not less than one year from the 
date of appointment to the full-time position in order to receive permanent classified service status, and NEW 
LAW (SB 874, 2022) which extends to districts that have adopted the merit system the requirement that a 
permanent employee who accepts a promotion and fails to complete the probationary period for that 
promotional position be employed in the classification from which the employee was promoted. 

 
Board Policy 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

Policy updated to reflect NEW COURT DECISION (Kennedy v. Bremerton School District), in which the 
U.S. Supreme Court held that the district’s decision not to rehire a high school coach who refused to follow 
district direction to refrain from offering prayers openly in the presence of students after football games, 
violated the employee’s free exercise and free speech rights. Policy also updated to include language formerly 
in AR that prohibits the disciplining of any employee for protecting a student who is exercising a free speech 
or press right, and to clarify language within the “Procedures for Serious Disciplinary Proceedings” section. 

 
Administrative Regulation 4218 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

Regulation updated to move, from AR to BP, material which prohibits the disciplining of an employee for 
acting to protect a student’s right to free speech or press, and to make clarifying changes throughout. 

 
Board Policy 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements 

Policy updated to move to the beginning of the policy students’ obligation to complete statewide and 
Governing Board adopted graduation requirements unless exempted from local requirements, and include 
eligibility for students exempt from local requirements to participate in any graduation ceremony and school 
activity related to graduation in which other students are eligible to participate. Policy also updated to reflect 
NEW LAW (AB 101, 2021) which (1) no longer authorizes a course in career technical education to serve 
as an alternative to the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement for high school 

Note: Descriptions below identify revisions made to CSBA's sample board policies, administrative regulations, 
board bylaws, and/or exhibits. Editorial changes have also been made. Districts and county offices of education 
should review the sample materials and modify their own policies accordingly. 

Page 46 of 459



graduation, and (2) requires, beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a student to complete a one-semester 
course in ethnic studies, as specified, to graduate from high school. Additionally, policy updated to reflect 
NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which requires districts to (1) exempt eligible students with disabilities from all 
coursework and other requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to the statewide course 
requirements and award such students a high school diploma, and (2) notify the parents/guardians of eligible 
students of such exemption, as specified. Policy also updated to delete material applicable only to the 2020- 
21 school year, and to incorporate material from the accompanying AR, as the AR is being deleted as 
otherwise unnecessary. 

 
DELETE – Administrative Regulation 6146.1 – High School Graduation Requirements 

Regulation deleted as unnecessary with key concepts incorporated into the BP. 
 

Board Policy 6158 – Independent Study 
Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which (1) encourages districts to consider offering 
more than one independent study model for short- and long-term placements when adopting policy, (2) 
changes the threshold for when tiered reengagement strategies are required to be implemented, (3) adds that 
tiered reengagement strategies procedures include local programs intended to address chronic absenteeism, 
(4) includes that the requirement to develop a plan to transition students whose families wish to return to in- 
person instruction, as specified, applies to students who participate in independent study for at least 15 school 
days, (5) creates an exemption from the live interaction and/or synchronous instruction, tiered reengagement 
strategies, and transition back to in-person instruction requirements for any student who is enrolled in 
classroom-based instruction and is participating in independent study due to necessary medical treatment or 
inpatient treatment for mental health or substance abuse under the care of appropriately licensed 
professionals, (6) specifies that a signed written/learning agreement be obtained before the student begins 
independent study for students participating in independent study for 15 school days or more, and within ten 
school days of the first day of the student’s enrollment for student participation of less than 15 school days, 
(for both traditional and course-based independent study), (7) adds that for students with disabilities the 
certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special education programming of the 
student is required to sign the written/learning agreement, (for both traditional and course-based independent 
study), and (8) includes that a student with disabilities may participate in a course-based independent study 
program if the student’s individualized education program specifically provides for such participation. Policy 
also updated to (1) move and expand material regarding the requirement for Governing Boards to hold a 
public hearing when setting policy, as specified, (2) emphasize that no student may be required to participate 
in independent study, (3) clarify that for course-based independent study procedures tiered reengagement 
strategies are not required to include notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one 
school day of the absence or lack of participation, and (4) delete material applicable only to the 2021-22 
school year. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6158 – Independent Study 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 181, 2022) which (1) no longer includes individualized 
alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the core curriculum in the list of 
educational opportunities that may be provided through independent study, (2) includes that a student with 
disabilities may participate in independent study if the student’s individualized education program 
specifically provides for such participation, (3) specifies that if a parent/guardian of a student with disabilities 
requests independent study because the student’s heath would be put at risk by in-person instruction, the 
student’s individualized education program (IEP) team is required to make an individualized determination 
as to whether the student can receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) in an independent study 
placement, (4) provides that a student’s inability to work independently, need for adult support, or need for 
special education or related services does not preclude the IEP team from determining that the student can 
receive FAPE in an independent study placement, (5) clarifies that, until July 1, 2024, any student who 
receives services from a nonpublic, nonsectarian school through a virtual program may be permitted to 
participate in independent study if the student’s IEP team determines that FAPE can be provided by means 
of the virtual program, as specified, and (6) creates an exception to the limitation on the percentage of students 
enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity school or program who are eligible for apportionment 
credit for independent study for students participating in independent study due to an emergency, as specified. 
Regulation also updated to clarify that if a student transfers to another public school in California, a written 

Page 47 of 459



record of findings from any evaluation conducted because a student has failed to make satisfactory 
educational progress be forwarded to that school. Additionally, regulation updated to delete material 
pertaining to adult education and that which is applicable only to the 2021-22 school year. 

 
Board Policy 6178 – Career Technical Education 

Policy updated to move material regarding career technical education program components to be with related 
content, reflect NEW LAW (AB 101, 2021) which no longer authorizes a course in career technical education 
to serve as an alternative to the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement for high school 
graduation, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 643, 2021) which encourages districts to host apprenticeship and/or 
career technical education fair events, such as college and career fairs, and for districts that do hold such events 
to notify apprenticeship programs in their county, as specified. 

 
Administrative Regulations 6178 – Career Technical Education 

Regulation updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 1923, 2022) which includes science, technology, engineering, 
and mathematics courses as required alternative courses that must be offered to students participating in 
partnership academies. 

 
Board Policy 6200 – Adult Education 

Policy updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 486, 2021) which repeals the authorization for districts in sparsely 
populated areas to participate in the adult education program administered by the county office of education. 
Policy also updated to (1) expand the Board’s philosophical statement, (2) move material regarding the 
district’s participation in a consortium to be with newly added material of similar content, (3) include that 
the Board may authorize an adult education student pursuing a high school diploma or a high school 
equivalency certificate, upon recommendation of the student’s adult school or noncredit program of 
attendance, to attend a community college during any session or term as a special part-time student, and (4) 
provide that a district may, with the approval of the County Superintendent of Schools and the Superintendent 
of Public Instruction, contract with another district to provide adult education instruction if the district has an 
adult school or classes but is unable to maintain that school or class(es) because of an inability to secure a 
teacher(s) or because of a lack of facilities. 

 
Administrative Regulation 6200 – Adult Education 

Regulation updated to reorder material related to enrollment, clarify that the exception to the requirement for 
adult education classes to be located in a facility which is identified as being open to the general public is for 
programs for adults with disabilities, reflect NEW LAW (AB 486, 2022) which (1) changes the 
classes/courses which are authorized for apportionment purposes from the Adult Education Program funds, 
(2) includes that programs for immigrants may include immigrant integration, (3) repeals that a course taken 
through independent study be required to meet state or local high school graduation requirements, and (4) 
repeals the authorization for materials purchased from the incidental expense account to be sold to adult 
school students for use in their classes. Regulation also updated to clarify that programs offering pre- 
apprenticeship training activities be conducted in coordination with apprenticeship programs approved by 
the Division of Apprenticeship Standards for the occupation and geographic area, provide that approval for 
courses be submitted to the California Department of Education regularly, emphasize that no student may be 
required to participate in independent study, delete material regarding continued engagement in K-12

Page 48 of 459



independent study as not being applicable to this AR, include that fees may be required for enrollment in adult education 
class(es) before listing the exceptions, and amend language to be more closely aligned with law. 
 

Board Policy 7150 – Site Selection and Development 
Policy updated to add material regarding the Governing Board’s obligations when evaluating property prior 
to acquiring a new school or an addition to an existing school site, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 819, 2021) 
which requires the district to post specified environmental review documents. 

 
Administrative Regulation 7150 – Site Selection and Development 

Regulation updated to specify that the request for information to evaluate the safety of a proposed site be in 
writing, and reflect NEW LAW (AB 819, 2021) which requires the district to post specified environmental 
review documents. 

 
Board Bylaw 9100 – Organization 

Bylaw updated to reflect NEW LAW (AB 486, 2021) which changes the date requirements for districts to 
hold their annual organizational meeting. 

 
MINOR REVISION: 

 
Board Policy 4030 – Nondiscrimination in Employment 

Policy updated to make a minor revision by adding a note which reflects NEW COURT DECISION 
(Kennedy v. Bremerton School District), in which the U.S. Supreme Court held that the district’s decision 
not to rehire a high school coach who refused to follow district direction to refrain from offering prayers 
openly in the presence of students after football games, violated the employee’s free exercise and free speech 
rights. 

Page 49 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 4140: Bargaining Units Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: 1209/01/20202022 | Last Revie 

1209/01/20202022 

wed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board recognizes the right of district employees to form a bargaining unit, and to select an 

employee organization as theirthe exclusive representative, and be represented by that organization to 

represent the employees in theirthe employees’ employment relationship with the district. The Board is 

committed to negotiating in good faith with recognized employee organizations and respecting the rights 

of employees and employee organizations. 

 
The district shall not dominate or interfere with the formation or administration of any employee 

organization or contribute financial or other support to it. (Government Code 3543.5) 
 

 

Employees shall not be prohibited from wearing union buttons or other items that favor or oppose the 

formation of a bargaining unit or any matter that is the subject of negotiations. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3544, an employee organization may become the 

employees' exclusive representative for negotiations by filing a request with the district providing proof 

that a majority of the employees in an appropriate unit wish to be represented by that organization. 

Notice of such request must be immediately posted conspicuously on all employee bulletin boards in 

each district facility in which members of the unit are employed. Government Code 3544.1 requires the 

district to grant the request for recognition unless (1) the district doubts the appropriateness of the unit, 

(2) another employee organization files a challenge to the appropriateness of the unit or submits a 

competing claim of representation within 15 work days of the posting of notice of the written request, 

or (3) the district currently has a lawful written agreement with another employee organization 

representing the same employees. 

 
Pursuant to”Exclusive representative,” as defined in Government Code 3540.1, means an employee 

organization recognized or certified as the definition of "exclusive negotiating representative" includes 

representation of " for all public schooldistrict employees" other than management and confidential 

employees, as defined.. 

 
Government Code 3543 provides that public school employees have the right to represent themselves 

individually in their employment relations with the district except that, once an exclusive representative 

has been recognized, an employee in that unit is prohibited from meeting and negotiating with the 

district. 

CSBA NOTE: In East Whittier School District, the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) found that 

the district's policy limiting the wearing of union buttons that favor or oppose any matter that is the 

subject of negotiations in the classroom or in other instructional areas in the presence of students 

violated the Educational Employment Relations Act, as there was no finding of special circumstances 

which would limit the established right of employees to wear union buttons in the workplace, nor was 

there a finding that wearing the union buttons was a political activity. PERB continues to use a case-by- 

case approach to determine whether a district's policy restricting employees fromthe wearing of union 

buttons by employees is justified by special circumstances. See PERB's ruling in City of Sacramento. Due 

to the legal uncertainty in this area, districts are encouraged to consult CSBA District and County Office 

of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel prior to limiting the wearing of union buttons 

that support the union's position in collective bargaining. 

Page 50 of 459



(Government Code 3545) 
 

The district may recognize a bargaining unit of supervisory employees if: 
 

Formation of Bargaining Units 
 
 

 

1. Certificated and classified employees shall not be included in the same bargaining unit. The 
(Government Code 3545) 

 

A bargaining unit of supervisory employees may be recognized if the bargaining unit includes all 
supervisory employees. 

 

2. The supervisors are and is not represented by the samean employee organization that represents 

district employees whomwho are supervised by the supervisory employees. (Government Code 3545) 

supervise. 

For this purpose, supervisory employee means any employee, regardless of job description, having the 

authority, in the interest of the district, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, 

assign, reward, or discipline, other employees, or the responsibility to assign work to, direct, or adjust 

grievance of other employees, or effectively recommend that action. The, when the exercise of thisthat 

authority shallis not beof a merely routine or clerical in nature, but shall requirerequires the use of 

independent judgment. (Government Code 3540.1) 
 

 

Employees serving in management, senior management, or confidential positions shall not be represented 

by an exclusive representative. SuchIn the employment relationship with the district, such employees 

may represent themselves individually. For purposes other than negotiations and bargaining, such 

employees mayor be represented by an employee organization whose membership is composed entirely 

of employees designated as holding those positions. For this purpose: (Government Code 3540.1, 

3543.4)An employee organization representing management or confidential employees shall not be 

permitted to meet and negotiate with the district on behalf of the employees. (Government Code 

3543.4) 
 

1. Management employee means any employee who has significant responsibilities for formulating 
district policies or administering district programs, and whose position is designated as a management 
position by the Board. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

2. Confidential employee means any employee who is required to develop or present management 
positions with respect to employer-employee relations or whose duties normally require access to 
confidential information that is used to contribute significantly to the development of management 
positions. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

Membership 

 
The district shall not deter or discourage employees or job applicants from becoming or remaining 

members of an employee organization, authorizing representation by an employee organization, or 

authorizing dues or fee deductions to an employee organization. In addition, the district shall not impose 

CSBA NOTE: The following section contains legal requirements for the certification or recognition of 

bargaining units for different categories of employees. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3543.4, management and confidential employees, as defined 

in Government Code 3540.1, are excluded from the right to be represented in negotiations by an 

employee organization. The Public Employment Relations BoardPERB ultimately determines, based upon 

the duties of the position, which positions qualify as "management" or "confidential" and thus are 

excluded from bargaining. 

Page 51 of 459



or threaten to impose reprisals on employees, discriminate or threaten to discriminate against employees, 

or otherwise interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees because of their membership or 

nonmembership in an employee organization. (Government Code 3543.5, 3550) 
 

 

 
 

However, before disseminating to multiple employees any mass communication concerning employees' 

right to join or support an employee organization or to refrain from joining or supporting an employee 

organization, such as a written document or script for oral or recorded presentation or message, the 

Superintendent or designee shall meet and confer with the employees' exclusive representative regarding 

the content of the communication. If the district and exclusive representative do not come to agreement 

on the content of the mass communication, the Superintendent or designee may disseminate the district's 

mass communication, provided that, at the same time, copies of the exclusive representative's 

communication, which shall be of reasonable length, are also distributed. (Government Code 3553) 

 
Access to New Employee Orientations 

 

The district shall permit employee organizations access to new employee orientationsorientation or 

onboarding process where newly hired employees are advised, whether in person, online, or through 

other means or mediums, of their employment status, rights, benefits, duties, responsibilities, or any other 

employment-related matters. The district shall provide employee organizations at least 10 days' notice in 

advance of an orientation. However, in any specific instance where, except that a shorter notice may be 

provided if an unforeseeable, urgent need critical to the district's operation prevents the required 10 

days' notice, a shorter notice may be provided. . (Government Code 3555.5, 3556) 
 

TheFollowing a request to negotiate by either party, the structure, time, and manner of the access to new 

employee orientations shall be determined by mutual agreement of the district and the exclusive 

representative, following a request to negotiate by either party.. If the district and exclusive 

representative fail to reach an agreement, matters related to the access to the new employee orientation 

shall be subject to compulsory interest arbitration. The district and employee organization may mutually 

agree to submit any dispute to compulsory interest arbitration at any time. In addition, if any dispute 

arises during negotiations and is not resolved within 45 days after the first meeting or within 60 days 

after the initial request to negotiate, whichever is earlier, either party may make a demand for compulsory 

interest arbitration. When any such dispute arises during the summer when the district's administrative 

office is closed, the timeline shall commence on the first day the administrative office reopens. The 

decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. (Government Code 3556, 3557) 

 
The date, time, and place of thea new employee orientation shall not be disclosed to anyone other than 

employees, the exclusive representative, or a vendor that is contracted to provide a service for purposes 

CSBA NOTE: The remainder of this section is optional. Government Code 3553 establishes requirements 

for districts that choose to disseminate a mass communication regarding employees' rights to join, 

support, or refrain from joining or supporting an employee organization. A "mass communication" means 

any written document, including a script for an oral or recorded presentation or message, intended for 

multiple employees. 

 
Districts should exercise caution and consult with CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal 

Services or the district’s legal counsel before communicating with employees about their rights to join or 

not join an employee organization to avoid violating the law against unfair labor practices. When an 

employee approaches the district with questions specifically about the benefits of the membership in an 

employee organization, the employee should be referred to the employee organization. 

The Superintendent or designee may communicate with district employees regarding their rights under 

the law. Such communications shall be factual and accurate, and may not promise a benefit, threaten a 

reprisal, or in any way deter or discourage employees from joining an employee organization or paying 

dues. 

Page 52 of 459



of the orientation. (Government Code 3556) 
 

 

 

Until June 30, 2025, in addition to above provisions regarding new employee orientations, the district 

shall ensure the following: (Government Code 3556) 
 

1. When an inperson new employee orientation has not been conducted within 30 days of hiring any 

new employee who is working in person, the Superintendent or designee shall permit the 

exclusive representative to schedule an inperson meeting which newly hired employees shall have 

an opportunity to attend, at the employee’s worksite and during employment hours. Each newly 

hired employee within the bargaining unit shall be provided at least 30 minutes of paid time to 

attend the meeting. 
 

Upon the request of an exclusive representative scheduling such an inperson meeting, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide an appropriate on-site meeting space within seven days 

of receiving the exclusive representative’s request. 
 

2. When, by reason of a state or local public health order limiting the size of gatherings, the district is 

prohibited from organizing a new employee orientation, an exclusive representative may schedule 

multiple meetings to ensure that newly hired employees have an opportunity to attend without 

exceeding the maximum allowable number of people. 
 

Access to Employee Contact Information 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide an exclusive representative with the name, job title, 

department, work location, telephone numbers (work, home, and personal cell phone), personal email 

address(es) on file with the district, and home address of any newly hired employee in the bargaining unit, 

within 30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire., unless the exclusive 

representative has agreed to a different interval for the provision of the information. In addition, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide the exclusive representative the same information in regard to 

all employees in the bargaining unit to an exclusive representative at least every 120 days, unless more 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph applies until June 30, 2025, unless the date is extended by law. 

Government Code 3556, as amended by SB 191 (Ch. 67, Statutes of 2022), provides additional 

obligations for public employers under the conditions specified in the following paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3558, districts are required to provide recognized employee 

organizations with specified contact information for new employees in the bargaining unit, as provided 

below. The information required by Government Code 3558 must be provided in a manner consistent 

with Government Code 6254.3, which authorizes disclosure of an employee's home address, home 

telephone number(s), and personal cell phone number to an employee organization unless the district 

receives a written request by the employee to not disclose the information. Pursuant to Government 

Code 6254.3, the personal email address of an employee is not disclosable unless used by the employee 

to conduct public business. The following paragraph should be revised if districts have an agreement with 

their employee organization(s) requiring more frequent or more detailed contact lists. 

 
In County of Los Angeles v. Service Employees International Union, Local 721, the California Supreme Court 

held that (1) an employer has a duty to provide information relevant to collective bargaining to the 

applicable bargaining unit and failure to do so is a violation of the employer's obligation to bargain in good 

faith; (2) the disclosure of an employee's home address and phone number(s) by an employer to the union 

is presumptively relevant to the union's role as bargaining agent and does not violate the employee's 

constitutional right of privacy; and (3) other avenues for implementing privacy safeguards are available, 

such as bargaining for a notice and opt-out procedure or drafting employment contracts that will notify 

employees that their home contact information is subject to disclosure to the union and that they may 

request nondisclosure. 

Page 53 of 459



frequent or detailed lists are required by agreement with the exclusive representative. (Government 

Code 3558, 6254.3) 

 
However, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose the home address and any phone numbers on 

file for employees performing law enforcement-related functions, nor disclose the home address, home 

or personal cell phone number(s), or personal email address(es) of any employee who is a participant in 

the Safe at Home address confidentiality program pursuant to Government Code 6207 or of any 

employee who provides a written request that the information not be disclosed for this purpose.to the 

exclusive representative. Following receipt of a written request, the district shall remove the employee's 

home address, home and personal cell phone numbers, and personal email address from any mailing list 

maintained by the district unless the list is only used by the district to contact the employee. 

(Government Code 3558, 6207, 6254.3) 
 

 

 

Within 20 calendar days after an exclusive representative notifies the Superintendent or designee that a 

list of employees provided by the district is inaccurate or incomplete, the Superintendent or designee 

shall take steps to correct the list and provide a new list of employees to the exclusive representative. 

(Government Code 3558) 
 

 

At least, at the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall review the list of 

district employees to ensure that the list is complete and contains accurate information. 
 

Communications with Employees 

 
Employee organizations may have access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work and may 

use district facilities at reasonable times for the purpose of meetings. Subject to reasonable regulation, 

employee organizations may also use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of 

communication to communicate with employees. (Government Code 3543.1) 

 
Access to district means of communication shall be limited in cases where such access would be 

disruptive to district operations. 

 
Membership Dues or Other Payments to an Employee Organization 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3558, an employee organization is authorized, after 

notifying the district of a violation of the district’s employee information disclosure obligations, to file a 

special unfair labor practice charge with PERB. Government Code 3558, as amended by SB 270 (Ch. 330, 

Statutes of 2021), allows the district 20 calendar days to cure an alleged violation that involves the 

provision of an inaccurate or incomplete list of employees, and to give the exclusive representative 

written notice of the actions taken. If a violation is found, PERB is required to assess against the district a 

civil penalty of $10,000 and attorney’s fees and costs in addition to any other remedy provided by law. 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 3558, as amended, limits to three times within any 12-month period a 

district’s opportunity to cure when an inaccurate or incomplete list has been provided to an exclusive 

representative. The following paragraph offers a way to avoid or minimize possible violation and may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Bargaining unit employees who choose to join the employee organization pay membership 

dues, which are deducted from the employee's salary or wage payment as provided below. Pursuant to 

Employees, bargaining unit employees who choose not to join an employee organization cannot be 

required to pay any fees to the employee organization. However, pursuant to Education Code 45060 and 

45168, an employee who chooses not to join an employee organization may be charged fees for 

applicable services, programs, or committees provided to the employee by the employee organization if 

that nonmember employee first affirmatively and voluntarily consents to pay those fees to the employee 

organization, as required by Janus v. AFSCME. Page 54 of 459



 
 

When drawing an order for the salary or wage payment of a bargaining unit employee of an employee 

organization, the district shall deduct any amount which has been requested by the employee in a 

revocable written authorization for the purpose of paying dues or other payments for any service, 

program, or committee provided or sponsored by the employee organization. (Education Code 45060, 

45168) 

 
An employee organization that certifies that it has and will maintain individual employee authorizations 

shall handle and process employee written authorizations for payroll deductions. When an employee 

organization provides such a certification to the district, the district shall rely on information from the 

employee organization regarding the amounts of such payroll deductions and from which employees. The 

employee organization shall not be required to submit to the district a copy of the written authorization 

in order for the payroll deductions to be effective. However, when there is a dispute about the existence 

or terms of the written authorization, a copy of the employee's written authorization shall be submitted 

to the district. The employee organization shall indemnify the district for any employee claims regarding 

payroll deductions made by the district in reliance on notification from the employee organization. 

(Education Code 45060, 45168) 

 
When an employee organization which has declined to certify that it will handle and process employee 

written authorizations makes a request for payroll deductions, the district shall request a copy of the 

employee's written authorization before making the payroll deductions. (Education Code 45060, 45168) 

 
A written authorization shall remain in effect until expressly revoked in writing by the employee and 

pursuant to the terms of the written authorization. Employee requests to cancel or change 

authorizations for payroll deductions for employee organizations shall be directed to the employee 

organization rather than the district. The employee organization shall be responsible for processing these 

requests. The district shall rely on the information provided by the employee organization regarding 

whether deductions for an employee organization were properly canceled or changed. The employee 

organization shall be required to indemnify the district for any claims made by an employee for 

deductions made by the district in reliance on information from the employee organization. (Education 

Code 45060, 45168) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

8 CCR 33015-33490 Recognition of exclusive representative; proceedings 

8 CCR 33700-33710 Severance of established unit 

8 CCR 34020 Petition to rescind organizational security arrangement 

8 CCR 34055 Reinstatement of organizational security arrangement 

Ed. Code 45060-45061.5 Deduction of fees from salary or wage payment,; certificated 

employees 

 
Education Code 45060 and 45168 set forth the process for handling authorizations, changes, and 

cancellations for dues or other payments, and provide safeguards for districts that rely on information 

provided by an employee organization concerning such payroll deductions (i.e., the employee 

organization's indemnification of the district against any employee's claim based on such reliance). 

Page 55 of 459



Ed. Code 45100.5 Senior classified management positions 

Ed. Code 45104.5 Abolishment of senior classified management positions 

Ed. Code 45108.5 Definition of senior classified management employees 

Ed. Code 45108.7 Waiver of provisions of 45108.5 

Ed. Code 45168 Deduction of fees from salary or wage payment,; classified 

employees 

Ed. Code 45220-45320 Merit system,; classified employees 

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3 Educational Employment Relations Act 

Gov. Code 3540.1 Public employment definitions 

Gov. Code 3543.4 Management position; representation 

Gov. Code 3545 Appropriateness of unit; basis 

Gov. Code 3550-3552 Prohibition on public employers deterring or discouraging 

union membership 

Gov. Code 3555-3559 Public employee communication, information and orientation 

Gov. Code 53260-53264 Employment contracts 

Gov. Code 6205-6210 Confidentiality of addresses for victims of domestic violence, 

sexual assault or stalking 

Gov. Code 6254.3 Disclosure of employee contact information to employee 

organization 

Gov. Code 6503.5 Joint powers agencies 

Federal Description 

8 CFR 33015-33490 Recognition of exclusive representative; proceedings 

8 CFR 33700-33710 Severance of established unit 

8 CFR 34020 Petition to rescind organizational security arrangement 

8 CFR 34055 Reinstatement of organizational security arrangement 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision County of Los Angeles v. Service Employees International 

Union, Local 721, (2013) 56 Cal. 4th 905 

Court Decision Friedrichs v. California Teachers Association, et al.,. (2016) 

136 S.Ct. 1083 

Court Decision Janus v. American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees, Council 31, (2018) 138 S.Ct. 2448 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Ruling 

East Whittier School District, (2004) PERB Dec. No. 1727 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Ruling 

City of Sacramento, (2019) PERB Dec. No. 2702m 

Website California Federation of Teachers 

Website California Public Employment Relations Board 

Website California School Employees Association 

Website California Teachers Association 
 

Page 56 of 459

http://www.cft.org/
http://www.perb.ca.gov/
http://www.csea.com/
http://www.cta.org/


Website Association of California School Administrators 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1340 Access To District Records 

1340 Access To District Records 

1431 Waivers 

4113 Assignment 

4113 Assignment 

4115 Evaluation/Supervision 

4115 Evaluation/Supervision 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4141 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

4143 Negotiations/Consultation 

4151 Employee Compensation 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4161.2 Personal Leaves 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4241 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

4243 Negotiations/Consultation 

4251 Employee Compensation 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4261.2 Personal Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 57 of 459

http://www.acsa.org/
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bY3vZ9pbd8vHL3zMeylxDg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2WO7zwkhPaPC26DTZVGtpA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eTTKhAGZDUZ5bldHQfXllg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sTN7HQJDOPoMtU4jkkplusy6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PnBR3xEiseofnLYbksUJKw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kIgPC1WmMHyKtFolo9I6xw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DYtN4QkUY0bsLh5O0ZfBwg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bQESVgHahzjr0FiVwAkJRw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZOswohSwauLJkGoDiT35Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TEdW0cSJybA2vwsgOjfLyQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=EISAG9UbgKAIhplusLCMGvBRQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r62xXFUHbIIl8JqY3Znqyg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xvJ8Rv1gUhYoz1Ea1cbcslshw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0cNWraamPjs8IOaZ62DhxQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BQ0GbNcIEyqa2M832Tvq8w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qIsnUiliJ9AfwcmTDplusM2xA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BpKAmK9HRloyA9dWIYeSWw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WWKbpvXiuo75p6plusplusKf8hZA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QjKCMJtwZdwwRywQG4y0ww%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6XBRtCwYLrnkLmNnMSOnUg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Jk6Rffak3S4HVo3slsh2PIwhw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m5a2egsK540sO996JyvzQg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0iX2cvpEal4Oifn08mTslshAw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus2DGzCaVSoKplusLVPjXzpOgA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3HZlUgP3C2gGd1zApy5dJA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OCSbNbEbmPBF6jzaCICMCw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=doBZtTdhrplus8MX6hxunPHXw%3D%3D


4300 Administrative And Supervisory Personnel 

4300 Administrative And Supervisory Personnel 

4301 Administrative Staff Organization 

4312.1 Contracts 

4315 Evaluation/Supervision 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4351 Employee Compensation 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4361.2 Personal Leaves 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(1) Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(2) Closed Session 

Page 58 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2ys0OHg78yJKDSwxgpJqlg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0POGA27XcOxgBNnstpoOfQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=SHbm920VzON88Jxbfk4AWA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r6bFeQMiGLioDI9xjd5plusyw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jxzQvcOG6ByajMOsZiJ9fQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fLbQllbgb7c172TCWmpslshng%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dVyHmQsDoOXLUTF15AkxGA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ebvRZAwPV8ta9slshdcu83Xhg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j4DUPFVtyadzRFwSjORjzQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eJoZD7caqeZLQxmOYWpVrQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WxP39fISXP8PtB0WcpJuGw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yAhOpxuR5pmNzxDzYIIecw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsHizRwHYkdF3KBT3QsViA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OOBWTPplusOslsheSJMnnd4EyLIA%3D%3D


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4161.2: Personal Leaves Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2012 | Last Revised Date: 0309/01/20212022 | Last Revie 

0309/01/20162022 

wed Date: 

 

 
Personal leaves granted to district employees shall be used as permitted in this administrative regulation, 

other Board-approved policy or district regulation, or applicable collective bargaining agreement. 
 

 

For the purpose of any personal leave offered pursuant to state law, a registered domestic partner shall 

have the same rights, protections, and benefits as a spouse and any protections provided to a spouse's 

child shall also apply to a child of a registered domestic partner. (Family Code 297.5) 

 
Whenever possible, employees shall request personal leaves in advance and prepare suitable instructions, 

including lesson plans as applicable, for a substitute employee. 

 
Bereavement 

 

 

Employees are entitled to a leave of up to three days, or five days if out-of-state travel is required, upon 

the death of any member of the employee's immediate family. No deduction shall be made from the 

employee's salary, nor shall such leave be deducted from any other leave to which the employee is 

entitled. (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 
Members of thean employee’s immediate family include: (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 

1. The mother, mother-in-law, father, father-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the 
employee or of the employee's spouse 

 

2. The employee's spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, or sister 
 

3. Any relative living in the employee's immediate household 

 
At the employee's request, bereavement leave may be extended under personal necessity leave 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is subject to collective bargaining agreements. 

CSBA NOTE: Family Code 297.5 extends to registered domestic partners the same rights that are 

available under state law to spouses. Thus, any reference to an employee's spouse throughout this 

administrative regulation also applies to a registered domestic partner, even if not expressly stated in 

the applicable state codesstatute (e.g., Education Code, Military and Veterans Code). Districts should 

consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel if a 

question arises as to leave provisions relative to an employee's domestic partner. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44985 and 45194 allow the Governing Board to expand the class of 

relatives listed below as “immediate family” and enlarge the benefits provided by law. In addition, 

Government Code 12945.2, as amended by AB 1033 (Ch. 327, Statutes of 2021), includes a parent-in- 

law in the definition of "parent" for purposes of California Family Rights Act (CFRA) leave. Thus, to 

ensure consistency, the definition of “immediate family” below includes “mother-in-law” and father-in- 

law,” as permitted by law. The following two paragraphs may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 59 of 459



provisions as provided in the section "Personal Necessity" below. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
Personal Necessity 

 

 

Employees may use a maximum of seven days of their accrued personal illness/injury leave (sick leave) 

during each school year for reasons of personal necessity. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
Acceptable reasons for the use of personal necessity leave include: 

 
1. Death of a member of the employee's immediate family when the number of days of absence 

exceeds the limits set by bereavement leave provisions (Education Code 44981, 45207) 
 

2. An accident involving the employee or the employee's property, or the person or property of a 
member of the employee's immediate family (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 

 

3. Illness, preventive care, or other need of a member of the employee's family, as defined in Labor 
Code 245.5 (Education Code 44981; Labor Code 246.5) 

 

 

4. A classified employee's appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal as a litigant, 
party, or witness under subpoena or other order (Education Code 45207) 

CSBA NOTE: Employees may use a maximum of seven days of accumulated personal illness/injury leave 

(sick leave) for reasons of personal necessity pursuant to Education Code 44981 (certificated 

employees) and 45207 (classified employees). Pursuant to Education Code 44981 and 45207, a higher 

maximum may be set for certificated and/or classified employees in theirthe applicable collective 

bargaining agreement, or by Board resolution for classified employees who are not covered by a 

collective bargaining agreement. Districts that have established a maximum that is higher than seven 

days should modify the following paragraph accordingly. 

 
Education Code 45207 clarifies that provisions pertaining to personal necessity leave also apply to 

districts that have adopted the merit system for classified employees in accordance with Education 

Code 45240-45320. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 44981, a certificated employee may use personal necessity 

leave for the serious illness of a member of the employee's immediate family. The Board may extend 

these provisions to classified employees under the authority granted to the Board by Education Code 

45207. Districts are cautioned to consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

or the district’s legal counsel regarding any interaction of Education Code provisions with Labor Code 

233, 245.5, and 246.5, which allow the use of sick leave for the need of the employee or family member 

for the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or for preventive care and which 

include in the definition of "family member" a registered domestic partner, grandparent, and sibling. See 

AR 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave and AR 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave. 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for federal and state provisions 

related to leaves for the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a new child; the care of a seriously ill 

child, parent, parent-in-law, or spouse/registered domestic partner; or the employee's own serious 

health condition. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45207 provides that classified employees may use sick leave for required 

court appearances, as provided in itemItem #4 below. Circumstances under which employees may take 

time off, with pay, for court appearances are described in the section on "Leave to Perform Legal 

Duties" below. 

Page 60 of 459



 
 

5. Fire, flood, or other immediate danger to the home of the employee 
 

6. Personal business of a serious nature which the employee cannot disregard 

 
Leave for personal necessity may be allowed for other reasons at the discretion of the Superintendent or 

designee. However, personal necessity leave shall not be granted for purposes of personal convenience, 

for the extension of a holiday or vacation, or for matters which can be taken care of outside of working 

hours. The Superintendent or designee shall have final discretion as to whether a request reflects 

personal necessity. 

 

 

Advance permission shall not be required of an employee in any case involving the death of a member of 

the employee's immediate family, an accident involving the employee's person or property or the person 

or property of a member of the employee's immediate family, or the illness, preventive care, or other 

need of a member of the employee's family. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
For any leave that is planned, or wherefor which the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee shall 

notify the Superintendent or designee in advance. In all other circumstances, the employee shall notify 

the Superintendent or designee of the need for the leave as soon as practicable. 
 

 

After any absence due to personal necessity, the employee shall verify the absence by submitting a 

completed and signed district absence form to the employee's immediate supervisor. 

 
 

Leave to Perform Legal Duties 
 

CSBA NOTE: Items #5 and #6 are optional and may be deleted or modified to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. The district is prohibited from requiring employees to 

obtain advance permission prior to taking leaves in certain situations. Pursuant to Education Code 

44981 and 45207, the district may not require advance permission for leaves taken by classified 

employees for the reasons specified in itemsItems #1-2 above and by certificated employees for the 

reasons specified in itemsItems #1-3 above. In addition, Labor Code 246.5 requires an employer to grant 

paid sick leave "upon the oral or written request of an employee." According to the Department of 

Industrial Relations, employers may not require advance notice when the need for the leave was 

unforeseeable, as in the case of unanticipated illness or a medical emergency. 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for requirements pertaining to 

requests for leaves that qualify under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (29 USC 2601-2654) or 

the California Family Rights ActCFRA (Government Code 12945.1-12945.2), including provisions that 

allow employees to provide notice as soon as practicable when 30-day advance notice is not practicable 

due to lack of knowledge of the date the leave will be needed, a change in circumstances, or a medical 

emergency. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44981 and 45207 mandate the adoption of regulations requiring proof of 

personal necessity and prescribing the manner of the required proof. The following paragraph may be 

revised to specify the manner of proof required by the district. 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation 

against an employee for taking time off for the activities specified in Items #1-2 below. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 44037, it is unlawful for the district or personnel commission to (1) adopt 

Page 61 of 459



 
 

An employee may take time off work in order to: (Labor Code 230) 

 
1. Serve on an inquest jury or trial jury 

 

2. Comply with a subpoena or other court order to appear as a witness 

 
Notices, summons, and subpoenas for court appearances shall be submitted to the district office when 

requesting leave. 

 
A classified employee called for jury duty shall be granted leave with pay up to the amount of the 

difference between the employee's regular earnings and any amount received for jury fees. (Education 

Code 44037) 
 

 

A certificated employee who is called for jury duty also shall be granted leave with pay up to the 

difference between the employee's regular earnings and any jury fees received. (Education Code 44036) 
 

 

An employee shall be granted leave with pay to appear in court as a witness other than a litigant or to 

respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for reasons not brought about 

through the connivance or misconduct of the employee. Such an employee shall receive the difference 

between the employee's regular earnings and any witness fees received. (Education Code 44036) 
 

Leaves for Crime Victims for Judicial Proceedings 
 

 

An employee may be absent from work in order to attend judicial proceedings related to a crime when 

the employeewho is a victim, of a crime or an immediate family member, registered domestic partner, or 

child of a registered domestic partner of asuch victim, of may be absent from work in order to attend 

related judicial proceedings, if the crime is any of the following crimes: : (Labor Code 230.2) 

any rule, regulation, or policy that encourages classified employees to seek exemption from jury duty; (2) 

directly or indirectly solicit or suggest to any employee that the employee seek exemption from jury 

duty; or (3) discriminate against any employee with respect to assignment, employment, promotion, or in 

any other manner because of the employee's service on a jury panel. However, the Board or personnel 

commission may establish a rule providing that only a percentage of district staff, which shall not be less 

than two percent, shall be granted such leave with pay at any one time. The following section may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation against an employee for taking 

time off for the activities specified in items #1-2 below. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to provide leave of 

absence with pay for certificated employees called for jury duty, as authorized by Education Code 

44036. Districts that do not grant such leave should delete this paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 44036 allows the Board, at its 

discretion, to provide paid leaves for employees to appear in court as witnesses other than as litigants or 

to respond to orders from another governmental jurisdiction. Districts that do not grant such leave 

should delete this paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.2 prohibits a district from taking adverse employment action against an 

employee who takes leave as described below. 

Page 62 of 459



1. A violent felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) 
 

2. A serious felony as defined in Penal Code 1192.7(c) 
 

3. A felony provision of law proscribing theft or embezzlement 
 

 

For these purposes, the employee may use vacation, personal leave, personal illness/injury leave, unpaid 

leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give the Superintendent or designee a copy of the notice of 

each scheduled proceeding that is provided by the responsible agency, unless advance notice is not 

feasible. When advance notice is not feasible or an unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall, 

within a reasonable time after the absence, provide documentation evidencing the judicial proceeding 

from the court or government agency setting the hearing, the district attorney or prosecuting attorney's 

office, or the victim/witness office that is advocating on behalf of the victim. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
The district shall keep confidential any records pertaining to the employee's absence from work by reason 

of this leave. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
Leaves for Victims of Crime or Abuse 

 

 

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, who is a victim ofor a crime 

that caused physical injury or that caused mental injury with a threat of physical injury, or an employee 

whose immediate family member, as defined, is deceased as the direct result of a crime may use vacation, 

sick leave, personal leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee to attend 

to the following activities: (Labor Code 230, 230.1, 246.5) 

 
1. Obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to, a temporary restraining order, 

restraining order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety, or welfare of the 
employee or the employee's child 

 

2. Seek medical attention for injuries caused by crime or abuse 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.2, employees may use any of the types of leave listed in the 

following paragraph, unless otherwise provided by a collective bargaining agreement, although a 

collective bargaining agreement cannot diminish the entitlement of an employee. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230 and 230.1 allow employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual 

assault, or stalking, or a crime that caused physical injury or mental injury with a threat of physical injury, 

and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the direct result of a crime to use 

theirany available vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off for the purposes described in 

itemsItems #1-5 below, and prohibit a district from taking adverse employment action against an 

employee for taking leave for any of those purposes. Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, items #2-5 apply to 

districts with 25 or more employees. 

 
As amended by AB 2992 (Ch. 224, Statutes of 2020), Labor Code 230 and 230.1 expand these 

provisions to include employees who are victims of a crime that caused physical injury, or mental injury 

with a threat of physical injury, and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the 

direct result of a crime.Items #2-5 apply to districts with 25 or more employees. 

Page 63 of 459



3. Obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, rape crisis center, or victim services 
organization or agency as a result of the crime or abuse 

 

4. Obtain psychological counseling or mental health services related to an experience of crime or 
abuse 

 

5. Participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future crime or abuse, 
including temporary or permanent relocation 

 

 

Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give reasonable notice to the Superintendent or designee, 

unless advance notice is not feasible. When an unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall provide, 

within a reasonable period of time, certification of the absence in the form of any of the following: 

(Labor Code 230, 230.1) 

 
1. A police report indicating that the employee was a victim 

 

2. A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator of the crime or abuse, 
or other evidence from the court or prosecuting attorney that the employee has appeared in court 

 

3. Documentation from a domestic violence or sexual assault counselor as defined in Evidence Code 
1037.1 or 1035.2, licensed medical professional or health care provider, victim advocate, or 
counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment or receiving services for physical or 
mental injuries or abuse resulting in victimization from the crime or abuse 

 

4. Any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that the crime or abuse occurred, 
including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee or by an individual acting 
on the employee's behalf certifying that the absence is for a purpose authorized under Labor 
Code 230 or 230.1 

 
The district shall maintain the confidentiality of such an employee to the extent authorized by law. 

(Labor Code 230, 230.1) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform employees of theirthe rights provided employees pursuant 

to Labor Code 230 and 230.1 using a form developed by the Labor Commissioner or a substantially 

similar form developed by the district. Such information shall be provided to new employees upon hire 

and to other employees upon request. (Labor Code 230.1) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230, as amended by AB 2992, the following certification may 

include documentation from a victim advocate (defined as an individual, whether paid or serving as a 

volunteer, who provides services to victims under the auspices or supervision of an agency or 

organization that has a documented record of providing services to victims, a court, or a law 

enforcement or prosecution agency) or any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that 

the crime or abuse occurred, including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee 

or by an individual acting on the employee's behalf. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, districts with 25 or more employees are required to notify 

theirdistrict employees of theiremployee rights under Labor Code 230 and 230.1. The district may use 

a form developed by the Labor Commissioner for this purpose, when available on the web site of the 

Department of Industrial Relations, or may develop its own form that is substantially similar in content 

and clarity to the Labor Commissioner's form. As amended by AB 2992, Labor Code 230.1 requires the 

Labor Commissioner to revise the form by January 1, 2022. Until that form is revised, the district should 

update its form to reflect current law. 

Page 64 of 459



Personal Leave for Child-Related Activities 
 

 

Any employee who is a parent/guardian of one or more children of an age to attend any of grades K-12 

or a program offered by a licensed child care provider may use up to 40 hours of personal leave, vacation, 

or compensatory time off each school year in order to: (Labor Code 230.8) 

 
1. Find, enroll, or reenroll a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider or to participate in 

activities of the school or child care provider, provided the employee gives reasonable advance 
notice of the absence. Time off for this purpose shall not exceed eight hours in any calendar 
month. 

 

2.  Address a school or child care emergency, provided the employee gives notice. An emergency 
exists when the child cannot remain in school or with a child care provider due to one of the 
following circumstances: 

 

a. A request by the school or child care provider that the child be picked up 
 

b. An attendance policy, excluding planned holidays, that prohibits the child from attending 
or requires that the child be picked up from the school or child care provider 

 

c. Behavioral or discipline problems 
 

d. Closure or unexpected unavailability of the school or child care provider, excluding 
planned holidays 

 

e. A natural disaster, including, but not limited to, fire, earthquake, or flood 

 
 

For purposes of this leave, parent/guardian includes a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, 

grandparent, or person who stands in loco parentis to a child. (Labor Code 230.8) 
 

 

In lieu of using vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off, eligible employees may take unpaid 

leave for this purpose. 

 
If two or more parents/guardians of a child are employed at the same work site, this leave shall be 

allowed for the parent/guardian who first gives notice to the district. Simultaneous absence by another 

parent/guardian of the child may be granted by the Superintendent or designee. (Labor Code 230.8) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, the following section applies to any district employing 25 

or more employees at the same location. A district with fewer than 25 employees at the same location 

may use or delete this section at its discretion. 

 
Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, an employee who is discharged, threatened with discharge, demoted, 

suspended, or otherwise discriminated against for using the leave is entitled to reinstatement and 

reimbursement for lost wages and benefits, and an employer who willfully refuses to rehire, promote, or 

otherwise reinstate such an employee is subject to a civil penalty equal to three times the amount of the 

lost wages and benefits. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.8 provides that the employee may use time off without pay to the extent 

the district makes it available. The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district 

practice. 

Page 65 of 459



Upon request by the Superintendent or designee, the employee shall provide documentation from the 

school or licensed child care provider that the employee engaged in permitted child-related activities on a 

specific date and at a particular time. (Labor Code 230.8) 

 
Service on Education Boards and Committees 

 
Upon request, a certificated employee shall be granted up to 20 school days of paid leave per school year 

for service performed within the state on any education board, commission, committee, or group 

authorized by Education Code 44987.3 provided that all of the following conditions are met: (Education 

Code 44987.3) 

 
1. The service is performed within the state. 

 

2. The board, commission, organization, or group informs the district in writing of the service. 
 

3. The board, commission, organization, or group agrees, prior to the service, to reimburse the 
district, upon the district's request, for compensation paid to the employee's substitute and for 
actual related administrative costs. 

 
Employee Organization Activities 

 

 

Upon request, any certificated or classified employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of 

compensation, to serve as an elected officer of a district employee organization or any statewide or 

national employee organization with which the employee organization is affiliated. Such leave shall be in 

addition to any other leave to which the employee may be entitled by other laws or a memorandum of 

understanding or collective bargaining agreement. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 
 

The leave shall include, but is not limited to, absence for purposes of attending periodic, stated, special, or 

regular meetings of the body of the organization. on which the employee serves as an officer. 

(Education Code 44987, 45210) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be deleted by any district whose collective bargaining 

agreements expressly provide for a paid leave of absence for participation in the activities described in 

this section. 

 
Education Code 44987 and 45210 provide that any certificated andor classified employeesemployee 

may take time off without loss of compensation to serve as an elected officersofficer of theirany local, 

statewide, or national employee organization of which the employee is a member. Following the 

district's payment to the employee for the leave of absence, the employee organization must reimburse 

the district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to the 

employee. This leave of absence is in addition to the release time granted to representatives of an 

employee organization pursuant to Government Code 3543.1. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 44987 and 45210, as amended by SB 294 (Ch. 539, Statutes of 2021), an 

employee’s leave of absence to serve as an elected officer of an employee organization is additional to 

any other leave available for the employee’s use by law or in agreement with the district. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45210 requires districts to grant a paid leave of absence to a reasonable 

number of classified employees serving as unelected members of the employee organization or a 

statewide or national public employee organization when the employee attends "important 

organizational activities authorized by the public employee organization." Compensation must include 

the required retirement fund contributions. The employee will continue to earn full service credit during 

Page 66 of 459



 
 

Upon request of an employee organization in the district or its state or national affiliate, a reasonable 

number of unelected classified employees shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of 

compensation for the purpose of attending important organizational activities authorized by the 

employee organization. The employee organization shall provide reasonable notification to the 

Superintendent or designee when requesting a leave of absence for employees for this purpose. 

(Education Code 45210) 

 
When leave is granted for any of the above purposes, the employee organization shall reimburse the 

district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to the 

employee. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 

 
Religious Leave 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee may grant an employee up to three days of leave per year for religious 

purposes, provided that the leave is requested in advance and that it does not cause additional district 

expenditures, the neglect of assigned duties, or any other unreasonable hardship on the district. 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall deduct the cost of hiring a substitute, when required, from the 

wages of the employee who takes religious leave. 

 
No employee shall be discriminated against for using this leave or any additional days of unpaid leave 

granted for religious observances at the discretion of the Superintendent or designee. 

 
Spouse on Leave from Military Deployment 

 

 

An employee who works an average of 20 hours or more per week and whose spouse is a member of the 

United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or reserves may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave during a 

period that the employee's spouse is on leave from deployment during a military conflict, as defined in 

Military and Veterans Code 395.10. (Military and Veterans Code 395.10) 

the leave and must pay member contributions as specified. The maximum amount of service credit an 

employee may earn cannot exceed 12 years. Education Code 45210 also requires that an employee 

organization provide reasonable notification to the district when requesting a leave of absence without 

loss of compensation for an employee. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by any district that chooses to grant religious 

leave and may be revised to reflect district practice. A district that does not grant such leave should 

delete this section. However, the district should consult CSBA District and County Office of Education 

Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel before denying a request for religious leave since the 

Constitution requires districts to provide "reasonable accommodation" to employee religious practices. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph reflects the California Supreme Court's interpretation of 

Article 1, Section 8 of the California Constitution as stated in Rankin v. Commission on Professional 

Competence. 

CSBA NOTE: Military and Veterans Code 395.10 requires any district with 25 or more employees to 

allow up to 10 days of unpaid leave to an employee whose spouse is on leave from military deployment. 

A district with fewer than 25 employees may use the following section at its discretion. In addition, 29 

USC 2612 authorizes an employee to take up to 26 work weeks of unpaid military caregiver leave or up 

to 12 weeks of "exigency" leave during a single 12-month period, as determined by the district; see AR 

4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave. 

Page 67 of 459



Within two business days of receiving official notice that the employee's spouse will be on leave from 

deployment, the employee shall provide the Superintendent or designee with notice of the intention to 

take the leave. The employee shall submit written documentation certifying that the employee's spouse 

will be on leave from deployment during the time that the leave is requested. (Military and Veterans 

Code 395.10) 

 
Leave for Emergency Duty 

 

 

An employee may take time off to perform emergency duty as a volunteer firefighter, a reserve peace 

officer, or emergency rescue personnel. (Labor Code 230.3) 
 

 

Any employee who performs duty as a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue 

personnel shall be permitted to take temporary leaves of absence, not to exceed an aggregate total of 14 

days per calendar year, for the purpose of engaging in fire, law enforcement, or emergency rescue 

training. (Labor Code 230.4) 

 
Civil Air Patrol Leave 

 

 

An employee may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave per calendar year, beyond any leave otherwise 

available to the employee, to respond to an emergency operational mission of the California Civil Air 

Patrol, provided that the employee has been employed by the district for at least a 90-day period 

immediately preceding the leave. Such leaves shall not exceed three days for a single mission, unless an 

extension is granted by the governmental entity authorizing the mission and is approved by the 

Superintendent or designee. (Labor Code 1501, 1503) 

 
The employee shall give the district as much advance notice as possible of the intended dates of the 

leave. The Superintendent or designee may require certification from the proper Civil Air Patrol authority 

to verify the eligibility of the employee for the leave and may deny the leave if the employee fails to 

provide the required certification. (Labor Code 1503) 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.3 prohibits a district from discharging or discriminating against an 

employee who takes time off to perform emergency duty as specified below. Labor Code 230.3 defines 

emergency rescue personnel as a member of a federal, state, local, or private fire department or agency, 

as well as a sheriff or police department. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.4, a district with 50 or more employees must grant an 

employee who is a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel a leave of 

absence for up to 14 days per calendar year for training purposes. A district with fewer than 50 

employees may use or delete this paragraph at its discretion. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 1500-1507 require a district with more than 15 employees to provide at least 

10 days of unpaid leave per year, beyond any leave otherwise available to employees, to employees who 

volunteer with the Civil Air Patrol and are directed to respond to an emergency operational mission, as 

provided below. Labor Code 1503 specifies that a district may not require an employee to first exhaust 

all accrued vacation, personal, sick, or any other available leave in order to use Civil Air Patrol leave. 

 
If the district chooses to offer more than 10 days of such leave per year or to provide paid leave, it 

should modify the following paragraph accordingly. A district with 15 or fewer employees may use or 

delete this section at its discretion. 

Page 68 of 459



Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 8 Religious discrimination 

Ed. Code 44036-44037 Leaves of absence for judicial and official appearances 

Ed. Code 44963 Power to grant leaves of absence (; certificated) 

Ed. Code 44981 Leave of absence for personal necessity 

Ed. Code 44985 Leave of absence due to death in immediate family (; 

certificated) 

Ed. Code 44987 Service as officer of employee organization (; certificated) 

Ed. codeCode 44987.3 Leave of absence to serve on certain boards, commissions, 

etc. 

Ed. Code 45190 Leaves of absence and vacations (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45194 Bereavement leave of absence (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45198 Effect of provisions authorizing leaves of absence 

Ed. Code 45207 Personal necessity (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45210 Service as officer of employee organization (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45240-45320 Merit system 

Evid. Code 1035.2 Sex assault counselor; definition 

Evid. Code 1037.1 Domestic violence counselor; definition 

Fam. Code 297-297.5 Rights, protections, benefits under the law; registered 

domestic partners 

Gov. Code 12945.1-12945.2 California Family Rights Act 

Gov. Code 3543.1 Rights of employee organizations 

Lab. Code 1500-1507 Civil Air Patrol leave 

Lab. Code 230-230.2 Leaves for victims of domestic violence, sexual assault or 

specified felonies 

Lab. Code 230.3 Leave for emergency personnel 

Lab. Code 230.4 Leave for volunteer firefighters 

Lab. Code 230.8 Time off to visit child's school 

Lab. Code 233 Illness of child, parent, spouse or domestic partner 

Lab. Code 234 Absence control policy 

Page 69 of 459



Lab. Code 246.5 Paid sick days,; purposes for use 

M&V Code 395.10 Leave when spouse on leave from military deployment 

Pen. Code 1192.7 Plea bargaining limitation 

Pen. Code 667.5 Prior prison terms,; enhancement of prison terms 

Federal Description 

29 USC 2601-2654 Family Care and Medical Leave Act 

42 USC 2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision Rankin v. Commission on Professional Competence, (1988) 

24 Cal.3d 167 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Decision 

Berkeley Council of Classified Employees v. Berkeley Unified 

School District, (2008) PERB Decision No. 1954 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations 

Website California Federation of Teachers 

Website California Public Employment Relations Board 

Website California School Employees Association 

Website California Teachers Association 

 

 

Code Description 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4140 Bargaining Units 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4143 Negotiations/Consultation 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

Cross References 

Page 70 of 459



4161.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4240 Bargaining Units 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4243 Negotiations/Consultation 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4261.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4340 Bargaining Units 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4361.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

5148 Child Care And Development 

5148 Child Care And Development 

Page 71 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4161.5: Military Leave Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2004 | Last Revised Date: 0709/01/20062022 | Last Revie 

0709/01/20062022 

wed Date: 

 
CSBA NOTE: Employment and re-employment rights of employees who take military leave of absence 

are protected by the federal Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 

38 USC 4301-4334. The district may not refuse to grant military leave, regardless of the length of 

employment or whether the employee volunteers for military service or is called up involuntarily. 

 
The USERRA applies to all employees, except for personsindividuals employed for a brief, nonrecurrent 

period for which there was no reasonable expectation that such employment would continue 

indefinitely or for a significant period. It appears that the statute includes temporary certificated and 

short-term classified employees, unless the employee meets the above-stated exception. When 

determining whether a temporary or short-term employee is covered, districts are advised to consult 

legal counsel. 
 

20 CFR 1002.149-1002.150 and 1002.210-1002.213 and guidelines issued by the Veterans'Veterans’ 

Employment and Training Service (VETS) of the U.S. Department of Labor, “A Non-Technical Resource 

Guide to the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act,,” clarify that federal law 

generally protects seniority-based benefits (i.e., a right or benefit that is determined by or that accrues 

with length of service) that would have accrued "with reasonable certainty" had the employee remained 

continuously employed. Non-seniority-based benefits are generally protected to the same extent that 

those benefits are preserved during comparable kinds of leave under local policies or state law. The 

district should consult legal counsel regarding any questions about entitlements to benefits. 

 
Note that in cases where state law provides greater protections to employees, state law supersedes 

federal law. In addition, the district should consult its collective bargaining agreements to determine if 

the bargaining agreements provide greater military leave benefits than provided by law and should 

modify or delete the following optional regulation accordingly. 
 

 

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable state and federal law to employees 

performing military duties on a voluntary or involuntary basis in a uniformed service, including active 

duty, active duty for training, initial active duty for training, inactive duty training, full-time National 

Guard duty, examination to determine fitness for duty, and performance of funeral honors duty. 

(Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395, 395.01, 395.02, 395.05, 395.1, 395.2, 395.9; 

38 USC 4301, 4303, 4316) 

 
An Any district employee who needs to be absent from the district service to fulfill his/her military 

service shall provide advance written or verbal notice to the Superintendent or designee, unless the 

giving of such notice is precluded by military necessity or is otherwise impossible or unreasonable. (38 

USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.85, 1002.86) 

 
Salary/Compensation 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Military and Veterans Code 395.01-395.05, employees on military leave are 

entitled to receive their salary or compensation for a maximum of 30 calendar days for any one leave or 

during one fiscal year. However, Military and Veterans Code 395.03 allows the Governing Board to 

extend compensation beyond the maximum of 30 calendar days for leaves taken pursuant to itemsItems 

#1, 2, and 4 below through a Board resolution or a Memorandum of Understanding with an employee 

organization. In addition, Education Code 44018 authorizes, but does not require, the Board to provide Page 72 of 459



 
 

An employeeThe district shall receive his/herpay an employee’s salary or compensation for the first 30 

days of any one absence for military leave or during one fiscal year, under any of the following conditions: 

 
1. Active Military Training or Exercises: The employee is granted a temporary military leave of 

absence to engage in ordered military duty for purposes of active military training, encampment, 
naval cruises, special exercises, or like activity as a member of the reserve corps or force of the 
United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or Naval Militia, provided that: (Military and 
Veterans Code 389, 395, 395.01) 

 

a. He/sheThe employee has been employed by the district for at least one year immediately 
prior to the day the military leave begins. 

 

b. The ordered duty does not exceed 180 days, including time involved in going to and 
returning from such duty. 

 

2. Active Military Duty: The employee is on military leave, other than a temporary military leave, to 
engage in active military duty as a member of the reserve corps or force of the United States 
Armed Forces, the National Guard, or the Naval Militia, provided that he/shethe employee has 
been employed by the district for at least one year immediately prior to the day the military leave 
begins. (Military and Veterans Code 389, 395.02) 

 

3. War or Other Emergency: The employee, however long employed by the district, is a member of 
the National Guard who is engaged in military or naval duty during a state of extreme emergency 
as declared by the Governor, or during such time as the National Guard may be on active duty in 
situations described in Military and Veterans Code 146, including travel time to and from such 
duty. (Military and Veterans Code 395.05) 

 

 

4. Inactive Duty Training: The employee is a member of the reserve corps or force of the United 
States Armed Forces, National Guard, or Naval Militia who is engaged in temporary inactive duty 
training, provided that he/shethe employee has been employed by the district for at least one 
year immediately prior to the day the military leave begins and the ordered duty does not exceed 
180 days, including time involved in going to and returning from such duty. 

 

 

In determining the length of district employment when necessary to determine eligibility for 

compensation for military leave, all recognized military service performed during and prior to district 

an employee who is on active military duty as a member of the California National Guard or a U.S. 

Military Reserve organization, for up to 180 days, the difference between the amount of the military pay 

and allowances and the employee's salary. 

 
The following paragraph should be revised to reflect decisions of the Board, if any, to extend 

compensation beyond 30 days' pay. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Military and Veterans Code 395 and 395.01, the district has discretion as to 

whether or not to compensate employees are compensated for military leave for periods of inactive 

duty training. Optional itemItem #4 is for use by districts that choose to provide compensation to such 

employees. 

CSBA NOTE: When calculating whether the employee has been employed by the district for a minimum 

of one year for purposes of determining the employee's right to a paid military leave of absence 

pursuant to itemsItems #1, 2, and 4 above, anthe Attorney General opinion (opined in 77 

Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 209 (1994)) states), that all prior military service is to be counted as public agency 

service (i.e., the military service is "tacked on" to the amount of time employed in the district), even 

when a period of time lapses between the military service and district employment. However, as opined 

by the Attorney General in 18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951), an employee may not "tack on" prior 

employment in another district (18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951)).. If a question arises as to whether 

prior service should be counted, district legal counsel should be consulted. 

Page 73 of 459



employment shall be included. 

 
For classified employees, 30 days' compensation shall be one month's salary. For certificated employees, 

30 days' compensation shall be one-tenth of the employee's annual salary. (Education Code 45059) 
 

Certificated employees shall not be entitled to compensation during non-teaching, non-paying months of 

the year. 
 

During the period of military leave, an employee may, upon his/her own request, to use any vacation or 

similar paid leave accrued before the commencement of the military leave. in order to continue receiving 

compensation for the employee’s employment with the district. The district shall not require the 

employee to use such leave. (38 USC 4316; 20 CFR 1002.153) 

 
Benefits 

 
An employee may elect to continue his/her health plan coverage during the military leave. The maximum 

period of coverage for the employee and his/herany dependents shall be either 24 months from the 

beginning of the leave or until the day after the employee fails to apply for or return to employment, 

whichever is less. (38 USC 4317; 20 CFR 1002.164) 

 
An employee on military leave may be required to pay the employee cost, if any, of any funded benefit to 

the extent that other employees on leave are so required. (38 USC 4316) 

 
An employee absent for 30 days or fewer shall not be required to pay more than the employee share for 

such coverage. An employee absent for 31 days or more may be required to pay not more than 102 

percent of the full premium under the plan. (38 USC 4317; 20 CFR 1002.166) 
 

 

 

Any employee called into active military duty as a member of the California National Guard or a United 

States Military Reserve organization shall receive, for up to 180 days, the difference between the amount 

of his/herthe employee’s military pay and the amount the employee would have received from the 

district and all benefits that the employee would have received if he/she had the employee not been 

called to active military duty, unless the benefits are prohibited or limited by vendor contracts. 

(Education Code 44018) 
 

Vacation and Sick Leave Accrual 

 
An employee on temporary military leave under the conditions described in item #1 Active Military 

Training or Exercises,Item #1 in the section entitled "Salary/Compensation" above, shall continue to 

accrue the same vacation, sick leave, and holiday privileges to which he/shethe employee would 

otherwise be entitled if not absent. (Military and Veterans Code 395) 

 
An employee on military leave who is serving in active duty in time of war, national emergency, or United 

Nations military or police operation shall not accrue sick leave or vacation leave during the period of such 

leave. (Military and Veterans Code 395.1) 

 
However, an employee who is a National Guard member on active duty as described in item #3 War or 

CSBA NOTE: An Attorney General opinion (19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (1952)) states that certificated 

employees ordered to perform military service are not entitled to compensation during non-teaching, 

non-paying months of the year. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by any district whose Board has taken action to 

extend benefits tofor up to 180 days to employees who are on active military duty as members of the 

California National Guard or a U.S. Military Reserve organization, as authorized, but not required, by 

Education Code 44018. 

Page 74 of 459



Other Emergency,Item #3 in the section entitled "Salary/Compensation" above, shall not suffer any loss 

or diminution of vacation or holiday privileges because of his/herthe employee’s leave of absence. 

(Military and Veterans Code 395.05) 

 
Pension Plan Service Credit 

 

 

Pension plan service credit and vesting shall continue during an employee's military leave as though no 

break in service had occurred. Payment of employer and employee contributions shall be made in 

accordance with law for members of the State Teachers' Retirement System or Public Employees' 

Retirement System. (Education Code 22850-22856; Government Code 20990-21013) 

 
Employment Status 

 

 

Absence for military leave shall not affect the classification of any certificated employee. In the case of a 

certificated probationary employee, the period of such absence shall not count as part of the service 

required to obtain permanent status, but shall not be construed as a break in the continuity of service for 

any purpose. (Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395; 20 CFR 1002.149) 
 

Reinstatement Rights 

 
At the conclusion of the military duty, an employee shall be promptly reinstated in the position held at 

the beginning of the leave, at the salary to which he/shethe employee would otherwise have been 

entitled, except under the conditions noted below. in this section. (Education Code 44800; Military and 

Veterans Code 395, 395.2; 38 USC 4304, 4313; 20 CFR 1002.180-1002.181) 

 
Any employee who performs active military duty in time of war, national emergency, or United Nations 

military or police operation has a right to return to his/herthe position held prior to the military service, 

during terminal leave prior to the employee’s discharge, separation, or release from the armed forces, or 

within six months of anthe employee’s release, separation, honorable discharge, or placement on inactive 

duty. Reinstatement rights shall not be extended to any such employee who fails to return within 12 

months after the first date upon which he/shethe employee could terminate or could cause to behave 

terminated his/her active service. (Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395.1) 
 

When an employee has been on military leave for reasons other than war or national emergency, the time 

frame for seeking reinstatement shall depend on the length of military service as follows: (38 USC 4312; 

20 CFR 1002.115, 1002.118) 

 
1. For a leave of 30 days or fewer, the employee shall report for duty no later than the beginning of 

the first full work day following the completion of the military service, provided the employee has 
plus a period of eight hours toof rest following a period for safe transportation to his/herthe 
employee’s residence. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 20997, employers that participate in the California Public 

Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) are required to inform employees who are CalPERS members, 

of the rights of returning military veterans to receive employer-paid service credits for the period of 

active military service. 

CSBA NOTE: Employees on military leave are deemed to be on furlough or leave of absence, pursuant to 

20 CFR 1002.149 and, during the period of military leave, maintain non-seniority rights and benefits 

generally provided by the employer to other employees with similar seniority, status, and pay who are on 

furlough or leave of absence. However, pursuant to Education Code 44800 and Military and Veterans 

Code 395, absence due to military leave may not be counted in satisfaction of an uncompleted 

probationary period. 

Page 75 of 459

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=7777cc63dc1f56b32d52d2a4cf58ef4e&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=12fa75ce601c353c6fcc0bbf01d706d5&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=265410d47c2ff88d12bfcc46b5eb5d78&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149


2. For a leave of 31-180 days, the employee shall submit a written or verbal application for 
reinstatement not later than 14 days after the completion of military service. 

 

3. For a leave of more than 180 days, the employee shall submit a written or verbal application for 
reinstatement within 90 days after the completion of military service. 

 

In cases where Where an employee’s reporting or application for reinstatement within the periods 

specified in itemsItems #1 and #2 above is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of the employee, 

he/shethe report or application shall reportbe made as soon as possible after the expiration of the period. 

In the case of Items #2 and #3 where an application is required, the employee’s application may be made 

orally or in writing and need not follow any particular format. (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.115, 

1002.117, 1002.118) 
 

An employee who is hospitalized for, or convalescing from, an illness or injury incurred in or aggravated 

during the performance of military service shall report for duty or submit an application for reinstatement 

at the end of the period that is necessary to recover from such illness or injury, but no more than two 

years after the completion of military service unless circumstances beyond the employee's control make 

reporting within the two-year period impossible or unreasonable. (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.116) 

 
Upon receiving an application for reinstatement, the Superintendent or designee shall reinstate the 

employee as soon as practicable under the circumstances of his/herthe case, but within a time period not 

to exceed two weeks, absent unusual circumstances. (20 CFR 1002.181) 

 
If the employee's previous position has been abolished, he/shethe district shall be reinstatedreinstate the 

employee in a position of like seniority, status, and pay, if such position exists, or to a comparable vacant 

position for which he/shethe employee is qualified. (Military and Veterans Code 395, 395.1; 38 USC 

4313; 20 CFR 1002.192) 

 
An employee failingwho fails to report or apply for reinstatement within the appropriate period does not 

automatically forfeit his/her rights,the entitlement to reinstatement but shall be subject to the 

Board'sdistrict’s rules and/or practices governing unexcused absences. (38 USC 4312) 
 

The Superintendent or designee may elect not to reinstate an employee following military leave if any of 

the following conditions exists: 

 
1. The district's circumstances have so changed as to make such re-employment impossible or 

unreasonable, such as a reduction in force that would have included the employee. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

2. The accommodation, training, or effort described in 38 USC 4313(a)(3), (a)(4), or (b)(2)(B) would 
impose an undue hardship on the district as defined in 20 CFR 1002.5 or 1002.198. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

3. The employee's position was for a brief, nonrecurrent period and there was no reasonable 
expectation that such employment will continue indefinitely or for a significant period. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

4. The employee's cumulative length of absence and length of all previous military leave while 
employed with the district exceeds five years, excluding those training and service obligations 
specified in 38 USC 4312(c). (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.99-1002.103) 

 

5. The employee was separated from military service with a disqualifying discharge or under other 
than honorable conditions. (Military and Veterans Code 395.1; 20 USC 4304, 4312; 20 CFR 
1002.134-1002.138) 

 
Notices 

Page 76 of 459



 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide employees a notice of the rights, benefits, and obligations 

of employees granted military leave and of the district under the Uniformed Services Employment and 

Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 38 USC 4301-4334. (38 USC 4334) 

 

 

This requirement may be met by posting the notice where the district customarily places notices for 

employees. (38 USC 4334) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 
 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 22850-22856 Pension benefits,; STRS members on military leave 

Ed. Code 44018 Compensation for employees on active military duty 

Ed. Code 44800 Effect of active military service on status of employees 

Ed. Code 45059 Employee ordered to active military/naval duty,; computation 

of salary 

Gov. Code 18540 Definition of armed forces 

Gov. Code 18540.3 Recognized military service 

Gov. Code 20990-21013 Pension benefits,; PERS members on military leave 

M&V Code 146 Events justifying calling of militia into active service 

M&V Code 389 Definitions; temporary military leave 

M&V Code 394 Nondiscrimination based on military service 

M&V Code 395-395.9 Military leave 

Federal Description 

20 CFR 1002.1-1002.314 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994 

38 USC 4301-4334 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994 

Management Resources Description 

CSBA NOTE: 38 USC 4334 requires employers to post a notice of rights and benefits as provided below. 

The U.S. Secretary of Labor has provided a sample notice listing these rights which is available on the 

Department of Labor's USERRA web site. 

CSBA NOTE: 38 USC 4334 states that the notice may be placed where the employerdistrict customarily 

places employee notices, as provided below. However, the VETS' , “A Non-Technical Resource Guide to 

the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA)),” clarifies that an 

employer may provide the notice in an alternative manner as long as the full text of the notice is 

provided. Examples include handing the notice to employees, mailing it, or distributing it via email. The 

district may revise the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

Page 77 of 459



Attorney General Opinion 18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951) 

Attorney General Opinion 19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (1952) 

Attorney General Opinion 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 924 (1978) 

Attorney General Opinion 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 290 (1986) 

Attorney General Opinion 77 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 56 (1994) 

Court Decision Bowers v. San Buenaventura (1977) 75 Cal. App.3d 65 

Court Decision Wright v. City of Santa Clara (1989) 213 Cal. App.3d 1503 

National School Boards Association 

Publication 

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment 

Rights Act (USERRA), NSBA Federal File: Guidance on 

Federal School Law, 2003 

U.S. Department of Labor Publication A Non-Technical Resource Guide to the Uniformed Services 

Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), rev. 

April 2005 

Website National Committee for Employer Support of the Guard and 

Reserve 

Website U.S. Department of Labor, USERRA 

Website National School Boards Association 

 

 

Code Description 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4032 Reasonable Accommodation 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4217.3 Layoff/Rehire 

4261 Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 78 of 459



4261 Leaves 

4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

Page 79 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 4216: Probationary/Permanent Status Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1996 | Last Revised Date: 1009/01/20192022 
 

 

 
The Governing Board desires to employ and retain highly qualified classified personnel to support the 

district's educational program and operations. Newly hired classified employees shall serve a probationary 

period during which the Board shall determine their suitability for long-term district employment. 
 

 

A probationary employee who has been employed by the district for six months or 130 days of paid 

service, whichever is longer, shall be classified as a permanent employee of the district. (Education Code 

45113, 45301) 
 

 
 

 

However, in order to receive permanent classified service status, a full-time district police officer or 

public safety dispatcher who operates a dispatch center certified by the Commission on Peace Officer 

Standards and Training shall serve in a probationary status for not less than one year from the date of 

appointment. (Education Code 45113, 45301) 

 

Probationary employees shall receive written performance evaluations by their supervisor during the 

probationary period. These evaluations shall indicate whether the evaluator is satisfied or not satisfied 

with the employee's ability, performance, and compatibility with the job. 

 
The district may, without cause, dismiss a new employee during the probationary period. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45113 mandates the Governing Board in a non-merit system district to 

develop rules and regulations for the personnel management of classified employees. For districts 

establishing the merit system pursuant to Education Code 45240-45320, rules for the efficient running 

of the classified service are established by the personnel commission pursuant to Education Code 

45260. The following policy may be revised to reflect district practice, theany applicable collective 

bargaining agreement, or personnel commission rules. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph should be revised to reflect the specific length of the 

probationary period prescribed by the district, provided the probationary period does not exceed the 

time limits specified below. 

 
Education Code 45113, as amended by AB 1353 (Ch. 542, Statutes of 2019), shortened the maximum 

length of the required probationary period in non-merit system districts from one year to six months or 

130 days of paid service, whichever is longer. Therefore, the maximum length of the required 

probationary period for non-merit districts is now the same as that of districts incorporating the merit 

system as provided under Education Code 45301. Education Code 45113, as amended, will not override 

any conflicting provision of a collective bargaining agreement entered into before January 1, 2020, until 

the collective bargaining agreement expires or is renewed. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45113 (non-merit system districts) and 45301 (merit system 

districts), as amended by AB 486 (Ch. 666, Statutes of 2021), in order to receive permanent classified 

service status, a full-time district police officer and public safety dispatcher who operates a dispatch 

center certified by the Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training must serve in a probationary 

status for not less than one year from the date of appointment to the full-time position. See AR 3515.3 – 

District Police/Security Department. 

Page 80 of 459



Permanent employees promoted to a higher classification shall be considered probationary in their new 

position until they have satisfactorily completed the probationary period. 

 

 

A permanent employee who accepts a promotion and fails to complete the probationary period for that 

promotional position shall be employed in the classification from which the employee was promoted. 

(Education Code 45113, 45301) 
 

This policy shall be made available to classified employees and the public. (Education Code 45113) 
 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 45113 Notification of charges,; classified employees 

Ed. Code 45240-45320 Merit system 

Management Resources Description 

Website California School Employees Association 

 

 

Code Description 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department (BP and AR) 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4161.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4215 Evaluation/Supervision 

4218 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4218 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

4218.1 Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action (Merit System) 

4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4261.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45301, as amended by SB 874 (Ch. 150, Statutes of 2022), the 

paragraph below also applies to districts that have adopted the merit system. 

Cross References 

Page 81 of 459



4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4361.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

Page 82 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=mLmRkDKGDKLFYgbwAqE9XQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=lrYpaV9hMC9jSQAMPslshslshplusIg%3D%3D


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 4218: Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 07/01/2019 | Last Revised Date: 1009/01/20192022 
 

 

 
The Governing Board expects all employees to perform their jobs satisfactorily and to exhibit professional 

and appropriate conduct. A classified employee may be disciplined for unprofessional conduct or 

unsatisfactory performance in accordance with law or any applicable collective bargaining agreement, 

Board policy, or administrative regulation. 
 
 

 

Disciplinary actions shall be based on the particular facts and circumstances involved and the severity of 

the employee's conduct or performance. An employee's private exercise of personal beliefs and 

activities, including religious, political, cultural, social, or other beliefs or activities, or lack thereof, shall 

not be grounds for disciplinary action against the employee, provided that the beliefs or activities do not 

involve coercion of students or any other violation of law, Board policy, or administrative regulation. 

In addition, an employee shall not be suspended, disciplined, reassigned, transferred, dismissed, or 

otherwise retaliated against solely for acting to protect a student engaged in exercising any free speech 

or press right authorized by, or for refusing to infringe upon a student's conduct protected pursuant to, 

Education Code 48907 or 48950. 
 

Disciplinary actions may include, but are not limited to, verbal and written warnings, involuntary 

reassignment, demotion, suspension without pay, reduction of pay step in class, compulsory leave, and 

dismissal. 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that have not incorporated the merit system for 

classified employees pursuant to Education Code 45240-45320. For procedures applicable to districts 

that have incorporated the merit system, see BP/AR 4218.1 - Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action 

(Merit System). 

 
The following policy is subject to collective bargaining and may be deleted or revised by any district 

whose collective bargaining agreement covers classified employee dismissal, suspension, and other 

disciplinary action. To the extent that this policy is inconsistent with provisions of the collective 

bargaining agreement, the collective bargaining agreement would prevail. 

CSBA NOTE: When disciplining an employee, the district must ensure that all the surrounding facts and 

circumstances are considered and analyzed within the parameters of any applicable constitutional or legal 

framework. In Kennedy v. Bremerton School District, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the district violated 

the employee’s protected free exercise and free speech rights when the district did not rehire the 

employee, a coach, for refusing to follow the district’s direction to refrain from kneeling and praying at 

the 50-yard line immediately after each football game. The district’s direction was based on a concern 

that the employee’s prayer violated the district’s religious practices policy and could subject the district to 

an Establishment Clause violation. Notwithstanding that the prayer occurred at a school event and in the 

presence of students, the court reasoned that the timing and circumstances indicated that the coach’s 

prayers were offered as a private citizen rather than as a district employee. According to the Court, since 

the prayer, a religious activity, occurred during a period when employees would ordinarily be free to 

engage in personal secular activities such as speaking with friends, checking email, calling for restaurant 

reservations, etc., the district’s concerns about a possible Establishment Clause violation did not justify 

restricting the employee’s free exercise and free speech rights to engage in a personal religious activity 

such as offering a prayer. Employee discipline, especially with respect to suspension and dismissal, 

involves complex legal considerations and districts are advised to consult CSBA District and County 

Office of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel, accordingly. 

Page 83 of 459



The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that disciplinary actions are taken in a consistent, 

nondiscriminatory manner and are appropriately documented. 

 
A probationary classified employee may be dismissed by the Superintendent or designeewithout cause at 

any time prior to the expiration of the probationary period. 
 

 

Permanent classified employees shall be subject to disciplinary action only for cause as specified in the 

accompanying administrative regulation. (Education Code 45113) 

 
Procedures for Serious Disciplinary Proceedings 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall develop disciplinary procedures for use when dismissal, suspension, 

demotion, involuntary reassignment, or other serious disciplinary action is contemplated against an 

employee. The procedures for such discipline shall include an opportunity for an employee for whom any 

such disciplinary action is recommended to meet with, or respond in writing to, a designated district 

official ("Skelly officer") who will determine whether the recommended discipline should proceed further 

or be modified or withdrawn. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45113 mandates districts not incorporating the merit system to prescribe, 

by written rule or regulation, causes and procedures for disciplinary action against permanent classified 

employees. Also see the accompanying administrative regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice. 

 
In Skelly v. State Personnel Board, the California Supreme Court held that permanent public employees 

have a right to certain due process protections prior to any punitive disciplinary action, such as 

termination, suspension, or demotion. These procedural rights include notice of the proposed materials 

upon which the action is based and the right to respond, either orally or in writing, to the individual 

recommending that discipline be imposed. These procedural rights are designed to protect an employee 

who may be wrongfully disciplined, without necessitating a full evidentiary hearing before the 

Governing Board. Therefore, CSBA recommends that the Superintendent or designee appoint a Skelly 

officer to evaluate whether there are reasonable grounds for believing that the employee engaged in the 

alleged misconduct and whether the proposed discipline is justified. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45113 and 45116, a permanent classified employee must be 

given notice of any disciplinary action against the employee, including a time period during which the 

employee may request a Board hearing on the charges. See the section "Initiation and Notification of 

Charges" in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 45113, the Board may delegate its authority to determine whether 

sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action against classified employees, excluding peace officers as 

defined in Penal Code 830.32, to an impartial third-party hearing officer. Hearings conducted by the 

Board or a hearing officer are not subject to the procedures used by the Office of Administrative 

Hearings pursuant to Government Code 11500-11529. Districts that refer all serious disciplinary 

matters to a third-party hearing officer rather than holding Board hearings should revise the remainder 

of this section accordingly. 

 
Education Code 45113 requires the Board to delegate its authority to an administrative law judge in 

cases involving allegations of egregious misconduct with a minor. Egregious misconduct is defined as 

immoral conduct leading to an allegation of a sex offense pursuant to Education Code 44010, a 

controlled substance offense pursuant to Education Code 44011, or child abuse or neglect pursuant to 

Penal Code 11165.2-11165.6. 

Page 84 of 459



After meeting with the employee or considering the employee's written response, if the Skelly officer 

determines that the recommended discipline should proceed, the Superintendent or designee shall send 

the employee a notice of the recommended disciplinary action, a statement of charges, and the results of 

the Skelly hearing. The notice shall include a statement advising the employee of the right to request a 

Board hearing on the matter. 

 
If the employee fails to request a hearing within the time specified in the notice, the employee is deemed 

to have waived the right to do so, and the Board may order the recommended disciplinary action into 

effect immediately. 

 
If a timely request is submitted, a hearing shall be conducted by the Board. (Education Code 45113, 

45312) 

 
The hearing shall be held at the earliest convenient date, taking into consideration the established 

schedule of the Board and the availability of legal counsel and witnesses. The employee shall be notified 

of the time and place of the hearing. 

 
The hearing shall be held in closed session, unless the employee requests that the matter be heard in an 

open session meeting. (Government Code 54957) 

 
The employee shall be entitled to appear personally, produce evidence, and be represented by legal 

counsel. 

 
The Board may use the services of its legal counsel in ruling upon procedural questions, objections to 

evidence, and issues of law. The Board may review and consider the records of any prior personnel 

action proceedings against the employee in which a disciplinary action was ultimately sustained and any 

records contained in the employee's personnel files and introduced into evidence at the hearing. The 

Board shall not be bound by rules of evidence used in California courts. Informality in any such hearing 

shall not invalidate any order or decision made by the Board. 

 
At any time before a matter is submitted to the Board for decision, the Superintendent or designee may, 

with the consent of the Board, serve on the employee and file with the Board an amended or 

supplemental recommendation of disciplinary action. If the amended or supplemental recommendation 

includes new causes or allegations, the employee shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to prepare a 

defense. Any new causes or allegations shall be deemed controverted and any objections to the amended 

or supplemental causes or allegations may be made orally at the hearing and shall be noted on the record. 

 
Following the hearing or, if the employee has not requested a hearing, after reviewing the Superintendent 

or designee's recommendation for disciplinary action, the Board shall affirm, modify, or reject the 

recommended disciplinary action. The decision of the Board shall be in writing and shall contain findings 

of fact and the disciplinary action approved, if any. The decision of the Board shall be final. 

 
Within 10 working days of the Board's final decision, a copy of the decision shall be delivered to the 

employee and/or designated representative personally or by registered mail. 

 
In lieuExcept for an allegation of holdingegregious misconduct in which a Board hearing on the 

sufficiency of the causes for disciplinary actionminor is involved, the Board may delegate itsthe authority 

to determine whether sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action to an impartial third-party hearing 

officer. When thea matter is heard by a third-party hearing officer, the Board retains the authority toshall 

review the determination and to adopt or reject the recommended decision. (Education Code 45113) 

Page 85 of 459



 
 

If When any matter involves an allegation of egregious misconduct as defined in Education Code 44932 

and involves a witness who is a minor, the matter shall be referred to an administrative law judge to 

determine whether sufficient cause exists for disciplinary action against the employee. In such cases, the 

ruling of the administrative law judge shall be binding on the district and the employee. (Education Code 

45113) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 35161 Board delegation of any powers or duties 

Ed. Code 44009 Conviction of specified crimes 

Ed. Code 44010 Sex offense; definitions 

Ed. Code 44011 Controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 44940 Compulsory leave of absence for certificated persons 

Ed. Code 44940.5 Procedures when employees are placed on compulsory leave 

of absence 

Ed. Code 45101 Definitions (including; disciplinary action, and cause) 

Ed. Code 45109 Fixing of duties 

Ed. Code 45113 Notification of charges,; classified employees 

Ed. Code 45123 Employment after conviction of controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 45302 Demotion and removal from permanent classified service 

Ed. Code 45303 Additional cause for suspension or dismissal of employee 

charge with mandatory or optional leave of absence offense 

Ed. Code 45304 Compulsory leave of absence for classified persons 

Veh. Code 1808.8 Schoolbus drivers; dismissal for safety-related cause 

California Constitution Article 1, Section 

1 

Inalienable rights 

Federal Description 

42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

U.S. Constitution First Amendment Free exercise, free speech, and establishment clauses 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision California School EmployeesKennedy v. Livingston 

UnionBremerton School District, (2007) 149 Cal. App. 4th 

391 (2022) 142 S.Ct. 2407 

Court Decision CSEACalifornia School Employees v. Foothill Community 

CollegeLivingston Union School District, 52 (2007) 149 Cal. 
App. 4th 391, 155-156 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 44990, an administrative law judge in a suspension or 

dismissal hearing is required to preserve the integrity of the truth-finding function by balancing the right 

of a classified employee against the need to protect a minor witness. 

Page 86 of 459



Court Decision SkellyCSEA v. California Personnel Board,Foothill Community 

College District (1975) 1552 Cal. App. 3rd 1503d 194 

Court Decision Skelly v. California Personnel Board (1975) 15 Cal.3d 194 

 
Website Department of General Services, About Teacher Dismissal 

Case Type (https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH/Case- 

Types/General-Jurisdiction/About/Page-Content/About- 

Teacher-Dismissal) 

Website Office of Administrative Hearings 

(https://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH) 

Website Office of the Attorney General (https://oag.ca.gov/) 
 

 

Code Description 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

3512-E PDF(1) Equipment 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.21 Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3516.2 Bomb Threats 

3542 School Bus Drivers 

4000 Concepts And Roles 

Cross References 

Page 87 of 459

http://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH/Case-
http://www.dgs.ca.gov/OAH)
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KkA1MfMfbYXIXUu0eslshaxHA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrVpuDQ1vR9wQ2k98mWEfw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7m0kkRI080pEKjDxDRMOOw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Tfu9I4sBWoCRXf7vpR3E1Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3ZAu8vWS7gCTzltontMYCQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yIcYt5GEUDzNn6MCKXHwslshQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OmRW7DZwmhv7QplusgwNmVQMA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dxgWbeettLg4plusRjRCHJjuw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YjjoL2x00aYHhZJkre4e0A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cygmmTM9dCjir51PbYKh8g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=EVr5FqYRbwRbZldhP62WoA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=liDnenvkkbo9k8aBSMIgJA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b3slshW8slshpQhYvJK4pMaZLckA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9xnplAplus8n2zEgGqVJvbB6w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uggmuLimslshj5LjplusIzFReNEw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=czvx0Ll4aucxbLNmh9AhHw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cY8wcRrzAislshslshKOOu4Wm9bA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e2cOEzD4U5144slshjMZ8H0nw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VU2iplusq28WhoOpT92s0MXWQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5oyZypSpfZplusslshOS2Zs6wVHA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BslshQC82MNOXDxBQtf8VNy0A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JRzMgb2o9bJyiqslshMVoLW7w%3D%3D


4020 Drug And Alcohol-Free Workplace 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4040 Employee Use Of Technology 

4040-E(1) Employee Use Of Technology 

4040-E PDF(1) Employee Use Of Technology 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.5 Criminal Record Check 

4112.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4112.5-E PDF(1) Criminal Record Check 

4112.6 Personnel Files 

4113.5 Working Remotely 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.21 Professional Standards 

4119.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4119.21-E PDF(1) Professional Standards 

4119.22 Dress And Grooming 

4119.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4119.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4136 Nonschool Employment 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4157 Employee Safety 

4157 Employee Safety 

4158 Employee Security 

Page 88 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OU7slshHUQQU6hMiTjgZRtw9Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CluLTZ5uOvlwu7bvxCIQplusw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zV4epUBnH4i42xuGRdg2VQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=H8ZD2lTxoT4coT3lP3zM6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vYmokingjVB0hYXZMuqe6A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IgGA3mvl8EhWZMfYJkzOaQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrQb5ktqhIwseyTswm1oAA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Wy7YEw5O2replusvbaZh1GhsQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GSuluddJST7ATWkqBgXinA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9r2cUVYLPskvLh5gKkslshpwA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bO1CritKVlqfrvhhkzslsh4GA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9vHZTifO0O48hurGuBMmJQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=USuW034TqDrfkZmfhulNHA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r62xXFUHbIIl8JqY3Znqyg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0HTQ5C3JOhplussaFfNwhy6pg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BnQ5HKBRnHPaP0hCklYYRA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Q1gZHWIsslshyshRDSHwIAhPg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7ktplusFdjkngFIXX0VgfSuQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qaMUwZmsn9acKhnJx0lxiA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IPYeZcNHhplusztordTIfXLfw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=G8h5JDuouCHb9r2URiYoEA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3f21bNYkKNll2D7cMyslshplusQQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=112iNOdUuL3U6fiiA2lnslshw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ErqpslshUoEJaDp5uAvu8CSTg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u76vB9fyN6KzILvdsq6TIQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WQyyX4yT8lnRbjXplusp1Sq2A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QrazxKXNJ1N3vlcJwUIJ7g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus1dW1lHIoAPkTrFQs1DP2Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=384mvrobDvslshslshndjeyL1fTA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZJPtSeV7is0S9G1OAuzpHQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0UXmVKLPOYmTSulHWNdcNw%3D%3D


4158 Employee Security 

4159 Employee Assistance Programs 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4212 Appointment And Conditions Of Employment 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.5 Criminal Record Check 

4212.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4212.5-E PDF(1) Criminal Record Check 

4212.6 Personnel Files 

4213.5 Working Remotely 

4216 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.21 Professional Standards 

4219.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4219.21-E PDF(1) Professional Standards 

4219.22 Dress And Grooming 

4219.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4219.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4236 Nonschool Employment 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

Page 89 of 459



4257 Employee Safety 

4257 Employee Safety 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4259 Employee Assistance Programs 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.5 Criminal Record Check 

4312.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4312.5-E PDF(1) Criminal Record Check 

4312.6 Personnel Files 

4313.5 Working Remotely 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.21 Professional Standards 

4319.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4319.21-E PDF(1) Professional Standards 

4319.22 Dress And Grooming 

4319.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4319.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4336 Nonschool Employment 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4357 Employee Safety 

4357 Employee Safety 

4358 Employee Security 

Page 90 of 459



4358 Employee Security 

4359 Employee Assistance Programs 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.71 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.71-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6162.54 Test Integrity/Test Preparation 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(1) Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(2) Closed Session 

Page 91 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4218: Dismissal/Suspension/Disciplinary Action Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1994 | Last Revised Date: 1009/01/20192022 
 

 

Causes for Disciplinary Action 
 

 

A permanent classified employee may be subject to suspension, demotion, involuntary reassignment, or 

dismissal for one or more of the following causes: 
 

 

1. Immoral conduct, including, but not limited to, egregious misconduct that is the basis for a sex 
offense as defined in Education Code 44010, a controlled substance offense as defined in 
Education Code 44011, or child abuse and neglect as described in Penal Code 11165.2-11165.6 

 

2. Conduct that constitutes a violent or serious felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) or 1192.7(c) 
 

3. Unlawful discrimination, including harassment, against any student or other employee 
 

4. Violation of or refusal to obey state or federal law or regulation, Board policy, or district or school 
procedure 

 

5. Falsification of any information supplied to the district, including, but not limited to, information 
supplied on application forms, employment records, or any other school district records 

 

6. Unsatisfactory performance 
 

7. Unprofessional conduct 
 

8. Dishonesty 
 

9. Neglect of duty or absence without leave 
 

10. Insubordination 
 

11. Use of alcohol or a controlled substance while on duty or in such close time proximity thereto as 
to affect the employee's performance 

 

12. Destruction or misuse of district property 
 

13. Failure to fulfill any ongoing condition of employment including, but not limited to, maintenance 
of any license, certificate, or other similar requirement specified in the employee's class 
specification or otherwise necessary for the employee to perform the duties of the position 

CSBA NOTE: The following section should be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 45113 

mandates districts not incorporating the merit system to prescribe, by rule or regulation, causes for 

disciplinary action against permanent classified employees. Pursuant to Education Code 45101, such 

employees may be disciplined only for cause as so prescribed. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 45122.1, 45123, and 45124, districts must not continue to 

employ anyone who has been convicted of a specified sex offense, controlled substance offense, or 

violent or serious offense as defined, except for employees who have been rehabilitated or had their 

conviction reversed or the charges dismissed. Also see AR 4112.5/4212.5/4312.5 - Criminal Record 

Check. 

Page 92 of 459



 
 

14. A physical or mental condition which precludes the employee from the proper performance of 
duties and responsibilities as determined by competent medical authority, except as otherwise 
provided by a contract or by law 

 

15. Retaliation against any person who, in good faith, reports, discloses, divulges, or otherwise brings 
to the attention of any appropriate authority any information relative to an actual or suspected 
violation of state or federal law occurring on or directly related to the job 

 

16. Violation of Education Code 45303 or Government Code 1028 (prohibiting the advocacy or 
teaching of communism) 

 

17. Any other misconduct which is of such nature that it causes discredit or injury to the district or 
the employee's position 

 
An employee shall not be suspended, disciplined, reassigned, transferred, dismissed, or otherwise 

retaliated against solely for acting to protect a student, or for refusing to infringe on a student's protected 

conduct, when that student is exercising free speech or press rights pursuant to Education Code 48907 

or 48950. (Education Code 48907, 48950) 
 

No disciplinary action shall be taken for any cause which arose before the employee became permanent, 

nor for any cause which arose more than two years before the date of the filing of the notice of cause 

unless this cause was concealed or not disclosed by the employee when it could be reasonably assumed 

that the employee would have disclosed the facts to the district. (Education Code 45113) 

 
Initiation and Notification of Charges 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide notice to the employee of a recommendation for discipline, 

which includes the charges and materials upon which the recommendation is based. The notification shall 

identify an impartial district official ("Skelly officer") with whom the employee may meet at a specified 

time and place or to whom the employee may provide a written response to the recommendation of 

discipline. After meeting with the employee or considering any response from the employee, the Skelly 

officer shall recommend to the Superintendent or designee whether to proceed with the 

recommendation for discipline. 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall file any final recommendation for a disciplinary action in writing 

with the Governing Board. A copy of the recommendation shall be served upon the employee either 

personally or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the employee's last known 

address. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (42 USC 12101-12213) and the 

state's Fair Employment and Housing Act (Government Code 12900-12996), the district has a duty to 

reasonably accommodate qualified employees with known disabilities, except when such 

accommodation would cause an undue hardship to the district. This accommodation is not required for 

individuals who are not otherwise qualified for the job. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Skelly v. State Personnel Board, permanent public employees are entitled to due 

process before any punitive disciplinary action, such as termination, suspension, or demotion, may be 

taken against such employees. These procedural rights include provision of notice of the materials upon 

which the proposed action is based and the right to respond, either orally or in writing, to a district 

official ("Skelly officer") who is designated to decide whether the recommended discipline should be 

imposed. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45113 mandates districts to adopt disciplinary procedures which contain 

provisions for giving classified employees a written notice of specific charges, the employee's right to a 

hearing on those charges, the time within which the hearing may be requested, and a card or paper to 

complete to request a hearing. 

Page 93 of 459



The notice shall, in ordinary and concise language, inform the employee of the specific charge(s) or 

cause(s) for the disciplinary action, the specific acts and omissions upon which the action is based, and, if 

applicable, the district rule or regulation that the employee has allegedly violated. In addition, the notice 

shall include the employee's right to a hearing on those charges, the time within which the hearing may 

be requested which shall be not less than five days after service of the notice to the employee, and a card 

or paper which the employee may sign and file to deny the charges and request a hearing. (Education 

Code 45113, 45116) 

 
Request for Board Hearing 

 

 

Within the time specified in the notice of the recommendation of disciplinary action, the employee may 

request a hearing on the charges by signing and filing the card or paper included with the notice. 

(Education Code 45113) 

 
Any other written document signed and appropriately filed within the specified time limit by the 

employee shall constitute a sufficient notice of the request for a hearing. The request shall be delivered 

to the office of the Superintendent or designee during normal work hours of that office. If mailed to the 

office of the Superintendent or designee, it must be received or postmarked no later than the time limit 

specified by the district. In cases where an order of suspension without pay has been issued in 

conjunction with a recommendation of dismissal, any request for a hearing on the dismissal shall also 

constitute a request to hear the suspension order, and the necessity of the suspension order shall be an 

issue in the hearing. 

 
Employment Status Pending a Hearing 

 
A classified employee against whom a recommendation of disciplinary action has been issued shall remain 

on active duty status pending any hearing on the charges, unless the Superintendent or designee 

determines that the employee's continuance in active duty would present an unreasonable risk of harm to 

students, staff, or property. The Superintendent or designee may, in writing, order the employee 

immediately suspended from duty without pay and shall state the reasons that the suspension is deemed 

necessary. The suspension order shall be served upon the employee either personally or by registered or 

certified mail, return receipt requested, immediately after issuance. 

 
Compulsory Leave of Absence 

 

CSBA NOTE: As provided in the section "Initiation and Notification of Charges" above, Education Code 

45113 requires that the notice of disciplinary action include the time within which a hearing may be 

requested, which cannot be less than five days after service of the notice to the employee. In California 

School Employees Association v. Livingston Union School District, the appeals court ruled that the 

district failed to provide due process to an employee when it denied the employee the opportunity to 

request a hearing based on the employee's failure to respond within five days after service of the notice. 

The district's policy had established the date of "service of the notice" as the date of mailing, but the 

employee was a 10-month employee who was out of town when the notice was delivered. The court 

held that the notice was not "reasonably calculated" to provide an opportunity to timely request a 

hearing. Thus, it is recommended that districts use the date of the employee's receipt of the notice as 

the date upon which the five-day response period begins. For further information on the evidentiary 

hearing conducted by the Board or a hearing officer, see the accompanying Board policy. 

CSBA NOTE: State law requires that classified employees in merit system districts and certificated 

employees be immediately placed on compulsory leave of absence following conviction for certain 

offenses specified in Education Code 44940, and gives districts discretion to place such employees on 

leave for other specified offenses. Although existing state law does not explicitly provide for application 

to classified employees in nonmerit system districts, such districts have authority pursuant to Education Page 94 of 459



 
 

Upon being informed by law enforcement that a classified employee has been charged with a "mandatory 

leave of absence offense," the Superintendent or designee shall immediately place the employee on a 

leave of absence. A mandatory leave of absence offense includes: 

 
1. Any sex offense as defined in Education Code 44010 

 

2. Violation or attempted violation of Penal Code 187 (prohibiting murder or attempted murder) 
 

3. Any offense involving the unlawful sale, use, or exchange to minors of controlled substances as 
listed in Health and Safety Code 11054, 11055, and 11056 

 
The Superintendent or designee may place on an immediate compulsory leave of absence a classified 

employee who is charged with an "optional leave of absence offense," defined as a controlled substance 

offense specified in Education Code 44011 and Health and Safety Code 11357-11361, 11363, 11364, 

and 11370.1 except as it relates to marijuana, mescaline, peyote, or tetrahydrocannabinols. 

 
An employee's compulsory leave for a mandatory or optional leave of absence offense may extend for 

not more than 10 days after the entry of judgment in the criminal proceedings. However, the compulsory 

leave may be extended if the Board gives notice, within 10 days after the entry of judgment in the 

proceedings, that the employee will be dismissed within 30 days from the date of service of the notice 

unless the employee demands a hearing on the dismissal. 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 35161 Board delegation of any powers or duties 

Ed. Code 44009 Conviction of specified crimes 

Ed. Code 44010 Sex offense; definitions 

Ed. Code 44011 Controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 44940 Compulsory leave of absence for certificated persons 

Ed. Code 44940.5 Procedures when employees are placed on compulsory leave 

of absence 

Ed. Code 45101 Definitions (including disciplinary action, cause) 

Ed. Code 45109 Fixing of duties 

Ed. Code 45113 Notification of charges, classified employees 

Ed. Code 45123 Employment after conviction of controlled substance offense 

Ed. Code 45302 Demotion and removal from permanent classified service 

Ed. Code 45303 Additional cause for suspension or dismissal of employee 

charge with mandatory or optional leave of absence offense 

Ed. Code 45304 Compulsory leave of absence for classified persons 

Code 45113 to establish causes for suspension or dismissal. The following section may be revised to 

reflect district practice. 

Page 95 of 459



Veh. Code 1808.8 SchoolbusSchool bus drivers; dismissal for safety-related 

cause 

Federal Description 

42 USC 12101-12213 Americans with Disabilities Act 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision California School Employees v. Livingston Union School 

District, (2007) 149 Cal. App. 4th 391 

Court Decision CSEA v. Foothill Community College District, 52 Cal. App. 3rd 

150, 155-156 

Court Decision Skelly v. California Personnel Board, (1975) 15 Cal.3d 194 

 

 

Code Description 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1114 District-Sponsored Social Media 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.1 Complaints Concerning District Employees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

3512-E PDF(1) Equipment 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.3 Tobacco-Free Schools 

3513.4 Drug And Alcohol Free Schools 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.2 Disruptions 

3515.21 Unmanned Aircraft Systems (Drones) 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3515.3 District Police/Security Department 

3516.2 Bomb Threats 

3542 School Bus Drivers 

4000 Concepts And Roles 

Cross References 

Page 96 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KkA1MfMfbYXIXUu0eslshaxHA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrVpuDQ1vR9wQ2k98mWEfw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=7m0kkRI080pEKjDxDRMOOw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Tfu9I4sBWoCRXf7vpR3E1Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=RYxiOFK5nN2LUZW4a1mtoA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Lt72smippwYQWgcj9Ykpluscw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3ZAu8vWS7gCTzltontMYCQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yIcYt5GEUDzNn6MCKXHwslshQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OmRW7DZwmhv7QplusgwNmVQMA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dxgWbeettLg4plusRjRCHJjuw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=YjjoL2x00aYHhZJkre4e0A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cygmmTM9dCjir51PbYKh8g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=EVr5FqYRbwRbZldhP62WoA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=liDnenvkkbo9k8aBSMIgJA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b3slshW8slshpQhYvJK4pMaZLckA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9xnplAplus8n2zEgGqVJvbB6w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=uggmuLimslshj5LjplusIzFReNEw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=czvx0Ll4aucxbLNmh9AhHw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=cY8wcRrzAislshslshKOOu4Wm9bA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=e2cOEzD4U5144slshjMZ8H0nw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=VU2iplusq28WhoOpT92s0MXWQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=5oyZypSpfZplusslshOS2Zs6wVHA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BslshQC82MNOXDxBQtf8VNy0A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=JRzMgb2o9bJyiqslshMVoLW7w%3D%3D


4020 Drug And Alcohol-Free Workplace 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4040 Employee Use Of Technology 

4040-E(1) Employee Use Of Technology 

4040-E PDF(1) Employee Use Of Technology 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4112.5 Criminal Record Check 

4112.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4112.5-E PDF(1) Criminal Record Check 

4112.6 Personnel Files 

4113.5 Working Remotely 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.12-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4119.21 Professional Standards 

4119.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4119.21-E PDF(1) Professional Standards 

4119.22 Dress And Grooming 

4119.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4119.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4127 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4136 Nonschool Employment 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4157 Employee Safety 

4157 Employee Safety 

4158 Employee Security 

Page 97 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OU7slshHUQQU6hMiTjgZRtw9Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CluLTZ5uOvlwu7bvxCIQplusw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=zV4epUBnH4i42xuGRdg2VQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=H8ZD2lTxoT4coT3lP3zM6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=vYmokingjVB0hYXZMuqe6A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IgGA3mvl8EhWZMfYJkzOaQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BrQb5ktqhIwseyTswm1oAA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Wy7YEw5O2replusvbaZh1GhsQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=GSuluddJST7ATWkqBgXinA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9r2cUVYLPskvLh5gKkslshpwA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bO1CritKVlqfrvhhkzslsh4GA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=9vHZTifO0O48hurGuBMmJQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=USuW034TqDrfkZmfhulNHA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r62xXFUHbIIl8JqY3Znqyg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0HTQ5C3JOhplussaFfNwhy6pg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BnQ5HKBRnHPaP0hCklYYRA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Q1gZHWIsslshyshRDSHwIAhPg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=C7ktplusFdjkngFIXX0VgfSuQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qaMUwZmsn9acKhnJx0lxiA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=IPYeZcNHhplusztordTIfXLfw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=G8h5JDuouCHb9r2URiYoEA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3f21bNYkKNll2D7cMyslshplusQQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=112iNOdUuL3U6fiiA2lnslshw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ErqpslshUoEJaDp5uAvu8CSTg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=u76vB9fyN6KzILvdsq6TIQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WQyyX4yT8lnRbjXplusp1Sq2A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QrazxKXNJ1N3vlcJwUIJ7g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus1dW1lHIoAPkTrFQs1DP2Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=384mvrobDvslshslshndjeyL1fTA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ZJPtSeV7is0S9G1OAuzpHQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0UXmVKLPOYmTSulHWNdcNw%3D%3D


4158 Employee Security 

4159 Employee Assistance Programs 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4200 Classified Personnel 

4212 Appointment And Conditions Of Employment 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4212.5 Criminal Record Check 

4212.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4212.5-E PDF(1) Criminal Record Check 

4212.6 Personnel Files 

4213.5 Working Remotely 

4216 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.12-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4219.21 Professional Standards 

4219.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4219.21-E PDF(1) Professional Standards 

4219.22 Dress And Grooming 

4219.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4219.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4227 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4236 Nonschool Employment 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

Page 98 of 459



4257 Employee Safety 

4257 Employee Safety 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4259 Employee Assistance Programs 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.42 Drug And Alcohol Testing For School Bus Drivers 

4312.5 Criminal Record Check 

4312.5-E(1) Criminal Record Check 

4312.5-E PDF(1) Criminal Record Check 

4312.6 Personnel Files 

4313.5 Working Remotely 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.12 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.12-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

4319.21 Professional Standards 

4319.21-E(1) Professional Standards 

4319.21-E PDF(1) Professional Standards 

4319.22 Dress And Grooming 

4319.23 Unauthorized Release Of Confidential/Privileged Information 

4319.24 Maintaining Appropriate Adult-Student Interactions 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4327 Temporary Athletic Team Coaches 

4336 Nonschool Employment 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4357 Employee Safety 

4357 Employee Safety 

4358 Employee Security 

Page 99 of 459



4358 Employee Security 

4359 Employee Assistance Programs 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.11 Industrial Accident/Illness Leave 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.3 Nondiscrimination/Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.7 Sexual Harassment 

5145.71 Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.71-E PDF(1) Title IX Sexual Harassment Complaint Procedures 

5145.9 Hate-Motivated Behavior 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6162.54 Test Integrity/Test Preparation 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(1) Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(2) Closed Session 

Page 100 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 4240: Bargaining Units Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: 1209/01/20202022 | Last Revie 

1209/01/20202022 

wed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board recognizes the right of district employees to form a bargaining unit, and to select an 

employee organization as theirthe exclusive representative, and be represented by that organization to 

represent the employees in theirthe employees’ employment relationship with the district. The Board is 

committed to negotiating in good faith with recognized employee organizations and respecting the rights 

of employees and employee organizations. 

 
The district shall not dominate or interfere with the formation or administration of any employee 

organization or contribute financial or other support to it. (Government Code 3543.5) 
 

 

Employees shall not be prohibited from wearing union buttons or other items that favor or oppose the 

formation of a bargaining unit or any matter that is the subject of negotiations. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3544, an employee organization may become the 

employees' exclusive representative for negotiations by filing a request with the district providing proof 

that a majority of the employees in an appropriate unit wish to be represented by that organization. 

Notice of such request must be immediately posted conspicuously on all employee bulletin boards in 

each district facility in which members of the unit are employed. Government Code 3544.1 requires the 

district to grant the request for recognition unless (1) the district doubts the appropriateness of the unit, 

(2) another employee organization files a challenge to the appropriateness of the unit or submits a 

competing claim of representation within 15 work days of the posting of notice of the written request, 

or (3) the district currently has a lawful written agreement with another employee organization 

representing the same employees. 

 
Pursuant to”Exclusive representative,” as defined in Government Code 3540.1, means an employee 

organization recognized or certified as the definition of "exclusive negotiating representative" includes 

representation of " for all public schooldistrict employees" other than management and confidential 

employees, as defined.. 

 
Government Code 3543 provides that public school employees have the right to represent themselves 

individually in their employment relations with the district except that, once an exclusive representative 

has been recognized, an employee in that unit is prohibited from meeting and negotiating with the 

district. 

CSBA NOTE: In East Whittier School District, the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) found that 

the district's policy limiting the wearing of union buttons that favor or oppose any matter that is the 

subject of negotiations in the classroom or in other instructional areas in the presence of students 

violated the Educational Employment Relations Act, as there was no finding of special circumstances 

which would limit the established right of employees to wear union buttons in the workplace, nor was 

there a finding that wearing the union buttons was a political activity. PERB continues to use a case-by- 

case approach to determine whether a district's policy restricting employees fromthe wearing of union 

buttons by employees is justified by special circumstances. See PERB's ruling in City of Sacramento. Due 

to the legal uncertainty in this area, districts are encouraged to consult CSBA District and County Office 

of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel prior to limiting the wearing of union buttons 

that support the union's position in collective bargaining. 

Page 101 of 459



(Government Code 3545) 
 

The district may recognize a bargaining unit of supervisory employees if: 
 

Formation of Bargaining Units 
 
 

 

1. Certificated and classified employees shall not be included in the same bargaining unit. The 
(Government Code 3545) 

 

A bargaining unit of supervisory employees may be recognized if the bargaining unit includes all 
supervisory employees. 

 

2. The supervisors are and is not represented by the samean employee organization that represents 

district employees whomwho are supervised by the supervisory employees. (Government Code 3545) 

supervise. 

For this purpose, supervisory employee means any employee, regardless of job description, having the 

authority, in the interest of the district, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, 

assign, reward, or discipline, other employees, or the responsibility to assign work to, direct, or adjust 

grievance of other employees, or effectively recommend that action. The, when the exercise of thisthat 

authority shallis not beof a merely routine or clerical in nature, but shall requirerequires the use of 

independent judgment. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

 
 

Employees serving in management, senior management, or confidential positions shall not be represented 

by an exclusive representative. SuchIn the employment relationship with the district, such employees 

may represent themselves individually. For purposes other than negotiations and bargaining, such 

employees mayor be represented by an employee organization whose membership is composed entirely 

of employees designated as holding those positions. For this purpose: (Government Code 3540.1, 

3543.4)An employee organization representing management or confidential employees shall not be 

permitted to meet and negotiate with the district on behalf of the employees. (Government Code 

3543.4) 
 

1. Management employee means any employee who has significant responsibilities for formulating 
district policies or administering district programs, and whose position is designated as a management 
position by the Board. 

(Government Code 3540.1) 
 

2. Confidential employee means any employee who is required to develop or present management 
positions with respect to employer-employee relations or whose duties normally require access to 
confidential information that is used to contribute significantly to the development of management 
positions. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

Membership 

 
The district shall not deter or discourage employees or job applicants from becoming or remaining 

CSBA NOTE: The following section contains legal requirements for the certification or recognition of 

bargaining units for different categories of employees. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3543.4, management and confidential employees, as defined 

in Government Code 3540.1, are excluded from the right to be represented in negotiations by an 

employee organization. The Public Employment Relations BoardPERB ultimately determines, based upon 

the duties of the position, which positions qualify as "management" or "confidential" and thus are 

excluded from bargaining. 

Page 102 of 459



members of an employee organization, authorizing representation by an employee organization, or 

authorizing dues or fee deductions to an employee organization. In addition, the district shall not impose 

or threaten to impose reprisals on employees, discriminate or threaten to discriminate against employees, 

or otherwise interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees because of their membership or 

nonmembership in an employee organization. (Government Code 3543.5, 3550) 
 

 

However, before disseminating to multiple employees any mass communication concerning employees' 

right to join or support an employee organization or to refrain from joining or supporting an employee 

organization, such as a written document or script for oral or recorded presentation or message, the 

Superintendent or designee shall meet and confer with the employees' exclusive representative regarding 

the content of the communication. If the district and exclusive representative do not come to agreement 

on the content of the mass communication, the Superintendent or designee may disseminate the district's 

mass communication, provided that, at the same time, copies of the exclusive representative's 

communication, which shall be of reasonable length, are also distributed. (Government Code 3553) 

 
Access to New Employee Orientations 

 

The district shall permit employee organizations access to new employee orientationsorientation or 

onboarding process where newly hired employees are advised, whether in person, online, or through 

other means or mediums, of their employment status, rights, benefits, duties, responsibilities, or any other 

employment-related matters. The district shall provide employee organizations at least 10 days' notice in 

advance of an orientation. However, in any specific instance where, except that a shorter notice may be 

provided if an unforeseeable, urgent need critical to the district's operation prevents the required 10 

days' notice, a shorter notice may be provided. . (Government Code 3555.5, 3556) 
 

TheFollowing a request to negotiate by either party, the structure, time, and manner of the access to new 

employee orientations shall be determined by mutual agreement of the district and the exclusive 

representative, following a request to negotiate by either party.. If the district and exclusive 

representative fail to reach an agreement, matters related to the access to the new employee orientation 

shall be subject to compulsory interest arbitration. The district and employee organization may mutually 

agree to submit any dispute to compulsory interest arbitration at any time. In addition, if any dispute 

arises during negotiations and is not resolved within 45 days after the first meeting or within 60 days 

after the initial request to negotiate, whichever is earlier, either party may make a demand for compulsory 

interest arbitration. When any such dispute arises during the summer when the district's administrative 

office is closed, the timeline shall commence on the first day the administrative office reopens. The 

decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. (Government Code 3556, 3557) 

 
The date, time, and place of thea new employee orientation shall not be disclosed to anyone other than 

employees, the exclusive representative, or a vendor that is contracted to provide a service for purposes 

CSBA NOTE: The remainder of this section is optional. Government Code 3553 establishes requirements 

for districts that choose to disseminate a mass communication regarding employees' rights to join, 

support, or refrain from joining or supporting an employee organization. A "mass communication" means 

any written document, including a script for an oral or recorded presentation or message, intended for 

multiple employees. 

 
Districts should exercise caution and consult with CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal 

Services or the district’s legal counsel before communicating with employees about their rights to join or 

not join an employee organization to avoid violating the law against unfair labor practices. When an 

employee approaches the district with questions specifically about the benefits of the membership in an 

employee organization, the employee should be referred to the employee organization. 

The Superintendent or designee may communicate with district employees regarding their rights under 

the law. Such communications shall be factual and accurate, and may not promise a benefit, threaten a 

reprisal, or in any way deter or discourage employees from joining an employee organization or paying 

dues. 

Page 103 of 459



of the orientation. (Government Code 3556) 
 

 

 

Until June 30, 2025, in addition to above provisions regarding new employee orientations, the district 

shall ensure the following: (Government Code 3556) 
 

1. When an inperson new employee orientation has not been conducted within 30 days of hiring any 

new employee who is working in person, the Superintendent or designee shall permit the 

exclusive representative to schedule an inperson meeting which newly hired employees shall have 

an opportunity to attend, at the employee’s worksite and during employment hours. Each newly 

hired employee within the bargaining unit shall be provided at least 30 minutes of paid time to 

attend the meeting. 
 

Upon the request of an exclusive representative scheduling such an inperson meeting, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide an appropriate on-site meeting space within seven days 

of receiving the exclusive representative’s request. 
 

2. When, by reason of a state or local public health order limiting the size of gatherings, the district is 

prohibited from organizing a new employee orientation, an exclusive representative may schedule 

multiple meetings to ensure that newly hired employees have an opportunity to attend without 

exceeding the maximum allowable number of people. 
 

Access to Employee Contact Information 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide an exclusive representative with the name, job title, 

department, work location, telephone numbers (work, home, and personal cell phone), personal email 

address(es) on file with the district, and home address of any newly hired employee in the bargaining unit, 

within 30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire., unless the exclusive 

representative has agreed to a different interval for the provision of the information. In addition, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide the exclusive representative the same information in regard to 

all employees in the bargaining unit to an exclusive representative at least every 120 days, unless more 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph applies until June 30, 2025, unless the date is extended by law. 

Government Code 3556, as amended by SB 191 (Ch. 67, Statutes of 2022), provides additional 

obligations for public employers under the conditions specified in the following paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3558, districts are required to provide recognized employee 

organizations with specified contact information for new employees in the bargaining unit, as provided 

below. The information required by Government Code 3558 must be provided in a manner consistent 

with Government Code 6254.3, which authorizes disclosure of an employee's home address, home 

telephone number(s), and personal cell phone number to an employee organization unless the district 

receives a written request by the employee to not disclose the information. Pursuant to Government 

Code 6254.3, the personal email address of an employee is not disclosable unless used by the employee 

to conduct public business. The following paragraph should be revised if districts have an agreement with 

their employee organization(s) requiring more frequent or more detailed contact lists. 

 
In County of Los Angeles v. Service Employees International Union, Local 721, the California Supreme Court 

held that (1) an employer has a duty to provide information relevant to collective bargaining to the 

applicable bargaining unit and failure to do so is a violation of the employer's obligation to bargain in good 

faith; (2) the disclosure of an employee's home address and phone number(s) by an employer to the union 

is presumptively relevant to the union's role as bargaining agent and does not violate the employee's 

constitutional right of privacy; and (3) other avenues for implementing privacy safeguards are available, 

such as bargaining for a notice and opt-out procedure or drafting employment contracts that will notify 

employees that their home contact information is subject to disclosure to the union and that they may 

request nondisclosure. 

Page 104 of 459



frequent or detailed lists are required by agreement with the exclusive representative. (Government 

Code 3558, 6254.3) 

 
However, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose the home address and any phone numbers on 

file for employees performing law enforcement-related functions, nor disclose the home address, home 

or personal cell phone number(s), or personal email address(es) of any employee who is a participant in 

the Safe at Home address confidentiality program pursuant to Government Code 6207 or of any 

employee who provides a written request that the information not be disclosed for this purpose.to the 

exclusive representative. Following receipt of a written request, the district shall remove the employee's 

home address, home and personal cell phone numbers, and personal email address from any mailing list 

maintained by the district unless the list is only used by the district to contact the employee. 

(Government Code 3558, 6207, 6254.3) 
 

 

 

Within 20 calendar days after an exclusive representative notifies the Superintendent or designee that a 

list of employees provided by the district is inaccurate or incomplete, the Superintendent or designee 

shall take steps to correct the list and provide a new list of employees to the exclusive representative. 

(Government Code 3558) 
 

 

At least, at the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall review the list of 

district employees to ensure that the list is complete and contains accurate information. 
 

Communications with Employees 

 
Employee organizations may have access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work and may 

use district facilities at reasonable times for the purpose of meetings. Subject to reasonable regulation, 

employee organizations may also use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of 

communication to communicate with employees. (Government Code 3543.1) 

 
Access to district means of communication shall be limited in cases where such access would be 

disruptive to district operations. 

 
Membership Dues or Other Payments to an Employee Organization 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3558, an employee organization is authorized, after 

notifying the district of a violation of the district’s employee information disclosure obligations, to file a 

special unfair labor practice charge with PERB. Government Code 3558, as amended by SB 270 (Ch. 330, 

Statutes of 2021), allows the district 20 calendar days to cure an alleged violation that involves the 

provision of an inaccurate or incomplete list of employees, and to give the exclusive representative 

written notice of the actions taken. If a violation is found, PERB is required to assess against the district a 

civil penalty of $10,000 and attorney’s fees and costs in addition to any other remedy provided by law. 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 3558, as amended, limits to three times within any 12-month period a 

district’s opportunity to cure when an inaccurate or incomplete list has been provided to an exclusive 

representative. The following paragraph offers a way to avoid or minimize possible violation and may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Bargaining unit employees who choose to join the employee organization pay membership 

dues, which are deducted from the employee's salary or wage payment as provided below. Pursuant to 

Employees, bargaining unit employees who choose not to join an employee organization cannot be 

required to pay any fees to the employee organization. However, pursuant to Education Code 45060 and 

45168, an employee who chooses not to join an employee organization may be charged fees for 

applicable services, programs, or committees provided to the employee by the employee organization if 

that nonmember employee first affirmatively and voluntarily consents to pay those fees to the employee Page 105 of 459



 
 

When drawing an order for the salary or wage payment of a bargaining unit employee of an employee 

organization, the district shall deduct any amount which has been requested by the employee in a 

revocable written authorization for the purpose of paying dues or other payments for any service, 

program, or committee provided or sponsored by the employee organization. (Education Code 45060, 

45168) 

 
An employee organization that certifies that it has and will maintain individual employee authorizations 

shall handle and process employee written authorizations for payroll deductions. When an employee 

organization provides such a certification to the district, the district shall rely on information from the 

employee organization regarding the amounts of such payroll deductions and from which employees. The 

employee organization shall not be required to submit to the district a copy of the written authorization 

in order for the payroll deductions to be effective. However, when there is a dispute about the existence 

or terms of the written authorization, a copy of the employee's written authorization shall be submitted 

to the district. The employee organization shall indemnify the district for any employee claims regarding 

payroll deductions made by the district in reliance on notification from the employee organization. 

(Education Code 45060, 45168) 

 
When an employee organization which has declined to certify that it will handle and process employee 

written authorizations makes a request for payroll deductions, the district shall request a copy of the 

employee's written authorization before making the payroll deductions. (Education Code 45060, 45168) 

 
A written authorization shall remain in effect until expressly revoked in writing by the employee and 

pursuant to the terms of the written authorization. Employee requests to cancel or change 

authorizations for payroll deductions for employee organizations shall be directed to the employee 

organization rather than the district. The employee organization shall be responsible for processing these 

requests. The district shall rely on the information provided by the employee organization regarding 

whether deductions for an employee organization were properly canceled or changed. The employee 

organization shall be required to indemnify the district for any claims made by an employee for 

deductions made by the district in reliance on information from the employee organization. (Education 

Code 45060, 45168) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

8 CCR 33015-33490 Recognition of exclusive representative; proceedings 

8 CCR 33700-33710 Severance of established unit 

8 CCR 34020 Petition to rescind organizational security arrangement 

8 CCR 34055 Reinstatement of organizational security arrangement 

Ed. Code 45060-45061.5 Deduction of fees from salary or wage payment,; certificated 

employees 

organization, as required by Janus v. AFSCME. 

 
Education Code 45060 and 45168 set forth the process for handling authorizations, changes, and 

cancellations for dues or other payments, and provide safeguards for districts that rely on information 

provided by an employee organization concerning such payroll deductions (i.e., the employee 

organization's indemnification of the district against any employee's claim based on such reliance). 

Page 106 of 459



Ed. Code 45100.5 Senior classified management positions 

Ed. Code 45104.5 Abolishment of senior classified management positions 

Ed. Code 45108.5 Definition of senior classified management employees 

Ed. Code 45108.7 Waiver of provisions of 45108.5 

Ed. Code 45168 Deduction of fees from salary or wage payment,; classified 

employees 

Ed. Code 45220-45320 Merit system,; classified employees 

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3 Educational Employment Relations Act 

Gov. Code 3540.1 Public employment definitions 

Gov. Code 3543.4 Management position; representation 

Gov. Code 3545 Appropriateness of unit; basis 

Gov. Code 3550-3552 Prohibition on public employers deterring or discouraging 

union membership 

Gov. Code 3555-3559 Public employee communication, information and orientation 

Gov. Code 53260-53264 Employment contracts 

Gov. Code 6205-6210 Confidentiality of addresses for victims of domestic violence, 

sexual assault or stalking 

Gov. Code 6254.3 Disclosure of employee contact information to employee 

organization 

Gov. Code 6503.5 Joint powers agencies 

Federal Description 

8 CFR 33015-33490 Recognition of exclusive representative; proceedings 

8 CFR 33700-33710 Severance of established unit 

8 CFR 34020 Petition to rescind organizational security arrangement 

8 CFR 34055 Reinstatement of organizational security arrangement 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision County of Los Angeles v. Service Employees International 

Union, Local 721, (2013) 56 Cal. 4th 905 

Court Decision Friedrichs v. California Teachers Association, et al.,. (2016) 

136 S.Ct. 1083 

Court Decision Janus v. American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees, Council 31, (2018) 138 S.Ct. 2448 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Ruling 

East Whittier School District, (2004) PERB Dec. No. 1727 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Ruling 

City of Sacramento, (2019) PERB Dec. No. 2702m 

Website California Federation of Teachers 

Website California Public Employment Relations Board 

Website California School Employees Association 

Website California Teachers Association 
 

Page 107 of 459

http://www.cft.org/
http://www.perb.ca.gov/
http://www.csea.com/
http://www.cta.org/


Website Association of California School Administrators 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1340 Access To District Records 

1340 Access To District Records 

1431 Waivers 

4113 Assignment 

4113 Assignment 

4115 Evaluation/Supervision 

4115 Evaluation/Supervision 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4141 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

4143 Negotiations/Consultation 

4151 Employee Compensation 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4161.2 Personal Leaves 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4241 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

4243 Negotiations/Consultation 

4251 Employee Compensation 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4261.2 Personal Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 108 of 459

http://www.acsa.org/
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bY3vZ9pbd8vHL3zMeylxDg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2WO7zwkhPaPC26DTZVGtpA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eTTKhAGZDUZ5bldHQfXllg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sTN7HQJDOPoMtU4jkkplusy6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PnBR3xEiseofnLYbksUJKw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kIgPC1WmMHyKtFolo9I6xw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DYtN4QkUY0bsLh5O0ZfBwg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bQESVgHahzjr0FiVwAkJRw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZOswohSwauLJkGoDiT35Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TEdW0cSJybA2vwsgOjfLyQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=EISAG9UbgKAIhplusLCMGvBRQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r62xXFUHbIIl8JqY3Znqyg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xvJ8Rv1gUhYoz1Ea1cbcslshw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0cNWraamPjs8IOaZ62DhxQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BQ0GbNcIEyqa2M832Tvq8w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qIsnUiliJ9AfwcmTDplusM2xA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BpKAmK9HRloyA9dWIYeSWw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WWKbpvXiuo75p6plusplusKf8hZA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QjKCMJtwZdwwRywQG4y0ww%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6XBRtCwYLrnkLmNnMSOnUg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Jk6Rffak3S4HVo3slsh2PIwhw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m5a2egsK540sO996JyvzQg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0iX2cvpEal4Oifn08mTslshAw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus2DGzCaVSoKplusLVPjXzpOgA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3HZlUgP3C2gGd1zApy5dJA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OCSbNbEbmPBF6jzaCICMCw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=doBZtTdhrplus8MX6hxunPHXw%3D%3D


4300 Administrative And Supervisory Personnel 

4300 Administrative And Supervisory Personnel 

4301 Administrative Staff Organization 

4312.1 Contracts 

4315 Evaluation/Supervision 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4351 Employee Compensation 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4361.2 Personal Leaves 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(1) Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(2) Closed Session 

Page 109 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2ys0OHg78yJKDSwxgpJqlg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0POGA27XcOxgBNnstpoOfQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=SHbm920VzON88Jxbfk4AWA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r6bFeQMiGLioDI9xjd5plusyw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jxzQvcOG6ByajMOsZiJ9fQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fLbQllbgb7c172TCWmpslshng%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dVyHmQsDoOXLUTF15AkxGA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ebvRZAwPV8ta9slshdcu83Xhg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j4DUPFVtyadzRFwSjORjzQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eJoZD7caqeZLQxmOYWpVrQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WxP39fISXP8PtB0WcpJuGw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yAhOpxuR5pmNzxDzYIIecw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsHizRwHYkdF3KBT3QsViA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OOBWTPplusOslsheSJMnnd4EyLIA%3D%3D


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4261.2: Personal Leaves Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2012 | Last Revised Date: 0309/01/20212022 | Last Revie 

0309/01/20162022 

wed Date: 

 

 
Personal leaves granted to district employees shall be used as permitted in this administrative regulation, 

other Board-approved policy or district regulation, or applicable collective bargaining agreement. 
 

 

For the purpose of any personal leave offered pursuant to state law, a registered domestic partner shall 

have the same rights, protections, and benefits as a spouse and any protections provided to a spouse's 

child shall also apply to a child of a registered domestic partner. (Family Code 297.5) 

 
Whenever possible, employees shall request personal leaves in advance and prepare suitable instructions, 

including lesson plans as applicable, for a substitute employee. 

 
Bereavement 

 

 

Employees are entitled to a leave of up to three days, or five days if out-of-state travel is required, upon 

the death of any member of the employee's immediate family. No deduction shall be made from the 

employee's salary, nor shall such leave be deducted from any other leave to which the employee is 

entitled. (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 
Members of thean employee’s immediate family include: (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 

1. The mother, mother-in-law, father, father-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the 
employee or of the employee's spouse 

 

2. The employee's spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, or sister 
 

3. Any relative living in the employee's immediate household 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is subject to collective bargaining agreements. 

CSBA NOTE: Family Code 297.5 extends to registered domestic partners the same rights that are 

available under state law to spouses. Thus, any reference to an employee's spouse throughout this 

administrative regulation also applies to a registered domestic partner, even if not expressly stated in 

the applicable state codesstatute (e.g., Education Code, Military and Veterans Code). Districts should 

consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel if a 

question arises as to leave provisions relative to an employee's domestic partner. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44985 and 45194 allow the Governing Board to expand the class of 

relatives listed below as “immediate family” and enlarge the benefits provided by law. In addition, 

Government Code 12945.2, as amended by AB 1033 (Ch. 327, Statutes of 2021), includes a parent-in- 

law in the definition of "parent" for purposes of California Family Rights Act (CFRA) leave. Thus, to 

ensure consistency, the definition of “immediate family” below includes “mother-in-law” and father-in- 

law,” as permitted by law. The following two paragraphs may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 110 of 459



At the employee's request, bereavement leave may be extended under personal necessity leave 

provisions as provided in the section "Personal Necessity" below. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
Personal Necessity 

 

 

Employees may use a maximum of seven days of their accrued personal illness/injury leave (sick leave) 

during each school year for reasons of personal necessity. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
Acceptable reasons for the use of personal necessity leave include: 

 
1. Death of a member of the employee's immediate family when the number of days of absence 

exceeds the limits set by bereavement leave provisions (Education Code 44981, 45207) 
 

2. An accident involving the employee or the employee's property, or the person or property of a 
member of the employee's immediate family (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 

 

3. Illness, preventive care, or other need of a member of the employee's family, as defined in Labor 
Code 245.5 (Education Code 44981; Labor Code 246.5) 

 

CSBA NOTE: Employees may use a maximum of seven days of accumulated personal illness/injury leave 

(sick leave) for reasons of personal necessity pursuant to Education Code 44981 (certificated 

employees) and 45207 (classified employees). Pursuant to Education Code 44981 and 45207, a higher 

maximum may be set for certificated and/or classified employees in theirthe applicable collective 

bargaining agreement, or by Board resolution for classified employees who are not covered by a 

collective bargaining agreement. Districts that have established a maximum that is higher than seven 

days should modify the following paragraph accordingly. 

 
Education Code 45207 clarifies that provisions pertaining to personal necessity leave also apply to 

districts that have adopted the merit system for classified employees in accordance with Education 

Code 45240-45320. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 44981, a certificated employee may use personal necessity 

leave for the serious illness of a member of the employee's immediate family. The Board may extend 

these provisions to classified employees under the authority granted to the Board by Education Code 

45207. Districts are cautioned to consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

or the district’s legal counsel regarding any interaction of Education Code provisions with Labor Code 

233, 245.5, and 246.5, which allow the use of sick leave for the need of the employee or family member 

for the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or for preventive care and which 

include in the definition of "family member" a registered domestic partner, grandparent, and sibling. See 

AR 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave and AR 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave. 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for federal and state provisions 

related to leaves for the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a new child; the care of a seriously ill 

child, parent, parent-in-law, or spouse/registered domestic partner; or the employee's own serious 

health condition. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45207 provides that classified employees may use sick leave for required 

court appearances, as provided in itemItem #4 below. Circumstances under which employees may take 

time off, with pay, for court appearances are described in the section on "Leave to Perform Legal 

Duties" below. 

Page 111 of 459



4. A classified employee's appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal as a litigant, 
party, or witness under subpoena or other order (Education Code 45207) 

 

 

5. Fire, flood, or other immediate danger to the home of the employee 
 

6. Personal business of a serious nature which the employee cannot disregard 

 
Leave for personal necessity may be allowed for other reasons at the discretion of the Superintendent or 

designee. However, personal necessity leave shall not be granted for purposes of personal convenience, 

for the extension of a holiday or vacation, or for matters which can be taken care of outside of working 

hours. The Superintendent or designee shall have final discretion as to whether a request reflects 

personal necessity. 
 

 

Advance permission shall not be required of an employee in any case involving the death of a member of 

the employee's immediate family, an accident involving the employee's person or property or the person 

or property of a member of the employee's immediate family, or the illness, preventive care, or other 

need of a member of the employee's family. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
For any leave that is planned, or wherefor which the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee shall 

notify the Superintendent or designee in advance. In all other circumstances, the employee shall notify 

the Superintendent or designee of the need for the leave as soon as practicable. 
 

 

After any absence due to personal necessity, the employee shall verify the absence by submitting a 

completed and signed district absence form to the employee's immediate supervisor. 

 
Leave to Perform Legal Duties 

 

CSBA NOTE: Items #5 and #6 are optional and may be deleted or modified to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. The district is prohibited from requiring employees to 

obtain advance permission prior to taking leaves in certain situations. Pursuant to Education Code 

44981 and 45207, the district may not require advance permission for leaves taken by classified 

employees for the reasons specified in itemsItems #1-2 above and by certificated employees for the 

reasons specified in itemsItems #1-3 above. In addition, Labor Code 246.5 requires an employer to grant 

paid sick leave "upon the oral or written request of an employee." According to the Department of 

Industrial Relations, employers may not require advance notice when the need for the leave was 

unforeseeable, as in the case of unanticipated illness or a medical emergency. 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for requirements pertaining to 

requests for leaves that qualify under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (29 USC 2601-2654) or 

the California Family Rights ActCFRA (Government Code 12945.1-12945.2), including provisions that 

allow employees to provide notice as soon as practicable when 30-day advance notice is not practicable 

due to lack of knowledge of the date the leave will be needed, a change in circumstances, or a medical 

emergency. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44981 and 45207 mandate the adoption of regulations requiring proof of 

personal necessity and prescribing the manner of the required proof. The following paragraph may be 

revised to specify the manner of proof required by the district. 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation 

against an employee for taking time off for the activities specified in Items #1-2 below. 

Page 112 of 459



 
 

An employee may take time off work in order to: (Labor Code 230) 

 
1. Serve on an inquest jury or trial jury 

 

2. Comply with a subpoena or other court order to appear as a witness 

 
Notices, summons, and subpoenas for court appearances shall be submitted to the district office when 

requesting leave. 

 
A classified employee called for jury duty shall be granted leave with pay up to the amount of the 

difference between the employee's regular earnings and any amount received for jury fees. (Education 

Code 44037) 
 

 

A certificated employee who is called for jury duty also shall be granted leave with pay up to the 

difference between the employee's regular earnings and any jury fees received. (Education Code 44036) 
 

 

An employee shall be granted leave with pay to appear in court as a witness other than a litigant or to 

respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for reasons not brought about 

through the connivance or misconduct of the employee. Such an employee shall receive the difference 

between the employee's regular earnings and any witness fees received. (Education Code 44036) 
 

Leaves for Crime Victims for Judicial Proceedings 
 

 

An employee may be absent from work in order to attend judicial proceedings related to a crime when 

the employeewho is a victim, of a crime or an immediate family member, registered domestic partner, or 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 44037, it is unlawful for the district or personnel commission to (1) adopt 

any rule, regulation, or policy that encourages classified employees to seek exemption from jury duty; (2) 

directly or indirectly solicit or suggest to any employee that the employee seek exemption from jury 

duty; or (3) discriminate against any employee with respect to assignment, employment, promotion, or in 

any other manner because of the employee's service on a jury panel. However, the Board or personnel 

commission may establish a rule providing that only a percentage of district staff, which shall not be less 

than two percent, shall be granted such leave with pay at any one time. The following section may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation against an employee for taking 

time off for the activities specified in items #1-2 below. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to provide leave of 

absence with pay for certificated employees called for jury duty, as authorized by Education Code 

44036. Districts that do not grant such leave should delete this paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 44036 allows the Board, at its 

discretion, to provide paid leaves for employees to appear in court as witnesses other than as litigants or 

to respond to orders from another governmental jurisdiction. Districts that do not grant such leave 

should delete this paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.2 prohibits a district from taking adverse employment action against an 

employee who takes leave as described below. 

Page 113 of 459



child of a registered domestic partner of asuch victim, of may be absent from work in order to attend 

related judicial proceedings, if the crime is any of the following crimes: : (Labor Code 230.2) 
 

1. A violent felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) 
 

2. A serious felony as defined in Penal Code 1192.7(c) 
 

3. A felony provision of law proscribing theft or embezzlement 
 

 

For these purposes, the employee may use vacation, personal leave, personal illness/injury leave, unpaid 

leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give the Superintendent or designee a copy of the notice of 

each scheduled proceeding that is provided by the responsible agency, unless advance notice is not 

feasible. When advance notice is not feasible or an unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall, 

within a reasonable time after the absence, provide documentation evidencing the judicial proceeding 

from the court or government agency setting the hearing, the district attorney or prosecuting attorney's 

office, or the victim/witness office that is advocating on behalf of the victim. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
The district shall keep confidential any records pertaining to the employee's absence from work by reason 

of this leave. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
Leaves for Victims of Crime or Abuse 

 

 

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, who is a victim ofor a crime 

that caused physical injury or that caused mental injury with a threat of physical injury, or an employee 

whose immediate family member, as defined, is deceased as the direct result of a crime may use vacation, 

sick leave, personal leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee to attend 

to the following activities: (Labor Code 230, 230.1, 246.5) 

 
1. Obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to, a temporary restraining order, 

restraining order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety, or welfare of the 
employee or the employee's child 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.2, employees may use any of the types of leave listed in the 

following paragraph, unless otherwise provided by a collective bargaining agreement, although a 

collective bargaining agreement cannot diminish the entitlement of an employee. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230 and 230.1 allow employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual 

assault, or stalking, or a crime that caused physical injury or mental injury with a threat of physical injury, 

and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the direct result of a crime to use 

theirany available vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off for the purposes described in 

itemsItems #1-5 below, and prohibit a district from taking adverse employment action against an 

employee for taking leave for any of those purposes. Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, items #2-5 apply to 

districts with 25 or more employees. 

 
As amended by AB 2992 (Ch. 224, Statutes of 2020), Labor Code 230 and 230.1 expand these 

provisions to include employees who are victims of a crime that caused physical injury, or mental injury 

with a threat of physical injury, and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the 

direct result of a crime.Items #2-5 apply to districts with 25 or more employees. 

Page 114 of 459



2. Seek medical attention for injuries caused by crime or abuse 
 

3. Obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, rape crisis center, or victim services 
organization or agency as a result of the crime or abuse 

 

4. Obtain psychological counseling or mental health services related to an experience of crime or 
abuse 

 

5. Participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future crime or abuse, 
including temporary or permanent relocation 

 

 

Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give reasonable notice to the Superintendent or designee, 

unless advance notice is not feasible. When an unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall provide, 

within a reasonable period of time, certification of the absence in the form of any of the following: 

(Labor Code 230, 230.1) 

 
1. A police report indicating that the employee was a victim 

 

2. A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator of the crime or abuse, 
or other evidence from the court or prosecuting attorney that the employee has appeared in court 

 

3. Documentation from a domestic violence or sexual assault counselor as defined in Evidence Code 
1037.1 or 1035.2, licensed medical professional or health care provider, victim advocate, or 
counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment or receiving services for physical or 
mental injuries or abuse resulting in victimization from the crime or abuse 

 

4. Any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that the crime or abuse occurred, 
including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee or by an individual acting 
on the employee's behalf certifying that the absence is for a purpose authorized under Labor 
Code 230 or 230.1 

 
The district shall maintain the confidentiality of such an employee to the extent authorized by law. 

(Labor Code 230, 230.1) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform employees of theirthe rights provided employees pursuant 

to Labor Code 230 and 230.1 using a form developed by the Labor Commissioner or a substantially 

similar form developed by the district. Such information shall be provided to new employees upon hire 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230, as amended by AB 2992, the following certification may 

include documentation from a victim advocate (defined as an individual, whether paid or serving as a 

volunteer, who provides services to victims under the auspices or supervision of an agency or 

organization that has a documented record of providing services to victims, a court, or a law 

enforcement or prosecution agency) or any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that 

the crime or abuse occurred, including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee 

or by an individual acting on the employee's behalf. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, districts with 25 or more employees are required to notify 

theirdistrict employees of theiremployee rights under Labor Code 230 and 230.1. The district may use 

a form developed by the Labor Commissioner for this purpose, when available on the web site of the 

Department of Industrial Relations, or may develop its own form that is substantially similar in content 

and clarity to the Labor Commissioner's form. As amended by AB 2992, Labor Code 230.1 requires the 

Labor Commissioner to revise the form by January 1, 2022. Until that form is revised, the district should 

update its form to reflect current law. 

Page 115 of 459



and to other employees upon request. (Labor Code 230.1) 

 
Personal Leave for Child-Related Activities 

 

 

Any employee who is a parent/guardian of one or more children of an age to attend any of grades K-12 

or a program offered by a licensed child care provider may use up to 40 hours of personal leave, vacation, 

or compensatory time off each school year in order to: (Labor Code 230.8) 

 
1. Find, enroll, or reenroll a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider or to participate in 

activities of the school or child care provider, provided the employee gives reasonable advance 
notice of the absence. Time off for this purpose shall not exceed eight hours in any calendar 
month. 

 

2.  Address a school or child care emergency, provided the employee gives notice. An emergency 
exists when the child cannot remain in school or with a child care provider due to one of the 
following circumstances: 

 

a. A request by the school or child care provider that the child be picked up 
 

b. An attendance policy, excluding planned holidays, that prohibits the child from attending 
or requires that the child be picked up from the school or child care provider 

 

c. Behavioral or discipline problems 
 

d. Closure or unexpected unavailability of the school or child care provider, excluding 
planned holidays 

 

e. A natural disaster, including, but not limited to, fire, earthquake, or flood 

 
 

For purposes of this leave, parent/guardian includes a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, 

grandparent, or person who stands in loco parentis to a child. (Labor Code 230.8) 
 

 

In lieu of using vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off, eligible employees may take unpaid 

leave for this purpose. 

 
If two or more parents/guardians of a child are employed at the same work site, this leave shall be 

allowed for the parent/guardian who first gives notice to the district. Simultaneous absence by another 

parent/guardian of the child may be granted by the Superintendent or designee. (Labor Code 230.8) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, the following section applies to any district employing 25 

or more employees at the same location. A district with fewer than 25 employees at the same location 

may use or delete this section at its discretion. 

 
Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, an employee who is discharged, threatened with discharge, demoted, 

suspended, or otherwise discriminated against for using the leave is entitled to reinstatement and 

reimbursement for lost wages and benefits, and an employer who willfully refuses to rehire, promote, or 

otherwise reinstate such an employee is subject to a civil penalty equal to three times the amount of the 

lost wages and benefits. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.8 provides that the employee may use time off without pay to the extent 

the district makes it available. The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district 

practice. 

Page 116 of 459



Upon request by the Superintendent or designee, the employee shall provide documentation from the 

school or licensed child care provider that the employee engaged in permitted child-related activities on a 

specific date and at a particular time. (Labor Code 230.8) 

 
Service on Education Boards and Committees 

 
Upon request, a certificated employee shall be granted up to 20 school days of paid leave per school year 

for service performed within the state on any education board, commission, committee, or group 

authorized by Education Code 44987.3 provided that all of the following conditions are met: (Education 

Code 44987.3) 

 
1. The service is performed within the state. 

 

2. The board, commission, organization, or group informs the district in writing of the service. 
 

3. The board, commission, organization, or group agrees, prior to the service, to reimburse the 
district, upon the district's request, for compensation paid to the employee's substitute and for 
actual related administrative costs. 

 
Employee Organization Activities 

 

 

Upon request, any certificated or classified employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of 

compensation, to serve as an elected officer of a district employee organization or any statewide or 

national employee organization with which the employee organization is affiliated. Such leave shall be in 

addition to any other leave to which the employee may be entitled by other laws or a memorandum of 

understanding or collective bargaining agreement. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 
 

The leave shall include, but is not limited to, absence for purposes of attending periodic, stated, special, or 

regular meetings of the body of the organization. on which the employee serves as an officer. 

(Education Code 44987, 45210) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be deleted by any district whose collective bargaining 

agreements expressly provide for a paid leave of absence for participation in the activities described in 

this section. 

 
Education Code 44987 and 45210 provide that any certificated andor classified employeesemployee 

may take time off without loss of compensation to serve as an elected officersofficer of theirany local, 

statewide, or national employee organization of which the employee is a member. Following the 

district's payment to the employee for the leave of absence, the employee organization must reimburse 

the district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to the 

employee. This leave of absence is in addition to the release time granted to representatives of an 

employee organization pursuant to Government Code 3543.1. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 44987 and 45210, as amended by SB 294 (Ch. 539, Statutes of 2021), an 

employee’s leave of absence to serve as an elected officer of an employee organization is additional to 

any other leave available for the employee’s use by law or in agreement with the district. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45210 requires districts to grant a paid leave of absence to a reasonable 

number of classified employees serving as unelected members of the employee organization or a 

statewide or national public employee organization when the employee attends "important 

organizational activities authorized by the public employee organization." Compensation must include 

Page 117 of 459



 
 

Upon request of an employee organization in the district or its state or national affiliate, a reasonable 

number of unelected classified employees shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of 

compensation for the purpose of attending important organizational activities authorized by the 

employee organization. The employee organization shall provide reasonable notification to the 

Superintendent or designee when requesting a leave of absence for employees for this purpose. 

(Education Code 45210) 

 
When leave is granted for any of the above purposes, the employee organization shall reimburse the 

district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to the 

employee. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 

 
Religious Leave 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee may grant an employee up to three days of leave per year for religious 

purposes, provided that the leave is requested in advance and that it does not cause additional district 

expenditures, the neglect of assigned duties, or any other unreasonable hardship on the district. 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall deduct the cost of hiring a substitute, when required, from the 

wages of the employee who takes religious leave. 

 
No employee shall be discriminated against for using this leave or any additional days of unpaid leave 

granted for religious observances at the discretion of the Superintendent or designee. 

 
Spouse on Leave from Military Deployment 

 

 

An employee who works an average of 20 hours or more per week and whose spouse is a member of the 

United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or reserves may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave during a 

period that the employee's spouse is on leave from deployment during a military conflict, as defined in 

the required retirement fund contributions. The employee will continue to earn full service credit during 

the leave and must pay member contributions as specified. The maximum amount of service credit an 

employee may earn cannot exceed 12 years. Education Code 45210 also requires that an employee 

organization provide reasonable notification to the district when requesting a leave of absence without 

loss of compensation for an employee. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by any district that chooses to grant religious 

leave and may be revised to reflect district practice. A district that does not grant such leave should 

delete this section. However, the district should consult CSBA District and County Office of Education 

Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel before denying a request for religious leave since the 

Constitution requires districts to provide "reasonable accommodation" to employee religious practices. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph reflects the California Supreme Court's interpretation of 

Article 1, Section 8 of the California Constitution as stated in Rankin v. Commission on Professional 

Competence. 

CSBA NOTE: Military and Veterans Code 395.10 requires any district with 25 or more employees to 

allow up to 10 days of unpaid leave to an employee whose spouse is on leave from military deployment. 

A district with fewer than 25 employees may use the following section at its discretion. In addition, 29 

USC 2612 authorizes an employee to take up to 26 work weeks of unpaid military caregiver leave or up 

to 12 weeks of "exigency" leave during a single 12-month period, as determined by the district; see AR 

4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave. 

Page 118 of 459



Military and Veterans Code 395.10.  (Military and Veterans Code 395.10) 

 
Within two business days of receiving official notice that the employee's spouse will be on leave from 

deployment, the employee shall provide the Superintendent or designee with notice of the intention to 

take the leave. The employee shall submit written documentation certifying that the employee's spouse 

will be on leave from deployment during the time that the leave is requested. (Military and Veterans 

Code 395.10) 

 
Leave for Emergency Duty 

 

 

An employee may take time off to perform emergency duty as a volunteer firefighter, a reserve peace 

officer, or emergency rescue personnel. (Labor Code 230.3) 
 

 

Any employee who performs duty as a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue 

personnel shall be permitted to take temporary leaves of absence, not to exceed an aggregate total of 14 

days per calendar year, for the purpose of engaging in fire, law enforcement, or emergency rescue 

training. (Labor Code 230.4) 

 
Civil Air Patrol Leave 

 

 

An employee may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave per calendar year, beyond any leave otherwise 

available to the employee, to respond to an emergency operational mission of the California Civil Air 

Patrol, provided that the employee has been employed by the district for at least a 90-day period 

immediately preceding the leave. Such leaves shall not exceed three days for a single mission, unless an 

extension is granted by the governmental entity authorizing the mission and is approved by the 

Superintendent or designee. (Labor Code 1501, 1503) 

 
The employee shall give the district as much advance notice as possible of the intended dates of the 

leave. The Superintendent or designee may require certification from the proper Civil Air Patrol authority 

to verify the eligibility of the employee for the leave and may deny the leave if the employee fails to 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.3 prohibits a district from discharging or discriminating against an 

employee who takes time off to perform emergency duty as specified below. Labor Code 230.3 defines 

emergency rescue personnel as a member of a federal, state, local, or private fire department or agency, 

as well as a sheriff or police department. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.4, a district with 50 or more employees must grant an 

employee who is a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel a leave of 

absence for up to 14 days per calendar year for training purposes. A district with fewer than 50 

employees may use or delete this paragraph at its discretion. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 1500-1507 require a district with more than 15 employees to provide at least 

10 days of unpaid leave per year, beyond any leave otherwise available to employees, to employees who 

volunteer with the Civil Air Patrol and are directed to respond to an emergency operational mission, as 

provided below. Labor Code 1503 specifies that a district may not require an employee to first exhaust 

all accrued vacation, personal, sick, or any other available leave in order to use Civil Air Patrol leave. 

 
If the district chooses to offer more than 10 days of such leave per year or to provide paid leave, it 

should modify the following paragraph accordingly. A district with 15 or fewer employees may use or 

delete this section at its discretion. 

Page 119 of 459



provide the required certification. (Labor Code 1503) 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 8 Religious discrimination 

Ed. Code 44036-44037 Leaves of absence for judicial and official appearances 

Ed. Code 44963 Power to grant leaves of absence (; certificated) 

Ed. Code 44981 Leave of absence for personal necessity 

Ed. Code 44985 Leave of absence due to death in immediate family (; 

certificated) 

Ed. Code 44987 Service as officer of employee organization (; certificated) 

Ed. codeCode 44987.3 Leave of absence to serve on certain boards, commissions, 

etc. 

Ed. Code 45190 Leaves of absence and vacations (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45194 Bereavement leave of absence (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45198 Effect of provisions authorizing leaves of absence 

Ed. Code 45207 Personal necessity (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45210 Service as officer of employee organization (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45240-45320 Merit system 

Evid. Code 1035.2 Sex assault counselor; definition 

Evid. Code 1037.1 Domestic violence counselor; definition 

Fam. Code 297-297.5 Rights, protections, benefits under the law; registered 

domestic partners 

Gov. Code 12945.1-12945.2 California Family Rights Act 

Gov. Code 3543.1 Rights of employee organizations 

Lab. Code 1500-1507 Civil Air Patrol leave 

Lab. Code 230-230.2 Leaves for victims of domestic violence, sexual assault or 

specified felonies 

Lab. Code 230.3 Leave for emergency personnel 

Lab. Code 230.4 Leave for volunteer firefighters 

Lab. Code 230.8 Time off to visit child's school 

Page 120 of 459



Lab. Code 233 Illness of child, parent, spouse or domestic partner 

Lab. Code 234 Absence control policy 

Lab. Code 246.5 Paid sick days,; purposes for use 

M&V Code 395.10 Leave when spouse on leave from military deployment 

Pen. Code 1192.7 Plea bargaining limitation 

Pen. Code 667.5 Prior prison terms,; enhancement of prison terms 

Federal Description 

29 USC 2601-2654 Family Care and Medical Leave Act 

42 USC 2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision Rankin v. Commission on Professional Competence, (1988) 

24 Cal.3d 167 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Decision 

Berkeley Council of Classified Employees v. Berkeley Unified 

School District, (2008) PERB Decision No. 1954 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations 

Website California Federation of Teachers 

Website California Public Employment Relations Board 

Website California School Employees Association 

Website California Teachers Association 

 

 

Code Description 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4140 Bargaining Units 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4143 Negotiations/Consultation 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

4161 Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 121 of 459



4161 Leaves 

4161.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4161.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4240 Bargaining Units 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4243 Negotiations/Consultation 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4261.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4340 Bargaining Units 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4361.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

5148 Child Care And Development 

5148 Child Care And Development 

Page 122 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4261.5: Military Leave Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2004 | Last Revised Date: 0709/01/20062022 | Last Revie 

0709/01/20062022 

wed Date: 

 
CSBA NOTE: Employment and re-employment rights of employees who take military leave of absence 

are protected by the federal Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 

38 USC 4301-4334. The district may not refuse to grant military leave, regardless of the length of 

employment or whether the employee volunteers for military service or is called up involuntarily. 

 
The USERRA applies to all employees, except for personsindividuals employed for a brief, nonrecurrent 

period for which there was no reasonable expectation that such employment would continue 

indefinitely or for a significant period. It appears that the statute includes temporary certificated and 

short-term classified employees, unless the employee meets the above-stated exception. When 

determining whether a temporary or short-term employee is covered, districts are advised to consult 

legal counsel. 
 

20 CFR 1002.149-1002.150 and 1002.210-1002.213 and guidelines issued by the Veterans'Veterans’ 

Employment and Training Service (VETS) of the U.S. Department of Labor, “A Non-Technical Resource 

Guide to the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act,,” clarify that federal law 

generally protects seniority-based benefits (i.e., a right or benefit that is determined by or that accrues 

with length of service) that would have accrued "with reasonable certainty" had the employee remained 

continuously employed. Non-seniority-based benefits are generally protected to the same extent that 

those benefits are preserved during comparable kinds of leave under local policies or state law. The 

district should consult legal counsel regarding any questions about entitlements to benefits. 

 
Note that in cases where state law provides greater protections to employees, state law supersedes 

federal law. In addition, the district should consult its collective bargaining agreements to determine if 

the bargaining agreements provide greater military leave benefits than provided by law and should 

modify or delete the following optional regulation accordingly. 
 

 

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable state and federal law to employees 

performing military duties on a voluntary or involuntary basis in a uniformed service, including active 

duty, active duty for training, initial active duty for training, inactive duty training, full-time National 

Guard duty, examination to determine fitness for duty, and performance of funeral honors duty. 

(Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395, 395.01, 395.02, 395.05, 395.1, 395.2, 395.9; 

38 USC 4301, 4303, 4316) 

 
An Any district employee who needs to be absent from the district service to fulfill his/her military 

service shall provide advance written or verbal notice to the Superintendent or designee, unless the 

giving of such notice is precluded by military necessity or is otherwise impossible or unreasonable. (38 

USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.85, 1002.86) 

 
Salary/Compensation 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Military and Veterans Code 395.01-395.05, employees on military leave are 

entitled to receive their salary or compensation for a maximum of 30 calendar days for any one leave or 

during one fiscal year. However, Military and Veterans Code 395.03 allows the Governing Board to 

extend compensation beyond the maximum of 30 calendar days for leaves taken pursuant to itemsItems 

#1, 2, and 4 below through a Board resolution or a Memorandum of Understanding with an employee 

organization. In addition, Education Code 44018 authorizes, but does not require, the Board to provide Page 123 of 459



 
 

An employeeThe district shall receive his/herpay an employee’s salary or compensation for the first 30 

days of any one absence for military leave or during one fiscal year, under any of the following conditions: 

 
1. Active Military Training or Exercises: The employee is granted a temporary military leave of 

absence to engage in ordered military duty for purposes of active military training, encampment, 
naval cruises, special exercises, or like activity as a member of the reserve corps or force of the 
United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or Naval Militia, provided that: (Military and 
Veterans Code 389, 395, 395.01) 

 

a. He/sheThe employee has been employed by the district for at least one year immediately 
prior to the day the military leave begins. 

 

b. The ordered duty does not exceed 180 days, including time involved in going to and 
returning from such duty. 

 

2. Active Military Duty: The employee is on military leave, other than a temporary military leave, to 
engage in active military duty as a member of the reserve corps or force of the United States 
Armed Forces, the National Guard, or the Naval Militia, provided that he/shethe employee has 
been employed by the district for at least one year immediately prior to the day the military leave 
begins. (Military and Veterans Code 389, 395.02) 

 

3. War or Other Emergency: The employee, however long employed by the district, is a member of 
the National Guard who is engaged in military or naval duty during a state of extreme emergency 
as declared by the Governor, or during such time as the National Guard may be on active duty in 
situations described in Military and Veterans Code 146, including travel time to and from such 
duty. (Military and Veterans Code 395.05) 

 

 

4. Inactive Duty Training: The employee is a member of the reserve corps or force of the United 
States Armed Forces, National Guard, or Naval Militia who is engaged in temporary inactive duty 
training, provided that he/shethe employee has been employed by the district for at least one 
year immediately prior to the day the military leave begins and the ordered duty does not exceed 
180 days, including time involved in going to and returning from such duty. 

 

 

In determining the length of district employment when necessary to determine eligibility for 

compensation for military leave, all recognized military service performed during and prior to district 

an employee who is on active military duty as a member of the California National Guard or a U.S. 

Military Reserve organization, for up to 180 days, the difference between the amount of the military pay 

and allowances and the employee's salary. 

 
The following paragraph should be revised to reflect decisions of the Board, if any, to extend 

compensation beyond 30 days' pay. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Military and Veterans Code 395 and 395.01, the district has discretion as to 

whether or not to compensate employees are compensated for military leave for periods of inactive 

duty training. Optional itemItem #4 is for use by districts that choose to provide compensation to such 

employees. 

CSBA NOTE: When calculating whether the employee has been employed by the district for a minimum 

of one year for purposes of determining the employee's right to a paid military leave of absence 

pursuant to itemsItems #1, 2, and 4 above, anthe Attorney General opinion (opined in 77 

Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 209 (1994)) states), that all prior military service is to be counted as public agency 

service (i.e., the military service is "tacked on" to the amount of time employed in the district), even 

when a period of time lapses between the military service and district employment. However, as opined 

by the Attorney General in 18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951), an employee may not "tack on" prior 

employment in another district (18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951)).. If a question arises as to whether 

prior service should be counted, district legal counsel should be consulted. 

Page 124 of 459



employment shall be included. 

 
For classified employees, 30 days' compensation shall be one month's salary. For certificated employees, 

30 days' compensation shall be one-tenth of the employee's annual salary. (Education Code 45059) 
 

Certificated employees shall not be entitled to compensation during non-teaching, non-paying months of 

the year. 
 

During the period of military leave, an employee may, upon his/her own request, to use any vacation or 

similar paid leave accrued before the commencement of the military leave. in order to continue receiving 

compensation for the employee’s employment with the district. The district shall not require the 

employee to use such leave. (38 USC 4316; 20 CFR 1002.153) 

 
Benefits 

 
An employee may elect to continue his/her health plan coverage during the military leave. The maximum 

period of coverage for the employee and his/herany dependents shall be either 24 months from the 

beginning of the leave or until the day after the employee fails to apply for or return to employment, 

whichever is less. (38 USC 4317; 20 CFR 1002.164) 

 
An employee on military leave may be required to pay the employee cost, if any, of any funded benefit to 

the extent that other employees on leave are so required. (38 USC 4316) 

 
An employee absent for 30 days or fewer shall not be required to pay more than the employee share for 

such coverage. An employee absent for 31 days or more may be required to pay not more than 102 

percent of the full premium under the plan. (38 USC 4317; 20 CFR 1002.166) 
 

 

 
 

Any employee called into active military duty as a member of the California National Guard or a United 

States Military Reserve organization shall receive, for up to 180 days, the difference between the amount 

of his/herthe employee’s military pay and the amount the employee would have received from the 

district and all benefits that the employee would have received if he/she had the employee not been 

called to active military duty, unless the benefits are prohibited or limited by vendor contracts. 

(Education Code 44018) 
 

Vacation and Sick Leave Accrual 

 
An employee on temporary military leave under the conditions described in item #1 Active Military 

Training or Exercises,Item #1 in the section entitled "Salary/Compensation" above, shall continue to 

accrue the same vacation, sick leave, and holiday privileges to which he/shethe employee would 

otherwise be entitled if not absent. (Military and Veterans Code 395) 

 
An employee on military leave who is serving in active duty in time of war, national emergency, or United 

Nations military or police operation shall not accrue sick leave or vacation leave during the period of such 

leave. (Military and Veterans Code 395.1) 

CSBA NOTE: An Attorney General opinion (19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (1952)) states that certificated 

employees ordered to perform military service are not entitled to compensation during non-teaching, 

non-paying months of the year. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by any district whose Board has taken action to 

extend benefits tofor up to 180 days to employees who are on active military duty as members of the 

California National Guard or a U.S. Military Reserve organization, as authorized, but not required, by 

Education Code 44018. 

Page 125 of 459



However, an employee who is a National Guard member on active duty as described in item #3 War or 

Other Emergency,Item #3 in the section entitled "Salary/Compensation" above, shall not suffer any loss 

or diminution of vacation or holiday privileges because of his/herthe employee’s leave of absence. 

(Military and Veterans Code 395.05) 

 
Pension Plan Service Credit 

 

 

Pension plan service credit and vesting shall continue during an employee's military leave as though no 

break in service had occurred. Payment of employer and employee contributions shall be made in 

accordance with law for members of the State Teachers' Retirement System or Public Employees' 

Retirement System. (Education Code 22850-22856; Government Code 20990-21013) 

 
Employment Status 

 

 

Absence for military leave shall not affect the classification of any certificated employee. In the case of a 

certificated probationary employee, the period of such absence shall not count as part of the service 

required to obtain permanent status, but shall not be construed as a break in the continuity of service for 

any purpose. (Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395; 20 CFR 1002.149) 
 

Reinstatement Rights 

 
At the conclusion of the military duty, an employee shall be promptly reinstated in the position held at 

the beginning of the leave, at the salary to which he/shethe employee would otherwise have been 

entitled, except under the conditions noted below. in this section. (Education Code 44800; Military and 

Veterans Code 395, 395.2; 38 USC 4304, 4313; 20 CFR 1002.180-1002.181) 

 
Any employee who performs active military duty in time of war, national emergency, or United Nations 

military or police operation has a right to return to his/herthe position held prior to the military service, 

during terminal leave prior to the employee’s discharge, separation, or release from the armed forces, or 

within six months of anthe employee’s release, separation, honorable discharge, or placement on inactive 

duty. Reinstatement rights shall not be extended to any such employee who fails to return within 12 

months after the first date upon which he/shethe employee could terminate or could cause to behave 

terminated his/her active service. (Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395.1) 
 

When an employee has been on military leave for reasons other than war or national emergency, the time 

frame for seeking reinstatement shall depend on the length of military service as follows: (38 USC 4312; 

20 CFR 1002.115, 1002.118) 

 
1. For a leave of 30 days or fewer, the employee shall report for duty no later than the beginning of 

the first full work day following the completion of the military service, provided the employee has 
plus a period of eight hours toof rest following a period for safe transportation to his/herthe 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 20997, employers that participate in the California Public 

Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) are required to inform employees who are CalPERS members, 

of the rights of returning military veterans to receive employer-paid service credits for the period of 

active military service. 

CSBA NOTE: Employees on military leave are deemed to be on furlough or leave of absence, pursuant to 

20 CFR 1002.149 and, during the period of military leave, maintain non-seniority rights and benefits 

generally provided by the employer to other employees with similar seniority, status, and pay who are on 

furlough or leave of absence. However, pursuant to Education Code 44800 and Military and Veterans 

Code 395, absence due to military leave may not be counted in satisfaction of an uncompleted 

probationary period. 

Page 126 of 459

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=7777cc63dc1f56b32d52d2a4cf58ef4e&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=12fa75ce601c353c6fcc0bbf01d706d5&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=265410d47c2ff88d12bfcc46b5eb5d78&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149


employee’s residence. 
 

2. For a leave of 31-180 days, the employee shall submit a written or verbal application for 
reinstatement not later than 14 days after the completion of military service. 

 

3. For a leave of more than 180 days, the employee shall submit a written or verbal application for 
reinstatement within 90 days after the completion of military service. 

 
In cases where Where an employee’s reporting or application for reinstatement within the periods 

specified in itemsItems #1 and #2 above is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of the employee, 

he/shethe report or application shall reportbe made as soon as possible after the expiration of the period. 

In the case of Items #2 and #3 where an application is required, the employee’s application may be made 

orally or in writing and need not follow any particular format. (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.115, 

1002.117, 1002.118) 
 

An employee who is hospitalized for, or convalescing from, an illness or injury incurred in or aggravated 

during the performance of military service shall report for duty or submit an application for reinstatement 

at the end of the period that is necessary to recover from such illness or injury, but no more than two 

years after the completion of military service unless circumstances beyond the employee's control make 

reporting within the two-year period impossible or unreasonable. (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.116) 

 
Upon receiving an application for reinstatement, the Superintendent or designee shall reinstate the 

employee as soon as practicable under the circumstances of his/herthe case, but within a time period not 

to exceed two weeks, absent unusual circumstances. (20 CFR 1002.181) 

 
If the employee's previous position has been abolished, he/shethe district shall be reinstatedreinstate the 

employee in a position of like seniority, status, and pay, if such position exists, or to a comparable vacant 

position for which he/shethe employee is qualified. (Military and Veterans Code 395, 395.1; 38 USC 

4313; 20 CFR 1002.192) 

 
An employee failingwho fails to report or apply for reinstatement within the appropriate period does not 

automatically forfeit his/her rights,the entitlement to reinstatement but shall be subject to the 

Board'sdistrict’s rules and/or practices governing unexcused absences. (38 USC 4312) 
 

The Superintendent or designee may elect not to reinstate an employee following military leave if any of 

the following conditions exists: 

 
1. The district's circumstances have so changed as to make such re-employment impossible or 

unreasonable, such as a reduction in force that would have included the employee. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

2. The accommodation, training, or effort described in 38 USC 4313(a)(3), (a)(4), or (b)(2)(B) would 
impose an undue hardship on the district as defined in 20 CFR 1002.5 or 1002.198. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

3. The employee's position was for a brief, nonrecurrent period and there was no reasonable 
expectation that such employment will continue indefinitely or for a significant period. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

4. The employee's cumulative length of absence and length of all previous military leave while 
employed with the district exceeds five years, excluding those training and service obligations 
specified in 38 USC 4312(c). (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.99-1002.103) 

 

5. The employee was separated from military service with a disqualifying discharge or under other 
than honorable conditions. (Military and Veterans Code 395.1; 20 USC 4304, 4312; 20 CFR 
1002.134-1002.138) 

Page 127 of 459



Notices 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide employees a notice of the rights, benefits, and obligations 

of employees granted military leave and of the district under the Uniformed Services Employment and 

Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 38 USC 4301-4334. (38 USC 4334) 

 

 

This requirement may be met by posting the notice where the district customarily places notices for 

employees. (38 USC 4334) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 22850-22856 Pension benefits,; STRS members on military leave 

Ed. Code 44018 Compensation for employees on active military duty 

Ed. Code 44800 Effect of active military service on status of employees 

Ed. Code 45059 Employee ordered to active military/naval duty,; computation 

of salary 

Gov. Code 18540 Definition of armed forces 

Gov. Code 18540.3 Recognized military service 

Gov. Code 20990-21013 Pension benefits,; PERS members on military leave 

M&V Code 146 Events justifying calling of militia into active service 

M&V Code 389 Definitions; temporary military leave 

M&V Code 394 Nondiscrimination based on military service 

M&V Code 395-395.9 Military leave 

Federal Description 

20 CFR 1002.1-1002.314 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994 

38 USC 4301-4334 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994 

Management Resources Description 

CSBA NOTE: 38 USC 4334 requires employers to post a notice of rights and benefits as provided below. 

The U.S. Secretary of Labor has provided a sample notice listing these rights which is available on the 

Department of Labor's USERRA web site. 

CSBA NOTE: 38 USC 4334 states that the notice may be placed where the employerdistrict customarily 

places employee notices, as provided below. However, the VETS' , “A Non-Technical Resource Guide to 

the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA)),” clarifies that an 

employer may provide the notice in an alternative manner as long as the full text of the notice is 

provided. Examples include handing the notice to employees, mailing it, or distributing it via email. The 

district may revise the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

Page 128 of 459



Attorney General Opinion 18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951) 

Attorney General Opinion 19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (1952) 

Attorney General Opinion 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 924 (1978) 

Attorney General Opinion 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 290 (1986) 

Attorney General Opinion 77 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 56 (1994) 

Court Decision Bowers v. San Buenaventura (1977) 75 Cal. App.3d 65 

Court Decision Wright v. City of Santa Clara (1989) 213 Cal. App.3d 1503 

National School Boards Association 

Publication 

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment 

Rights Act (USERRA), NSBA Federal File: Guidance on 

Federal School Law, 2003 

U.S. Department of Labor Publication A Non-Technical Resource Guide to the Uniformed Services 

Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), rev. 

April 2005 

Website National Committee for Employer Support of the Guard and 

Reserve 

Website U.S. Department of Labor, USERRA 

Website National School Boards Association 

 

 

Code Description 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4032 Reasonable Accommodation 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4217.3 Layoff/Rehire 

4261 Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 129 of 459



4261 Leaves 

4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

Page 130 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 4340: Bargaining Units Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2011 | Last Revised Date: 1209/01/20202022 | Last Revie 

1209/01/20202022 

wed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board recognizes the right of district employees to form a bargaining unit, and to select an 

employee organization as theirthe exclusive representative, and be represented by that organization to 

represent the employees in theirthe employees’ employment relationship with the district. The Board is 

committed to negotiating in good faith with recognized employee organizations and respecting the rights 

of employees and employee organizations. 

 
The district shall not dominate or interfere with the formation or administration of any employee 

organization or contribute financial or other support to it. (Government Code 3543.5) 
 

 

Employees shall not be prohibited from wearing union buttons or other items that favor or oppose the 

formation of a bargaining unit or any matter that is the subject of negotiations. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3544, an employee organization may become the 

employees' exclusive representative for negotiations by filing a request with the district providing proof 

that a majority of the employees in an appropriate unit wish to be represented by that organization. 

Notice of such request must be immediately posted conspicuously on all employee bulletin boards in 

each district facility in which members of the unit are employed. Government Code 3544.1 requires the 

district to grant the request for recognition unless (1) the district doubts the appropriateness of the unit, 

(2) another employee organization files a challenge to the appropriateness of the unit or submits a 

competing claim of representation within 15 work days of the posting of notice of the written request, 

or (3) the district currently has a lawful written agreement with another employee organization 

representing the same employees. 

 
Pursuant to”Exclusive representative,” as defined in Government Code 3540.1, means an employee 

organization recognized or certified as the definition of "exclusive negotiating representative" includes 

representation of " for all public schooldistrict employees" other than management and confidential 

employees, as defined.. 

 
Government Code 3543 provides that public school employees have the right to represent themselves 

individually in their employment relations with the district except that, once an exclusive representative 

has been recognized, an employee in that unit is prohibited from meeting and negotiating with the 

district. 

CSBA NOTE: In East Whittier School District, the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) found that 

the district's policy limiting the wearing of union buttons that favor or oppose any matter that is the 

subject of negotiations in the classroom or in other instructional areas in the presence of students 

violated the Educational Employment Relations Act, as there was no finding of special circumstances 

which would limit the established right of employees to wear union buttons in the workplace, nor was 

there a finding that wearing the union buttons was a political activity. PERB continues to use a case-by- 

case approach to determine whether a district's policy restricting employees fromthe wearing of union 

buttons by employees is justified by special circumstances. See PERB's ruling in City of Sacramento. Due 

to the legal uncertainty in this area, districts are encouraged to consult CSBA District and County Office 

of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel prior to limiting the wearing of union buttons 

that support the union's position in collective bargaining. 

Page 131 of 459



(Government Code 3545) 
 

The district may recognize a bargaining unit of supervisory employees if: 
 

Formation of Bargaining Units 
 
 

 

1. Certificated and classified employees shall not be included in the same bargaining unit. The 
(Government Code 3545) 

 

A bargaining unit of supervisory employees may be recognized if the bargaining unit includes all 
supervisory employees. 

 

2. The supervisors are and is not represented by the samean employee organization that represents 

district employees whomwho are supervised by the supervisory employees. (Government Code 3545) 

supervise. 

For this purpose, supervisory employee means any employee, regardless of job description, having the 

authority, in the interest of the district, to hire, transfer, suspend, lay off, recall, promote, discharge, 

assign, reward, or discipline, other employees, or the responsibility to assign work to, direct, or adjust 

grievance of other employees, or effectively recommend that action. The, when the exercise of thisthat 

authority shallis not beof a merely routine or clerical in nature, but shall requirerequires the use of 

independent judgment. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

 

Employees serving in management, senior management, or confidential positions shall not be represented 

by an exclusive representative. SuchIn the employment relationship with the district, such employees 

may represent themselves individually. For purposes other than negotiations and bargaining, such 

employees mayor be represented by an employee organization whose membership is composed entirely 

of employees designated as holding those positions. For this purpose: (Government Code 3540.1, 

3543.4)An employee organization representing management or confidential employees shall not be 

permitted to meet and negotiate with the district on behalf of the employees. (Government Code 

3543.4) 
 

1. Management employee means any employee who has significant responsibilities for formulating 
district policies or administering district programs, and whose position is designated as a management 
position by the Board. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

2. Confidential employee means any employee who is required to develop or present management 
positions with respect to employer-employee relations or whose duties normally require access to 
confidential information that is used to contribute significantly to the development of management 
positions. (Government Code 3540.1) 

 

Membership 

 
The district shall not deter or discourage employees or job applicants from becoming or remaining 

members of an employee organization, authorizing representation by an employee organization, or 

authorizing dues or fee deductions to an employee organization. In addition, the district shall not impose 

CSBA NOTE: The following section contains legal requirements for the certification or recognition of 

bargaining units for different categories of employees. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3543.4, management and confidential employees, as defined 

in Government Code 3540.1, are excluded from the right to be represented in negotiations by an 

employee organization. The Public Employment Relations BoardPERB ultimately determines, based upon 

the duties of the position, which positions qualify as "management" or "confidential" and thus are 

excluded from bargaining. 

Page 132 of 459



or threaten to impose reprisals on employees, discriminate or threaten to discriminate against employees, 

or otherwise interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees because of their membership or 

nonmembership in an employee organization. (Government Code 3543.5, 3550) 
 

 

However, before disseminating to multiple employees any mass communication concerning employees' 

right to join or support an employee organization or to refrain from joining or supporting an employee 

organization, such as a written document or script for oral or recorded presentation or message, the 

Superintendent or designee shall meet and confer with the employees' exclusive representative regarding 

the content of the communication. If the district and exclusive representative do not come to agreement 

on the content of the mass communication, the Superintendent or designee may disseminate the district's 

mass communication, provided that, at the same time, copies of the exclusive representative's 

communication, which shall be of reasonable length, are also distributed. (Government Code 3553) 

 
Access to New Employee Orientations 

 

The district shall permit employee organizations access to new employee orientationsorientation or 

onboarding process where newly hired employees are advised, whether in person, online, or through 

other means or mediums, of their employment status, rights, benefits, duties, responsibilities, or any other 

employment-related matters. The district shall provide employee organizations at least 10 days' notice in 

advance of an orientation. However, in any specific instance where, except that a shorter notice may be 

provided if an unforeseeable, urgent need critical to the district's operation prevents the required 10 

days' notice, a shorter notice may be provided. . (Government Code 3555.5, 3556) 
 

TheFollowing a request to negotiate by either party, the structure, time, and manner of the access to new 

employee orientations shall be determined by mutual agreement of the district and the exclusive 

representative, following a request to negotiate by either party.. If the district and exclusive 

representative fail to reach an agreement, matters related to the access to the new employee orientation 

shall be subject to compulsory interest arbitration. The district and employee organization may mutually 

agree to submit any dispute to compulsory interest arbitration at any time. In addition, if any dispute 

arises during negotiations and is not resolved within 45 days after the first meeting or within 60 days 

after the initial request to negotiate, whichever is earlier, either party may make a demand for compulsory 

interest arbitration. When any such dispute arises during the summer when the district's administrative 

office is closed, the timeline shall commence on the first day the administrative office reopens. The 

decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. (Government Code 3556, 3557) 

 
The date, time, and place of thea new employee orientation shall not be disclosed to anyone other than 

employees, the exclusive representative, or a vendor that is contracted to provide a service for purposes 

of the orientation. (Government Code 3556) 

CSBA NOTE: The remainder of this section is optional. Government Code 3553 establishes requirements 

for districts that choose to disseminate a mass communication regarding employees' rights to join, 

support, or refrain from joining or supporting an employee organization. A "mass communication" means 

any written document, including a script for an oral or recorded presentation or message, intended for 

multiple employees. 

 
Districts should exercise caution and consult with CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal 

Services or the district’s legal counsel before communicating with employees about their rights to join or 

not join an employee organization to avoid violating the law against unfair labor practices. When an 

employee approaches the district with questions specifically about the benefits of the membership in an 

employee organization, the employee should be referred to the employee organization. 

The Superintendent or designee may communicate with district employees regarding their rights under 

the law. Such communications shall be factual and accurate, and may not promise a benefit, threaten a 

reprisal, or in any way deter or discourage employees from joining an employee organization or paying 

dues. 

Page 133 of 459



 
 

Until June 30, 2025, in addition to above provisions regarding new employee orientations, the district 

shall ensure the following: (Government Code 3556) 
 

1. When an inperson new employee orientation has not been conducted within 30 days of hiring any 

new employee who is working in person, the Superintendent or designee shall permit the 

exclusive representative to schedule an inperson meeting which newly hired employees shall have 

an opportunity to attend, at the employee’s worksite and during employment hours. Each newly 

hired employee within the bargaining unit shall be provided at least 30 minutes of paid time to 

attend the meeting. 
 

Upon the request of an exclusive representative scheduling such an inperson meeting, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide an appropriate on-site meeting space within seven days 

of receiving the exclusive representative’s request. 
 

2. When, by reason of a state or local public health order limiting the size of gatherings, the district is 

prohibited from organizing a new employee orientation, an exclusive representative may schedule 

multiple meetings to ensure that newly hired employees have an opportunity to attend without 

exceeding the maximum allowable number of people. 
 

Access to Employee Contact Information 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide an exclusive representative with the name, job title, 

department, work location, telephone numbers (work, home, and personal cell phone), personal email 

address(es) on file with the district, and home address of any newly hired employee in the bargaining unit, 

within 30 days of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire., unless the exclusive 

representative has agreed to a different interval for the provision of the information. In addition, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide the exclusive representative the same information in regard to 

all employees in the bargaining unit to an exclusive representative at least every 120 days, unless more 

frequent or detailed lists are required by agreement with the exclusive representative. (Government 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph applies until June 30, 2025, unless the date is extended by law. 

Government Code 3556, as amended by SB 191 (Ch. 67, Statutes of 2022), provides additional 

obligations for public employers under the conditions specified in the following paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3558, districts are required to provide recognized employee 

organizations with specified contact information for new employees in the bargaining unit, as provided 

below. The information required by Government Code 3558 must be provided in a manner consistent 

with Government Code 6254.3, which authorizes disclosure of an employee's home address, home 

telephone number(s), and personal cell phone number to an employee organization unless the district 

receives a written request by the employee to not disclose the information. Pursuant to Government 

Code 6254.3, the personal email address of an employee is not disclosable unless used by the employee 

to conduct public business. The following paragraph should be revised if districts have an agreement with 

their employee organization(s) requiring more frequent or more detailed contact lists. 

 
In County of Los Angeles v. Service Employees International Union, Local 721, the California Supreme Court 

held that (1) an employer has a duty to provide information relevant to collective bargaining to the 

applicable bargaining unit and failure to do so is a violation of the employer's obligation to bargain in good 

faith; (2) the disclosure of an employee's home address and phone number(s) by an employer to the union 

is presumptively relevant to the union's role as bargaining agent and does not violate the employee's 

constitutional right of privacy; and (3) other avenues for implementing privacy safeguards are available, 

such as bargaining for a notice and opt-out procedure or drafting employment contracts that will notify 

employees that their home contact information is subject to disclosure to the union and that they may 

request nondisclosure. 

Page 134 of 459



Code 3558, 6254.3) 

 
However, the Superintendent or designee shall not disclose the home address and any phone numbers on 

file for employees performing law enforcement-related functions, nor disclose the home address, home 

or personal cell phone number(s), or personal email address(es) of any employee who is a participant in 

the Safe at Home address confidentiality program pursuant to Government Code 6207 or of any 

employee who provides a written request that the information not be disclosed for this purpose.to the 

exclusive representative. Following receipt of a written request, the district shall remove the employee's 

home address, home and personal cell phone numbers, and personal email address from any mailing list 

maintained by the district unless the list is only used by the district to contact the employee. 

(Government Code 3558, 6207, 6254.3) 
 

 

 

Within 20 calendar days after an exclusive representative notifies the Superintendent or designee that a 

list of employees provided by the district is inaccurate or incomplete, the Superintendent or designee 

shall take steps to correct the list and provide a new list of employees to the exclusive representative. 

(Government Code 3558) 
 

 

At least, at the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall review the list of 

district employees to ensure that the list is complete and contains accurate information. 
 

Communications with Employees 

 
Employee organizations may have access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work and may 

use district facilities at reasonable times for the purpose of meetings. Subject to reasonable regulation, 

employee organizations may also use institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other means of 

communication to communicate with employees. (Government Code 3543.1) 

 
Access to district means of communication shall be limited in cases where such access would be 

disruptive to district operations. 

 
Membership Dues or Other Payments to an Employee Organization 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 3558, an employee organization is authorized, after 

notifying the district of a violation of the district’s employee information disclosure obligations, to file a 

special unfair labor practice charge with PERB. Government Code 3558, as amended by SB 270 (Ch. 330, 

Statutes of 2021), allows the district 20 calendar days to cure an alleged violation that involves the 

provision of an inaccurate or incomplete list of employees, and to give the exclusive representative 

written notice of the actions taken. If a violation is found, PERB is required to assess against the district a 

civil penalty of $10,000 and attorney’s fees and costs in addition to any other remedy provided by law. 

CSBA NOTE: Government Code 3558, as amended, limits to three times within any 12-month period a 

district’s opportunity to cure when an inaccurate or incomplete list has been provided to an exclusive 

representative. The following paragraph offers a way to avoid or minimize possible violation and may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Bargaining unit employees who choose to join the employee organization pay membership 

dues, which are deducted from the employee's salary or wage payment as provided below. Pursuant to 

Employees, bargaining unit employees who choose not to join an employee organization cannot be 

required to pay any fees to the employee organization. However, pursuant to Education Code 45060 and 

45168, an employee who chooses not to join an employee organization may be charged fees for 

applicable services, programs, or committees provided to the employee by the employee organization if 

that nonmember employee first affirmatively and voluntarily consents to pay those fees to the employee 

organization, as required by Janus v. AFSCME. Page 135 of 459



 
 

When drawing an order for the salary or wage payment of a bargaining unit employee of an employee 

organization, the district shall deduct any amount which has been requested by the employee in a 

revocable written authorization for the purpose of paying dues or other payments for any service, 

program, or committee provided or sponsored by the employee organization. (Education Code 45060, 

45168) 

 
An employee organization that certifies that it has and will maintain individual employee authorizations 

shall handle and process employee written authorizations for payroll deductions. When an employee 

organization provides such a certification to the district, the district shall rely on information from the 

employee organization regarding the amounts of such payroll deductions and from which employees. The 

employee organization shall not be required to submit to the district a copy of the written authorization 

in order for the payroll deductions to be effective. However, when there is a dispute about the existence 

or terms of the written authorization, a copy of the employee's written authorization shall be submitted 

to the district. The employee organization shall indemnify the district for any employee claims regarding 

payroll deductions made by the district in reliance on notification from the employee organization. 

(Education Code 45060, 45168) 

 
When an employee organization which has declined to certify that it will handle and process employee 

written authorizations makes a request for payroll deductions, the district shall request a copy of the 

employee's written authorization before making the payroll deductions. (Education Code 45060, 45168) 

 
A written authorization shall remain in effect until expressly revoked in writing by the employee and 

pursuant to the terms of the written authorization. Employee requests to cancel or change 

authorizations for payroll deductions for employee organizations shall be directed to the employee 

organization rather than the district. The employee organization shall be responsible for processing these 

requests. The district shall rely on the information provided by the employee organization regarding 

whether deductions for an employee organization were properly canceled or changed. The employee 

organization shall be required to indemnify the district for any claims made by an employee for 

deductions made by the district in reliance on information from the employee organization. (Education 

Code 45060, 45168) 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

8 CCR 33015-33490 Recognition of exclusive representative; proceedings 

8 CCR 33700-33710 Severance of established unit 

8 CCR 34020 Petition to rescind organizational security arrangement 

8 CCR 34055 Reinstatement of organizational security arrangement 

Ed. Code 45060-45061.5 Deduction of fees from salary or wage payment,; certificated 

employees 

 
Education Code 45060 and 45168 set forth the process for handling authorizations, changes, and 

cancellations for dues or other payments, and provide safeguards for districts that rely on information 

provided by an employee organization concerning such payroll deductions (i.e., the employee 

organization's indemnification of the district against any employee's claim based on such reliance). 

Page 136 of 459



Ed. Code 45100.5 Senior classified management positions 

Ed. Code 45104.5 Abolishment of senior classified management positions 

Ed. Code 45108.5 Definition of senior classified management employees 

Ed. Code 45108.7 Waiver of provisions of 45108.5 

Ed. Code 45168 Deduction of fees from salary or wage payment,; classified 

employees 

Ed. Code 45220-45320 Merit system,; classified employees 

Gov. Code 3540-3549.3 Educational Employment Relations Act 

Gov. Code 3540.1 Public employment definitions 

Gov. Code 3543.4 Management position; representation 

Gov. Code 3545 Appropriateness of unit; basis 

Gov. Code 3550-3552 Prohibition on public employers deterring or discouraging 

union membership 

Gov. Code 3555-3559 Public employee communication, information and orientation 

Gov. Code 53260-53264 Employment contracts 

Gov. Code 6205-6210 Confidentiality of addresses for victims of domestic violence, 

sexual assault or stalking 

Gov. Code 6254.3 Disclosure of employee contact information to employee 

organization 

Gov. Code 6503.5 Joint powers agencies 

Federal Description 

8 CFR 33015-33490 Recognition of exclusive representative; proceedings 

8 CFR 33700-33710 Severance of established unit 

8 CFR 34020 Petition to rescind organizational security arrangement 

8 CFR 34055 Reinstatement of organizational security arrangement 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision County of Los Angeles v. Service Employees International 

Union, Local 721, (2013) 56 Cal. 4th 905 

Court Decision Friedrichs v. California Teachers Association, et al.,. (2016) 

136 S.Ct. 1083 

Court Decision Janus v. American Federation of State, County and Municipal 

Employees, Council 31, (2018) 138 S.Ct. 2448 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Ruling 

East Whittier School District, (2004) PERB Dec. No. 1727 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Ruling 

City of Sacramento, (2019) PERB Dec. No. 2702m 

Website California Federation of Teachers 

Website California Public Employment Relations Board 

Website California School Employees Association 

Website California Teachers Association 
 

Page 137 of 459

http://www.cft.org/
http://www.perb.ca.gov/
http://www.csea.com/
http://www.cta.org/


Website Association of California School Administrators 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0450 Comprehensive Safety Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

1340 Access To District Records 

1340 Access To District Records 

1431 Waivers 

4113 Assignment 

4113 Assignment 

4115 Evaluation/Supervision 

4115 Evaluation/Supervision 

4119.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4119.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4141 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

4143 Negotiations/Consultation 

4151 Employee Compensation 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4154 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4161.2 Personal Leaves 

4219.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4219.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4241 Collective Bargaining Agreement 

4243 Negotiations/Consultation 

4251 Employee Compensation 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4254 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4261.2 Personal Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 138 of 459

http://www.acsa.org/
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bY3vZ9pbd8vHL3zMeylxDg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2WO7zwkhPaPC26DTZVGtpA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eTTKhAGZDUZ5bldHQfXllg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sTN7HQJDOPoMtU4jkkplusy6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=PnBR3xEiseofnLYbksUJKw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kIgPC1WmMHyKtFolo9I6xw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DYtN4QkUY0bsLh5O0ZfBwg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=bQESVgHahzjr0FiVwAkJRw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jZOswohSwauLJkGoDiT35Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=TEdW0cSJybA2vwsgOjfLyQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=EISAG9UbgKAIhplusLCMGvBRQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r62xXFUHbIIl8JqY3Znqyg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=kqyplusH0hKgAhPDZkWCumbBA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yHgAazx8aYr77UPaAEvIlA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=xvJ8Rv1gUhYoz1Ea1cbcslshw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0cNWraamPjs8IOaZ62DhxQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BQ0GbNcIEyqa2M832Tvq8w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qIsnUiliJ9AfwcmTDplusM2xA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=BpKAmK9HRloyA9dWIYeSWw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=o5aiFnbRERaa7DjPpeNslsh1g%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fbRga5VfOWJoZGO89LouWg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WWKbpvXiuo75p6plusplusKf8hZA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=QjKCMJtwZdwwRywQG4y0ww%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6XBRtCwYLrnkLmNnMSOnUg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=Jk6Rffak3S4HVo3slsh2PIwhw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=m5a2egsK540sO996JyvzQg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0iX2cvpEal4Oifn08mTslshAw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=plus2DGzCaVSoKplusLVPjXzpOgA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3HZlUgP3C2gGd1zApy5dJA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OCSbNbEbmPBF6jzaCICMCw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=doBZtTdhrplus8MX6hxunPHXw%3D%3D


4300 Administrative And Supervisory Personnel 

4300 Administrative And Supervisory Personnel 

4301 Administrative Staff Organization 

4312.1 Contracts 

4315 Evaluation/Supervision 

4319.1 Civil And Legal Rights 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4319.25 Political Activities Of Employees 

4351 Employee Compensation 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4354 Health And Welfare Benefits 

4361.2 Personal Leaves 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9321 Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(1) Closed Session 

9321-E PDF(2) Closed Session 

Page 139 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=2ys0OHg78yJKDSwxgpJqlg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=0POGA27XcOxgBNnstpoOfQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=SHbm920VzON88Jxbfk4AWA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=r6bFeQMiGLioDI9xjd5plusyw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=jxzQvcOG6ByajMOsZiJ9fQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=fLbQllbgb7c172TCWmpslshng%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dVyHmQsDoOXLUTF15AkxGA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ebvRZAwPV8ta9slshdcu83Xhg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=j4DUPFVtyadzRFwSjORjzQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=eJoZD7caqeZLQxmOYWpVrQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=WxP39fISXP8PtB0WcpJuGw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=yAhOpxuR5pmNzxDzYIIecw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=b5gslshvzbe9vBhw3WBVlPeFg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dsHizRwHYkdF3KBT3QsViA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=OOBWTPplusOslsheSJMnnd4EyLIA%3D%3D


CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4361.2: Personal Leaves Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2012 | Last Revised Date: 0309/01/20212022 | Last Revie 

0309/01/20162022 

wed Date: 

 

 
Personal leaves granted to district employees shall be used as permitted in this administrative regulation, 

other Board-approved policy or district regulation, or applicable collective bargaining agreement. 
 

 

For the purpose of any personal leave offered pursuant to state law, a registered domestic partner shall 

have the same rights, protections, and benefits as a spouse and any protections provided to a spouse's 

child shall also apply to a child of a registered domestic partner. (Family Code 297.5) 

 
Whenever possible, employees shall request personal leaves in advance and prepare suitable instructions, 

including lesson plans as applicable, for a substitute employee. 

 
Bereavement 

 

 

Employees are entitled to a leave of up to three days, or five days if out-of-state travel is required, upon 

the death of any member of the employee's immediate family. No deduction shall be made from the 

employee's salary, nor shall such leave be deducted from any other leave to which the employee is 

entitled. (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 
Members of thean employee’s immediate family include: (Education Code 44985, 45194) 

 

1. The mother, mother-in-law, father, father-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, or grandchild of the 
employee or of the employee's spouse 

 

2. The employee's spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, or sister 
 

3. Any relative living in the employee's immediate household 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is subject to collective bargaining agreements. 

CSBA NOTE: Family Code 297.5 extends to registered domestic partners the same rights that are 

available under state law to spouses. Thus, any reference to an employee's spouse throughout this 

administrative regulation also applies to a registered domestic partner, even if not expressly stated in 

the applicable state codesstatute (e.g., Education Code, Military and Veterans Code). Districts should 

consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel if a 

question arises as to leave provisions relative to an employee's domestic partner. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44985 and 45194 allow the Governing Board to expand the class of 

relatives listed below as “immediate family” and enlarge the benefits provided by law. In addition, 

Government Code 12945.2, as amended by AB 1033 (Ch. 327, Statutes of 2021), includes a parent-in- 

law in the definition of "parent" for purposes of California Family Rights Act (CFRA) leave. Thus, to 

ensure consistency, the definition of “immediate family” below includes “mother-in-law” and father-in- 

law,” as permitted by law. The following two paragraphs may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 140 of 459



At the employee's request, bereavement leave may be extended under personal necessity leave 

provisions as provided in the section "Personal Necessity" below. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
Personal Necessity 

 

 

Employees may use a maximum of seven days of their accrued personal illness/injury leave (sick leave) 

during each school year for reasons of personal necessity. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
Acceptable reasons for the use of personal necessity leave include: 

 
1. Death of a member of the employee's immediate family when the number of days of absence 

exceeds the limits set by bereavement leave provisions (Education Code 44981, 45207) 
 

2. An accident involving the employee or the employee's property, or the person or property of a 
member of the employee's immediate family (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 

 

3. Illness, preventive care, or other need of a member of the employee's family, as defined in Labor 
Code 245.5 (Education Code 44981; Labor Code 246.5) 

 

CSBA NOTE: Employees may use a maximum of seven days of accumulated personal illness/injury leave 

(sick leave) for reasons of personal necessity pursuant to Education Code 44981 (certificated 

employees) and 45207 (classified employees). Pursuant to Education Code 44981 and 45207, a higher 

maximum may be set for certificated and/or classified employees in theirthe applicable collective 

bargaining agreement, or by Board resolution for classified employees who are not covered by a 

collective bargaining agreement. Districts that have established a maximum that is higher than seven 

days should modify the following paragraph accordingly. 

 
Education Code 45207 clarifies that provisions pertaining to personal necessity leave also apply to 

districts that have adopted the merit system for classified employees in accordance with Education 

Code 45240-45320. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 44981, a certificated employee may use personal necessity 

leave for the serious illness of a member of the employee's immediate family. The Board may extend 

these provisions to classified employees under the authority granted to the Board by Education Code 

45207. Districts are cautioned to consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services 

or the district’s legal counsel regarding any interaction of Education Code provisions with Labor Code 

233, 245.5, and 246.5, which allow the use of sick leave for the need of the employee or family member 

for the diagnosis, care, or treatment of an existing health condition or for preventive care and which 

include in the definition of "family member" a registered domestic partner, grandparent, and sibling. See 

AR 4161.1/4361.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave and AR 4261.1 - Personal Illness/Injury Leave. 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for federal and state provisions 

related to leaves for the birth, adoption, or foster placement of a new child; the care of a seriously ill 

child, parent, parent-in-law, or spouse/registered domestic partner; or the employee's own serious 

health condition. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45207 provides that classified employees may use sick leave for required 

court appearances, as provided in itemItem #4 below. Circumstances under which employees may take 

time off, with pay, for court appearances are described in the section on "Leave to Perform Legal 

Duties" below. 

Page 141 of 459



4. A classified employee's appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal as a litigant, 
party, or witness under subpoena or other order (Education Code 45207) 

 

 

5. Fire, flood, or other immediate danger to the home of the employee 
 

6. Personal business of a serious nature which the employee cannot disregard 

 
 

Leave for personal necessity may be allowed for other reasons at the discretion of the Superintendent or 

designee. However, personal necessity leave shall not be granted for purposes of personal convenience, 

for the extension of a holiday or vacation, or for matters which can be taken care of outside of working 

hours. The Superintendent or designee shall have final discretion as to whether a request reflects 

personal necessity. 
 

 

Advance permission shall not be required of an employee in any case involving the death of a member of 

the employee's immediate family, an accident involving the employee's person or property or the person 

or property of a member of the employee's immediate family, or the illness, preventive care, or other 

need of a member of the employee's family. (Education Code 44981, 45207) 

 
For any leave that is planned, or wherefor which the need for leave is foreseeable, an employee shall 

notify the Superintendent or designee in advance. In all other circumstances, the employee shall notify 

the Superintendent or designee of the need for the leave as soon as practicable. 
 

 

After any absence due to personal necessity, the employee shall verify the absence by submitting a 

completed and signed district absence form to the employee's immediate supervisor. 

 
Leave to Perform Legal Duties 

 

CSBA NOTE: Items #5 and #6 are optional and may be deleted or modified to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. The district is prohibited from requiring employees to 

obtain advance permission prior to taking leaves in certain situations. Pursuant to Education Code 

44981 and 45207, the district may not require advance permission for leaves taken by classified 

employees for the reasons specified in itemsItems #1-2 above and by certificated employees for the 

reasons specified in itemsItems #1-3 above. In addition, Labor Code 246.5 requires an employer to grant 

paid sick leave "upon the oral or written request of an employee." According to the Department of 

Industrial Relations, employers may not require advance notice when the need for the leave was 

unforeseeable, as in the case of unanticipated illness or a medical emergency. 

 
Also see AR 4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave for requirements pertaining to 

requests for leaves that qualify under the federal Family and Medical Leave Act (29 USC 2601-2654) or 

the California Family Rights ActCFRA (Government Code 12945.1-12945.2), including provisions that 

allow employees to provide notice as soon as practicable when 30-day advance notice is not practicable 

due to lack of knowledge of the date the leave will be needed, a change in circumstances, or a medical 

emergency. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 44981 and 45207 mandate the adoption of regulations requiring proof of 

personal necessity and prescribing the manner of the required proof. The following paragraph may be 

revised to specify the manner of proof required by the district. 

CSBA NOTE: CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation 

against an employee for taking time off for the activities specified in Items #1-2 below. 

Page 142 of 459



 
 

An employee may take time off work in order to: (Labor Code 230) 

 
1. Serve on an inquest jury or trial jury 

 

2. Comply with a subpoena or other court order to appear as a witness 

 
Notices, summons, and subpoenas for court appearances shall be submitted to the district office when 

requesting leave. 

 
A classified employee called for jury duty shall be granted leave with pay up to the amount of the 

difference between the employee's regular earnings and any amount received for jury fees. (Education 

Code 44037) 
 

 

A certificated employee who is called for jury duty also shall be granted leave with pay up to the 

difference between the employee's regular earnings and any jury fees received. (Education Code 44036) 
 

 

An employee shall be granted leave with pay to appear in court as a witness other than a litigant or to 

respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for reasons not brought about 

through the connivance or misconduct of the employee. Such an employee shall receive the difference 

between the employee's regular earnings and any witness fees received. (Education Code 44036) 
 

Leaves for Crime Victims for Judicial Proceedings 
 

 

An employee may be absent from work in order to attend judicial proceedings related to a crime when 

the employeewho is a victim, of a crime or an immediate family member, registered domestic partner, or 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 44037, it is unlawful for the district or personnel commission to (1) adopt 

any rule, regulation, or policy that encourages classified employees to seek exemption from jury duty; (2) 

directly or indirectly solicit or suggest to any employee that the employee seek exemption from jury 

duty; or (3) discriminate against any employee with respect to assignment, employment, promotion, or in 

any other manner because of the employee's service on a jury panel. However, the Board or personnel 

commission may establish a rule providing that only a percentage of district staff, which shall not be less 

than two percent, shall be granted such leave with pay at any one time. The following section may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

 
Labor Code 230 prohibits the discharge of or discrimination or retaliation against an employee for taking 

time off for the activities specified in items #1-2 below. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that choose to provide leave of 

absence with pay for certificated employees called for jury duty, as authorized by Education Code 

44036. Districts that do not grant such leave should delete this paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 44036 allows the Board, at its 

discretion, to provide paid leaves for employees to appear in court as witnesses other than as litigants or 

to respond to orders from another governmental jurisdiction. Districts that do not grant such leave 

should delete this paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.2 prohibits a district from taking adverse employment action against an 

employee who takes leave as described below. 

Page 143 of 459



child of a registered domestic partner of asuch victim, of may be absent from work in order to attend 

related judicial proceedings, if the crime is any of the following crimes: : (Labor Code 230.2) 
 

1. A violent felony as defined in Penal Code 667.5(c) 
 

2. A serious felony as defined in Penal Code 1192.7(c) 
 

3. A felony provision of law proscribing theft or embezzlement 
 

 

For these purposes, the employee may use vacation, personal leave, personal illness/injury leave, unpaid 

leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give the Superintendent or designee a copy of the notice of 

each scheduled proceeding that is provided by the responsible agency, unless advance notice is not 

feasible. When advance notice is not feasible or an unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall, 

within a reasonable time after the absence, provide documentation evidencing the judicial proceeding 

from the court or government agency setting the hearing, the district attorney or prosecuting attorney's 

office, or the victim/witness office that is advocating on behalf of the victim. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
The district shall keep confidential any records pertaining to the employee's absence from work by reason 

of this leave. (Labor Code 230.2) 

 
Leaves for Victims of Crime or Abuse 

 

 

An employee who is a victim of domestic violence, sexual assault, or stalking, who is a victim ofor a crime 

that caused physical injury or that caused mental injury with a threat of physical injury, or an employee 

whose immediate family member, as defined, is deceased as the direct result of a crime may use vacation, 

sick leave, personal leave, or compensatory time off that is otherwise available to the employee to attend 

to the following activities: (Labor Code 230, 230.1, 246.5) 

 
1. Obtain or attempt to obtain any relief, including, but not limited to, a temporary restraining order, 

restraining order, or other injunctive relief to help ensure the health, safety, or welfare of the 
employee or the employee's child 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.2, employees may use any of the types of leave listed in the 

following paragraph, unless otherwise provided by a collective bargaining agreement, although a 

collective bargaining agreement cannot diminish the entitlement of an employee. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230 and 230.1 allow employees who are victims of domestic violence, sexual 

assault, or stalking, or a crime that caused physical injury or mental injury with a threat of physical injury, 

and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the direct result of a crime to use 

theirany available vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off for the purposes described in 

itemsItems #1-5 below, and prohibit a district from taking adverse employment action against an 

employee for taking leave for any of those purposes. Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, items #2-5 apply to 

districts with 25 or more employees. 

 
As amended by AB 2992 (Ch. 224, Statutes of 2020), Labor Code 230 and 230.1 expand these 

provisions to include employees who are victims of a crime that caused physical injury, or mental injury 

with a threat of physical injury, and employees whose immediate family member is deceased as the 

direct result of a crime.Items #2-5 apply to districts with 25 or more employees. 

Page 144 of 459



2. Seek medical attention for injuries caused by crime or abuse 
 

3. Obtain services from a domestic violence shelter, program, rape crisis center, or victim services 
organization or agency as a result of the crime or abuse 

 

4. Obtain psychological counseling or mental health services related to an experience of crime or 
abuse 

 

5. Participate in safety planning and take other actions to increase safety from future crime or abuse, 
including temporary or permanent relocation 

 

 

Prior to taking time off, an employee shall give reasonable notice to the Superintendent or designee, 

unless advance notice is not feasible. When an unscheduled absence occurs, the employee shall provide, 

within a reasonable period of time, certification of the absence in the form of any of the following: 

(Labor Code 230, 230.1) 

 
1. A police report indicating that the employee was a victim 

 

2. A court order protecting or separating the employee from the perpetrator of the crime or abuse, 
or other evidence from the court or prosecuting attorney that the employee has appeared in court 

 

3. Documentation from a domestic violence or sexual assault counselor as defined in Evidence Code 
1037.1 or 1035.2, licensed medical professional or health care provider, victim advocate, or 
counselor that the employee was undergoing treatment or receiving services for physical or 
mental injuries or abuse resulting in victimization from the crime or abuse 

 

4. Any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that the crime or abuse occurred, 
including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee or by an individual acting 
on the employee's behalf certifying that the absence is for a purpose authorized under Labor 
Code 230 or 230.1 

 
The district shall maintain the confidentiality of such an employee to the extent authorized by law. 

(Labor Code 230, 230.1) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform employees of theirthe rights provided employees pursuant 

to Labor Code 230 and 230.1 using a form developed by the Labor Commissioner or a substantially 

similar form developed by the district. Such information shall be provided to new employees upon hire 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230, as amended by AB 2992, the following certification may 

include documentation from a victim advocate (defined as an individual, whether paid or serving as a 

volunteer, who provides services to victims under the auspices or supervision of an agency or 

organization that has a documented record of providing services to victims, a court, or a law 

enforcement or prosecution agency) or any other form of documentation that reasonably verifies that 

the crime or abuse occurred, including, but not limited to, a written statement signed by the employee 

or by an individual acting on the employee's behalf. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.1, districts with 25 or more employees are required to notify 

theirdistrict employees of theiremployee rights under Labor Code 230 and 230.1. The district may use 

a form developed by the Labor Commissioner for this purpose, when available on the web site of the 

Department of Industrial Relations, or may develop its own form that is substantially similar in content 

and clarity to the Labor Commissioner's form. As amended by AB 2992, Labor Code 230.1 requires the 

Labor Commissioner to revise the form by January 1, 2022. Until that form is revised, the district should 

update its form to reflect current law. 

Page 145 of 459



and to other employees upon request. (Labor Code 230.1) 

 
Personal Leave for Child-Related Activities 

 

 

Any employee who is a parent/guardian of one or more children of an age to attend any of grades K-12 

or a program offered by a licensed child care provider may use up to 40 hours of personal leave, vacation, 

or compensatory time off each school year in order to: (Labor Code 230.8) 

 
1. Find, enroll, or reenroll a child in a school or with a licensed child care provider or to participate in 

activities of the school or child care provider, provided the employee gives reasonable advance 
notice of the absence. Time off for this purpose shall not exceed eight hours in any calendar 
month. 

 

2.  Address a school or child care emergency, provided the employee gives notice. An emergency 
exists when the child cannot remain in school or with a child care provider due to one of the 
following circumstances: 

 

a. A request by the school or child care provider that the child be picked up 
 

b. An attendance policy, excluding planned holidays, that prohibits the child from attending 
or requires that the child be picked up from the school or child care provider 

 

c. Behavioral or discipline problems 
 

d. Closure or unexpected unavailability of the school or child care provider, excluding 
planned holidays 

 

e. A natural disaster, including, but not limited to, fire, earthquake, or flood 

 
 

For purposes of this leave, parent/guardian includes a parent, guardian, stepparent, foster parent, 

grandparent, or person who stands in loco parentis to a child. (Labor Code 230.8) 
 

 

In lieu of using vacation, personal leave, or compensatory time off, eligible employees may take unpaid 

leave for this purpose. 

 
If two or more parents/guardians of a child are employed at the same work site, this leave shall be 

allowed for the parent/guardian who first gives notice to the district. Simultaneous absence by another 

parent/guardian of the child may be granted by the Superintendent or designee. (Labor Code 230.8) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, the following section applies to any district employing 25 

or more employees at the same location. A district with fewer than 25 employees at the same location 

may use or delete this section at its discretion. 

 
Pursuant to Labor Code 230.8, an employee who is discharged, threatened with discharge, demoted, 

suspended, or otherwise discriminated against for using the leave is entitled to reinstatement and 

reimbursement for lost wages and benefits, and an employer who willfully refuses to rehire, promote, or 

otherwise reinstate such an employee is subject to a civil penalty equal to three times the amount of the 

lost wages and benefits. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.8 provides that the employee may use time off without pay to the extent 

the district makes it available. The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district 

practice. 

Page 146 of 459



Upon request by the Superintendent or designee, the employee shall provide documentation from the 

school or licensed child care provider that the employee engaged in permitted child-related activities on a 

specific date and at a particular time. (Labor Code 230.8) 

 
Service on Education Boards and Committees 

 
Upon request, a certificated employee shall be granted up to 20 school days of paid leave per school year 

for service performed within the state on any education board, commission, committee, or group 

authorized by Education Code 44987.3 provided that all of the following conditions are met: (Education 

Code 44987.3) 

 
1. The service is performed within the state. 

 

2. The board, commission, organization, or group informs the district in writing of the service. 
 

3. The board, commission, organization, or group agrees, prior to the service, to reimburse the 
district, upon the district's request, for compensation paid to the employee's substitute and for 
actual related administrative costs. 

 
Employee Organization Activities 

 

 

Upon request, any certificated or classified employee shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of 

compensation, to serve as an elected officer of a district employee organization or any statewide or 

national employee organization with which the employee organization is affiliated. Such leave shall be in 

addition to any other leave to which the employee may be entitled by other laws or a memorandum of 

understanding or collective bargaining agreement. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 
 

The leave shall include, but is not limited to, absence for purposes of attending periodic, stated, special, or 

regular meetings of the body of the organization. on which the employee serves as an officer. 

(Education Code 44987, 45210) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be deleted by any district whose collective bargaining 

agreements expressly provide for a paid leave of absence for participation in the activities described in 

this section. 

 
Education Code 44987 and 45210 provide that any certificated andor classified employeesemployee 

may take time off without loss of compensation to serve as an elected officersofficer of theirany local, 

statewide, or national employee organization of which the employee is a member. Following the 

district's payment to the employee for the leave of absence, the employee organization must reimburse 

the district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to the 

employee. This leave of absence is in addition to the release time granted to representatives of an 

employee organization pursuant to Government Code 3543.1. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 44987 and 45210, as amended by SB 294 (Ch. 539, Statutes of 2021), an 

employee’s leave of absence to serve as an elected officer of an employee organization is additional to 

any other leave available for the employee’s use by law or in agreement with the district. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 45210 requires districts to grant a paid leave of absence to a reasonable 

number of classified employees serving as unelected members of the employee organization or a 

statewide or national public employee organization when the employee attends "important 

organizational activities authorized by the public employee organization." Compensation must include 

Page 147 of 459



 
 

Upon request of an employee organization in the district or its state or national affiliate, a reasonable 

number of unelected classified employees shall be granted a leave of absence without loss of 

compensation for the purpose of attending important organizational activities authorized by the 

employee organization. The employee organization shall provide reasonable notification to the 

Superintendent or designee when requesting a leave of absence for employees for this purpose. 

(Education Code 45210) 

 
When leave is granted for any of the above purposes, the employee organization shall reimburse the 

district within 10 days after receiving the district's certification of payment of compensation to the 

employee. (Education Code 44987, 45210) 

 
Religious Leave 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee may grant an employee up to three days of leave per year for religious 

purposes, provided that the leave is requested in advance and that it does not cause additional district 

expenditures, the neglect of assigned duties, or any other unreasonable hardship on the district. 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall deduct the cost of hiring a substitute, when required, from the 

wages of the employee who takes religious leave. 

 
No employee shall be discriminated against for using this leave or any additional days of unpaid leave 

granted for religious observances at the discretion of the Superintendent or designee. 

 
Spouse on Leave from Military Deployment 

 

 

An employee who works an average of 20 hours or more per week and whose spouse is a member of the 

United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or reserves may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave during a 

period that the employee's spouse is on leave from deployment during a military conflict, as defined in 

the required retirement fund contributions. The employee will continue to earn full service credit during 

the leave and must pay member contributions as specified. The maximum amount of service credit an 

employee may earn cannot exceed 12 years. Education Code 45210 also requires that an employee 

organization provide reasonable notification to the district when requesting a leave of absence without 

loss of compensation for an employee. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by any district that chooses to grant religious 

leave and may be revised to reflect district practice. A district that does not grant such leave should 

delete this section. However, the district should consult CSBA District and County Office of Education 

Legal Services or the district’s legal counsel before denying a request for religious leave since the 

Constitution requires districts to provide "reasonable accommodation" to employee religious practices. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph reflects the California Supreme Court's interpretation of 

Article 1, Section 8 of the California Constitution as stated in Rankin v. Commission on Professional 

Competence. 

CSBA NOTE: Military and Veterans Code 395.10 requires any district with 25 or more employees to 

allow up to 10 days of unpaid leave to an employee whose spouse is on leave from military deployment. 

A district with fewer than 25 employees may use the following section at its discretion. In addition, 29 

USC 2612 authorizes an employee to take up to 26 work weeks of unpaid military caregiver leave or up 

to 12 weeks of "exigency" leave during a single 12-month period, as determined by the district; see AR 

4161.8/4261.8/4361.8 - Family Care and Medical Leave. 

Page 148 of 459



Military and Veterans Code 395.10.  (Military and Veterans Code 395.10) 

 
Within two business days of receiving official notice that the employee's spouse will be on leave from 

deployment, the employee shall provide the Superintendent or designee with notice of the intention to 

take the leave. The employee shall submit written documentation certifying that the employee's spouse 

will be on leave from deployment during the time that the leave is requested. (Military and Veterans 

Code 395.10) 

 
Leave for Emergency Duty 

 

 

An employee may take time off to perform emergency duty as a volunteer firefighter, a reserve peace 

officer, or emergency rescue personnel. (Labor Code 230.3) 
 

 

Any employee who performs duty as a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue 

personnel shall be permitted to take temporary leaves of absence, not to exceed an aggregate total of 14 

days per calendar year, for the purpose of engaging in fire, law enforcement, or emergency rescue 

training. (Labor Code 230.4) 

 
Civil Air Patrol Leave 

 

 

An employee may take up to 10 days of unpaid leave per calendar year, beyond any leave otherwise 

available to the employee, to respond to an emergency operational mission of the California Civil Air 

Patrol, provided that the employee has been employed by the district for at least a 90-day period 

immediately preceding the leave. Such leaves shall not exceed three days for a single mission, unless an 

extension is granted by the governmental entity authorizing the mission and is approved by the 

Superintendent or designee. (Labor Code 1501, 1503) 

 
The employee shall give the district as much advance notice as possible of the intended dates of the 

leave. The Superintendent or designee may require certification from the proper Civil Air Patrol authority 

to verify the eligibility of the employee for the leave and may deny the leave if the employee fails to 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 230.3 prohibits a district from discharging or discriminating against an 

employee who takes time off to perform emergency duty as specified below. Labor Code 230.3 defines 

emergency rescue personnel as a member of a federal, state, local, or private fire department or agency, 

as well as a sheriff or police department. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 230.4, a district with 50 or more employees must grant an 

employee who is a volunteer firefighter, reserve peace officer, or emergency rescue personnel a leave of 

absence for up to 14 days per calendar year for training purposes. A district with fewer than 50 

employees may use or delete this paragraph at its discretion. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 1500-1507 require a district with more than 15 employees to provide at least 

10 days of unpaid leave per year, beyond any leave otherwise available to employees, to employees who 

volunteer with the Civil Air Patrol and are directed to respond to an emergency operational mission, as 

provided below. Labor Code 1503 specifies that a district may not require an employee to first exhaust 

all accrued vacation, personal, sick, or any other available leave in order to use Civil Air Patrol leave. 

 
If the district chooses to offer more than 10 days of such leave per year or to provide paid leave, it 

should modify the following paragraph accordingly. A district with 15 or fewer employees may use or 

delete this section at its discretion. 

Page 149 of 459



provide the required certification. (Labor Code 1503) 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

CA Constitution Article 1, Section 8 Religious discrimination 

Ed. Code 44036-44037 Leaves of absence for judicial and official appearances 

Ed. Code 44963 Power to grant leaves of absence (; certificated) 

Ed. Code 44981 Leave of absence for personal necessity 

Ed. Code 44985 Leave of absence due to death in immediate family (; 

certificated) 

Ed. Code 44987 Service as officer of employee organization (; certificated) 

Ed. codeCode 44987.3 Leave of absence to serve on certain boards, commissions, 

etc. 

Ed. Code 45190 Leaves of absence and vacations (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45194 Bereavement leave of absence (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45198 Effect of provisions authorizing leaves of absence 

Ed. Code 45207 Personal necessity (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45210 Service as officer of employee organization (; classified) 

Ed. Code 45240-45320 Merit system 

Evid. Code 1035.2 Sex assault counselor; definition 

Evid. Code 1037.1 Domestic violence counselor; definition 

Fam. Code 297-297.5 Rights, protections, benefits under the law; registered 

domestic partners 

Gov. Code 12945.1-12945.2 California Family Rights Act 

Gov. Code 3543.1 Rights of employee organizations 

Lab. Code 1500-1507 Civil Air Patrol leave 

Lab. Code 230-230.2 Leaves for victims of domestic violence, sexual assault or 

specified felonies 

Lab. Code 230.3 Leave for emergency personnel 

Lab. Code 230.4 Leave for volunteer firefighters 

Lab. Code 230.8 Time off to visit child's school 

Page 150 of 459



Lab. Code 233 Illness of child, parent, spouse or domestic partner 

Lab. Code 234 Absence control policy 

Lab. Code 246.5 Paid sick days,; purposes for use 

M&V Code 395.10 Leave when spouse on leave from military deployment 

Pen. Code 1192.7 Plea bargaining limitation 

Pen. Code 667.5 Prior prison terms,; enhancement of prison terms 

Federal Description 

29 USC 2601-2654 Family Care and Medical Leave Act 

42 USC 2000d-2000d-7 Title VI, Civil Rights Act of 1964 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision Rankin v. Commission on Professional Competence, (1988) 

24 Cal.3d 167 

Public Employment Relations Board 

Decision 

Berkeley Council of Classified Employees v. Berkeley Unified 

School District, (2008) PERB Decision No. 1954 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations 

Website California Federation of Teachers 

Website California Public Employment Relations Board 

Website California School Employees Association 

Website California Teachers Association 

 

 

Code Description 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4140 Bargaining Units 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4141.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4143 Negotiations/Consultation 

4158 Employee Security 

4158 Employee Security 

4161 Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 151 of 459



4161 Leaves 

4161.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4161.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4240 Bargaining Units 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4241.6 Concerted Action/Work Stoppage 

4243 Negotiations/Consultation 

4258 Employee Security 

4258 Employee Security 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4261.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4340 Bargaining Units 

4358 Employee Security 

4358 Employee Security 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4361.8 Family Care And Medical Leave 

5148 Child Care And Development 

5148 Child Care And Development 

Page 152 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 4361.5: Military Leave Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2004 | Last Revised Date: 0709/01/20062022 | Last Revie 

0709/01/20062022 

wed Date: 

 
CSBA NOTE: Employment and re-employment rights of employees who take military leave of absence 

are protected by the federal Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 

38 USC 4301-4334. The district may not refuse to grant military leave, regardless of the length of 

employment or whether the employee volunteers for military service or is called up involuntarily. 

 
The USERRA applies to all employees, except for personsindividuals employed for a brief, nonrecurrent 

period for which there was no reasonable expectation that such employment would continue 

indefinitely or for a significant period. It appears that the statute includes temporary certificated and 

short-term classified employees, unless the employee meets the above-stated exception. When 

determining whether a temporary or short-term employee is covered, districts are advised to consult 

legal counsel. 
 

20 CFR 1002.149-1002.150 and 1002.210-1002.213 and guidelines issued by the Veterans'Veterans’ 

Employment and Training Service (VETS) of the U.S. Department of Labor, “A Non-Technical Resource 

Guide to the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act,,” clarify that federal law 

generally protects seniority-based benefits (i.e., a right or benefit that is determined by or that accrues 

with length of service) that would have accrued "with reasonable certainty" had the employee remained 

continuously employed. Non-seniority-based benefits are generally protected to the same extent that 

those benefits are preserved during comparable kinds of leave under local policies or state law. The 

district should consult legal counsel regarding any questions about entitlements to benefits. 

 
Note that in cases where state law provides greater protections to employees, state law supersedes 

federal law. In addition, the district should consult its collective bargaining agreements to determine if 

the bargaining agreements provide greater military leave benefits than provided by law and should 

modify or delete the following optional regulation accordingly. 
 

 

Military leave shall be granted in accordance with applicable state and federal law to employees 

performing military duties on a voluntary or involuntary basis in a uniformed service, including active 

duty, active duty for training, initial active duty for training, inactive duty training, full-time National 

Guard duty, examination to determine fitness for duty, and performance of funeral honors duty. 

(Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395, 395.01, 395.02, 395.05, 395.1, 395.2, 395.9; 

38 USC 4301, 4303, 4316) 

 
An Any district employee who needs to be absent from the district service to fulfill his/her military 

service shall provide advance written or verbal notice to the Superintendent or designee, unless the 

giving of such notice is precluded by military necessity or is otherwise impossible or unreasonable. (38 

USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.85, 1002.86) 

 
Salary/Compensation 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Military and Veterans Code 395.01-395.05, employees on military leave are 

entitled to receive their salary or compensation for a maximum of 30 calendar days for any one leave or 

during one fiscal year. However, Military and Veterans Code 395.03 allows the Governing Board to 

extend compensation beyond the maximum of 30 calendar days for leaves taken pursuant to itemsItems 

#1, 2, and 4 below through a Board resolution or a Memorandum of Understanding with an employee 

organization. In addition, Education Code 44018 authorizes, but does not require, the Board to provide Page 153 of 459



 
 

An employeeThe district shall receive his/herpay an employee’s salary or compensation for the first 30 

days of any one absence for military leave or during one fiscal year, under any of the following conditions: 

 
1. Active Military Training or Exercises: The employee is granted a temporary military leave of 

absence to engage in ordered military duty for purposes of active military training, encampment, 
naval cruises, special exercises, or like activity as a member of the reserve corps or force of the 
United States Armed Forces, National Guard, or Naval Militia, provided that: (Military and 
Veterans Code 389, 395, 395.01) 

 

a. He/sheThe employee has been employed by the district for at least one year immediately 
prior to the day the military leave begins. 

 

b. The ordered duty does not exceed 180 days, including time involved in going to and 
returning from such duty. 

 

2. Active Military Duty: The employee is on military leave, other than a temporary military leave, to 
engage in active military duty as a member of the reserve corps or force of the United States 
Armed Forces, the National Guard, or the Naval Militia, provided that he/shethe employee has 
been employed by the district for at least one year immediately prior to the day the military leave 
begins. (Military and Veterans Code 389, 395.02) 

 

3. War or Other Emergency: The employee, however long employed by the district, is a member of 
the National Guard who is engaged in military or naval duty during a state of extreme emergency 
as declared by the Governor, or during such time as the National Guard may be on active duty in 
situations described in Military and Veterans Code 146, including travel time to and from such 
duty. (Military and Veterans Code 395.05) 

 

 

4. Inactive Duty Training: The employee is a member of the reserve corps or force of the United 
States Armed Forces, National Guard, or Naval Militia who is engaged in temporary inactive duty 
training, provided that he/shethe employee has been employed by the district for at least one 
year immediately prior to the day the military leave begins and the ordered duty does not exceed 
180 days, including time involved in going to and returning from such duty. 

 

 

In determining the length of district employment when necessary to determine eligibility for 

compensation for military leave, all recognized military service performed during and prior to district 

an employee who is on active military duty as a member of the California National Guard or a U.S. 

Military Reserve organization, for up to 180 days, the difference between the amount of the military pay 

and allowances and the employee's salary. 

 
The following paragraph should be revised to reflect decisions of the Board, if any, to extend 

compensation beyond 30 days' pay. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Military and Veterans Code 395 and 395.01, the district has discretion as to 

whether or not to compensate employees are compensated for military leave for periods of inactive 

duty training. Optional itemItem #4 is for use by districts that choose to provide compensation to such 

employees. 

CSBA NOTE: When calculating whether the employee has been employed by the district for a minimum 

of one year for purposes of determining the employee's right to a paid military leave of absence 

pursuant to itemsItems #1, 2, and 4 above, anthe Attorney General opinion (opined in 77 

Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 209 (1994)) states), that all prior military service is to be counted as public agency 

service (i.e., the military service is "tacked on" to the amount of time employed in the district), even 

when a period of time lapses between the military service and district employment. However, as opined 

by the Attorney General in 18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951), an employee may not "tack on" prior 

employment in another district (18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951)).. If a question arises as to whether 

prior service should be counted, district legal counsel should be consulted. 

Page 154 of 459



employment shall be included. 

 
For classified employees, 30 days' compensation shall be one month's salary. For certificated employees, 

30 days' compensation shall be one-tenth of the employee's annual salary. (Education Code 45059) 
 

Certificated employees shall not be entitled to compensation during non-teaching, non-paying months of 

the year. 
 

During the period of military leave, an employee may, upon his/her own request, to use any vacation or 

similar paid leave accrued before the commencement of the military leave. in order to continue receiving 

compensation for the employee’s employment with the district. The district shall not require the 

employee to use such leave. (38 USC 4316; 20 CFR 1002.153) 

 
Benefits 

 
An employee may elect to continue his/her health plan coverage during the military leave. The maximum 

period of coverage for the employee and his/herany dependents shall be either 24 months from the 

beginning of the leave or until the day after the employee fails to apply for or return to employment, 

whichever is less. (38 USC 4317; 20 CFR 1002.164) 

 
An employee on military leave may be required to pay the employee cost, if any, of any funded benefit to 

the extent that other employees on leave are so required. (38 USC 4316) 

 
An employee absent for 30 days or fewer shall not be required to pay more than the employee share for 

such coverage. An employee absent for 31 days or more may be required to pay not more than 102 

percent of the full premium under the plan. (38 USC 4317; 20 CFR 1002.166) 
 

 

 

Any employee called into active military duty as a member of the California National Guard or a United 

States Military Reserve organization shall receive, for up to 180 days, the difference between the amount 

of his/herthe employee’s military pay and the amount the employee would have received from the 

district and all benefits that the employee would have received if he/she had the employee not been 

called to active military duty, unless the benefits are prohibited or limited by vendor contracts. 

(Education Code 44018) 
 

Vacation and Sick Leave Accrual 

 
An employee on temporary military leave under the conditions described in item #1 Active Military 

Training or Exercises,Item #1 in the section entitled "Salary/Compensation" above, shall continue to 

accrue the same vacation, sick leave, and holiday privileges to which he/shethe employee would 

otherwise be entitled if not absent. (Military and Veterans Code 395) 

 
An employee on military leave who is serving in active duty in time of war, national emergency, or United 

Nations military or police operation shall not accrue sick leave or vacation leave during the period of such 

leave. (Military and Veterans Code 395.1) 

 
However, an employee who is a National Guard member on active duty as described in item #3 War or 

CSBA NOTE: An Attorney General opinion (19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (1952)) states that certificated 

employees ordered to perform military service are not entitled to compensation during non-teaching, 

non-paying months of the year. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by any district whose Board has taken action to 

extend benefits tofor up to 180 days to employees who are on active military duty as members of the 

California National Guard or a U.S. Military Reserve organization, as authorized, but not required, by 

Education Code 44018. 

Page 155 of 459



Other Emergency,Item #3 in the section entitled "Salary/Compensation" above, shall not suffer any loss 

or diminution of vacation or holiday privileges because of his/herthe employee’s leave of absence. 

(Military and Veterans Code 395.05) 

 
Pension Plan Service Credit 

 

 

Pension plan service credit and vesting shall continue during an employee's military leave as though no 

break in service had occurred. Payment of employer and employee contributions shall be made in 

accordance with law for members of the State Teachers' Retirement System or Public Employees' 

Retirement System. (Education Code 22850-22856; Government Code 20990-21013) 

 
Employment Status 

 

 

Absence for military leave shall not affect the classification of any certificated employee. In the case of a 

certificated probationary employee, the period of such absence shall not count as part of the service 

required to obtain permanent status, but shall not be construed as a break in the continuity of service for 

any purpose. (Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395; 20 CFR 1002.149) 
 

Reinstatement Rights 

 
At the conclusion of the military duty, an employee shall be promptly reinstated in the position held at 

the beginning of the leave, at the salary to which he/shethe employee would otherwise have been 

entitled, except under the conditions noted below. in this section. (Education Code 44800; Military and 

Veterans Code 395, 395.2; 38 USC 4304, 4313; 20 CFR 1002.180-1002.181) 

 
Any employee who performs active military duty in time of war, national emergency, or United Nations 

military or police operation has a right to return to his/herthe position held prior to the military service, 

during terminal leave prior to the employee’s discharge, separation, or release from the armed forces, or 

within six months of anthe employee’s release, separation, honorable discharge, or placement on inactive 

duty. Reinstatement rights shall not be extended to any such employee who fails to return within 12 

months after the first date upon which he/shethe employee could terminate or could cause to behave 

terminated his/her active service. (Education Code 44800; Military and Veterans Code 395.1) 
 

When an employee has been on military leave for reasons other than war or national emergency, the time 

frame for seeking reinstatement shall depend on the length of military service as follows: (38 USC 4312; 

20 CFR 1002.115, 1002.118) 

 
1. For a leave of 30 days or fewer, the employee shall report for duty no later than the beginning of 

the first full work day following the completion of the military service, provided the employee has 
plus a period of eight hours toof rest following a period for safe transportation to his/herthe 
employee’s residence. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Government Code 20997, employers that participate in the California Public 

Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) are required to inform employees who are CalPERS members, 

of the rights of returning military veterans to receive employer-paid service credits for the period of 

active military service. 

CSBA NOTE: Employees on military leave are deemed to be on furlough or leave of absence, pursuant to 

20 CFR 1002.149 and, during the period of military leave, maintain non-seniority rights and benefits 

generally provided by the employer to other employees with similar seniority, status, and pay who are on 

furlough or leave of absence. However, pursuant to Education Code 44800 and Military and Veterans 

Code 395, absence due to military leave may not be counted in satisfaction of an uncompleted 

probationary period. 

Page 156 of 459

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=7777cc63dc1f56b32d52d2a4cf58ef4e&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=12fa75ce601c353c6fcc0bbf01d706d5&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=265410d47c2ff88d12bfcc46b5eb5d78&term_occur=999&term_src=Title%3A20%3AChapter%3AIX%3APart%3A1002%3ASubpart%3AD%3ASubjgrp%3A151%3A1002.149


2. For a leave of 31-180 days, the employee shall submit a written or verbal application for 
reinstatement not later than 14 days after the completion of military service. 

 

3. For a leave of more than 180 days, the employee shall submit a written or verbal application for 
reinstatement within 90 days after the completion of military service. 

 

In cases where Where an employee’s reporting or application for reinstatement within the periods 

specified in itemsItems #1 and #2 above is impossible or unreasonable through no fault of the employee, 

he/shethe report or application shall reportbe made as soon as possible after the expiration of the period. 

In the case of Items #2 and #3 where an application is required, the employee’s application may be made 

orally or in writing and need not follow any particular format. (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.115, 

1002.117, 1002.118) 
 

An employee who is hospitalized for, or convalescing from, an illness or injury incurred in or aggravated 

during the performance of military service shall report for duty or submit an application for reinstatement 

at the end of the period that is necessary to recover from such illness or injury, but no more than two 

years after the completion of military service unless circumstances beyond the employee's control make 

reporting within the two-year period impossible or unreasonable. (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.116) 

 
Upon receiving an application for reinstatement, the Superintendent or designee shall reinstate the 

employee as soon as practicable under the circumstances of his/herthe case, but within a time period not 

to exceed two weeks, absent unusual circumstances. (20 CFR 1002.181) 

 
If the employee's previous position has been abolished, he/shethe district shall be reinstatedreinstate the 

employee in a position of like seniority, status, and pay, if such position exists, or to a comparable vacant 

position for which he/shethe employee is qualified. (Military and Veterans Code 395, 395.1; 38 USC 

4313; 20 CFR 1002.192) 

 
An employee failingwho fails to report or apply for reinstatement within the appropriate period does not 

automatically forfeit his/her rights,the entitlement to reinstatement but shall be subject to the 

Board'sdistrict’s rules and/or practices governing unexcused absences. (38 USC 4312) 
 

The Superintendent or designee may elect not to reinstate an employee following military leave if any of 

the following conditions exists: 

 
1. The district's circumstances have so changed as to make such re-employment impossible or 

unreasonable, such as a reduction in force that would have included the employee. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

2. The accommodation, training, or effort described in 38 USC 4313(a)(3), (a)(4), or (b)(2)(B) would 
impose an undue hardship on the district as defined in 20 CFR 1002.5 or 1002.198. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

3. The employee's position was for a brief, nonrecurrent period and there was no reasonable 
expectation that such employment will continue indefinitely or for a significant period. (38 USC 
4312; 20 CFR 1002.139) 

 

4. The employee's cumulative length of absence and length of all previous military leave while 
employed with the district exceeds five years, excluding those training and service obligations 
specified in 38 USC 4312(c). (38 USC 4312; 20 CFR 1002.99-1002.103) 

 

5. The employee was separated from military service with a disqualifying discharge or under other 
than honorable conditions. (Military and Veterans Code 395.1; 20 USC 4304, 4312; 20 CFR 
1002.134-1002.138) 

 
Notices 

Page 157 of 459



 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide employees a notice of the rights, benefits, and obligations 

of employees granted military leave and of the district under the Uniformed Services Employment and 

Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), 38 USC 4301-4334. (38 USC 4334) 

 

 

This requirement may be met by posting the notice where the district customarily places notices for 

employees. (38 USC 4334) 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 22850-22856 Pension benefits,; STRS members on military leave 

Ed. Code 44018 Compensation for employees on active military duty 

Ed. Code 44800 Effect of active military service on status of employees 

Ed. Code 45059 Employee ordered to active military/naval duty,; computation 

of salary 

Gov. Code 18540 Definition of armed forces 

Gov. Code 18540.3 Recognized military service 

Gov. Code 20990-21013 Pension benefits,; PERS members on military leave 

M&V Code 146 Events justifying calling of militia into active service 

M&V Code 389 Definitions; temporary military leave 

M&V Code 394 Nondiscrimination based on military service 

M&V Code 395-395.9 Military leave 

Federal Description 

20 CFR 1002.1-1002.314 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994 

38 USC 4301-4334 Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994 

Management Resources Description 

Attorney General Opinion 18 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 178 (1951) 

CSBA NOTE: 38 USC 4334 requires employers to post a notice of rights and benefits as provided below. 

The U.S. Secretary of Labor has provided a sample notice listing these rights which is available on the 

Department of Labor's USERRA web site. 

CSBA NOTE: 38 USC 4334 states that the notice may be placed where the employerdistrict customarily 

places employee notices, as provided below. However, the VETS' , “A Non-Technical Resource Guide to 

the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA)),” clarifies that an 

employer may provide the notice in an alternative manner as long as the full text of the notice is 

provided. Examples include handing the notice to employees, mailing it, or distributing it via email. The 

district may revise the following paragraph to reflect district practice. 

Page 158 of 459



Attorney General Opinion 19 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 132 (1952) 

Attorney General Opinion 63 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 924 (1978) 

Attorney General Opinion 69 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 290 (1986) 

Attorney General Opinion 77 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 56 (1994) 

Court Decision Bowers v. San Buenaventura (1977) 75 Cal. App.3d 65 

Court Decision Wright v. City of Santa Clara (1989) 213 Cal. App.3d 1503 

National School Boards Association 

Publication 

The Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment 

Rights Act (USERRA), NSBA Federal File: Guidance on 

Federal School Law, 2003 

U.S. Department of Labor Publication A Non-Technical Resource Guide to the Uniformed Services 

Employment and Reemployment Rights Act (USERRA), rev. 

April 2005 

Website National Committee for Employer Support of the Guard and 

Reserve 

Website U.S. Department of Labor, USERRA 

Website National School Boards Association 

 

 

Code Description 

2121 Superintendent's Contract 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4030 Nondiscrimination In Employment 

4032 Reasonable Accommodation 

4112.9 Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4112.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4116 Probationary/Permanent Status 

4161 Leaves 

4161 Leaves 

4161.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4212.9 Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4212.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4217.3 Layoff/Rehire 

4261 Leaves 

4261 Leaves 

Cross References 

Page 159 of 459



4261.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

4312.9 Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E(1) Employee Notifications 

4312.9-E PDF(1) Employee Notifications 

4361 Leaves 

4361 Leaves 

4361.1 Personal Illness/Injury Leave 

Page 160 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 12/01/2017 | Last Revised Date: 09/01/20212022 | Last Review 

09/01/20212022 

ed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board desires to prepare all students to successfully complete the high school course of 

study and obtain a diploma that represents their educational achievement and increases their 

opportunities for postsecondary education and employment. 
 

District students shall complete graduation course requirements as specified in Education Code 51225.3 

and those adopted by the Board, except for students who are exempted as provided in “Exemptions from 

District-Adopted Graduation Requirements,” below. Students who are exempted from district-adopted 

graduation requirements shall be eligible to participate in any graduation ceremony and school activity 

related to graduation in which other students are eligible to participate. 
 

Course Requirements 
 

 

To obtain a high school diploma, students shall complete the following courses in grades 9-12, with each 

course being one year unless otherwise specified: 

 
1. 1. Three courses in English (Education Code 51225.3) 

 
 

2. 2. Two courses in mathematics (Education Code 51225.3) 
 

Students shall complete at least one mathematics course that meets the state academic content 
standards for Algebra I or Mathematics I. Students may complete such coursework prior to grade 
9 provided that they also complete two mathematics courses in grades 9-12. (Education Code 
51224.5) 

 

 

3. Students may be awarded up to one mathematics course credit for successful Successful 
completion of an approved computer science course that is classified as a "category cC" course 
based on the "a-g" courseUniversity of California (UC) and California State University (CSU) "A-G" 
admission requirements for college admission, which mayshall be counted toward the satisfaction 
of additional graduation requirements in mathematics. (Education Code 51225.3, 51225.35) 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain grades 9-12. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 specifies the courses that a student is required to complete in 

order to graduate from high school as listed in itemsItems #1-67 below. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 66204, each district that maintains a high school is also required to develop 

a process for submitting courses to the University of California to ensure(UC) to review and certify that 

they align with the "a-gA-G" course requirements for college admission. 

CSBA NOTE:CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for districts that require more than two 

mathematics courses for high school graduation. Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3 and 51225.35, a 

district that requires more than two courses in mathematics may award up to one mathematics course 

credit for an approved computer science course, as defined. Any such course must have been approved 

by the University of CaliforniaUC as a "category cC" (mathematics) course in the university's "a-gA-G" 

course admission criteria; see BP 6143 - Courses of Study. 

Page 161 of 459



4. 3. Two courses in science, including biological and physical sciences (Education Code 
51225.3) 

 

5. 4. Three courses in social studies, including United States (U.S.) history and geography; world 
history, culture, and geography; a one-semester course in American government and civics; and a 
one-semester course in economics (Education Code 51225.3) 

 

 

6. 5. One course in visual or performing arts, or world language, or career technical education 
(CTE). . For purposes of this requirement, a course in American Sign Language shall be deemed a 
course in world language. (Education Code 51225.3) 

 

To be counted towards meeting graduation requirements, 
 

If a CTEstudent completed a career technical education course shall be alignedprior to July 1, 
2022 that met the CTE model curriculum standards and framework adopted by the State 
Boardrequirements of Education. Code 51225.3, such course will fulfill the visual or performing 
arts or world language requirement. (Education Code 51225.3) 

 
 

7. 6. Two courses in physical education, unless the student has been otherwise exempted 
pursuant to other sections of the Education Code (Education Code 51225.3) 

 

 

7. Beginning with the 2029-30 school year, a one-semester course in ethnic studies (Education 
Code 51225.3) 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101 (Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), no longer 

authorizes the Board to include a course in career technical education (CTE) to serve as an alternative to 

the visual or performing arts or world language course requirement for high school graduation. If the 

Board chooses to do so, it must, atHowever, if a regular Board meeting prior to allowingstudent 

completed a CTE course as an alternative, notify parents/guardians, students, teachers, and the public of 

information specified in prior to July 1, 2022 that met the requirements of Education Code 51225.3. In 

addition, the information must be included in the district's annual notification to parents/guardians 

pursuant to Education Code 48980; see the accompanying administrative regulation. Districts that do 

not allow this alternative, such course will fulfill the visual or performing arts or world language 

graduation requirement should delete references to CTE in item #5 below. 

 
The CTE course may be offered through different means, including a district-operated program, regional 

occupational center or program, or county office of education program pursuant to a joint powers 

agreement. See BP/AR 6178 - Career Technical Education and BP 6178.2 - Regional Occupational 

Center/Program for program details pertaining to CTE.. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101, beginning with the 2029- 

30 school year, a student is required to complete a one-semester course in ethnic studies, as specified, 

in order to graduate from high school. At its discretion, a district may require a full-year course. Districts 

that require a full-year course should revise Item #7 accordingly. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, the Governing Board may prescribe additional 
coursework (e.g., health education or service learning) or other requirements (e.g., portfolios or senior 
projects) that district students must complete in order to obtain a diploma. If the Board does so, such 
courses or projects should be listed below. 

 

If the district requires a course in health education for graduation, Education Code 51225.36 requires 
that the district include instruction in sexual harassment and violence, including, but not limited to, 
information on the affirmative consent standard pursuant to Education Code 67386. See BP 6142.1 - 
Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction. In addition, pursuant to Education Code 51225.6, a 
district that requires a course in health education for graduation is required to include instruction in Page 162 of 459



 
 

8.  
 

 

 

 

 

8.  
 

 

 

 

 

Because the prescribed course of study may not accommodate the needs of some students, the Board 

shall provide alternative means for the completion of prescribed courses in accordance with law. 

 
Exemptions from District-Adopted Graduation Requirements 

 

compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). See AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

 

Pursuant to Education Code 51230, if the district requires the completion of community service hours 
for high school graduation, the district may provide a student with credit towards that requirement for 
completion of a course in community emergency response training. However, if the district chooses to 
offer credit for the completion of such a course, the Board is still obligated to notify parents/guardians, 
students, and the public of information specified in Education Code 51225.3. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, theCSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 requires 

the Board to adopt alternative means for students to complete the prescribed course of study. See 

BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation. Board may prescribe additional coursework 

(e.g., health education or service learning) or other requirements (e.g., portfolios or senior projects) that 

district students must complete in order to obtain a diploma. If the Board does so, such courses or 

projects should be listed below. 

 
If the district requires a course in health education for graduation, Education Code 51225.36 requires 

that the district include instruction in sexual harassment and violence, including, but not limited to, 

information on the affirmative consent standard pursuant to Education Code 67386. See BP 6142.1 - 

Sexual Health and HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction. In addition, pursuant to Education Code 51225.6, 

a district that requires a course in health education for graduation is required to include instruction in 

compression-only cardiopulmonary resuscitation. See AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 51230, if the district requires the completion of community service hours 

for high school graduation, the district may provide a student with credit towards that requirement for 

completion of a course in community emergency response training. However, if the district chooses to 

offer credit for the completion of such a course, the Board is still obligated to notify parents/guardians, 

students, teachers, and the public of information specified in Education Code 51225.3. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.3 requires the Board to adopt alternative means for students to 

complete the prescribed course of study. See BP/AR 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225.31, as added by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), 

districts are required to exempt an eligible student with disabilities from all coursework and other 

requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to the statewide course requirements specified in 

Education Code 51225.3, and award such student a high school diploma, as reflected below. Awarding a 

diploma pursuant to this exception does not change the district’s obligation to provide a free appropriate 

public education or otherwise constitute a change in placement. 

Page 163 of 459



Prior to the beginning of grade 10, the individualized education program (IEP) team for each student with 

disabilities shall determine whether the student is eligible for exemption from all coursework and other 

requirements adopted by the Board in addition to the statewide course requirements for high school 

graduation, and if so, shall notify the student’s parent/guardian of the exemption. A student with 

disabilities shall be eligible for the exemption, if the student’s IEP provides for both of the following 

requirements: (Education Code 51225.31) 
 

1. That the student take the alternate assessment aligned to alternate achievement standards in 

grade 11 as described in Education Code 60640 
 

2. That the student complete state standards aligned coursework to meet the statewide coursework 

 specified in Education Code 51225.3 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51225.1 requires the district to exempt from any district-adopted 
graduation requirements that are in addition to the state requirements specified in Education Code 
51225.3 a foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court school student, child of a military 
family, or migrant student who transfers into the district or between district high schools any time after 
completing the second year of high school, or an immigrant student who is in the third or fourth year of 
high school and is participating in a newcomer program (i.e., a program designed to meet the academic 
and transitional needs of newly arrived immigrant students that has as a primary objective the 
development of English language proficiency). This exemption does not apply if the Superintendent or 
designee makes a finding that the student is reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to 
graduate by the end of the fourth year of high school. Also see AR 6173 - Education for Homeless 
Children, AR 6173.1 - Education for Foster Youth, AR 6173.2 - Education of Children of Military 
Families, AR 6173.3 - Education for Juvenile Court School Students, and AR 6175 - Migrant Education 
Program. 

 

Pursuant to Education Code 51225.1, within 30 calendar days of the transfer ofinto a school by a 
foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court school student, child of a military family, or 
migrant student, or within 30 days newly arrived immigrant student, or of a student beginning the 
commencement of participation in a newcomer program, as applicable, the district is required to 
provide notice to thenotify any eligible student and/or the student’s parent/guardian, the person 
holding the right to make education decisions for the student, the district’s liaison for homeless 
children, and the student's social worker or probation officer, as applicable, of the availability of the 
exemption from local graduation requirements and whether the student qualifies for it. If the district 
fails to provide that notification, the student will be eligible for the exemption once notified, even if the 
notification is received after the termination of the court's jurisdiction over the foster youth or former 
juvenile court school student, after the homeless student ceases to be homeless, or after the student 
no longer meets the definition of a child of a military family, a migrant student, or a student 
participating in a newcomer program, as applicable. 

 

Education Code 51225.1 also provides that, if an exempted student completes the statewide 
coursework requirements before the end of the fourth year of high school, the district or a district 
school must not require or request that the student graduate before the end of the fourth year of high 
school. 

 

Any complaint alleging the district's failure to comply with the requirements of Education Code 
51225.1 may be filed using the district's uniform complaint procedures pursuant to 5 CCR 4600-4670. 
See BP/AR 1312.3 - Uniform Complaint Procedures. 

 

District students are required to complete graduation course requirements specified above, including the 

requirements imposed by Education Code 51225.3 and those adopted by the Board. However 
 

In addition, a foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court school student, child of a military 

family, or migrant student who transfers into the district or between district schools any time after 

completing the second year of high school, or a newly arrived immigrant student who is in the third or 

fourth year of high school and is participating in a newcomer program, shall be exempted from any 

graduation requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to statewide course requirements. Page 164 of 459



This exemption shall not apply if the Superintendent or designee makes a finding that the student is 

reasonably able to complete the requirements in time to graduate by the end of the fourth year of high 

school. 

 
Within 30 days of the transfer into a school by a foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court 

school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student, or of the 

commencement of participation in a newcomer program, as applicable, the Superintendent or designee 

shall notify any eligible student, and others as required by law, of the availability of the exemption from 

local graduation requirements and whether the student qualifies for it. (Education Code 51225.1) 

 

 

If during the 2020-21 school year a student was in the third or fourth year of high school and is not on 

track to graduate in four years, the district shall exempt the student from any local graduation 

requirements adopted by the Board that are in addition to statewide course requirements specified in 

Education Code 51225.3. (Education Code 51225) 
 

Additional Opportunities to Complete Required Coursework 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall provide a student who was enrolled in the third or fourth year of 

high school during the 2020-21 school year and is not on track to graduate in the 2020-21 or 2021-22 

school years the opportunity to complete the statewide coursework required for graduation, which may 

include, but is not limited to, completion of the coursework through a fifth year of instruction, credit 

recovery, or other opportunity to complete the required coursework. (Education Code 51225) 
 

Retroactive Diplomas 

 
Any student who completed grade 12 in the 2003-04 through 2014-15 school year and met all applicable 

graduation requirements other than the passage of the high school exit examination shall be granted a 

high school diploma. (Education Code 51413) 

 

 

In addition, the district may retroactively grant high school diplomas to former students who: (Education 

Code 48204.4, 51430, 51440) 

 
1. 1. Departed California against their will while in grade 12 and did not receive a diploma 

because the departure interrupted their education, provided that they were in good academic 
standing at the time of the departure 

 

Persons may be considered to have departed California against their will if they were in custody 
of a government agency and were transferred to another state, were subject to a lawful order 
from a court or government agency that authorized their removal from California, were subject to 
a lawful order and were permitted to depart California before being removed from California 
pursuant to the lawful order, were removed or were permitted to depart voluntarily pursuant to 
the federal Immigration and Nationality Act, or departed due to other circumstances determined 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 41, Statutes of 2021), the 

district is required to exempt a student from district graduation requirements if the student was in the 

third or fourth year of high school during the 2020-21 school year and is not on track to graduate in four 

years. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51225, as added by AB 104, the district is required to provide 

a student who was enrolled in the student's third or fourth year of high school during the 2020-21 school 

year and is not on track to graduate in the 2020-21 or 2021-22 school years the opportunity to complete 

the statewide coursework required for graduation pursuant to Education Code 51225.3, as described 

below. 

CSBA NOTE: Items #1-4 below are optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 165 of 459



by the district that are consistent with the purposes of Education Code 48204.4. 
 

In determining whether to award a diploma under these circumstances, the Superintendent or 
designee shall consider any coursework that may have been completed outside of the United 
StatesU.S. or through online or virtual courses. 

 
 

2. 2. Were interned by order of the federal government during World War II or are honorably 
discharged veterans of World War II, the Korean War, or the Vietnam War, provided that they 
were enrolled in a district high school immediately preceding the internment or military service 
and did not receive a diploma because their education was interrupted due to the internment or 
military service in those wars 

 

Deceased former students who satisfy these conditions may be granted a retroactive diploma to 
be received by their next of kin. 

 

3. Are veterans who entered the military service of the United StatesU.S. while in grade 12 and who 
had satisfactorily completed the first half of the work required for grade 12 in a district school 

 

 

 

3. 4. Were in their senior year of high school during the 2019-20 school year, were in good 
academic standing and on track to graduate at the end of the 2019-20 school year as of March 1, 
2020, and were unable to complete the statewide graduation requirements as a result of the 
COVID-19 crisis 

 
Honorary Diplomas 

 

 

The Board may grant an honorary high school diploma to: (Education Code 51225.5) 

 
1. 1. An international exchange student who has not completed the course of study ordinarily 

required for graduation and who is returning to the student's home country following the 
completion of one academic school year in the district 

 

2. 2.  A student who is terminally ill 
 
 

The honorary diploma shall be clearly distinguishable from the regular diploma of graduation awarded by 

the district. (Education Code 51225.5) 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 
Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51430, as amended by AB 1350 (Ch. 66, Statutes of 2020), 
authorizes districts to award a retroactive diploma under the circumstances described in item #4 
below. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section reflects the Board's authority to confer honorary high school 

diplomas pursuant to Education Code 51225.5 and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 166 of 459



5 CCR 1600-1651 Graduation of students from grade 12 and credit toward 

graduation 

5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 220 Prohibition of Discrimination 

Ed. Code 47612 EnrollmentAverage daily attendance in charter school 

Ed. Code 48200 Compulsory attendance 

Ed. Code 48204.4 Parents/guardians departing California against their will 

Ed. Code 48412 Certificate of proficiency 

Ed. Code 48430 Continuation education schools and classes 

Ed. Code 48645.5 Former juvenile court school students,; enrollment 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 49701 Provisions of the interstate compactInterstate Compact on 

educational opportunitiesEducational Opportunities for 

military childrenMilitary Children 

Ed. Code 51224 Skills and knowledge required for adult life 

Ed. Code 51224.5 Algebra in course of study for grades 7-12 

Ed. Code 51225 2020-21 exemption from graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.1 Exemption from district graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.2 Course credits 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.31 Exemption for students with disabilities 

Ed. Code 51225.35 Mathematics course requirements; computer science 

Ed. Code 51225.36 Instruction in sexual harassment and violence; districts that 

require health education for graduation 

Ed. Code 51225.5 Honorary diplomas; foreign exchange and terminally ill 

students 

Ed. Code 51225.6 Instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation; districts that 

require health education for graduation 

Ed. Code 51226.7 Model Curriculum in Ethnic Studies 

Ed. Code 51228 Graduation requirementsCourse of Study; offerings and 

timely opportunity 

Ed. Code 51230 Credit for community emergency response training 

Ed. Code 51240-51246 Exemptions from requirements 

Ed. Code 51250-51251 Assistance to military dependents 

Ed. Code 51410-51413 Diplomas 

Ed. Code 51420-51427 High school equivalency certificates 

Ed. Code 51430 Retroactive high school diplomas 
 

Page 167 of 459



Ed. Code 51440 Retroactive high school diplomasCredit and granting of 

diploma to veterans and members of the military service 

Ed. Code 51450-51455 Golden State Seal Merit Diploma 

Ed. Code 51745-51749.6 Independent study 

Ed. Code 56390-56392 Recognition for educational achievement,; special education 

Ed. Code 60640 California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 

Ed. Code 66204 Certification of high school courses as meeting university 

admission criteria 

Ed. Code 67386 Student safety; affirmative consent standard 

Management Resources Description 

Court Decision O'Connell v. Superior Court (Valenzuela),) (2006) 141 

Cal.App.4th 1452 

Website California Department of Education, High School 

Website University of California, List of Approved a-gA-G Courses 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5127 Graduation Ceremonies And Activities 

5145.6 Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E PDF(1) Parental Notifications 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

Cross References 

Page 168 of 459

http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/gs/hs
https://admission.universityofcalifornia.edu/admission-requirements/freshman-requirements
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=eTTKhAGZDUZ5bldHQfXllg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=sTN7HQJDOPoMtU4jkkplusy6Q%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=zqW3kmZn1LOg1ZK7aLV2wA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Sa5qyOH3hTzqteyavYiJZg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=ZWmmo4iZf1zV3QRJAY1Uow%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=gHKuioQ31JUkn8M8vChCplusA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=QEpluscnoT1BCZLfb5mu6beMQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=rgHJQnp6mvsplusAL2iGlGslshUw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=wtqtpj7vuYh6EIKXj6plusckA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=XG1pluskrXRJJSuVvplusWQsP6jA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=lC1CFdRiHAMIxjQEjDM2zA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=8iYONVu4bnDJZOAPzBZYZA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=nWloMxsuTDjkt87K72FiWQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=yJgMxhzLXPUN5jLys2kVGA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=slshcxx9vjrqAIutrhkXSnLkg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=ucjcyz0sIYLP5Vjm8tniBg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=sA9jIsdloOYttbDiDckygQ%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=1QEeplusxMdOsIYdSCedXofTw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Ac5UAppluswlfDnAW06l1yNNw%3D%3D


6011 Academic Standards 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6142.1 Sexual Health And HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction 

6142.1 Sexual Health And HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction 

6142.2 World Language Instruction 

6142.2 World Language Instruction 

6142.3 Civic Education 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6142.6 Visual And Performing Arts Education 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education 

6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education 

6142.91 Reading/Language Arts Instruction 

6142.92 Mathematics Instruction 

6142.93 Science Instruction 

6142.94 History-Social Science Instruction 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.6 International Exchange 

6145.6 International Exchange 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

Page 169 of 459



6146.4 Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For 

Students With Disabilities 

6151 Class Size 

6152.1 Placement In Mathematics Courses 

6152.1 Placement In Mathematics Courses 

6155 Challenging Courses By Examination 

6155 Challenging Courses By Examination 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 

Special Education 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 

Special Education 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E PDF(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.3 Education For Juvenile Court School Students 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6178 Career Technical Education 

Page 170 of 459



6178 Career Technical Education 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education 

9000 Role Of The Board 

Page 171 of 459



District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 6146.1: High School Graduation Requirements Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2004 | Last Revised Date: 09/01/20212022 | Last Review 

09/01/20212022 

ed Date: 

 

Notifications 
 

Requirements for graduation, specified alternative means for completing the prescribed course of study, 

and information about the availability of exemptions from local graduation requirements and/or credit 

recovery options available pursuant to Education Code 51225 shall be made available to students, 

parents/guardians, and the public. 
 

Within 30 days of the transfer into a school by a foster youth, homeless student, former juvenile court 

school student, child of a military family, migrant student, or a newly arrived immigrant student, the 

Superintendent or designee shall notify any eligible student of the availability of the exemption from local 

graduation requirements under Education Code 51225.1 and whether the student qualifies for 

it. (Education Code 51225.1) 
 

In the annual notification sent to parents/guardians pursuant to Education Code 48980, the 

Superintendent or designee shall include the following: (Education Code 48980) 
 

1. Information about district high school graduation requirements and how each requirement 
satisfies or does not satisfy the subject matter requirements for admission to the California State 
University and the University of California 

 

2. A complete list of career technical education courses offered by the district that satisfy the 
subject matter requirements for admission to the California State University and the University of 
California, and which of the specific college admission requirements these courses satisfy 

 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

5 CCR 1600-1651 Graduation of students from grade 12 and credit toward 
graduation 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation is optional and should be modified to reflect 

district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Districts are encouraged to provide notice to students, parents/guardians, and the public 

regarding the exemptions from graduation requirements and credit recovery opportunities pursuant to 

Education Code 51225, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 41, Statutes of 2021); see the accompanying Board 

policy. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by any district that has elected to allow 

students to complete a career technical education course as an alternative to the visual or performing 

arts or foreign language course requirement for high school graduation pursuant to Education Code 

51225.3; see accompanying Board policy. 

Page 172 of 459



5 CCR 4600-4670 Uniform complaint procedures 

Ed. Code 47612 Enrollment in charter school 

Ed. Code 48200 Compulsory attendance 

Ed. Code 48204.4 Parents/guardians departing California against their will 

Ed. Code 48412 Certificate of proficiency 

Ed. Code 48430 Continuation education schools and classes 

Ed. Code 48645.5 Former juvenile court school students, enrollment 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 49701 Provisions of the interstate compact on educational 

opportunities for military children 

Ed. Code 51224 Skills and knowledge required for adult life 

Ed. Code 51224.5 Algebra in course of study for grades 7-12 

Ed. Code 51225 2020-21 exemption from graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.1 Exemption from district graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51225.2 Course credits 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation 

Ed. Code 51225.35 Mathematics course requirements; computer science 

Ed. Code 51225.36 Instruction in sexual harassment and violence; districts that 

require health education for graduation 

Ed. Code 51225.5 Honorary diplomas; foreign exchange students 

Ed. Code 51225.6 Instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation 

Ed. Code 51228 Graduation requirements 

Ed. Code 51230 Credit for community emergency response training 

Ed. Code 51240-51246 Exemptions from requirements 

Ed. Code 51250-51251 Assistance to military dependents 

Ed. Code 51410-51413 Diplomas 

Ed. Code 51420-51427 High school equivalency certificates 

Ed. Code 51430 Retroactive high school diplomas 

Ed. Code 51440 Retroactive high school diplomas 

Ed. Code 51450-51455 Golden State Seal Merit Diploma 

Ed. Code 51745 Independent study 

Ed. Code 56390-56392 Recognition for educational achievement, special education 

Ed. Code 66204 Certification of high school courses as meeting university 

admission criteria 

Ed. Code 67386 Student safety; affirmative consent standard 

Management Resources Description 

Page 173 of 459



Court Decision O'Connell v. Superior Court (Valenzuela), (2006) 141 

Cal.App.4th 1452 

Website California Department of Education, High School 

Website University of California, List of Approved a-g Courses 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5127 Graduation Ceremonies And Activities 

5145.6 Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E PDF(1) Parental Notifications 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6142.1 Sexual Health And HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction 

6142.1 Sexual Health And HIV/AIDS Prevention Instruction 

6142.2 World Language Instruction 

6142.2 World Language Instruction 

6142.3 Civic Education 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

Cross References 

Page 174 of 459



6142.6 Visual And Performing Arts Education 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education 

6142.8 Comprehensive Health Education 

6142.91 Reading/Language Arts Instruction 

6142.92 Mathematics Instruction 

6142.93 Science Instruction 

6142.94 History-Social Science Instruction 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.2 Athletic Competition 

6145.6 International Exchange 

6145.6 International Exchange 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.3 Reciprocity Of Academic Credit 

6146.4 Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For 

Students With Disabilities 

6151 Class Size 

6152.1 Placement In Mathematics Courses 

6152.1 Placement In Mathematics Courses 

6155 Challenging Courses By Examination 

6155 Challenging Courses By Examination 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

Page 175 of 459



6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 

Special Education 

6159.2 Nonpublic, Nonsectarian School And Agency Services For 

Special Education 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1 Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6161.1-E PDF(1) Selection And Evaluation Of Instructional Materials 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.1 Education For Foster Youth 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.2 Education Of Children Of Military Families 

6173.3 Education For Juvenile Court School Students 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6177 Summer Learning Programs 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6179 Supplemental Instruction 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6200 Adult Education 

Page 176 of 459



6200 Adult Education 

9000 Role Of The Board 

Page 177 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 6158: Independent Study Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2005 | Last Revised Date: 1209/01/20212022 | Last Revie 

1209/01/20212022 

wed Date: 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 5174551744-51749.6 authorize districts to establish independent study 

programs to meet the educational needs of students. Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended 

by AB 130 (Ch. 44, Statutes of 2021), for the 2021-22 school year, all districts are required to offer 

independent study to meet the educational needs of students. 
 

AB 167 (Ch. 252, Statutes of 2021) amended various Education Code provisions related to independent 

study, as reflected throughout this policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. Education 

Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, authorizes a district to receive apportionment credit for 

independent study for any student who is unable to attend in-person instruction due to a quarantine, 

under a local or state public health guidance, for exposure to or infection with COVID-19 or due to a 

school closure for COVID-19, pursuant to Education Code 41422. 
 

Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates that the Governing Board adopt a policy with 

specified requirements as a condition of receiving state apportionments for independent study students. 

In addition to meeting the requirements specified by Education Code 51747, board policies must comply 

with rules and regulations adopted by the Superintendent of Public Instruction (SPI). Boards are 

encouraged to review independent study policies as the SPI adopts revised rules to reflect the new 

requirements of AB 130. 
 

Education Code 51749.5 mandates that the Board adopt policy with specified components as a 

condition of offering a program of course-based independent study. The mandated components are 

reflected throughout this policy and the accompanying administrative regulation. 
 

Commencing with the 2021-22 fiscal year Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies 

and State Compliance Reporting, the State Controller is required to incorporate verification of the 

adoption of the policies and other requirements, including loss of apportionment for independent study 

pursuant to Education Code 51747 and 51749.5 for districts found to be noncompliant. 
 

When developing policy on independent study, 5 CCR 11701 requires the Board to consider, in a public 

hearing, (1) the scope of its existing or prospective use of independent study as an instructional strategy, 

(2) its purposes in authorizing independent study, and (3) factors bearing specifically on the maximum 

realistic lengths of assignments and acceptable number of missed assignments for specific populations 

of students or adult students. 
 

Education Code 51747 and 51749.5 mandate the Governing Board to adopt a policy with specified 

components as a condition of receiving state apportionments for traditional and course-based 

independent study, and to implement the policy in accordance with the rules and regulations adopted by 

the Superintendent of Public Instruction. The mandated components for traditional independent study 

and course-based independent study are reflected throughout this policy and the accompanying 

administrative regulation. 

Education Code 51744, as added by AB 181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), encourages districts, when 

adopting policy, to consider offering more than one independent study model for short- and long-term 

placements in accordance with Education Code 51747, 51747.5 and 51749.6. 

Page 178 of 459



 
 

The Governing Board authorizes independent study as an optional alternative instructional strategy for 

students whose needs may be best met through study outside of the regular classroom setting. 

Independent study shall offer a means of individualizing the educational plan to serve students who 

desire a more challenging educational experience, whose health or other personal circumstances make 

classroom attendance difficult, who are unable to access course(s) due to scheduling problems, and/or 

who need to make up credits or fill gaps in their learning. As necessary to meet student needs, 

independent study may be offered for short- or long-term placements, on a full-time or part-time basis, 

and/or in conjunction with part- or full-time classroom study. 

 

 

The Board shall hold a public hearing when considering the scope of its existing or prospective use of 

independent study as an instructional strategy, its purposes in authorizing independent study, and factors 

bearing specifically on the maximum realistic lengths of assignments and acceptable number of missed 

assignments for specific populations of students or adult education students. (Education Code 51747; 5 

CCR 11701) 
 

The Superintendent or designee may provide a variety of independent study opportunities, including, but 

not limited to, through a program or class within a comprehensive school, an alternative school or 

program of choice, a charter school, and an online course. 

 

 

Except for students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in classroom-based 

instruction due to quarantine or school closure for exposure to or infection with COVID-19, 

studentStudent participation in independent study shall be voluntary. and no student shall be required 

to participate. (Education Code 51747, 51749.5, 51749.6) 

 
In the event of a school closure necessitated by an emergency condition pursuant to Education Code 

46392, districts must develop a plan for offering independent study to affected students pursuant to 

Education Code 46393, as added by AB 130 and amended by AB 167.. See BP 3516.5 - Emergency 

Schedules. 

 
Independent study may be offered as a program within a school, as a charter school, or as an alternative 

school of choice pursuant to Education Code 58500-58512; see AR 0420.4 - Charter School 

Authorization, BP 6146.11 - Alternative Credits Toward Graduation and BP/AR 6181 - Alternative 

Schools/Programs of Choice. 

CSBA NOTE: 5 CCR 11701 requires the Board to hold a public hearing when setting policy regarding the 

maximum length of time that may elapse between the time an independent study assignment is made and 

the date by which the student must complete it, and the level of satisfactory educational progress and the 

number of missed assignments that will be allowed before an evaluation is conducted to determine 

whether it is in the student’s best interests to remain in independent study. See “General Independent 

Study Requirements” below for more information regarding these requirements. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, relaxes certain independent study 

requirements for the 2021-22 school year as to students who are unable to participate in classroom- 

based instruction due to a quarantine order or school closure due to COVID-19, including the 

requirement that participation in independent study be voluntary. 

 
The California Department of Education (CDE), in its 2021-22 AA & IT Independent Study FAQs, 

interpreted Education Code 51747 as permitting a district to require a student to participate in 

independent study under circumstances specified in the following paragraph. 

Page 179 of 459



Independent study for each student shall be under the general supervision of a district employee who 

possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education Code 44865 or an emergency credential 

pursuant to Education Code 44300. Students' independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and 

documented, as prescribed by law and reflected in the accompanying administrative regulation. 

(Education Code 51747.5) 

 

 

With the exception of students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in classroom- 

based instruction due to a quarantine or school closure for exposure to or infection with COVID-19, the 

The minimum period of time for any independent study option shall be three consecutive school days. 

(Education Code 5174746300 ) 
 

General Independent Study Requirements 

 

 

For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study, as specified in Education Code 

51745, to meet the educational needs of students unless the district has obtained a waiver. (Education 

Code 51745) 
 

For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, theThe Superintendent or designee may offer and approve 

independent study for an individual student upon determining that the student is prepared to meet the 

district's requirements for independent studyparticipation and is likely to succeed in independent study as 

well as or better than the student would in the regular classroom setting. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46300, as amended by AB 130, the attendance of students 

participating in independent study for only three or more consecutive school days will be included in 

computing average daily attendance (ADA) for apportionment purposes. 

 
However, for the 2021-22 school year, districts are permitted pursuant to Education Code 51747, as 

amended by AB 167, to claim apportionment for fewer than three consecutive school days for students 

who cannot participate in classroom-based instruction due to a quarantine order or school closure due 

to COVID-19. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to offer independent 

study for the 2021-22 school year only, and thereafter to offer independent study at their discretion. 

Districts may meet the requirement for the 2021-22 school year by contracting with a county office of 

education or by entering into an interdistrict transfer agreement with another district pursuant to 

Education Code 46600. In addition, the requirement to offer independent study for the 2021-22 school 

year may be waived for districts by the county superintendent of schools in the county in which the 

district is located if the district demonstrates that (1) offering independent study would create an 

unreasonable fiscal burden on the district or county office of education due to low numbers of students 

participating or other extenuating circumstances; and (2) the Board does not have the option to enter 

into an interdistrict transfer agreement with another district or to contract with a county office of 

education to provide an independent study option. 

 
For single-district counties, the waiver must be granted by the SPI. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 46100, the Board is required to fix the length of the school 

day for each grade level, in accordance with law. CDEThe California Department of Education, in its 

"Frequently Asked Questions," clarifies that independent study is not an alternative curriculum and that 

students in independent study are required to meet the same number of instructional minutes as their 

peers who are physically at the school site for their instruction. 

Page 180 of 459



The minimum instructional minutes forshall be the same for all students at each school including students 

participating in independent study shall be the same as required for their peers at the school who are 

receiving in-person instruction, except as otherwise permitted by law. (Education Code 46100) 
 

 

Because excessive leniency in the duration of independent study assignments may result in a student 

falling behind peers and increase the risk of dropping out of school, independent study assignments shall 

be completed no more than one week after assigned for all grade levels and types of programprograms. 

When necessary based on the specific circumstances of the student's approved program, the 

Superintendent or designee may allow for a longer period of time between the date an assignment is 

made and when it is due. However, in no event shall the due date of an assignment be extended beyond 

the termination date of thespecified in the student’s written agreement. 

 

 

An evaluation shall be conducted to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in 

independent study whenever the student fails to make satisfactory educational progress and/or misses 

three assignments. Satisfactory educational progress shall be determined based on all of the following 

indicators: (Education Code 51747) 

1. 1. The student's achievement and engagement in the independent study program, as 
indicated by the student's performance on applicable student-level measures of student 
achievement and engagement specified in Education Code 52060 

 

2. 2. The completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the 
student is working on assignments 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates that the Board, in a public hearing, to adopt a policy on 

the maximum length of time, by grade level and type of program, which may elapse between the time an 

independent study assignment is made and the date by which the student must complete the 

assignment. 5 CCR 11700 defines "type of program" as the statutory program category for purposes of 

attendance accounting, such as adult education or continuation high school. In addition, 5 CCR 11701 

mandates that Board policy reflect an awareness that excessive leniency in the duration of independent 

study assignments can result in a student falling so far behind peers as to increase, rather than decrease, 

the risk of dropping out of school. 

 
The following paragraph sets one week for all grade levels and types of programs as the maximum 

length of time an independent study assignment should be completed, and should be revised to reflect 

the length of time determined by the Board. In order to ensure that apportionment credits are received, 

the length of time determined by the Board in its policy should be reflected in the student's written 

agreement. See the section "Master Agreement" below. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates that the Board, in a public hearing,to adopt a policy 

which specifies the level of satisfactory educational progress and the number of missed assignments 

allowed before an evaluation would be requiredis conducted to determine whether it is in a student's 

best interest to remain in independent study. The following paragraph specifies a maximum of three 

assignments and should be revised to reflect the Board's determination of the number of missed 

assignments that will trigger an evaluation. 

 
The number of missed assignments that will trigger an evaluation must be included in the student's 

written agreement. 

Page 181 of 459



3. 3.  Learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher 
 
 

4. 4. Progress towards successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as 
determined by the supervising teacher 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that students participating in independent study are 

provided with content aligned to grade level standards at a level of quality and intellectual challenge 

substantially equivalent to in-person instruction. For high schools, this shall include access to all courses 

offered by the district for graduation and approved by the University of California (UC) or the California 

State University (CSU) as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. (Education Code 51747) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all students participating in independent study for 15 

school days or more receive the following throughout the school year: (Education Code 51747) 

 
1. 1. For students in grades transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1 to 3, 

opportunities for daily synchronous instruction 

 

2. 2. For students in grades 4-8, opportunities for both daily live interaction and at least weekly 
synchronous instruction 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130181, mandates the Board to adopt policy 

that includes the provision of content aligned to grade level standards that is provided at a level of 

quality and intellectual challenge substantially equivalent to in-person instruction. For high schools, this 

requirement includes access to all courses offered by the district for graduation and approved by the 

University of California or the California State University as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. 

See BP/AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy that 

includes plans, by grade level, to provide students with specified levels of live interaction and/or 

synchronous instruction as described in Items #1-3 below and defined in the accompanying 

administrative regulation. This requirement only appliesdoes not apply to students participating in an 

independent study program for fewer than 15 school days, or more. 

 
According, pursuant to CDE's "2021-22 AA & IT Independent Study FAQs," synchronous instruction for 

traditionalEducation Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, students enrolled in a comprehensive school 

for classroom-based instruction who participate in independent study only counts toward meetingdue 

to necessary medical treatments or inpatient treatment for mental health care or substance abuse, as 

described below. 

 
Pursuant to Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 181, the minimum day requirements if 

students produce a work product that is evaluated for district may claim apportionment credit for 

independent study only to the extent of the time value as an outcome from theirof student work 

products as personally judged by a certificated employee of the district, or the combined time value of 

student work products and participation in synchronous instruction, as long as the synchronous 

instruction.instructional offering augments the time value of the student work product and evidence of 

student participation is furnished and maintained. Evidence of student participation may include, but is 

not limited to, student work produced or performed as verified by a certificated employee and 

maintained by the district for each hour or fraction of an hour of the synchronous instructional offering. 

Page 182 of 459



3. 3. For students in grades 9-12, opportunities for at least weekly synchronous instruction 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that procedures for tiered reengagement strategies are used 

for all students participating in an independent study program for 15 school days or more who: are: 

(Education Code 51747) 

 
1. Are not1. Not generating attendance for more than three school days or 60 percent of the 

instructional days in a school week, or 10ten percent of required minimum instructional time over 
four continuous weeks of the district's approved instructional calendar 

 

2. Are found to be not participatory2. Not participating in synchronous instructional offerings 
pursuant to SectionEducation Code 51747.5 for more than the greater of three schooldays or 
6050 percent of the scheduled daystimes of synchronous instruction in a school month as 
applicable by grade span 

 

3. Are in3. In violation of their written agreement 
 

 

Tiered reengagement strategies procedures used in district independent study programs shall include, 

local programs intended to address chronic absenteeism, as applicable, including but are not necessarily 

limited to, all of the following: (Education Code 51747) 
 

1. 1. Verification of current contact information for each enrolled student 
 
 

2. 2. Notification to parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the 
recording of a non-attendancenonattendance day or lack of participation 

 
 

3. 3. A plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, including connection 
with health and social services as necessary 

 

 

4. 4. A clear standard for requiring a student-parent-educator conference to review a student's 
written agreement and reconsider the independent study program's impact on the student's 
achievement and well-being 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167181, mandates the Board to 

adopt policy that includes procedures for tiered reengagement strategies for students who meet the 

conditions specified in the following paragraph.Items #1-3 below. This requirement only appliesdoes not 

apply to students participating in an independent study program for fewer than 15 school days, or 

morestudents who participate in independent study due to necessary medical treatments or inpatient 

treatment for mental health care or substance abuse, as described below. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, requires that the district’s tiered 
reengagement strategies procedures include local programs intended to address chronic absenteeism, as 
applicable. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 requires districts to hold a student-parent-educator conference as 

defined by Education Code 51745.5, at specified times, as reflected below and in the accompanying 

administrative regulation. 

Page 183 of 459



 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall, for students who participate in an independent study program for 

15 school days of more, develop a plan to transition students whose families wish to return to in-person 

instruction from independent study expeditiously, and, in no case, later, than five instructional days. This 

requirement only applies to students participating in an independent study program for 15 school days or 

more. (Education Code 51747) 

 

 

When any student enrolled in classroom-based instruction is participating in independent study due to 

necessary medical treatment or inpatient treatment for mental health or substance abuse under the care 

of appropriately licensed professionals, the student shall be exempt from the live interaction and/or 

synchronous instruction, tiered reengagement strategies, and transition back to in-person instruction 

requirements specified above. In such cases, evidence from appropriately licensed professionals, of the 

student’s need to participate in independent study, shall be submitted to the Superintendent or designee. 

(Education Code 51747) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that a written master agreement exists for each participating 

student as prescribed by law. (Education Code 51747, 51749.5) 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy that 

includes a plan to expeditiously, and not longer than five instructional days, transition students whose 

families wish to return to in-person instruction from independent study. This requirement only 

appliesdoes not apply to students participating in an independent study program for fewer than 15 

school days. Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the requirement is also not 

applicable to students who participate in independent study due to necessary medical treatments or 

moreinpatient treatment for mental health care or substance abuse, as described below. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the live interaction and/ or 

synchronous learning requirements, tiered reengagement strategies, and transition plan obligations do 

not apply to students enrolled in a comprehensive school for classroom-based instruction who, under the 

care of an appropriate licensed professional(s), participate in independent study due to necessary medical 

treatments or inpatient treatment for mental health care or substance abuse, provided the district obtains 

evidence of the need as specified in Education Code 51747. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, mandates the Board to adopt policy 

providing that a current written agreement (i.e., the "master agreement") will be maintained for each 

student who participates in independent study and for whom apportionment is claimed. Education Code 

51747 provides that no independent study agreement can be valid for longer than one school year. For 

the 2021-22 school year only, Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, requires181, 

the district is required to obtain a signed written agreement for an independent study program of any 

length of time no later than 30 15 school days afteror more before the first daybeginning of instruction 

inindependent study, and for an independent study program or October 15, whichever date comes 

later.of less than 15 school days, within ten school days of the beginning of the first day of the student’s 

enrollment. 

 
In addition, Education Code 51749.5 mandates the Board to adopt policy providing that a "learning 

agreement" be maintained for each student participating in course-based independent study. 

 
See the section "Master Agreement" below for required content of these agreements. 

CSBA NOTE: For the 2021-22 school year only, the district must provide notice with specified 

components of the independent study option available through Education Code 51747. Education Code 

51747, as amended by AB 130, requires that the written information, in addition to being written in 

Page 184 of 459



 
 

The district shall provide written notice to the parents/guardians of all enrolled students of the option to 

enroll their child in in-person instruction or independent study during the 2021-22 school year. This 

notice shall be posted on the district's web site, and shall include, at a minimum, information about the 

right to request a student-parent-educator conference before enrollment, student rights regarding 

procedures for enrolling, disenrolling, and reenrolling in independent study, and the instructional time, 

including synchronous and asynchronous learning, that a student will have access to as part of 

independent study. 

 

 

Upon the request of the parent/guardian of a student, and before signing a written agreement as 

described below in the section "Master Agreement," the district shall conduct a telephone, 

videoconference, or in-person student-parent-educator conference or other meeting during which the 

student, parent/guardian, and, if requested, their by the parent/guardian an advocate, may ask questions 

about the educational options, including which curriculum offerings and nonacademic supports will be 

available to the student in independent study. (Education Code 51747) 

 
Master Agreement 

 

English, be written in the primary language if 15 percent or more of the students enrolled in a district 

that provides instruction in transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, or any of grades 1 to 12, inclusive, 

speak a single primary language other than English, as determined from the census data submitted to 

CDE.CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 requires districts to hold a student-parent-educator 

conference upon the request of a parent/guardian prior to enrollment or disenrollment in independent 

study. The term student-parent-educator conference is defined in Education 51745.5, and reflected in 

the accompanying administrative regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to hold a student- 

parent-educator conference upon the request of a parent/guardian prior to enrollment or disenrollment 

in independent study. The term student-parent-educator conference is defined in Education 51745.5, 

and as reflected in the accompanying regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 mandates that, in order to receive apportionments for independent 

study, the district must adopt and implement policy providing for a signed written independent study 

agreement which contains the components listed in the following section. Because apportionments are 

only provided for independent study of three or more consecutive school days pursuant to Education 

Code 46300, as amended by AB 130, written agreements are required only in such instances. 

 
Education Code 46300.7 states that apportionments shall be received for a student in independent 

study only if the district receives written permission from the parent/guardian before the independent 

study begins, specifying the actual dates of participation, methods of study and evaluation, and 

resources to be made available for the student's independent study. Since all these components are 

included in the written agreement which the parent/guardian must sign before the commencement of 

independent study pursuant to Education Code 51747, the parent/guardian's signature on the 

agreement satisfies the requirement to obtain the parent/guardian's written permission. 

 
For the 2021-22 school year however, the district must obtain a signed written agreement for 

independent study, of any length of time, no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction in 

independent study or October 15, whichever date comes later, pursuant to Education Code 51747, as 

amended by AB 167. This requirement is also applicable to independent study for a student who is 

unable to attend classroom-based instruction due to quarantine or school closure for COVID- 

19.However, pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, for independent study 

programs of less than 15 school days the written agreement may be signed within ten school days of the 

Page 185 of 459



 
 

A written agreement shall be developed and implemented for each student participating in independent 

study for three or more consecutive school days. (Education Code 46300, 51747; 5 CCR 11703) 
 

However,) 
 

For student participation for the 2021-2215 school year only, the district shall obtaindays or more, a 

signed written agreement from eachshall be obtained before the student participating in anbegins 

independent study program for any length. For student participation of time, no laterless than 30 days 

after 15 school days, a signed written agreement shall be obtained within ten school days of the first day 

of instruction in the independent study program.the student’s enrollment. (Education Code 46300, 

51747) 
 

The agreement shall include general student data, including the student's name, address, grade level, birth 

date, school of enrollment, and program placement. 

 
The independent study agreement for each participating student also shall include, but areis not limited 

to, all of the following: (Education Code 51747; 5 CCR 11700, 11702) 

 
1. 1. The manner, time, frequency, time,and place and manner for submitting the student's 

assignments, reporting the student's academic progress, and communicating with a student's 
parent/guardian regarding the student's academic progress 

 

2. 2. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work and the methods used to 
evaluate that work 

 

3. 3. The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 
personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 

 

 

4. 4. A statement of the Board's policy detailing the maximum length of time allowed between 
an assignment and its completion, the level of satisfactory educational progress, and the number 
of missed assignments which will trigger an evaluation of whether the student should be allowed 
to continue in independent study 

student’s enrollment in independent study. As Education Code 46300.7 and 51747 are inconsistent as 

to when written agreements need to be signed for programs of less than 15 school days, districts are 

encouraged to consult CSBA District and County Office of Education Legal Services, or the district’s 

legal counsel. 

CSBA NOTE: As described in the section "General Independent Study Requirements" above, pursuant 

to Education Code 51747, the written agreement must contain statements reflecting Board policy 

pertaining to (1) the maximum length of time, by grade level and type of program, which may elapse 

between the time an independent study assignment is made and the date by which the student must 

complete the assignment and (2) the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation would 

be required to determine whether it is in a student's best interest to remain in independent study. 

Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 130, also requires that the written agreement contain a 

statement of the Board's policy regarding the level of satisfactory educational progress for students 

participating in independent study. 

Page 186 of 459



5. 5. The duration of the independent study agreement, including the beginning and ending 
dates for the student's participation in independent study under the agreement, with a maximum 
of one school year 

 

6. 6. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures 
of academic accomplishment appropriate to the agreement, to be earned by the student upon 
completion 

 

7. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address the needs 

of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such as English 
learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program or a Section 504 plan 
in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster care or experiencing 
homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports. 

 

 

 

7. 8. A statement that independent study is an optional educational alternative in which no 
student may be required to participate 

 

For the 2021-22 school year, this statement shall not be required for a student's participation in 
independent study if the student is unable to attend in-person instruction because of a quarantine 
or school closure mandated by a local or state health order or guidance due to the student's 
exposure to or infection with COVID-19. 

 
 

8.  9. In the case of a suspended or expelled student who is referred or assigned to any school, 
class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 48917, a statement that instruction may 
be provided through independent study only if the student is offered the alternative of classroom 
instruction 

 

 

 

9. 10. Before the commencement of independent study projected to last for 15 school days or 
more, or within ten school days of the first day of enrollment for independent study for less than 
15 school days, the agreement shall be signed and dated by the student, the student's 
parent/guardian or caregiver if the student is under age 18 years of age, the certificated employee 
responsible for the general supervision of independent study, and all persons who have direct 
responsibility for providing assistance to the student. 

 

However, for the 2021-22 school yearfor students with disabilities, the district shall obtain a 
signed written agreement for independent study from the student, or the student's 
parent/guardian if the student is less than 18 years of age, the certificated employee who has 
beencertificated employee designated as having responsibility for the general supervision of 
independent study, and all persons who have direct responsibility for providing assistance to the 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, a master agreement is 
not required to include the following statement for any student who, during the 2021-22 school 
year, cannot participate in classroom-based instruction due to a quarantine order or school 
closure due to COVID-19. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 181, the date upon which a 
written agreement needs to be signed will vary depending on the projected length of independent 
study, as specified below. In addition, for students with disabilities, the certificated employee 
designated as having responsibility for the special education programming of the student is 
required to sign the written agreement. 

Page 187 of 459



student, no later than 30 days after the first day of instruction in the independent study program 
or October 15, whichever date comes later.special education programming of the student 

 

Written agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state and federal 

standards, as determined by the California Department of Education (CDE). (Education Code 51747) 

 
The parent/guardian's signature on the agreement shall constitute permission for the student to receive 

instruction through independent study. 

 
Course-Based Independent Study 

 

 

 

The district's course-based independent study program for students in grades K-12 shall be subject to the 

following requirements: (Education Code 51749.5) 

 
1. 1. A signed learning agreement shall be completed and on file for each participating student, 

pursuant to Education Code 51749.6 

 

2. 2. Courses shall be taught under the general supervision of certificated employees who hold 
the appropriate subject matter credential and are employed by the district or by another district, 
charter school, or county office of education with which the district has a memorandum of 
understanding to provide the instruction. 

 
 

3. 3. Courses shall be annually certified by Board resolution to be of the same rigor and 
educational quality and to provide intellectual challenge that is substantially equivalent to in- 
person, classroom-based instruction, and shall be aligned to all relevant local and state content 
standards. For high schools, this shall include access to all courses offered by the district for 
graduation and approved by the University of California or the California State UniversityUC or 
CSU as creditable under the A-G admissions criteria. The certification shall, at a minimum, include 
the duration, number of equivalent daily instructional minutes for each school day that student 
is enrolled, number of equivalent total instructional minutes, and number of course credits for 
each course, consistent with that of equivalent classroom-based courses. The certification shall 
also include plans to provide opportunities throughout the school year, for all students in 
transitional kindergarten, kindergarten, and grades 1-3 to receive daily synchronous instruction, 
for all students in grades 4-8, to receive both daily live interaction and at least weekly 
synchronous instruction, and for all students in grades 9-12 to receive at least weekly 

CSBA NOTE: This section is for districts that provide independent study courses to its students. 

Education Code 51749.5-51749.6, as amended by AB 130, establish a course-based independent study 

option that may be offered if certain requirements are met, as described below. Education Code 51749.5 

mandates that boards adopt policies that comply with the legal requirements listed in the following 

section and any applicable regulations adopted by the State Board of Education. 

 
The following paragraph may be revised to reflect the grade levels offered by the district. 

CSBA NOTE: This section is for districts that provide independent study courses to its students. 

Education Code 51749.5-51749.6 establish a course-based independent study option that may be 

offered if certain requirements are met, as described below. Education Code 51749.5 mandates that 

boards adopt policies that comply with the legal requirements listed in the following section and any 

applicable regulations adopted by the State Board of Education. 

 
The following paragraph may be revised to reflect the grade levels offered by the district. 

Page 188 of 459



synchronous instruction. 

 

4. 4. Students enrolled in independent study courses shall meet the applicable age 
requirements established pursuant to Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4, 47612, and 47612.1, 
and the applicable residency and enrollment requirements established pursuant to Education 
Code 46300.2, 47612, 48204, and 51747.3. 

 
 

5. For each student participating in an independent study course, satisfactory educational progress 
shall be determined based on the student's achievement and engagement in the independent 
study program, as indicated by theirthe student’s performance on applicable student-level 
measures of student achievement and student engagement set forth in Education Code 52060, 
completion of assignments, assessments, or other indicators that evidence that the student is 
working on assignments, learning of required concepts, as determined by the supervising teacher, 
and progress toward successful completion of the course of study or individual course, as 
determined by the supervising teacher. 

 

5. 

If satisfactory educational progress in anone or more independent study classcourses is not being 
made, the teacher providing instruction shall notify the student and, if the student is under 18 
years of age, the student's parent/guardian. The teacher shall conduct an evaluation to determine 
whether it is in the student's best interest to remain in the course or whether the student should 
be referred to an alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school 
program. age 18 years, the student's parent/guardian.A written record of the evaluation findings 
shall be treated as a mandatory interim student record maintained for three years from the date of 
the evaluation. If the student transfers to another California public school, the record shall be 
forwarded to that school. 

 

Procedures for tiered reengagement strategies shall be used for all students who are not making 
satisfactory educational progress in one or more courses or who are in violation of the written 
learning agreement, as described in the section "Learning Agreement for Course-Based 
Independent Study" below. These procedures shall include, but are not necessarily limited to, the 
verification of current contact information for each enrolled student, notification to 
parents/guardians of lack of participation within one school day of the absence or lack of 
participation, a plan for outreach from the school to determine student needs, including 
connection with health and social services as necessary, and a clear standard for requiring a 
student-parent-educator conference to review a student's written agreement and reconsider the 
independent study program's impact on the student's achievement and well-being. 

 
 

6. 6. Examinations shall be administered by a proctor. 
 
 

7. 7. Statewide testing results shall be reported and assigned to the school at which the student 
is enrolled and shall be included in the aggregate results of the district. Test results also shall be 
disaggregated for purposes of comparisons with the test results of students enrolled in classroom- 
based courses. 

 

8. 8. A student shall not be required to enroll in courses included in the course-based 
independent study program. 

Page 189 of 459



9. 9. The student-teacher ratio in the courses in this program shall meet the requirements of 
Education Code 51745.6. 

 
 

10. 10. For each student, the combined equivalent daily instructional minutes for courses in this 
program and all other courses shall meet applicable minimum instructional day requirements, and 
the student shall be offered the minimum annual total equivalent instructional minutes pursuant 
to Education Code 46200-46208. 

 
 

11. 11. Courses required for high school graduation or for admission to the University of 
CaliforniaUC or California State UniversityCSU shall not be offered exclusively through 
independent study. 

 
 

12. 12. A student participating in this program shall not be assessed a fee that is prohibited by 
Education Code 49011. 

 
 

13. 13. A student shall not be prohibited from participating in independent study solely on the 
basis that the student does not have the materials, equipment, or access to Internet connectivity 
necessary to participate in the course. 

 

 

 

14. 14. A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall notmay participate in 
course-based independent study, unless if the student's individualized education program 
specifically provides for that participation. 

 
 

15. 15. A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to 
Education Code 48206.3 through course-based independent study. 

 
 

16. 16. The district shall maintain a plan to transition any student whose family wishes to return to 
in-person instruction from course-based independent study expeditiously, and, in no case, later 
than five instructional days. 

 

Learning Agreement for Course-Based Independent Study 

 

 

Before enrolling a student in a course within thisa course-based independent study program, the 

Superintendent or designee shall provide the student and, if the student is under age 18 years, the 

student's parent/guardian with a written learning agreement that includes all of the following: 

(Education Code 51749.6) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51749.5, as amended by AB 181, a student with disabilities 
may participate in a course-based independent study program if the student’s individualized education 
program specifically provides for such participation. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51749.6, as amended by AB 130, requires that, before enrolling a student 

in course-based independent study, the district provide the student and, if the student is less than 18 

years of age, the student's parent/guardian, with a written learning agreement that includes specified 

components. 

Page 190 of 459



1. 1. A summary of the district's policies and procedures related to course-based independent 
study pursuant to Education Code 51749.5 

 

2. 2. The duration of the enrolled course(s) and the number of course credits for each enrolled 
course, consistent with the Board certifications made pursuant to itemItem #3 of the Course- 
Based Independent Study section above 

 

3. 3. The duration of the learning agreement, which shall not exceed a school year or span 
multiple school years 

 

4. 4. The learning objectives and expectations for each course, including, but not limited to, a 
description of how satisfactory educational progress is measured and when a student evaluation is 
required to determine whether the student should remain in the course or be referred to an 
alternative program, which may include, but is not limited to, a regular school program 

 

5. 5. The specific resources that will be made available to the student, including materials and 
personnel, and access to Internet connectivity and devices adequate to participate in the 
educational program and complete assigned work 

 

6. 6. A statement detailing the academic and other supports that will be provided to address 
the needs of students who are not performing at grade level, or need support in other areas, such 
as English learners, students with disabilities with an individualized education program or a 
Section 504 plan in order to be consistent with their program or plan, students in foster care or 
experiencing homelessness, and students requiring mental health supports. 

 
 

7. 7. A statement that enrollment is an optional educational alternative in which no student may 
be required to participate. In the case of a student who is suspended or expelled, or student who 
is referred or assigned to any school, class, or program pursuant to Education Code 48915 or 
48917, the agreement also shall include thea statement that instruction may be provided to the 
student through course-based independent study only if the student is offered the alternative of 
classroom instruction. 

 

8. 8. The manner, time, frequency, and place for submitting a student's assignments, for 
reporting the student's academic progress, and for communicating with a student's 
parent/guardian regarding a student's academic progress. 

 
 

9. 9. The objectives and methods of study for the student's work, and the methods used to 
evaluate that work. 

 
 

10. 10. A statement of the adopted policies regarding the maximum length of time allowed 
between the assignment and the completion of a student's assigned work, the level of satisfactory 
educational progress, and the number of missed assignments allowed before an evaluation of 
whether the student should be allowed to continue in course-based independent study. 

Page 191 of 459



11. 11. A statement of the number of course credits or, for the elementary grades, other measures 
of academic accomplishment appropriate to the learning agreement, to be earned by the student 
upon completion. 

 

 

 

12. 12. Before the commencement of an independent study course projected to last for 15 
school days or more, or within ten school days of the first day of enrollment for an independent 
study course projected to last less than 15 school days, the learning agreement shall be signed and 
dated by the student, and by the student's parent/guardian or caregiver if the student is less than 
18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having 
responsibilityresponsible for the general supervision of the independent study course, and all 
persons who have direct responsibilityas applicable for providing assistance tostudents with 
disabilities, the certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special education 
programming of the student. For purposes of this paragraph "caregiver" means a person who has 
met the requirements of Family Code 6550-6552. 

 

For the 2021-22 school year only, the district shall obtain a signed written agreement for 
independent study from the student, or the student's parent/guardian if the student is less than 
18 years of age, the certificated employee who has been designated as having responsibility for 
the general supervision of the independent study course, and all persons who have direct 
responsibility for providing assistance to the pupil no later than 30 days after the first day of 
instruction. 

 

WrittenLearning agreements may be signed using an electronic signature that complies with state 
and federal standards, as determined by the CDE. (Education Code 51749.6) 

 

A signed learning agreement from a parent/guardian of a student who is less than 18 years of age shall 

constitute the parent/guardian's permission for the student to receive instruction through course-based 

independent study. (Education Code 51749.6) 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall retain a physical or electronic copy of the signed learning 

agreement for at least three years and as appropriate for auditing purposes. (Education Code 51749.6) 
 

Upon the request of a student's parent/guardian, and before signing a writtenlearning agreement as 

described above, the district shall conduct a telephone, videoconference, or in-person student-parent- 

educator conference, or other meeting during which the student, parent/guardian, or theirand, if 

requested by the parent/guardian, an advocate, may ask questions about the educational options, 

including which curriculum offerings and nonacademic supports will be available to the student in 

independent study. (Education Code 51749.6) 

 
Student-Parent-Educator Conferences 

 

For 2022-23 school year and thereafter, beforeCSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51749.6, as 
amended by AB 181, the date upon which a learning agreement needs to be signed will vary depending 
on the projected length of an independent study course, as specified below. In addition, for students with 
disabilities, the certificated employee designated as having responsibility for the special education 
programming of the student is required to sign the learning agreement. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 and 51749.5, as amended by AB 130, require districts to hold 

student-parent-educator conferences as defined by Education Code 51745.5, at specified times. See the 

accompanying administrative regulation for the definition of student-parent-educator conference. 

Page 192 of 459



A student-parent-educator conference shall be held as appropriate including, but not limited to, as a 

reengagement strategy and/or, if requested by a parent/guardian, prior to enrollment or disenrollment 

from independent study. (Education Code 51745.5, 51747, 51749.5) 

 
Records 

 

 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that records are maintained for audit purposes. 

 
These records shall include, but not be limited to: (Education Code 51748; 5 CCR 11703) 

 
1. 1. A copy of the Board policy, administrative regulation, and other procedures related to 

independent study 

 

2. 2. A listing of the students, by grade level, program, and school, who have participated in 
independent study, along with the units of the curriculum attempted and completed by students 
in grades K-8 and the course credits attempted by and awarded to students in grades 9-12 and 
adult education 

 

3. 3. A file of all agreements, with representative samples of each student's work products 
bearing the supervising teacher's signed or initialed and dated notations indicating that the 
teacher has personally evaluated the work or personally reviewed the evaluations made by 
another certificated teacher 

 

4. 4. As appropriate to the program in which the students are participating, a daily or hourly 
attendance register that is separate from classroom attendance records, maintained on a current 
basis as time values of student work products judged by a certificated teacher, and reviewed by 
the supervising teacher if they are two different persons 

 

5. 5. Appropriate documentation of compliance with the teacher-student ratios required by 
Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5 (Education Code 51745.6 and 51749.5) 

 

6. 6. Appropriate documentation of compliance with the requirements pursuant to Education 
Code 51747.5 to ensure the coordination, evaluation, and supervision of the independent study 
of each student by a district employee who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to 
Education Code 44865 or an emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 44300 
(Education Code 51747.5) 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51745.6, 51747, 51747.5, and 51749.5, as amended by AB 

130, require, commencing in the 2021-22 fiscal year, the State Controller to incorporate verifications of 

compliance with specified components of the laws into the the Education Audit Appeals Panel’s, “Guide 

for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting,” includes 

verification of compliance with specified components of law related to the extent that these verifications 

are not yet included in the audit guideindependent study, with loss of apportionment for independent 

study for districts found to be noncompliant. 

Page 193 of 459



 
 
 

The district shall document each student's participation in live interaction and synchronous instruction 

pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for which live 

interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study program. A student 

who does not participate in scheduled live interaction or synchronous instruction shall be documented as 

nonparticipatory for that school day. (Education Code 51747.5) 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall also maintain a written or computer-based record such as a grade 

book or summary document of student engagement, for each class, of all grades, assignments, and 

assessments for each student for independent study assignments. (Education Code 51747.5) 

 

 
 

The signed, dated agreement, any 

Signed written and supplemental agreementagreements, assignment records, work samples, and 

attendance records may be maintained onas an electronic file electronically. (in accordance with 

Education Code 51747) and 51749.6, as applicable. 
 

Program Evaluation 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board the number of district students 

participating in independent study, the average daily attendance generated for apportionment purposes, 

student performance as measured by standard indicators and in comparison to students in classroom- 

based instruction, and the number and proportion of independent study students who graduate or 

successfully complete independent study. Based on the program evaluation, the Board and 

Superintendent shall determine areas for program improvement as needed. 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 130, requires districts to document each 

student's participation in live interaction and synchronous instruction pursuant to Education Code 51747 

on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for which the student is provided independent 

study. AAny student who does not participate in scheduled live interaction or synchronous instruction on 

a school day must be documented as nonparticipatory for that school day. In addition, Education Code 

51747.5 requires districts to maintain written or computer-based evidence of student engagement that 

includes, but is not limited to, a grade book or summary document that, for each class, lists all 

assignments, assessments, and associated grades. Commencing in the 2021-22 fiscal year, the Guide for 

Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting will incorporate 

compliance reviews of these requirements, and a finding of noncompliance will result in loss of 

apportionment in proportion to the impact on ADA from the noncompliance. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747 authorizesand 51749.6 authorize specified records to be maintained 

in an electronic file, as provided in the following paragraph. Pursuant to Education Code 51747 and 

51749.6, an electronic file includes a computer or electronically stored image of an original document, 

including, but not limited to, a PDF, JPEG, or other digital file type, that may be sent via fax machine, 

email, or other electronic means. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 194 of 459



Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

5 CCR 11700-11705 Independent study 

Ed. Code 17289 Exemption for facilities 

Ed. Code 41020 Requirement for annual audit 

Ed. Code 41422 Apportionment credit for student inability to attend in- 

person or school closure due to COVID-19Emergency 

conditions and apportionments 

Ed. Code 41976.2 Independent study programs; adult education funding 

Ed. Code 42238 Revenue limits 

Ed. Code 42238.05 Local control funding formula; average daily attendance 

Ed. Code 44865 Qualifications for homeindependent study teachers 

Ed. Code 46100 Length of school day 

Ed. Code 46200-46208 Incentives for longer instructional day and year 

Ed. Code 46300-46307.1 Methods of computing average daily attendance 

Ed. Code 46390-46393 Emergency average daily attendance 

Ed. Code 46600 Interdistrict attendance computation 

Ed. Code 47612-47612.1 Charter School Operation 

Ed. Code 47612.5 Charter schools operations,; general requirements 

Ed. Code 48204 Residency requirements for school attendance 

Ed. Code 48206.3 Home or hospital instruction; students with temporary 

disabilities 

Ed. Code 48220 Classes of children exempted 

Ed. Code 48340 Improvement of pupil attendance 

Ed. Code 48915 Expulsion; particular circumstances 

Ed. Code 48916.1 Educational program requirements for expelled students 

Ed. Code 48917 Suspension of expulsion order 

Ed. Code 49011 Student fees 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation 

Ed. Code 5174551744-51749.6 Independent study 

Ed. Code 52060 Local Control and Accountability Plan 

Ed. Code 52522 Adult education alternative instructional delivery 

Page 195 of 459



Ed. Code 52523 Adult education as supplement to high school curriculum; 

criteria 

Ed. Code 56026 Individual with exceptional needs 

Ed. Code 58500-58512 Alternative schools and programs of choice 

Fam. Code 6550-6552 Caregivers 

Federal Description 

20 USC 6301 Highly qualified teachers 

20 USC 6311 State plan 

Management Resources Description 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Legal Requirements for Independent Study, 2021 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Conducting Individualized Determinations of Need, 2021 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Clarifications for Student Learning in Quarantine, 2021 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

2021-22 AA & IT Independent Study FAQs, 2021 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Digital Learning Integration and Standards 

Guidance, AprilMay 2021 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Elements of Exemplary Independent Study 

Court Decision Modesto City Schools v. Education Audits Appeal Panel, 

(2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1365 

Education Audit Appeals Panel 

Publication 

Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies 

and State Compliance Reporting 

Website California Consortium for Independent Study 

Website California Department of Education, Independent Study 

Website Education Audit Appeals Panel 

 

 

Code Description 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3516.5 Emergency Schedules 

Cross References 

Page 196 of 459



3580 District Records 

3580 District Records 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

4131 Staff Development 

5111.1 District Residency 

5111.1 District Residency 

5112.3 Student Leave Of Absence 

5112.3 Student Leave Of Absence 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5146 Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6111 School Calendar 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

Page 197 of 459



6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6152 Class Assignment 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6183 Home And Hospital Instruction 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education 

Page 198 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

 

Definitions 
 

 

Live interaction means interaction between the student and classified or certificated staff, and may 

include peers, provided for the purpose of maintaining school connectedness, including, but not limited 

to, wellness checks, progress monitoring, provision of services, and instruction. This interaction may take 

place in -person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communication. (Education Code 51745.5) 
 

Student-parent-educator conference means a meeting involving, at a minimum, all parties who signed the 

student's written independent study agreement pursuant to Education Code 51747 or the written 

learning agreement pursuant to Education Code 51749.6. (Education Code 51745.5) 

 
Synchronous instruction means classroom-style instruction or designated small group or one-on-one 

instruction delivered in -person, or in the form of Internet or telephonic communications, and involving 

live two-way communication between the teacher and student. Synchronous instruction shall be 

provided by thea teacher or teachers of record for that student pursuant to Education Code 51747.5 or 

the certificated employee providing instruction for course-based independent study. (Education Code 

51745.5) 

 
Educational Opportunities 

 

 

For the 2021-22 school year, the district shall offer independent study to meet the educational needs of 

students as specified in Education Code 51745 unless the district has obtained a waiver. (Education 

Code 51745) 
 

 

Educational opportunities offered through independent study may include, but are not limited to: 

(Education Code 51745) 

 
1. Special assignments extending the content of regular courses of instruction 

Regulation 6158: Independent Study Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 10/01/2015 | Last Revised Date: 1209/01/20212022 | Last Reviewed Date: 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51745.5, as added by AB 130 (Ch. 44, Statutes of 2021), defines the 

terms "live interaction," "student-parent-educator conference," and "synchronous instruction" as 

provided below. 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional. Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 

130,181 (Ch. 52, Statutes of 2022), the district is required to offerlist of educational opportunities that 

may be provided through independent study to meet the educational needs of students for the 2021-22 

school year unless the district obtains a waiver from such requirement.includes Items #1-5 below, and 

may be revised or expanded to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following section is optional. Education Code 51745 lists educational opportunities 

that may be provided through independent study. The district may revise or expand items #1-6 below to 

reflect district practice. 

Page 199 of 459



2. Individualized study in a particular area of interest or in a subject not currently available in the 
regular school curriculum 

 

3. Individualized alternative education designed to teach the knowledge and skills of the core 
curriculum, but not provided as an alternative curriculum 

 

4. 3.Continuing and special study during travel 
 

5. 4.Volunteer community service activities and leadership opportunities that support and strengthen 
student achievement 

 

 

6. 5.Individualized study for a student whose health, as determined by the student's parent/guardian, 
would be put at risk by in-person instruction or for a student who is unable to attend in-person 
instruction due to a quarantine due to exposure to, or infection with, COVID-19, pursuant to local 
or state public health guidance 

 
In addition, when requested by a parent/guardian due to an emergency or illness, independent study may 

be used on a short-term basis to ensure that the student is able to maintain academic progress in the 

student's regular classes. 
 

 

No course required for high school graduation shall be offered exclusively through independent study. 

(Education Code 51745) 

 
Equivalency 

 
The district's independent study option shall be substantially equivalent in quality and quantity to 

classroom instruction to enable participating students to complete the district's adopted course of study 

within the customary timeframe. Students in independent study shall have access to the same services 

and resources that are available to other students in the school and shall have equal rights and privileges. 

(5 CCR 11700, 11701.5) 

 
Students participating in independent study shall have access to Internet connectivity and devices 

adequate to participate in the educational program and complete assigned work. (Education Code 

51747) 

 
The district shall not provide independent study students and their parents/guardians with funds or items 

of value that are not provided for other students and their parents/guardians. Providing access to 

Internet connectivity and local educational agencydistrict-owned devices adequate to participate in an 

independent study program and complete assigned work consistent with Education Code 51747, or to 

participate in an independent study course, as authorized by Education Code 51749.5, shall not be 

considered funds or other things of value. (Education Code 46300.6, 51747.3) 

 
Eligibility for Independent Study 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 167, permits districts to provide 

independent study to students who cannot participate in classroom-based instruction due to a 

COVID-19 quarantine. See the accompanying board policy. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts maintaining high schools. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51748, independent study students must be enrolled in 

school as a condition of receiving state apportionments. 
Page 200 of 459



To participate in independent study, a student shall be enrolled in a district school. (Education Code 

51748) 

 

 

For the 2022-23 school year and thereafter, theThe Superintendent or designee may approve the 

participation of a student who demonstrates the motivation, commitment, organizational skills, and 

academic skills necessary to work independently provided that experienced certificated staff are available 

to effectively supervise students in independent study. The Superintendent or designee may also 

approve the participation of a student whose health would be put at risk by in-person instruction. A 

student whose academic performance is not at grade level may participate in independent study only if 

the program is able to provide appropriate support, such as supplemental instruction, tutoring, 

counseling, ongoing diagnostic assessments, and/or differentiated materials, to enable the student to be 

successful. For an elementary student, the Superintendent or designee may consider the 

parent/guardian's level of commitment to assist the student. 

 

 

A student participating in independent study must be a resident of the county or an adjacent county. 

Full-time independent study shall not be available to students whose district residency status is based on 

their parent/guardian's employment within district boundaries pursuant to Education Code 48204. 

(Education Code 46300.2, 51747.3) 
 

A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, shall not participate in independent 

study unless the student's individualized education program specifically provides for such participation. 

(Education Code 51745 (Education Code 46300.2, 51747.3) 

 

 

With the exception of students who, during the 2021-2022 school year, cannot participate in classroom- 

based instruction due to a COVID-19 quarantine or school closure, a 

 

 

A student with disabilities, as defined in Education Code 56026, may participate in independent study if 

the student's individualized education program (IEP) specifically provides for such participation. If a 

parent/guardian of a student with disabilities requests independent study because the student’s health 

would be put at risk by in-person instruction, the student’s IEP team shall make an individualized 

determination as to whether the student can receive a free appropriate public education (FAPE) in an 

independent study placement. A student’s inability to work independently, need for adult support, or 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph limits eligibility for independent study to those students for 

whom state apportionments can be claimed. Education Code 46300.2 provides that districts will receive 

state funding for independent study for students who are residents of the county or an adjacent county. 

Pursuant to Education Code 51747.3, students whose residency status is based on parent/guardian 

employment within district boundaries (in accordance with Education Code 48204(b)) are not eligible for 

funds apportioned for average daily attendance (ADA). 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747, as amended by AB 167, relaxes certain independent study 

requirements for the 2021-22 school year for students who cannot participate in classroom-based 

instruction as a result of a quarantine order or school closure due to COVID-19, including the limitation 

on providing a temporarily disabled student individual instruction pursuant to Education Code 48206.3 by 

means of independent study. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51745, as amended by AB 181, a student with disabilities may 

participate in independent study if the student’s individualized education program specifically provides 

for such participation, as specified below. 

Page 201 of 459



need for special education or related services shall not preclude the IEP team from determining that the 

student can receive FAPE in an independent study placement. (Education Code 51745) 

 

 

In addition, any student with disabilities who receives services from a nonpublic, nonsectarian school 

through a virtual program may be permitted to participate in independent study if the student’s IEP team 

determines that FAPE can be provided to the student by means of the virtual program and other 

conditions of law are satisfied. 
 

A temporarily disabled student shall not receive individual instruction pursuant to Education Code 

48206.3 by means ofthrough independent study. (Education Code 51747)51745) 

 

 

Students age 21 or older, and students age 19 or older who have not been continuously enrolled in 

school since their 18th birthday, may participate in independent study only through the adult education 

program for the purpose of enrolling in courses required for a high school diploma by Education Code 

51225.3 or the Governing Board. (Education Code 46300.1, 46300.4) 
 

 

NoExcept for students participating in independent study due to an emergency as described in Education 

Code 41422 and 46392 and pregnant and parenting students who are the primary caregiver for their 

child(ren), no more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity 

school or program, not including pregnant students and parenting students who are primary caregivers 

for one or more of their children, shall be enrolled in independent study. (Education Code 51745) 
 

Monitoring Student Progress 

 

The independent study administrator and/or supervising teacher shall promptly and directly address any 

failure by the student to meet the terms of the student's written agreement. The following supportive 

strategies may be used: 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is based on uncodified Section 110 of AB 181 and will remain in 

effect only until July 1, 2024. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 46300.1 provides that the district may not receive apportionments 

pursuant to Education Code 42238 for The following paragraph limits enrollment in independent study 

forto those students age 21 or older, or for students 19 or older who have not been continuously 

enrolled in grades K-12 since their 18th birthday. However, pursuantfor whom state apportionments can 

be claimed. Pursuant to Education Code 46300.4, these students may be 51745, as amended by AB 181, 

no more than 10 percent of the students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity school or 

program are eligible for apportionment credit for independent study through, with the adult education 

program for courses required for high school graduation. See BP/AR 6200 - Adult Educationexception of 

students participating in independent study due to an emergency as described in Education Code 41422 

and 46392. A pregnant student or a parenting student who is the primary caregiver for the student's 

child(ren) is not included in this cap. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph limits enrollment in independent study to those students for whom 

state apportionments can be claimed. Pursuant to Education Code 51745, no more than 10 percent of 

the students enrolled in a continuation high school or opportunity school or program are eligible for 

apportionment credit for independent study. A pregnant student or a parenting student who is the 

primary caregiver for the student's child(ren) is not included in this cap. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 202 of 459



1. A letter to the student and/or parent/guardian 
 

2. A meeting between the student and the teacher and/or counselor 
 

3. A meeting between the student and the independent study administrator, including the 
parent/guardian if appropriate 

 

4. An increase in the amount of time the student works under direct supervision 

 
When the student has failed to make satisfactory educational progress or missed the number of 

assignments specified in the written agreement as requiring an evaluation, the Superintendent or 

designee shall conduct an evaluation to determine whether or not independent study is appropriate forin 

the studentstudent’s best interest. This evaluation may result in termination of the independent study 

agreement and the student's return to the regular classroom program or other alternative program. 

(Education Code 51747, 51749.5; 5 CCR 11701) 
 

A written record of the findings of any such evaluation shall be treated as a mandatory interim student 

record which shall be maintained for three years from the date of the evaluation. (Education Code 

51747, and if the student transfers to another public school in California, the record shall be forwarded to 

that school. (Education Code 51747, 51749.5) 
 

Responsibilities of Independent Study Administrator 
 

 

The responsibilities of the independent study administrator include, but are not limited to: 

 
1. Recommending certificated staff to be assigned as independent study teachers at the required 

teacher-student ratios pursuant to Education Code 51745.6 and supervising staff assigned to 
independent study functions who are not regularly supervised by another administrator 

 

2. Approving or denying the participation of students requesting independent study 
 

3. Facilitating the completion of written independent study agreements 
 

4. Ensuring a smooth transition for students into and out of the independent study mode of 
instruction 

 

5. Approving all credits earned through independent study 
 

6. Completing or coordinating the preparation of all records and reports required by law, Board 
policy, or administrative regulation 

 
Assignment and Responsibilities of Independent Study Teachers 

 
Each student's independent study shall be coordinated, evaluated, and carried out under the general 

supervision of a district employee who possesses a valid certification document pursuant to Education 

Code 44865 or emergency credential pursuant to Education Code 44300, registered as required by law, 

and who consents to the assignment. (Education Code 44865, 51747.5; 5 CCR 11700) 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51745.6, the equivalency of teacher-student ratios as 

described below is a necessary condition for the district to receive apportionments for independent 

study. The district may exceed these ratios, but those additional units of independent study ADA 
Page 203 of 459



 
 

The ratio of student average daily attendance for independent study students age 18 years or younger to 

full-time equivalent certificated employees responsible for independent study shall not exceed the 

equivalent ratio for all other education programs in the district, unless a new higher or lower ratio for all 

other educational programs offered is negotiated in a collective bargaining agreement or the district 

enters into a memorandum of understanding that indicates an existing collective bargaining agreement 

contains an alternative ratio. (Education Code 51745.6) 
 

 

The responsibilities of the supervising teacher shall include, but are not limited to: 

 
1. Completing designated portions of the written independent study agreement and signing the 

agreement 
 

2. Supervising and approving coursework and assignments 
 

3. Maintaining records of student assignments showing the date the assignment is given and the 
date the assignment is due 

 

4. Maintaining a daily or hourly attendance register in accordance with itemItem #4 in the section on 
"Records for Audit Purpose" in the accompanying Board policy 

 

5. Providing direct instruction and counsel as necessary for individual student success 
 

6. Regularly meeting with the student to discuss the student's progress 
 

 

7. Determining the time value of assigned work or work products completed and submitted by the 
student 

 

8. Assessing student work and assigning grades or other approved measures of achievement 

would not be funded. 

 
Pursuant toThe Education Code 51745.6, as amended by AB 130, the Audit Appeals Panel’s, “Guide for 

Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies and State Compliance Reporting must incorporate,” 

includes verification of applicablethat the district calculated its independent study teacher-student 

ratios commencing in the 2021-22 fiscal yearratio consistent with Education Code 51745.6. . 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 130 and AB 167, requires districts to 

document each student's participation in live interaction and synchronous instruction pursuant to 

Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for which live interaction 

or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study program. A student who does 

CSBA NOTE: The remainder of this section is optional and may be revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51747.5, as amended by AB 167181, the district may only 

claim apportionment credit for independent study based ononly to the extent of the time value of 

student work products as personally judged in each instance by a certificated teacher employed by 

employee of the district., or the combined time value of student work products and participation in 

synchronous instruction, as long as the synchronous instructional offering augments the time value of 

the student work product and evidence of student participation is furnished and maintained. Evidence 

of student participation may include, but is not limited to, student work produced or performed as 

verified by a certificated employee and maintained by the district for each hour or fraction of an hour of 

the synchronous instructional offering. Education Code 51747.5 specifies that the teacher is not 

required to sign and date the work products. 

Page 204 of 459



 
 

9. Documenting each student's participation in live interaction and/or synchronous instruction 
pursuant to Education Code 51747 on each school day, as applicable, in whole or in part, for 
which live interaction or synchronous instruction is provided as part of the independent study 
program 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that independent study teachers have access to professional 

development and support comparable to classroom-based teachers. 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 

State Description 

5 CCR 11700-11705 Independent study 

Ed. Code 17289 Exemption for facilities 

Ed. Code 41020 Requirement for annual audit 

Ed. Code 41422 Apportionment credit for student inability to attend in- 

person or school closure due to COVID-19 

Ed. Code 41976.2 Independent study programs; adult education funding 

Ed. Code 42238 Revenue limits 

Ed. Code 42238.05 Local control funding formula; average daily attendance 

Ed. Code 44865 Qualifications for home teachers 

Ed. Code 46100 Length of school day 

Ed. Code 46200-46208 Incentives for longer instructional day and year 

Ed. Code 46300-46307.1 Methods of computing average daily attendance 

Ed. Code 46390-46393 Emergency average daily attendance 

Ed. Code 46600 Interdistrict attendance computation 

Ed. Code 47612-47612.1 Charter School Operation 

Ed. Code 47612.5 Charter schools operations, general requirements 

Ed. Code 48204 Residency requirements for school attendance 

Ed. Code 48206.3 Home or hospital instruction; students with temporary 

disabilities 

Ed. Code 48220 Classes of children exempted 

not participate in scheduled live interaction or synchronous instruction on a school day shall be 

documented as nonparticipatory for that school day, for purposes of student participation reporting and 

tiered reengagement pursuant to Education Code 51747. 

Page 205 of 459



Ed. Code 48340 Improvement of pupil attendance 

Ed. Code 48915 Expulsion; particular circumstances 

Ed. Code 48916.1 Educational program requirements for expelled students 

Ed. Code 48917 Suspension of expulsion order 

Ed. Code 49011 Student fees 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation 

Ed. Code 51745-51749.6 Independent study 

Ed. Code 52060 Local Control and Accountability Plan 

Ed. Code 52522 Adult education alternative instructional delivery 

Ed. Code 52523 Adult education as supplement to high school curriculum; 

criteria 

Ed. Code 56026 Individual with exceptional needs 

Ed. Code 58500-58512 Alternative schools and programs of choice 

Fam. Code 6550-6552 Caregivers 

Federal Description 

20 USC 6301 Highly qualified teachers 

20 USC 6311 State plan 

Management Resources Description 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Legal Requirements for Independent Study, 2021 

Conducting Individualized Determinations of Need, 2021 

Clarifications for Student Learning in Quarantine, 2021 

2021-22 AA & IT Independent Study FAQs, 2021 

California Digital Learning Integration and Standards 

Guidance, April 2021 

Elements of Exemplary Independent Study 

Court Decision Modesto City Schools v. Education Audits Appeal Panel, 

(2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 1365 

Education Audit Appeals Panel 

Publication 

Guide for Annual Audits of K-12 Local Education Agencies 

and State Compliance Reporting 

Website California Consortium for Independent Study 

Website California Department of Education, Independent Study 

Website Education Audit Appeals Panel 
Page 206 of 459



 

Code Description 

Cross References 

Page 207 of 459



 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0470 COVID-19 Mitigation Plan 

0500 Accountability 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3516.5 Emergency Schedules 

3580 District Records 

3580 District Records 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

4131 Staff Development 

5111.1 District Residency 

5111.1 District Residency 

5112.3 Student Leave Of Absence 

5112.3 Student Leave Of Absence 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113 Absences And Excuses 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5121 Grades/Evaluation Of Student Achievement 

5125 Student Records 

5125 Student Records 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5126 Awards For Achievement 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.22 Infectious Diseases 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5141.31 Immunizations 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process 

5144.1 Suspension And Expulsion/Due Process Page 208 of 459



 

5146 Married/Pregnant/Parenting Students 

5147 Dropout Prevention 

6000 Concepts And Roles 

6011 Academic Standards 

6111 School Calendar 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6152 Class Assignment 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6183 Home And Hospital Instruction 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6185 Community Day School 

6185 Community Day School 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education Page 209 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 6178: Career Technical Education Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2008 | Last Revised Date: 1009/01/20182022 | Last Revie 

1009/01/20182022 

wed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board desires to provide a comprehensive career technical education (CTE) program in the 

secondary grades which integrates core academic instruction with technical and occupational instruction 

in order to increase student achievement, graduation rates, and readiness for postsecondary education 

and employment. The district's CTE program shall be designed to help students develop the academic, 

career, and technical skills needed to succeed in a knowledge- and skills-based economy. The program 

shall include a rigorous academic component and provide students with practical experience and 

understanding of all aspects of an industry. 
 
 

The district's CTE program shall focus on preparing students to enter current or emerging high-skill, high- 

wage, and/or high-demand occupations. by providing a rigorous academic component and practical 

experience in all aspects of an industry. CTE opportunities may be offered through linked learning 

programs, partnership academies, apprenticeship programs or orientation to apprenticeships, regional 

occupational centers or programs (ROC/Ps), charter schools, small learning communities, magnet 

programs, or other programs that expose students to career options while preparing them for future 

careers in a given industry or interest area. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall explore available funding sources that may be used to support CTE 

programs. The Board shall review and approve all district plans and applications for the use of district, 

state, and/or federal funds supporting CTE. 
 

CSBA NOTE: The following policy is for use by districts that maintain any of grades 7-12. Education 

Code 51220 requires that the adopted course of study for grades 7-12 include courses in career 

technical education (CTE); see BP/AR 6143 - Courses of Study. 

 
Funding for CTE programs may be available through the federal Strengthening Career and Technical 

Education for the 21st Century Act, sometimes referred to as Perkins V (20 USC 2301-2414, as 

amended by P.L. 115-224 and effective July 1, 2019), and state grant programs such as the California 

Career Pathways Trust pursuant to Education Code 53010-53016 and, the California Career Technical 

Education Incentive Grant Program pursuant to Education Code 53070-53076.4, as amended by AB 

1808 (Ch. 32, Statutes of 2018).the Golden State Pathways Program pursuant to Education Code 

53020-53025, the Apprenticeship Innovation Funding Program pursuant to Labor Code 3110-3112.1, 

and Youth Apprenticeship pursuant to Labor Code 3120-3122.4. In addition, secondary schools may 

offer CTE through partnership academies (Education Code 54690-54697), regional occupational centers 

and programs (ROC/Ps) (Education Code 52300-52335.12), and/or district-funded programs. 

 
The following policy should be revised to reflect program(s) offered by the district and grade levels at 

which such programs shall be offered. 

CSBA NOTE: State model curriculum standards for CTE for grades 7-12 integrate the state's academic 

content standards with industry-specific knowledge and skills in 58 career pathways organized into 15 

industry sectors: agriculture and natural resources; arts, media, and entertainment; building trades and 

construction; education, child development, and family services; energy and utilities; engineering and 

design; fashion and interior design; finance and business; health science and medical technology; 

hospitality, tourism, and recreation; information technology; manufacturing and product development; 

marketing, sales, and service; public services; and transportation. The state's curriculum framework for 
Page 210 of 459



 
 

The Board shall adopt district standards for CTE which meet or exceed the state's model content 

standards and describe the essential knowledge and skills that students enrolled in these courses are 

expected to master. The course curriculum shall be aligned with district-adopted standards and the 

state's curriculum framework. 
 

 

At least every three years, the Board shall compare the district's curriculum, course content, and course 

sequence of CTE with the model state curriculum standards. (Education Code 52376) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall systematically review the district's CTE courses to determine the 

degree to which each course may offer an alternative means for completing and receiving credit for 

specific portions of the course of study prescribed by the district for high school graduation. The Board 

CTE courses approved for these purposes shall ensure that these classes arebe equivalent in content and 

rigor to the courses prescribed for graduation. (Education Code 52376) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall develop partnerships with local businesses and industries to ensure 

that course sequences, career technical and integrated curriculum, classroom instruction and projects, 

and assessments have real-world relevance and reflect labor market needs and priorities. He/sheThe 

Superintendent or designee shall also work to develop connections with businesses, postsecondary 

institutions, community organizations, and/or other employers to provide students with actual or 

simulated work-based learning opportunities. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with postsecondary institutions to ensure that the 

district's program is articulated with postsecondary programs in order to provide a sequential course of 

study. Articulation opportunities may include dual or concurrent enrollment in community college 

courses. 

CTE provides guidance in implementing the state content standards. Any district that adopts a course of 

study that meets or exceeds the state model curriculum standards will be deemed to have satisfied the 

requirement of Education Code 51228 that the district offer students in grades 7-12 the opportunity to 

attain entry-level employment skills in business or industry upon high school graduation; see BP 6143 - 

Courses of Study. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52376, the following two paragraphs are mandated for 

districts that accept funds for the purpose of developing and implementing, in consultation with the 

ROC/P and community college serving the geographic area of the district, a CTE program for high 

school students. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52376 requires districts to determine the extent to which their CTE 

courses may offer an alternative means for completing course requirements for high school graduation. 

In addition, Education Code 51225.3, as amended by AB 101 (Ch. 661, Statutes of 2021), no longer 

authorizes the Board to include a course in CTE to serve as an alternative to the visual or performing 

arts or foreignworld language course requirement for high school graduation. However, if a student 

completed a CTE course prior to July 1, 2022 that met the requirements of Education Code 51225.3, 

such course will fulfill the visual or performing arts or world language graduation requirement; see BP 

6146.1 - High School Graduation Requirements. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51760.1 authorizes districts, county offices of education, ROC/Ps, and 

partnership academies to provide work-based learning opportunities which may include, but are not 

limited to, work experience education as defined in Education Code 51764, community classrooms or 

cooperative CTE programs as defined in Education Code 52372.1, and job shadowing as defined in 

Education Code 51769; see BP/AR 6178.1 - Work-Based Learning. In addition, although not specified in 

state law, other examples of work-based learning opportunities cited in the CDE's publication , “Multiple 

Pathways to Student Success: Envisioning the New California High School,” include student 

internships/field study, apprenticeships, service learning, work in social/civic enterprises or school- 

based enterprises such as student stores, and technology-based or other simulated work experiences. 

Page 211 of 459



 
 

The Board shall appoint a CTE advisory committee to develop recommendations on the district's CTE 

program and to serve as a liaison between the district and potential employers. The committee shall 

consist of at least one student, teacher, business representative, industry representative, school 

administrator, member of the general public knowledgeable about the disadvantaged, and representative 

of the field office of the California Employment Development Department. (Education Code 8070) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall inform all secondary students and their parents/guardians about 

the CTE experiences available in the district, CTE courses that satisfy college admission criteria, and, if 

applicable, CTE courses that satisfy high school graduation requirements. In addition, secondary 

students shall receive individualized academic counseling which provides information about academic and 

CTE opportunities related to the student's career goals. 
 

 

Prior to the beginning of each school year, the Superintendent or designee shall advise students, 

parents/guardians, employees, and the general public that all CTE opportunities are offered without 

regard to any actual or perceived characteristic protected from discrimination by law. The notification 

shall be disseminated in languages other than English as needed and shall state that the district will take 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 8070 requires the Board to appoint a CTE advisory committee composed 

of representatives from specified groups, as detailed below. During the Federal Program Monitoring 

process, CDE staff will review whether the district has appointed such a committee. 

 
In addition, pursuant to 20 USC 2354, as amended by P.L. 115-224, districts that receive Perkins V 

funding are required to involve specified stakeholders in conducting a needs assessment and developing 

the district application, and on a continuing basis thereafter. One way to accomplish this is to include 

such stakeholders on the CTE advisory committee. Other programs may have similar requirements for 

stakeholder involvement. The following paragraph may be revised to reflect requirements applicable to 

programs offered by the district. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be revised to reflect district practice. Among the 

criteria for admission to the University of California (UC) or California State University (CSU) system is a 

requirement that high school students satisfactorily complete 15 units of specified courses ("a-gA-G" 

courses). These include a growing number of CTE courses that connect knowledge of academic content 

with practical or work-related applications. Education Code 51229 requires that districts annually 

provide parents/guardians of students in grades 9-12 with (1) a brief explanation of the a-gA-G course 

requirements; (2) a list of UC and CSU web sites that provide related information and a list of certified a- 

gA-G courses; (3) a brief description of CTE, as defined by CDE; (4) the Internet address for the portion 

of the CDECDE’s web site where students can learn more about CTE; and (5) information about how 

students may meet with school counselors to help them choose courses that will meet college admission 

requirements and/or to enroll in CTE courses. See AR 6143 - Courses of Study and E 5145.6 - Parental 

Notifications. 

 
In addition, districts that include a course in CTE as an alternative to the visual or performing arts or 

foreign language course requirement for high school graduation, as authorized by Education Code 

51225.3, are required by Education Code 48980 to provide a list of CTE courses offered by the district 

that satisfy the a-g course requirements for college admission and to specify which requirements they 

satisfy. Districts that do not allow this alternative graduation requirement should modify the following 

paragraph accordingly.(1) 5145.6 - Parental Notifications. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 34 CFR 100 (Appendix B), the notice specified below may be made in local 

newspapers, publications or media reaching target populations, or by other means and should include a 

brief summary of program offerings, admission criteria, and the name and contact information of the 

person designated to coordinate Title IX and Section 504 compliance activity. If the population within 

the district contains a community of persons with limited English language skills, the notification must be 

disseminated in the languages of the community. See BP 5145.6 - Parental Notifications for state 

requirements pertaining to the translation of parental notifications. 

Page 212 of 459



steps to ensure that the lack of English language skills will not be a barrier to admission and participation 

in the district's CTE program. (20 USC 2354; 34 CFR 100 Appendix B, 104.8, 106.9) 
 

 

To the extent required by law, the Superintendent or designee shall invite the participation of private 

school students in CTE programs supported by federal funding under the Strengthening Career and 

Technical Education for the 21st Century Act (Perkins). (20 USC 2397) 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall collaborate with businesses, government agencies, postsecondary 
institutions including universities and career technical schools, community organizations, and/or other 
employers to provide students with actual or simulated work-based learning opportunities through 
college and/or career fairs. 

 

 

When planning to hold a college or career fair, the Superintendent or designee shall notify each 
apprenticeship program in the county. The notification shall include the planned date, time and location 
of the college or career fair. (Labor Code 3074.2) 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that teachers of CTE courses possess the qualifications and 

credentials necessary to teach their assigned courses. He/sheThe Superintendent or designee shall also 

provide teachers and administrators with professional development designed to enhance their knowledge 

of standards-aligned CTE and shall provide opportunities for CTE teachers to collaborate with teachers of 

academic courses in the development and implementation of integrated curriculum models. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall provide counselors and other guidance personnel with professional 

development that includes, but is not limited to, information about current workforce needs and trends, 

requirements of the district's CTE program, work-based learning opportunities, and postsecondary 

education and employment options following high school. 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly assess district needs for facilities, technologies, and 

equipment to increase students' access to the district's CTE program. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is for use by districts that receive funding through Perkins V for 

basic CTE programs pursuant to 20 USC 2301-2414. See the accompanying administrative regulation 

for further information regarding the participation of private school students and staff in district 

programs. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Labor Code 3074.2, as added by AB 643 (Ch. 324, Statutes of 2021), districts 
are encouraged to provide students with opportunities to explore, make career choices, and seek 
appropriate instruction and training to support those choices, by hosting locally focused apprenticeship 
and/or career technical education fair events, such as college and career fairs. 

CSBA NOTE: Labor Code 3074.2, as added by AB 643, requires any district planning to hold a college or 
career fair to identify approved apprenticeship programs in the county and notify such programs that 
they are hosting a college or career fair. To identify approved programs the district is required to rely on 
the Division of Apprenticeship Standards’ database of approved apprenticeship programs, located on its 
web site. 

CSBA NOTE: Teachers of technical, trade, or vocational courses must possess a single subject credential 

or a designated subjects credential issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing which authorizes 

teaching CTE courses. The designated subjects CTE credential is available in 15 subjects which reflect 

the 15 industry sectors identified in the state's model curriculum standards; see AR 4112.2 - 

Certification. In order to obtain the preliminary designated subjects credential, teachers must have at 

least three years of work experience directly related to each industry sector specified on the credential. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 17078.72 provides funding for 

improving and expanding CTE programs through construction of new facilities, remodeling of existing 

facilities, and/or purchase of equipment. 

Page 213 of 459



 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall annually report to the Board achievement data on participating 

students, including, but not limited to, the percentage of participating students who successfully 

complete CTE programs, their performance on state and district academic achievement tests, and 

graduation raterates. Data shall be disaggregated by program and various student subgroups. Based on 

such data, the Board shall determine the need for program improvements and update the goals in the 

district's local control and accountability plan as necessary. 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 
 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

5 CCR 10070-10075 Work experience education 

5 CCR 10080-10092 Community classrooms 

5 CCR 10100-10111 Cooperative vocational education 

5 CCR 11500-11508 Regional occupational centers and programs 

5 CCR 11535-11538 Career technical education contracts with private 

postsecondary schools 

5 CCR 11610-11611 Regional adult and vocational education councils 

5 CCR 1635 Credit for work experience education 

5 CCR 3051.14 Specially designed career technical education for students 

with disabilities 

8 CCR 200-240 Apprenticeships 

Ed. Code 1205 Classification of counties 

Ed. Code 17078.70-17078.72 Career technical education facilities 

Ed. Code 33430-33432 Health science and medical technology grants 

Ed. Code 35168 Inventory of equipment 

Ed. Code 41540-41544 Targeted instructional improvement block grant 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect requirements applicable to programs 

offered by the district. Pursuant to Education Code 52060, the district must annually review its progress 

toward the goals identified in its local control and accountability plan, including, when applicable, 

measures of student achievement such as the percentage of students who have successfully completed 

courses that satisfy the requirements for CTE sequences or programs of study that align with state CTE 

standards and frameworks. The California School Dashboard provides a tool to assist in evaluation of 

district and school performance and includes measures of CTE pathway completion within the 

college/career readiness indicator. 

 
In addition, each district receiving Perkins V funding must evaluate its progress in achieving specific 

performance levels on core indicators as detailed in the state plan and 20 USC 2323, as amended by P.L. 

115-224.. Pursuant to 20 USC 2343, if the district falls below 90 percent on any of these targets, the 

district will be required to develop and implement an improvement plan. 

Page 214 of 459

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1205.&lawCode=EDC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=17078.70.&lawCode=EDC


Ed. Code 44257.3 CTC recognition of study in linked learning teaching methods 

Ed. Code 44260-44260.1 Designated subjects career technical education credential 

Ed. Code 44260.9 Designated subjects career technical education credential 

Ed. Code 48430 Continuation education schools and classes 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 51220-51230 Course of study for grades 7-12 

Ed. Code 51760-51769.5 Work experience education 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 52300-52499.66 Career technical education 

Ed. Code 52519-52520 Adult education,; occupational training 

Ed. Code 53010-53016 California Career Pathways Trust 

Ed. Code 53020-53025 Golden State Pathways Program 

Ed. Code 53070-53076.4 The California Career Technical Education Incentive Grant 

Program 

Ed. Code 53086 California Career Resource Network 

Ed. Code 54690-54699.1 California Partnership Academies 

Ed. Code 54750-54760 California Partnership Academies,; green technology and 

goods movement occupations 

Ed. Code 56363 Related services for students with disabilities; specially 

designed career technical education 

Ed. Code 66205.5-66205.9 Approval of career technical education courses for admission 

to California colleges 

Ed. Code 8006-8155 Career technical education 

Ed. Code 88500-88551 Community college economic and workforce development 

program 

Gov. Code 54950-54963 The Ralph M. Brown Act 

Lab. Code 3070-3099.5 Apprenticeships 

Lab. Code 3110-3112.1 Apprenticeship Innovation Funding Program 

Labor Code 3120-3122.4 Youth Apprenticeship 

Federal Description 

20 USC 2301-2414 Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st 

Century Act 

20 USC 6301-6578 Improving the Academic Achievement of the Disadvantaged 

34 CFR 100 Appendix B Guidelines for eliminating discrimination in career 

technical education programs 

34 CFR 104.1-104.39 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

34 CFR 106.1-106.61 Discrimination on the basis of sex,; effectuating Title IX 

Management Resources Description 
 

Page 215 of 459

https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?req=granuleid%3AUSC-prelim-title20-section6301&num=0&edition=prelim


California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Career Technical Education Model Curriculum 

Standards, Grades Seven Through Twelve, January 2013 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Career Technical Education Framework for California Public 

Schools, Grades Seven Through Twelve, January 2007 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Multiple Pathways to Student Success: Envisioning the New 

California High School, 2010 

CSBA Publication The Linked Learning Approach to High School Reform, 

Governance Brief, January 2014 

CSBA Publication A Governance Perspective: Interviews with School Board 

Members from the Nine Linked Learning Initiative School 

Districts, March 2014 

Website Association for Career and Technical Education 

Website California Association of Regional Occupational Centers and 

Programs 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office of Vocational and Adult 

Education 

Website U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics 

Website California Department of Education, Career Technical 

Education 

Website California Department of Employment Development 

Website California Workforce Development Board 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations 

Website University of California, A-G Course Submissions 

Website California Career Resource Network 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations 

Website University of California, a-g Course Submissions 

Website Commission on Teacher Credentialing 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0415 Equity 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

Cross References 

Page 216 of 459

http://www.acteonline.org/
http://www.carocp.org/
http://www.carocp.org/
http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/cte/index.html
http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/cte/index.html
http://www.bls.gov/
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/ct
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/ct
http://www.edd.ca.gov/
http://www.cwdb.ca.gov/
http://www.dir.ca.gov/
https://hs-articulation.ucop.edu/guide/update-your-a-g-list/submitting-courses
http://www.californiacareers.info/
http://www.ctc.ca.gov/
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=9fOxm6YSOsjBQ7YLPgBzQA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=Gkdo9plusDt6Vyplusttm90K5WHg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=reI1K7XIeObnehrNUMDz6w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=TGB3d9RZOEFIslshac4O9Iibw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=D3mslshhxiWA66PiLzVQnYPbg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=eTTKhAGZDUZ5bldHQfXllg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030152&revid=sTN7HQJDOPoMtU4jkkplusy6Q%3D%3D


0500 Accountability 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1700 Relations Between Private Industry And The Schools 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3440 Inventories 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

4131 Staff Development 

4331 Staff Development 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5145.6 Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E PDF(1) Parental Notifications 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

6011 Academic Standards 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6020 Parent Involvement 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141.4 International Baccalaureate Program 

6143 Courses Of Study 

Page 217 of 459



6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.5 Student Organizations And Equal Access 

6145.5 Student Organizations And Equal Access 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6171 Title I Programs 

6171 Title I Programs 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

Page 218 of 459



6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education 

7110 Facilities Master Plan 

Page 219 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 6178: Career Technical Education Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 03/01/2008 | Last Revised Date: 1009/01/20182022 | Last Revie 

1009/01/20182022 

wed Date: 

 

 

Federal Grants for Career Technical Education (Perkins) 
 

 

The district shall submit to the California Department of Education an application for a basic grant of the 

federal Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act. The application shall 

address the components specified in 20 USC 2354 and any additional requirements specified in the state 

plan developed pursuant to 20 USC 2342. (20 USC 2354) 

 
The district shall conduct a needs assessment in accordance with 20 USC 2354, which shall be updated at 

least once every two years. The needs assessment shall be conducted in consultation with 

representatives of district career technical education (CTE) programs, postsecondary CTE programs, state 

or local workforce development boards and businesses, parents/guardians, students, and other specified 

stakeholders. (20 USC 2354) 
 

 

To meet the needs identified in the needs assessment, the Superintendent or designee shall develop, 

coordinate, implement, or improve CTE programs that are of sufficient size, scope, and quality to be 

effective and that fulfill the following purposes: (20 USC 2355) 

 
1. Provide career exploration and career development activities through an organized, systematic 

framework designed to aid students, including students in the middle grades, in making informed 
plans and decisions about future education and career opportunities and programs of study. Such 
activities shall occur before students enroll and while they are participating in a CTE program, and 
may include: 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional administrative regulation should be revised to reflect program(s) 

offered by the district. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that receive basic grants to support 

programs of career technical education (CTE) pursuant to the Strengthening Career and Technical 

Education for the 21st Century Act, often referred to as Perkins V (20 USC 2301-2355, as amended by 

P.L. 115-224). As amended, the "hold harmless" provision has been replaced with a guarantee), which 

guarantees that each state will receive a minimum grant equal to 90 percent of its prior year allocation, 

effective in fiscal year 2021. 

 
During the Federal Program Monitoring (FPM) process, California Department of Education (CDE) staff 

will review whether the district uses these federal funds to supplement, not supplant, state and local 

funds for CTE activities, as required by 20 USC 2391, and whether funds are used for appropriate 

purposes as described in 20 USC 2355 and in the state plan adopted pursuant to 20 USC 2342. As 

amended by P.L. 115-224, 20 USC 2342 authorizes states to develop a one-year transition plan until 

Perkins V becomes effective July 1, 2019, after which a four-year state plan will be required.four-year 

state plan adopted pursuant to 20 USC 2342. 

CSBA NOTE: The district may use Perkins V and other federal, state, and/or district funds to meet the 

program requirements listed below. P.L. 115-224 amended 20 USC 2355 to streamline the allowable 

uses of funds and eliminate the additional list of permissible uses. 

Page 220 of 459



a. Introductory courses or activities focused on career exploration and career awareness, 
including non-traditional fields 

 

b. Readily available career and labor market information, including information on 
occupational supply and demand, educational requirements, other information on careers 
aligned to economic priorities, and employment sectors 

 

c. Programs and activities related to the development of student graduation and career plans 
 

d. Career guidance and academic counselors who provide information on postsecondary 
education and career options 

 

e. Any other activity that advances knowledge of career opportunities and assists students in 
making informed decisions about future education and employment goals, including 
nontraditional fields 

 

f. Activities that provide students with strong experience in, and comprehensive 
understanding of, all aspects of an industry 

 

2. Provide the skills necessary to pursue careers in high-skill, high-wage, or in-demand industry 
sectors or occupations 

 

3. Integrate academic skills into CTE programs and programs of study to support participating 
students in meeting state academic standards 

 

4. Provide professional development for teachers, school leaders, administrators, specialized 
instructional support personnel, guidance counselors, and/or paraprofessionals, which may 
include the types of activities listed in 20 USC 2355 

 

5. Plan and carry out elements that support the implementation of CTE programs and programs of 
study and that result in increased student achievement. Such elements may include curriculum 
aligned with program requirements, sustainable relationships among community stakeholders, 
opportunities for students to participate in accelerated learning programs, equipment and 
instructional materials aligned with business and industry needs, and other activities specified in 
20 USC 2355. 

 

6. Develop and implement evaluations of the activities funded by the grant 
 

 

The district'sdistrict’s program shall provide activities to prepare special populations for high-skill, high- 

wage, or in-demand industry sectors or occupations that will lead to self-sufficiency. Special populations 

shall be provided with equal access to CTE programs and shall not be unlawfully discriminated against. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 20 USC 2354, the district application for Perkins V funding must describe how 

individuals will not be discriminated against based on their status as members of "“special populations,",” 

as defined in 20 USC 2302 as amended by P.L. 115-224. In addition, a district that receives federal aid is 

required by 34 CFR 100 (Appendix B), 104.8, and 106.9 to take "“continuing steps"” to notify students, 

parents/guardians, employees, employee organizations, and applicants for admission and employment 

that it does not discriminate in its educational programs or activities. See BP 0410 -– Nondiscrimination 

in District Programs and Activities. 

 
During the FPM process, CDE staff will check whether the district complies with requirements to (1) 

ensure equitable access by special population students through outreach, recruitment, enrollment, and 

placement activities; (2) identify and adopt strategies to overcome barriers to access or success in the 

program; (3) ensure that counseling materials and activities, including student program selection and 

career/employment selection, and promotional and recruitment efforts are nondiscriminatory; and (4) 

advise students, parents/guardians, employees, and the general public, prior to the beginning of the 

school year, that all CTE opportunities are offered without regard to race, color, national origin, sex, or 

disability in accordance with 34 CFR 100 (Appendix B). 

Page 221 of 459



Special populations include, but are not limited to, students with disabilities, students from economically 

disadvantaged families, pregnant and parenting students, out-of-work individuals, English learners, 

homeless students, foster youth, children of military families, and students preparing for nontraditional 

fields. Nontraditional fields include occupations or fields of work, including careers in computer science, 

technology, and other emerging high-skill occupations, for which individuals from one gender constitute 

less than 25 percent of the individuals employed in each such occupation or field of work. (20 USC 

2302, 2354, 2373) 

 
Upon written request from a nonprofit private school within the geographical area served by the district, 

the Superintendent or designee shall consult with private school representatives in a timely and 

meaningful manner and may provide for the participation of private school secondary students in the 

district'sdistrict’s programs and activities funded pursuant to 20 USC 2301-2414. To the extent 

practicable, the Superintendent or designee shall also, upon request, permit participation of CTE teachers, 

administrators, and other personnel from private schools in the district'sdistrict’s inservice and preservice 

professional development programs funded through such grants. (20 USC 2397) 

 
Linked Learning Programs 

 

 

The district shall offer one or more comprehensive, multi-year linked learning programs in grades 9-12 

that are organized around a broad theme, interest area, or industry sector including, but not limited to, 

the industry sectors identified in model standards adopted by the State Board of Education pursuant to 

Education Code 51226. The program shall provide all participating students with curriculum choices that 

prepare them for career entry and a full range of postsecondary options, including two-year and four-year 

colleges, apprenticeships, and formal employment training. 

 
At a minimum, the district'sdistrict’s linked learning program shall include: 

 

1. An integrated core curriculum that meets the eligibility requirements for admission to the 
University of California (UC) and the California State University (CSU) and is delivered through 
project-based learning and other engaging instructional strategies that bring real-world context 
and relevance to the curriculum where broad themes, interest areas, and CTE are emphasized 

 

2. An integrated technical core of a sequence of at least four related courses that may reflect CTE 
standards-based courses and that provide students with career skills, are aligned to academic 
principles, and fulfill academic core requirements described in itemItem #1 above to the extent 
possible 

 

3. A series of work-based learning opportunities that begin with mentoring and job shadowing and 
evolve into intensive internships, school-based enterprises, or virtual apprenticeships 

 

4. Support services, including supplemental instruction in reading and mathematics, that help 
students master the advanced academic and technical content that is necessary for success in 
college and career 

 
Partnership Academies 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that offer "“linked learning"” programs 

integrating academic and career technical study (sometimes called "“multiple pathways")”) and may be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that have established a partnership 

academy pursuant to Education Code 54690-54699.1 and 54750-54760. A partnership academy 

functions as a school-within-a-school with a career theme and related academic courses primarily 

directed at students who are at risk of dropping out. 

Page 222 of 459



The district shall operate one or more partnership academies as a school-within-a-school focused on a 

broad career theme. The program shall be available to students in grades 10-12, at least half of whom 

shall be students who are at risk of dropping out of school as indicated by three or more of the following 

criteria: (Education Code 54690-54691) 

 
1. Past record of irregular attendance, with absence from school 20 percent or more of the school 

year 
 

2. Past record of underachievement in which the student is at least one-third of a year behind the 
coursework for the respective grade level, or as demonstrated by credits achieved 

 

3. Past record of low motivation or disinterest in the regular school program 
 

4. Economic disadvantage 
 

5. Scores below basic or far below basic on the mathematics or English language arts test of the 
California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress 

 

6. A grade point average of 2.2 or below or the equivalent of a C minus 

 
Ninth-grade teachers and counselors shall identify students eligible to participate in a partnership 

academy. Participating students shall be selected by academy staff from among those who have 

expressed an interest in the academy and whose parents/guardians have approved the student'sstudent’s 

participation. (Education Code 54695) 

 
The district's program shall provide: (Education Code 54692) 

 
1. During each regular school term, instruction in at least three academic subjects that: 

 

a. Prepares students for a regular high school diploma 
 

b. Where possible and appropriate, prepares students to meet subject requirements for 
admission to the California State UniversityUC and University of California 
CSU 

 

c. Contributes to an understanding of the occupational field of the academy 
 

 

2. CTE or science, technology, engineering, and mathematics courses offered at each grade level at 
the academy that are part of an occupational course sequence that targets comprehensive skills 
and meets the criteria specified in Education Code 54692 

 

3. Classes that are block scheduled in a cluster whenever possible to provide flexibility to academy 
teachers and which may vary in number during grade 12 

 

4. A mentor from the business community for students during grade 11 
 

5. An employer-based internship or work experience that occurs during the summer following grade 
11 or during grade 12 

 

6. Additional motivational activities with private sector involvement to encourage academic and 
occupational preparation 

 
Attendance in academy classes shall be limited to students enrolled in the academy. (Education Code 

54692) 

CTECSBA NOTE: Education Code 54692, as amended by AB 1923 (Ch. 114, Statutes of 2022), includes 
science, technology, engineering, and mathematics courses as required alternative courses that must be 
offered to students participating in partnership academies. 

Page 223 of 459



The Superintendent or designee shall establish an advisory committee consisting of individuals involved in 

academy operations, including district and school administrators, lead teachers, and representatives of 

the private sector. (Education Code 54692) 

 
Apprenticeship Programs 

 

 

The district shall offer high school and/or adult education students a program of orientation to 

apprenticeships that acquaints students with a broad range of career options, provides information 

regarding available apprenticeship programs, and provides classroom instructional job training which 

guides students to a registered apprenticeable occupation. 

 
The district's program shall: 

 
1. Introduce students to what they need to know in order to apply, test, and interview for 

acceptance into an apprenticeship program 
 

2. Demonstrate the need for proficiency in reading and comprehension, mathematics, science, and 
technology 

 

3. Emphasize the necessity to have the ability to communicate in reading, writing, speaking, listening, 
and numeration skills 

 

4. Identify the knowledge, skills, and attitudes needed to enter and successfully complete an 
apprenticeship program 

 

5. Provide an orientation to a specific craft or trade or to an industry 
 

 

The district may enter into an agreement with a local business, labor or management apprenticeship 

committee, and/or joint labor-management apprenticeship committee that has been approved by the 

Department of Industrial Relations' Division of Apprenticeship Standards to sponsor an apprenticeship 

program in order to develop and deliver related and supplemental instruction to students participating in 

a registered apprenticeship program. (Education Code 8150-8155; Labor Code 3074, 3075, 3078) 

 
Regional Occupational Center/Program 

 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph may be used by districts that provide a program of 

"orientation to apprenticeships" to students who have not yet applied to an apprenticeship program. 

Such programs are sometimes referred to as "pre-apprenticeship programs." However, the Department 

of Industrial Relations (DIR), in its publication , “Orientation to Apprenticeship: A Guide for Educators,,” 

notes that "pre-apprentice" is used by some trades as a classification of worker and therefore prefers 

the term "orientation to apprenticeship" to refer to a program offered by secondary schools. Items #1-5 

below reflect key program components recommended in the DIR publication and may be revised to 

reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that contract with sponsors of 

approved apprenticeship programs (e.g., individual employers, labor or management apprenticeship 

committees, or joint labor-management apprenticeship committees) pursuant to Education Code 8150- 

8155 and Labor Code 3070-3099.5 to provide classes of related and supplemental instruction. 

Apprenticeship programs are offered for a period of one to six years (typically four years) and provide 

specialized on-the-job training that prepares an individual for employment in a craft or trade profession. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section is for use by districts that partner with or offer their own 

local regional occupational center or program (ROC/P) pursuant to Education Code 52300-52335.12, 

and may be revised to reflect district practice. Education Code 52301 authorizes the establishment of an 

Page 224 of 459



 
 

The district shall operate and/or partner with a regional occupational center or program (ROC/P), 

established pursuant to Education Code 52335.12, which offers CTE courses, linked learning programs, 

partnership academies, and/or pre-apprenticeship and apprenticeship programs as appropriate. 

 
Occupational course sequences offered by the ROC/P shall provide prerequisite courses needed to enter 

apprenticeship or postsecondary vocational certificate or degree programs, focus on occupations 

requiring comprehensive skills leading to high entry-level wages and/or the possibility of significant wage 

increases after a few years on the job, offer as many courses as possible that meet college admission 

requirements, and lead to attainment of an occupational skill certificate. (Education Code 52302) 

 
Student Organizations 

 

 

The district may provide support, including supplies, materials, activities, and advisor expenses, to student 

organizations which engage in activities that are integral to the CTE program and provide for the 

development of student leadership skills. However, no state or federal funds shall be used to pay 

students' membership dues, food or lodging expenses, out-of-state travel, or the cost of a social activity 

or assemblage. 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

5 CCR 10070-10075 Work experience education 

5 CCR 10080-10092 Community classrooms 

5 CCR 10100-10111 Cooperative vocational education 

5 CCR 11500-11508 Regional occupational centers and programs 

5 CCR 11535-11538 Career technical education contracts with private 

postsecondary schools 

5 CCR 11610-11611 Regional adult and vocational education councils 

5 CCR 1635 Credit for work experience education 

ROC/P by (1) the County Superintendent of Schools, with the approval of the State Board of Education 

(SBE); (2) two or more districts maintaining high schools, with the approval of the SBE and the County 

Superintendent; or (3) a single district with an average daily attendance (ADA) of 50,000 or more located 

in a class 1 county or a district with an ADA of 100,000 or more located in a class 2 county, as defined in 

Education Code 1205. ROC/P courses are open to secondary students, with priority enrollment given to 

students ages 16-18 or in grades 11-12. See BP 6178.2 - Regional Occupational Center/Program for 

additional program requirements. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional section may be used by districts providing any CTE program(s). 20 

USC 2355 permits the use of Perkins V funding to support career technical student organizations and 

related activities. According to CDE, state-supported organizations include California DECA: A 

Marketing Association (formerly Distributive Education Clubs of America), Future Business Leaders of 

America (FBLA), Future Farmers of America (FFA), Future Homemakers of America-Home Economics 

Related Occupations (FHA-HERO), Health Occupations Students of America (HOSA), and Skills USA 

(formerly Vocational Industrial Clubs of America-VICA). 

Page 225 of 459



5 CCR 3051.14 Specially designed career technical education for students 

with disabilities 

8 CCR 200-240 Apprenticeships 

Ed. Code 1205 Classification of counties 

Ed. Code 17078.70-17078.72 Career technical education facilities 

Ed. Code 33430-33432 Health science and medical technology grants 

Ed. Code 35168 Inventory of equipment 

Ed. Code 41540-41544 Targeted instructional improvement block grant 

Ed. Code 44257.3 CTC recognition of study in linked learning teaching methods 

Ed. Code 44260-44260.1 Designated subjects career technical education credential 

Ed. Code 44260.9 Designated subjects career technical education credential 

Ed. Code 48430 Continuation education schools and classes 

Ed. Code 48980 Parent/Guardian notifications 

Ed. Code 51220-51230 Course of study for grades 7-12 

Ed. Code 51760-51769.5 Work experience education 

Ed. Code 52060-52077 Local control and accountability plan 

Ed. Code 52300-52499.66 Career technical education 

Ed. Code 52519-52520 Adult education, occupational training 

Ed. Code 53010-53016 California Career Pathways Trust 

Ed. Code 53070-53076.4 The California Career Technical Education Incentive Grant 

Program 

Ed. Code 53086 California Career Resource Network 

Ed. Code 54690-54699.1 California Partnership Academies 

Ed. Code 54750-54760 California Partnership Academies, green technology and 

goods movement occupations 

Ed. Code 56363 Related services for students with disabilities; specially 

designed career technical education 

Ed. Code 66205.5-66205.9 Approval of career technical education courses for admission 

to California colleges 

Ed. Code 8006-8155 Career technical education 

Ed. Code 88500-88551 Community college economic and workforce development 

program 

Gov. Code 54950-54963 The Ralph M. Brown Act 

Lab. Code 3070-3099.5 Apprenticeships 

Federal Description 

20 USC 2301-2414 Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st 

Century Act 

20 USC 6301-6578 Improving the Academic Achievement of the Disadvantaged 

Page 226 of 459

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=1205.&lawCode=EDC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=17078.70.&lawCode=EDC
https://uscode.house.gov/view.xhtml?req=granuleid%3AUSC-prelim-title20-section6301&num=0&edition=prelim


34 CFR 100 Appendix B Guidelines for eliminating discrimination in career 

technical education programs 

34 CFR 104.1-104.39 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

34 CFR 106.1-106.61 Discrimination on the basis of sex, effectuating Title IX 

Management Resources Description 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

California Career Technical Education Model Curriculum 

Standards, Grades Seven Through Twelve, January 2013 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Career Technical Education Framework for California Public 

Schools, Grades Seven Through Twelve, January 2007 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Multiple Pathways to Student Success: Envisioning the New 

California High School, 2010 

CSBA Publication The Linked Learning Approach to High School Reform, 

Governance Brief, January 2014 

CSBA Publication A Governance Perspective: Interviews with School Board 

Members from the Nine Linked Learning Initiative School 

Districts, March 2014 

Website Association for Career and Technical Education 

Website California Association of Regional Occupational Centers and 

Programs 

Website U.S. Department of Education, Office of Vocational and Adult 

Education 

Website U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics 

Website California Department of Education, Career Technical 

Education 

Website California Department of Employment Development 

Website California Workforce Development Board 

Website Association for Career and Technical Education 

Website California Association of Regional Occupational Centers and 

Programs 

Website California Career Resource Network 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations 

Website University of California, a-g Course Submissions 

Website California Career Resource Network 

Website Commission on Teacher Credentialing 

Website CSBA 

 

 

Code Description 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0415 Equity 

Cross References 

Page 227 of 459

http://www.acteonline.org/
http://www.carocp.org/
http://www.carocp.org/
http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/cte/index.html
http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ovae/pi/cte/index.html
http://www.bls.gov/
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/ct
http://www.cde.ca.gov/ci/ct
http://www.edd.ca.gov/
http://www.cwdb.ca.gov/
http://www.dir.ca.gov/
https://hs-articulation.ucop.edu/guide/update-your-a-g-list/submitting-courses
http://www.californiacareers.info/
http://www.ctc.ca.gov/
http://www.csba.org/
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031096&revid=Ru5tLg3spaFulEshzkgvuA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36031096&revid=9fOxm6YSOsjBQ7YLPgBzQA%3D%3D


0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0420.4 Charter School Authorization 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0460 Local Control And Accountability Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1700 Relations Between Private Industry And The Schools 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3230 Federal Grant Funds 

3440 Inventories 

3512 Equipment 

3512-E(1) Equipment 

3512-E PDF(1) Equipment 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

4131 Staff Development 

4331 Staff Development 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.1 Chronic Absence And Truancy 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5113.2 Work Permits 

5145.6 Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E(1) Parental Notifications 

5145.6-E PDF(1) Parental Notifications 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

5148.2 Before/After School Programs 

6011 Academic Standards 

6020 Parent Involvement 

Page 228 of 459



6020 Parent Involvement 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141 Curriculum Development And Evaluation 

6141.4 International Baccalaureate Program 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6143 Courses Of Study 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145 Extracurricular And Cocurricular Activities 

6145.5 Student Organizations And Equal Access 

6145.5 Student Organizations And Equal Access 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6159 Individualized Education Program 

6162.5 Student Assessment 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6162.51 State Academic Achievement Tests 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6164.5 Student Success Teams 

6171 Title I Programs 

6171 Title I Programs 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172 Gifted And Talented Student Program 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6172.1 Concurrent Enrollment In College Classes 

6173 Education For Homeless Children 

Page 229 of 459



6173 Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(1) Education For Homeless Children 

6173-E PDF(2) Education For Homeless Children 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6175 Migrant Education Program 

6176 Weekend/Saturday Classes 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.1 Work-Based Learning 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6181 Alternative Schools/Programs Of Choice 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

6190 Evaluation Of The Instructional Program 

6200 Adult Education 

6200 Adult Education 

7110 Facilities Master Plan 

Page 230 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 6200: Adult Education Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1997 | Last Revised Date: 0509/01/20162022 | Last Revie 

0509/01/20162022 

wed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board believes that education is a lifelong processendeavor and that it is important for 

individuals to continuously develop new skills necessary to participate effectively as citizens, workers, 

parents/guardians, and family and community members. Eligible adults shall be offered opportunities to 

enroll in programs and courses that develop academic and workforce skills and, as appropriate, lead to 

completion of requirements for high school graduation. 
 

 

OPTION 1: 

The Superintendent or designee shall recommend, for approval by the Board and the California 

Department of Education, courses to be offered through the district's adult education program. 
 

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE 
 

OPTION 2: The district shall participate in the adult education program administered by the county 

office of education. District students enrolled in this program shall be under the immediate supervision of 

a certificated district employee. 

CSBA NOTE: The following Board policy is for use by any high school district or unified school district 

that maintains an adult education school or program or that participates in a program offered by the 

county office of education. 

 
Education Code 84900-84920, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 13, Statutes of 2015), establish the Adult 

Education Block GrantProgram to provide adult education services through a regional consortium of 

school districts, county offices of education, community college districts, and joint powers authorities 

consisting of those entities. Other funding for adult education may be available through local control 

funding formula apportionments, California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids (CalWORKs) 

funds for education and job training (Welfare and Institutions Code 11320-11329.5), the federal 

Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (29 USC 3101-3255), Adult Education and Literacy Act (29 

USC 3271-3333), and/or Carl D. PerkinsStrengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st 

Century Act (20 USC 2301-2414). Pursuant to Education Code 41976, as amended by AB 486 (Ch. 666, 

Statutes of 2021), funds allocated through the Adult Education Program may only be used in accordance 

with law and as specified in the accompanying administrative regulation. The district may revise the 

following policy to reflect requirements of the program(s) it offers. 

CSBA NOTE: Option 1 below is for use by districts that maintain classes for adults as authorized by 

Education Code 52501. Option 2 is for use by districts whose students may participate in an adult 

education program administered by a county office of education in geographically isolated, sparsely 

populated areas as authorized by Education Code 52616.21. 

 
CSBA NOTE: Education Code 51056 and 52515 require approval by the California Department of 

Education (CDE) of courses offered in adult education programs. SeeFor further information regarding 

course approval see the accompanying administrative regulation and the CDE's Adult Education 

Handbook for Californiaweb site. 

Page 231 of 459



OPTION 2 ENDS HERE 
 

Adult education classes may be offered any day or evening, including weekends, for such length of time 

during the school year as determined by the Board. (Education Code 52505) 

 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that all teachers of adult education classes possess an 

appropriate credential issued by the Commission on Teacher Credentialing and have access to high- 

quality professional development to continuously enhance their knowledge and skills. 

 

 

Upon recommendation of the administrator of the student’s adult school or noncredit program of 

attendance, the Board may authorize an adult education student pursuing a high school diploma or a high 

school equivalency certificate to attend a community college during any session or term as a special part- 

time student. (Education Code 52620) 
 

 

The Board may award diplomas or certificates to adults and eligible minors enrolled in adult schools upon 
satisfactory completion of a prescribed course of study in an elementary school program. (Education 
Code 52508, 52509) 

 

 

Adult education students who fulfill the district's graduation requirements shall receive a diploma of 

high school graduation. 
 

CSBA NOTE: Classes organized primarily for adults may be taught by holders of the designated subjects 

adult teaching credential pursuant to Education Code 44260.2-44260.3. See the Commission on 

Teacher Credentialing's web site for further information and credential requirements. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52620 permits the Governing Board to authorize an adult education 

student pursuing a high school diploma or a high school equivalency certificate to enroll as a special part- 

time student at a community college. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52508, the Board is authorized to award diplomas or 

certificates to adults and eligible minors enrolled in adult schools upon satisfactory completion of a 

prescribed course of study in an elementary school program, as long as the Board has prescribed the 

requirements for the awarding of any such diplomas pursuant to Education Code 52509. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52509 mandates the Board of any district maintaining an adult school or 

program to prescribe requirements for the granting of a high school diploma. Courses required for a high 

school diploma in California are specified in Education Code 51225.3; see BP 6146.1 - High School 

Graduation Requirements. Students seeking their high school diploma through adult education must 

meet those course requirements. However, the district may waive any additional district-established 

high school graduation requirements. Districts that have so revised their local graduation requirements 

for adult education students should modify the following paragraph as appropriate. 

CSBA NOTE: The following two optional paragraphs may be used by districts that select either Option 1 

or 2 above and participate in the regional consortium established for purposes of the Adult Education 

Block Grant pursuant to Education Code 84900-84920, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 13, Statutes of 2015). 

The consortium is required to approve an adult education plan containing the components specified in 

Education Code 84906 at least once every three years and to update the plan at least once each year 

based on available data. 

 
Funds allocated through this block grant may be used in accordance with Education Code 84913, 

including to provide support for adult education programs related to elementary and secondary basic 

Page 232 of 459



 
 

 

If the district has an adult school or classes for adults but is unable to maintain such school or classes 

because of an inability to secure a teacher(s) or because of a lack of facilities, the district may, with the 

approval of the County Superintendent of Schools and the Superintendent of Public Instruction, contract 

with another district for the instruction of such students. (Education Code 52511) 
 

 

To ensure efficient and coordinated adult education services, the district shall collaborate with other local 

educational agencies and the community college district in the region'smay join a regional adult education 

consortium. The district shall participate in the consortium's identification of the educational needs of 

adults in the region, identification of available funding and services, development and approval of an adult 

education plan pursuant to Education Code 84906, and implementation of strategies to address the 

identified needs, improve the effectiveness of district services, and improve students' transitions into 

postsecondary education and the workforce. 

 
The district's representative to the region'sregional adult education consortium shall be designated by the 

Board. (Education Code 84905) 

 

 

(Education Code 52505, 52513) 

 

skills, entry or reentry into the workforce, career technical education, pre-apprenticeship training, 

knowledge and skills to assist K-12 students to succeed academically, and programs for immigrants and 

adults with disabilities. See the accompanying administrative regulation. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 52511, a district may contract with another district to provide 

adult education instruction in any of the situations specified in the following paragraph. 

CSBA NOTE: The following two optional paragraphs may be used by districts that participate in the 

regional consortium established for purposes of the Adult Education Program pursuant to Education 

Code 84900-84920. Education Code 84906 requires the consortium to approve a three-year adult 

education plan that addresses a three-year fiscal planning cycle, and fulfills the components specified in 

Education Code 84906. The plan is required to be updated at least once each year based on available 

data. 

CSBA NOTE: The remainder of this policy is for use by districts selecting Option 1 above, but may be 

adapted for use by districts selecting Option 2. 

 
Classes organized primarily for adults may be taught by holders of the designated subjects adult teaching 

credential pursuant to Education Code 44260.2-44260.3. See the Commission on Teacher Credentialing's 

web site for further information and credential requirements.CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may 

be revised to reflect indicators of program effectiveness identified by the district and/or adult education 

regional consortium in which the district participates. Education Code 84920 requires the Superintendent 

of Public Instruction and California Community College Chancellor (CCCC) to identify common measures 

for determining consortium members effectiveness in meeting the educational needs of adults, which is 

provided for in CDE’s and CCCC’s, “Adult Education Block Grant (AEBG) Measures of Effectiveness”. In 

addition, for districts participating in the federal Adult Education and Family Literacy Act, CDE requires 

the use of the Comprehensive Adult Student Assessment Systems (CASAS), a set of standardized 

assessment instruments developed by the nonprofit organization CASAS, to track the progress of adult 

students. 

CSBA NOTE: If the district's adult school or program offers a course in elementary subjects appropriate 

to the needs of adults, as authorized by Education Code 52516 and 84913, the Board is mandated 

Page 233 of 459



 
 

A certificate of completion of the eighth grade shall be awarded through the adult school upon successful 

completion of both of the following: 
 

1. At least one term in the adult elementary program 
 

2. Overall eighth-grade placement on a recognized standardized achievement test 

 

 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall regularly report to the Board on the effectiveness of the district's 

adult education program. This report shall include, but not be limited to, the number of adults and high 

school students participating in the program, student participation in each type of adult education course 

or class, and the extent to which students successfully completed these programs, including, as 

applicable, the completion of requirements for the high school diploma or certificate of equivalency. 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

5 CCR 10501 Adult education; definition of adult for attendance counting 

5 CCR 10508 Records and reports 

5 CCR 10530 Counseling and guidance services 

5 CCR 10530-1053410560 Standards of administration 

5 CCR 53412 Minimum qualifications for instructors of noncredit courses 

pursuant to Education Code 52510 to prescribe requirements for eighth-grade graduation. Items #1-2 

below should be revised to reflect district practice. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52509 mandates the Board of any district maintaining an adult school or 

program to prescribe requirements for the granting of a high school diploma. Courses required for a high 

school diploma in California are specified in Education Code 51225.3; see BP 6146.1 - High School 

Graduation Requirements. Students seeking their high school diploma through adult education must meet 

those course requirements. However, the district may waive any high school graduation requirements 

established by the district. Districts that have so revised their local graduation requirements for adult 

education students should modify the following paragraph as appropriate. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect indicators of program effectiveness 

identified by the district and/or adult education regional consortium in which the district participates. 

Education Code 84920, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 13, Statutes of 2015), requires the Superintendent of 

Public Instruction and California Community College Chancellor to identify common measures for 

determining the effectiveness of school districts and other consortium members in meeting the 

educational needs of adults. In addition, for districts participating in the federal Adult Education and 

Family Literacy Act, the CDE requires the use of the Comprehensive Adult Student Assessment Systems 

(CASAS), a set of standardized assessment instruments developed by the nonprofit organization CASAS, 

to track the progress of adult students. 

Page 234 of 459



5 CCR 80034 Teaching credentials,; adult education 

5 CCR 80034.5 Adult education,; substitute teachers 

5 CCR 80036-80036.4 Requirements for designated subjects adult education 

credential 

5 CCR 80040.2-80040.2.7 Programs of personalized preparation for the designated 

subjects adult education teaching credentialing 

Ed. Code 10200 CalWORKs education and job training planCalWORKs 

instructional and job training plan 

Ed. Code 41975-41976.21 Adult education; authorized classes and courses 

Ed. Code 44260.2-44260.3 Credential requirements,; designated subjects adult 

education credential 

Ed. Code 44865 Qualifications for home teachers 

Ed. Code 46190-4619246191 Adult education classes, day of attendanceAttendance for 

adults in correctional facilities 

Ed. Code 46300.1-46300.42 Independent study 

Ed. Code 51040 Prescribed courses 

Ed. Code 51056 Adult education course of study 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation 

Ed. Code 51241 Temporary, two-year or permanent exemption from physical 

education 

Ed. Code 51246 Physical education exemptions 

Ed. Code 51730-51732 Powers of governing boards (authorization for elementary 

summer school classes)); admissions of adults and minors 

Ed. Code 51745 Independent study 

Ed. Code 51810-51815 Community service classes 

Ed. Code 52500-52523 Adult schools 

Ed. Code 52530-52531 Use of hospitals 

Ed. Code 52540-52544 Adult English classes 

Ed. Code 52550-52556 Classes in citizenship 

Ed. Code 52570-52572 Disabled adults 

Ed. Code 52620 Attendance at community college as special part-time 

student 

Ed. Code 52610-52616.2418 Adult schools,; finances 

Ed. Code 52651-52656 Immigrant Workforce Preparation Act 

Ed. Code 60410 Books for adult classes 

Ed. Code 84830 Adult education consortium 
 

Page 235 of 459

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10200.&lawCode=EDC
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10200.&lawCode=EDC


Ed. Code 84900-84920 Adult Education Block GrantProgram 

Ed. Code 8500-8538 Adult education 

W&I Code 11320-11329.5 CalWORKs, including; education and job training 

Federal Description 

20 USC 2301-24152414 Carl D. PerkinsStrengthening Career and Technical Education 
for the 21st Century Act 

29 USC 3101-3255 

 

Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

29 USC 3271-3333 Adult Education and Family Literacy Act 

Management Resources Description 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Adult Education Handbook for California, 2005Pupil Fees, 

Deposits, and Other Charges, Fiscal Management Advisory 

20-01, July 23, 2020 

California Department of Education and 

California Community College Chancellor 

Office Publication 

Pupil Fees, Charges, and Other Deposits, Fiscal Management 

Advisory 12-02, April 24, 2013Adult Education Block Grant 

(AEBG) Measures of Effectiveness 

Website California Department of Education, Adult Education 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations, Division of 

Apprenticeship Standards 

Website Comprehensive Adult Student Assessment Systems 

Website California Council for Adult Education 

Website Commission on Teacher Credentialing 

 

 

Code Description 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3541 Transportation Routes And Services 

4112.2 Certification 

Cross References 

Page 236 of 459



4112.2 Certification 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4131 Staff Development 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6142.76145.6 Physical Education And ActivityInternational Exchange (BP 

and AR) 

6142.76146.1 Physical Education And ActivityHigh School Graduation 

Requirements 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.12 High School Graduation RequirementsCertificate of 

Proficiency/High School Equivalency (BP and AR) 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF (1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1)4 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School 

EquivalencyDifferential Graduation And Competency 

Standards For Students With Disabilities 

6146.45 Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For 

Students With DisabilitiesElementary/Middle School 

Graduation Requirements 

61586146.5 Elementary/Middle School Graduation 

RequirementsIndependent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6164.2 Independent StudyGuidance/Counseling Services 

6172.1 Guidance/Counseling ServicesConcurrent Enrollment in 

College Classes (BP and AR) 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 
 

Page 237 of 459



6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

9140 Board Representatives 

Page 238 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 6200: Adult Education Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 06/01/1997 | Last Revised Date: 0509/01/20162022 | Last Revie 

0509/01/20162022 

wed Date: 

 

 

Enrollment 
 

With the exception of programs specified in Education Code 52570, adult education classes shall be 

located in a facility which clearly identifies the class as being open to the general public. (Education Code 

52517, 52570) 
 

Enrollment 

 

 

For For purposes of the Adult Education Block Grant pursuant to Education Code 84900-84920, adults 

include persons 18 years of age or older. For other adult education programs, adults include persons age 

18 or older and other persons not concurrently enrolled in a regular high school program. However, high 

school students may be concurrently enrolled in adult education under the conditions specified in the 

section "Concurrent Enrollment of High School Students" below. (Education Code 52523, 52610) 

(Education Code 52523) 
 

Adults shall have first priority for enrollment in any adult education class, provided they enroll during 

the regular enrollment period., 84901 (Education Code 52523) 

With the exception of programs for adults with disabilities specified in Education Code 52570, adult 

education classes shall be located in a facility which clearly identifies attendance in the class as being 

open to the general public. (Education Code 52517, 52570) 
 

Concurrent Enrollment of High School Students 

 
High school students shallmay be permitted to enroll in an adult education program, course, or class for 

sound educational purposes, including, but not limited to, the following: (Education Code 52523) 

 
1. The adult education program, course, or class is not offered in the regular high school curriculum. 

 

2. The student needs the adult education program, course, or class in order to make up deficient 
credits for graduation from high school. 

 

3. The adult education program, course, or class allows the student to gain vocational and technical 
skills beyond that provided by the regular high school's careervocational and technical education 

CSBA NOTE: The following administrative regulation may be revised for consistency with the adult 

education plan adopted by the regional consortium established for the Adult Education Block Grant, 

pursuant to Education Code 84906, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 13, Statutes of 2015). In addition, districts 

that participate in a county-operated adult education program (Option 2 in the accompanying Board 

policy) should tailor the following administrative regulation to delete references to district 

programs.Program, pursuant to Education Code 84906. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph may be revised to reflect programs in which the district 

participates. 

Page 239 of 459



program. 
 

4. The adult education program, course, or class supplements and enriches the high school student's 
educational experience. 

 

 

 
 

High school students are expected to enroll in regular high school classes before seeking admission to any 

similar classes offered in the adult education program. A failed course, however, may be repeated through 

adult education. 

 
Before enrolling in an adult education class, the high school student shall complete a counseling session 

that includes his/herthe student, the student’s parent/guardian, and a certificated representative of the 

high school. The certificated high school representative shall ensure that the student's school record 

includes written documentation of the counseling session and both of the following statements: 

(Education Code 52500.1, 52523) 

 
1. That the student is enrolling voluntarily in the adult education course or class 

 

2. That thisthe enrollment will enhance the student's progress toward meeting educational 
requirements for high school graduation 

 

 

 
 

The above statement shall be signed by the student, the student’s parent/guardian, and the certificated 

high school representative. 

 
Classes offered in the district's adult education program shall supplement and not supplant the regular 

high school curriculum. No course required by the district for high school graduation or necessary for 

students to maintain satisfactory academic progress shall be offered exclusively through the adult 

education program. (Education Code 52523) 

 
Programs and Courses 

 

 

AdultThe district’s adult education classes or coursesprogram shall offer instruction in one or more of the 

following: areas: (Education Code 41976, 84913) ) 

1. Programs in elementary and secondary basic skills, including programs leading to a high school 
diploma or high school equivalency certificate 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. Education Code 52500.1 does not require that the 

above statement be signed. However, obtaining the signature of all parties is one way to document the 

student's voluntary participation in the program and the high school representative's determination that 

the program will enhance the student's progress toward graduation. 

CSBA NOTE: The following list should be revised to reflect the types of adult education programs offered 

by the district. Education Code 8491341976, as addedamended by AB 104486 (Ch. 13666, Statutes of 

20152022), authorizes the use of Adult Education Block GrantProgram funds to support the programs 

listed in itemsItems #1-7 below. Education Code 41976, as amended by AB 104, authorizes the use of 

localLocal control funding formula (LCFF) and/or other district funds may be used for many of these same 

purposes, as well as the purposes listed in items #8-12 below. 

Page 240 of 459



 
 

2. Programs for immigrants eligible for educational services in citizenship, English as a second 
language, and workforce preparation 
, and immigrant integration 

 

3. Programs for adults, including, but not limited to, older adults, that are primarily related to entry or 
reentry into the workforce 

 

4. Programs for adults, including, but not limited to, older adults,Programs that are primarily 
designed to develop knowledge and skills to assist elementary and secondary students to succeed 
academically in school 

 

5. Programs for adults with disabilities 
 

6. Short-term career technical education programs with high employment potential 
 

7. Programs offering pre-apprenticeship training activities in coordination with one or more 
apprenticeship programs approved by the Division of Apprenticeship Standards for the 
occupation and geographic area. 

 

 

7. Programs offering pre-apprenticeship training activities in coordination with one or more 
approved apprenticeship programs 

 

The district may also offer programs in parenting, family and consumer awareness, English as a second 
language, classes for older adults, home economics, and health and safety education. Such programs shall 
not be paid for with Adult Education Program Funds. 

 

 

 
 

8. Programs in parenting, including parent cooperative preschools, and classes in child growth and 
development, parent-child relationships, and parenting 

 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52550-52556 set conditions for52555 require establishing citizenship 
programs in high school districts when 25 or more persons residing in the district apply for such training., 
and permit such classes upon demand when there are a lesser number of applicants. Pursuant to 
Education Code 41976, as amended by AB 486, the course may include immigrant integration. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 84913, as added by AB 104 (Ch. 13, Statutes of 2015), authorizes the use 
of Adult Education Block Grant funds to support pre-apprenticeship training activities, as provided in item 
#7 below. Pre-apprenticeship training activities must be conducted in coordination with apprenticeship 
programs approved by the California Department of Industrial Relations' Division of Apprenticeship 
Standards for the occupation and geographic area.CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52540 sets conditions 
for establishing English as a second language classes in high school districts when 20 or more adults 
residing in the district apply for such classes. 

CSBA NOTE: The types of programs listed in optional items #8-12 below are not authorized uses of the 
Adult Education Block Grant. However, Education Code 41976 authorizes the use of other district funds 
for these purposes, as well as the purposes listed in items #1-2 and #5-7 above.CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to 
Education Code 51056 and 52515, adult education courses must be approved by the California 
Department of Education (CDE). According to CDE's website, within 20 working days of receiving a 
request, CDE will provide electronic certification of course approval. Authorized courses are listed in the 
Adult Education Course Approval System (A-22) on CDE's web site. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52540-52544 set conditions for establishing English as a second language 

classes in high school districts when 20 or more adults residing in the district apply for such classes. 

Page 241 of 459



9. English as a second language 
 

10. Programs for older adults 
 

11. Home economics 
 

12. Health and safety education 
 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall annuallyregularly submit to the California Department of Education 

for approval the titles of classes that have been approved by the Governing Board to be offered in any of 

the program areas listed above. 

 

 
 

Adults may also may be enrolled in community service classes offered by the district. (Education Code 

51811) 

 
All adult education programs, courses, and classes and their enrollment period shall be published in the 

district's catalog of adult education classes provided to the public. (Education Code 52523) 

 
Independent Study 

 
The Superintendent or designee may make independent study available as an instructional strategy for 

students enrolled in adult education as appropriate to meet their individual needs. 

 
Participation in independent study shall be voluntary. (Education Code 51747) 

 

Any course taken through independent study shall be a course listed in Education Code 51225.3 or 

otherwise required by the Board for high school graduation. (Education Code 46300.4) 
 

An adult who has been continuously enrolled in K-12 education since his/her 18th birthday may remain 

engaged in K-12 independent study until his/her 21st birthday. (Education Code 46300.1Student 

participation in independent study shall be voluntary and no student shall be required to participate. 

(Education Code 51747) 
 

Fees 

 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 51056 and 52515, adult education courses must be approved 

by the CDE. According to the CDE's Adult Education Handbook for California, districts must annually 

submit a list of course titles to the CDE for approval. Authorized courses are listed in the Adult 

Education Course Approval System (A-22) on the CDE's web site. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional paragraph is for use by districts that offer community service classes; 

see BP 61466142.4 - Service Learning/Community Service Classes. Pursuant to Education Code 51810, 

the district may provide community service classes in specified subjects without the approval of the CDE. 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 52612-52613 authorize the district to charge fees for adult education 

classes, with certain exceptions. The total of these fees plus revenues derived from ADAaverage daily 

attendance must not exceed the estimated cost of all such classes. The following section should be 

revised to reflect district practice. 

Page 242 of 459



No feeThe district may require fees for enrollment in an adult education class. However, no fees shall be 

charged for the following adult education programs or classes: (Education Code 52612, 52613) 

 
1. A class for which high school credit is granted, if the class is taken by an individual who does not 

hold a high school diploma. 
 

2. A class in an elementary subject or a class in English as a second language or citizenship, unless 
the student is a nonimmigrant alien with an F-1 visa status. Any nonimmigrant enrolled in these 
classes shall be charged a fee to cover the full cost of the instruction, not to exceed actual costs. 
The fee shall be adopted by the Board at a regular meeting at least 90 days before the beginning 
of the class for which the fee is charged. 

 

 

Except for those fees required by law, the payment of fees may be waived in cases of hardship at the 

recommendation of the Superintendent or designee. 

 
The Board may fix a charge, not to exceed cost, for books furnished to adult education students. In 

some caseslieu of fixing such charge, books may be obtained from the district at cost or may be obtained 

on loan loaned to students with the payment of a refundable deposit. In addition, materials purchased 

from the incidental expense account may be sold to adult school students for use in their classes. 

(Education Code 52615, 60410) 
 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

5 CCR 10501 Adult education 

5 CCR 10508 Records and reports 

5 CCR 10530-10534 Standards 

5 CCR 80034 Teaching credentials, adult education 

5 CCR 80034.5 Adult education, substitute teachers 

5 CCR 80036-80036.4 Requirements for designated subjects adult education 

credential 

5 CCR 80040.2-80040.2.7 Programs of personalized preparation for the designated 

subjects adult education teaching credentialing 

Ed. Code 10200 CalWORKs education and job training plan 

Ed. Code 41975-41976.2 Adult education; authorized classes and courses 

Ed. Code 44260.2-44260.3 Credential requirements, designated subjects adult education 

credential 

Ed. Code 44865 Qualifications for home teachers 

CSBA NOTE: The following paragraph is optional. 

Page 243 of 459

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?sectionNum=10200.&lawCode=EDC


Ed. Code 46190-46192 Adult education classes, day of attendance 

Ed. Code 46300.1-46300.4 Independent study 

Ed. Code 51040 Prescribed courses 

Ed. Code 51056 Adult education course of study 

Ed. Code 51225.3 High school graduation 

Ed. Code 51241 Temporary, two-year or permanent exemption from physical 

education 

Ed. Code 51246 Physical education exemptions 

Ed. Code 51730-51732 Powers of governing boards (authorization for elementary 

summer school classes) 

Ed. Code 51745 Independent study 

Ed. Code 51810-51815 Community service classes 

Ed. Code 52500-52523 Adult schools 

Ed. Code 52530-52531 Use of hospitals 

Ed. Code 52540-52544 Adult English classes 

Ed. Code 52550-52556 Classes in citizenship 

Ed. Code 52570-52572 Disabled adults 

Ed. Code 52610-52616.24 Adult schools, finances 

Ed. Code 52651-52656 Immigrant Workforce Preparation Act 

Ed. Code 60410 Books for adult classes 

Ed. Code 84830 Adult education consortium 

Ed. Code 84900-84920 Adult Education Block Grant 

Ed. Code 8500-8538 Adult education 

W&I Code 11320-11329.5 CalWORKs, including education and job training 

Federal Description 

20 USC 2301-2415 Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education Act 

29 USC 3101-3255 Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

29 USC 3271-3333 Adult Education and Family Literacy Act 

Management Resources Description 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Adult Education Handbook for California, 2005 

California Department of Education 

Publication 

Pupil Fees, Charges, and Other Deposits, Fiscal Management 

Advisory 12-02, April 24, 2013 

Website California Department of Education, Adult Education 

Website California Department of Industrial Relations, Division of 

Apprenticeship Standards 

Page 244 of 459



Website Comprehensive Adult Student Assessment Systems 

Website California Council for Adult Education 

Website Commission on Teacher Credentialing 

 

 

Code Description 

0410 Nondiscrimination In District Programs And Activities 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0440 District Technology Plan 

0500 Accountability 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3 Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(1) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

1312.3-E PDF(2) Uniform Complaint Procedures 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3260 Fees And Charges 

3541 Transportation Routes And Services 

4112.2 Certification 

4112.2 Certification 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4121 Temporary/Substitute Personnel 

4131 Staff Development 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

5148.3 Preschool/Early Childhood Education 

6112 School Day 

6112 School Day 

6142.4 Service Learning/Community Service Classes 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6142.7 Physical Education And Activity 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.1 High School Graduation Requirements 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

6146.11 Alternative Credits Toward Graduation 

Cross References 

Page 245 of 459



6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2 Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.2-E PDF(1) Certificate Of Proficiency/High School Equivalency 

6146.4 Differential Graduation And Competency Standards For 

Students With Disabilities 

6146.5 Elementary/Middle School Graduation Requirements 

6158 Independent Study 

6158 Independent Study 

6164.2 Guidance/Counseling Services 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178 Career Technical Education 

6178.2 Regional Occupational Center/Program 

6184 Continuation Education 

6184 Continuation Education 

9140 Board Representatives 

Page 246 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Policy 7150: Site Selection And Development Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 02/01/1999 | Last Revised Date: 0309/01/20022022 | Last Revie 

0309/01/20022022 

wed Date: 

 

 
The Governing Board believes that a school site should serve the district's educational needs in 

accordance with the district's master plan, as well as show potential for contributing to other community 

needs. 

 
The Board recognizes the importance of community input in the site selection process. To this end, the 

Board will solicit community input whenever a school site is to be selected and shall provide public notice 

and hold public hearings in accordance with law. 

 
The Superintendent or designee shall establish a site selection process which complies with law and 

ensures that the best possible sites are acquired and developed in a cost-effective manner. 
 

 

 

Before acquiring property for a new school or an addition to an existing school site, the Board, at a public 

hearing, shall either evaluate the property at a public hearing using state site selection standards. 

(Education Code 17211 specified in 5 CCR 14010 or, if a district advisory committee was appointed to 

evaluate the property, receive the committee’s report of findings based on those standards. (Education 

Code 17211, 17251) 
 

Environmental Impact Investigation for the Site Selection Process 
 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 17070.10-17077.10 setsets forth eligibility requirements for the receipt 

of state facilities funds under the Leroy F. Greene School Facilities ProgramAct of 1998 (Proposition 

1A). As a condition for receipt of the funds, Education Code 17070.50 requires districts to obtain 

written approval from the California Department of Education (CDE) and certify to the State Allocation 

Board that the district's site selection and building plans comply with the regulations developed by the 

departmentCDE, pursuant to Education Code 17251(b) and (c). In addition, Education Code 17070.50 

requires the district to certify that the services of an architect, a structural engineer, or other design 

professional has been selected using a competitive process consistent with Government Code 4526. See 

BP/AR 7140 - Architectural and Engineering Services. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 17211, districts are required to ensure that property acquired 

for a new school or an addition to an existing school site meets standards for school site selection as 

specified in 5 CCR 14010-14012. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Resources Code 21082, districts are mandated to adopt procedures for 

the evaluation of all projects (beyond just site selection) and the preparation of environmental impact 

reports and negative declarations required under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). In 

order to satisfy this mandate, the district may either (1) adopt the actual CEQA guidelines, as applicable, 

as its own procedure;, (2) adopt the county or city guidelines, (3) or develop its own procedure. In most 

cases, the district's environmental investigation will conclude with a simultaneous public review of both 

the environmental documentation and, if applicable, the Department of Toxic Substance Control (DTSC) 

documents. 

 
Pursuant to Public Resources Code 21092 and 21092.2, as amended by AB 819 (Ch. 97, Statutes of 

2021), when CEQA requires a draft environmental impact report, environmental impact report, negative 

declaration, or mitigated negative declaration (environmental review documents), the district is required Page 247 of 459



 
 

The Superintendent or designee shall determine whether any proposed development project is subject to 

the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and shall ensure compliance with 

this Act whenever so required. , including any web site posting requirements. When evaluating district 

projects, the CEQA guidelines shall be used. 
 

Environmental review documents, including a draft environmental impact report, environmental impact 

report, negative declaration or mitigated negative declaration, and public notice of the preparation and 

availability of such documents, shall be posted on the district’s web site. (Public Resources Code 21082.1, 

21092, 21092.2) 
 

Agricultural Land 
 

 

If the proposed site is in an area designated in a city, county, or city and county general plan for 

agricultural use and zoned for agricultural production, the Board shall determine all of the following: 

(Education Code 17215.5) 

 
1. That the district has notified and consulted with the city, county, or city and county within which 

the prospective site is to be located 
 

2. That the Board has evaluated the final site selection based on all factors affecting the public 
interest and not limited to selection on the basis of the cost of the land 

 

3. That the district shall attempt to minimize any public health and safety issues resulting from the 
neighboring agricultural uses that may affect students and employees at the site 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

14 CCR 15000-15285 Implementation of California Environmental Quality Act of 

1970 

5 CCR 14001-14036 Minimum standardsCalifornia Department of Education: 

school facilities construction 

to post on its web site those environmental review documents, and public notice of the preparation and 

availability of such documents. The district must email specified notices when written requests for 

notices have been filed. See Exhibit 1113-District and School Web Sites and the accompanying 

administrative regulation. 

 
The following paragraph provides for the use of CEQA guidelines for the evaluation of all projects, 

including site selection. Districts that have adopted the city/county guidelines or their own procedure 

should modify the paragraph accordingly. 

CSBA NOTE: In 82 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 130 (1999), the Attorney General opined that a district may 

construct a school on land designated by a county ordinance for "agricultural, open space or rural land 

use." However, the Board must, by a two-thirds vote pursuant to Government Code 53094, render the 

ordinance inapplicable to the proposed use of the property. See 9323.2 - Actions by the Board. The 

exemption can be blocked only by a court determination that the action was "arbitrary and capricious." 

Page 248 of 459



CCP. 1263.710-1263.770 Remediation of hazardous substances on property to be 

acquired by school district 

Ed. Code 17006 Definition of self-certifying district 

Ed. Code 17024 Prior written approval of CDE for selection of school site or 

construction of building 

Ed. Code 17070.10-17077.10 Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act of 1998 

Ed. Code 17210-17224 School Sites; Generalgeneral provisions (school sites) 

Ed. Code 17240-17245 New Schools Relief Act 

Ed. Code 17250.10-17250.55 Design-build contracts 

Ed. Code 17251-17256 CDE Powerspowers concerning buildings and building sites 

Ed. Code 17260-17268 Plans and specifications for school facilities 

Ed. Code 17280-17317 Field Act; approval of plans and supervision of construction 

Ed. Code 17565-17592.5 Board duties re-; management and control of school property 

Ed. Code 35271 Power to acquire and construct on adjacent property 

Ed. Code 35275 New school planning; cooperation with recreation and park 

authorities 

Gov. Code 53094 Authority to render zoning ordinances inapplicable 

Gov. Code 65402 Acquisition or disposition of property 

Gov. Code 65995-65997 Developer fees 

Gov. Code 66455.9 Written notices of proposed public school site within 

development; investigation and report; conditions for 

acquisition 

H&S Code 44360 Risk assessment 

Pub. Res. Code 21000-21177 California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 

Management Resources Description 

Attorney General Opinion 82 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 130 (1999) 

Website Department of General Services, Office of Public School 

Construction 

Website California Department of Education, School Facilities 

Website California Department of Education, School Site Selection 

and Approval Guide 

Website Department of Toxic Substances Control 

Website Governor’s Office of Planning and Research 

 

 

Code Description 

1113 District and School Web Sites (BP/AR/E(1)) 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

Cross References 

Page 249 of 459



1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1330.1 Joint Use Agreements 

3311.2 Lease-Leaseback Contracts 

3510 Green School Operations 

3514 Environmental Safety 

3514 Environmental Safety 

5142.2 Safe Routes To School Program 

5142.2 Safe Routes To School Program 

7000 Concepts And Roles 

7110 Facilities Master Plan 

7131 Relations With Local Agencies 

7140 Architectural And Engineering Services 

7140 Architectural And Engineering Services 

7210 Facilities Financing 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

9323.2 Actions By The Board 

9323.2-E PDF(1) Actions By The Board 

9323.2-E PDF(2) Actions By The Board 

Page 250 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Regulation 7150: Site Selection And Development Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 11/01/2000 | Last Revised Date: 0309/01/20062022 | Last Revie 

0309/01/20062022 

wed Date: 

 
As part of the district's site selection process, the Superintendent or designee shall: 

 
1. Meet with appropriate local government recreation and park authorities to review all possible 

methods of coordinating the planning, design, and construction of new school facilities and school 
sites or major additions to existing school facilities and recreation and park facilities in the 
community. (Education Code 35275) 

 

2. Notify the appropriate local planning agency in writing and request its report and 
recommendations regarding the proposed site or proposed addition's conformity with the 
adopted general plan. (Government Code 65402; Public Resources Code 21151.2) 

 

3. Have the site investigated by competent personnel with regard to population trends, 
transportation, water supply, waste disposal facilities, utilities, traffic hazards, surface drainage 
conditions, and other factors affecting initial and operating costs. This investigation shall include 
geological and soil engineering studies to preclude locating the school on terrain that has the 
potential for earthquake or other geologic hazard damage as specified in Government Code 
65302. (Education Code 17212-17212.5) 

 

 

4. As necessary,Make a written request for information necessary or useful to assess and determine 
the safety of a proposed school site, or an addition to an existing school site, from a person, 
corporation, public utility, locally publicly owned utility, or governmental agency regarding 
pipelines, electric transmission and distribution lines, railroads, and storage tanks in accordance 
with law. (Education Code 17212.2, 17251) 

 

5. Ensure that the site meets state standards for school site selection as specified in 5 CCR 14010- 
14012. 

 

 

6. Ensure compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) as required by law. , 
including posting required notices to the district web site. (Public Resources Code 21000-21177) 

 
CSBA NOTE: AB 1358 (Ch. 229, Statutes of 2005) amended Education Code 17215 to require  

notification to the California Department of Education (CDE) if the district is leasing a site near an airport. 
 

 
7. IfNotify the California Department of Education in writing before acquiring title or leasing the site 

if the proposed site is within two miles of the air line of an airport runway or proposed runway, 
before acquiring title to or leasing the site, notify the California Department of Education in 
writing. . (Education Code 17215) 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 17212.2, as added by AB 2485 (Ch. 505, Statutes of 2004), authorizes the 

district to request information from the following entities in order to evaluate the safety of a proposed 

site. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Public Resources Code 21092, 21092.2, 21092.3, and 21152, as amended by 

AB 819 (Ch. 97, Statutes of 2021), districts are required to (1) post specified notices to the district’s web 

site, (2) submit a notice of determination or notice of exemption with the county clerk electronically, if 

that option is offered by the county clerk, and (3) file an environmental notice with the Office of Planning 

and Research using their online process. 

Page 251 of 459



 
 

8. IfConduct an air quality analysis pursuant to Health and Safety Code 44360 and Education Code 
17213 if the proposed site is within 500 feet of the edge of the closest traffic lane of a freeway or 
other busy traffic corridor, conduct an air quality analysis pursuant to Health and Safety Code 
44360 and Education Code 17213 and determine that the air quality at the proposed site is such 
that neither short-term nor long-term exposure poses significant health risks to students. 
(Education Code 17213) 

 

 

In the selection and development of projects funded pursuant to the School Facilities Program of 1998 

(Proposition 1A) as contained in Education Code 17070.10-17077.10, the Superintendent or designee 

shall: 

 
1. Determine whether the proposed site is free of toxic contamination by ensuring that a Phase I 

environmental assessment and/or preliminary endangerment assessment is conducted as required 
by law (Education Code 17213.1) 

 

The Superintendent or designee shall ensure that the preliminary endangerment assessment is 
made available for public review and comment in accordance with Education Code 17213.1. 

 

2. Annually submit aSubmit an annual summary report of expenditures to the State Allocation Board 
in accordance with law (Education Code 17076.10) 

 

3. Include in the plans a hard-wired connection to a public switched telephone network or utilization 
of wireless technology (Education Code 17077.10) 

 

 

4. Establish a participation goal of at least three percent, per year, of the overall dollar amount 
expended each year by the district for disabled veteran business enterprises (Education Code 
17076.11) 

 
Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

14 CCR 15000-15285 Implementation of California Environmental Quality Act of 

1970 

5 CCR 14001-14036 MinimumSchool Facilities Construction; general standards 

CSBA NOTE: Education Code 17213 prohibits the approval of a school site within 500 feet from the 

freeway or other busy traffic corridor, unless the district performs an air quality analysis as specified in 

law. 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 17213.1, bothBoth a Phase I environmental assessment and a 

preliminary endangerment assessment, if necessary, must be conducted pursuant to Education Code 

17213.1 to determine whether a release of hazardous materials has occurred, as provided in itemItem 

#1 below. The district must submit these documents to the CDE and the Department of Toxic 

Substance Control (DTSC) for review. If hazardous substances are disclosed, Education Code 17213.1 

authorizes DTSC to order the district to complete certain "response actions" prior to securing state 

funding. 

CSBA NOTE: The Office of Public School Construction recommends that districts consult with legal 

counsel to ensure compliance with the disabled veteran provisions of itemItem #4 below. 

Page 252 of 459



CCP. 1263.710-1263.770 Remediation of hazardous substances on property to be 

acquired by school district 

Ed. Code 17006 Definition of self-certifying district 

Ed. Code 17024 Prior written approval of CDE for selection of school site or 

construction of building 

Ed. Code 17070.10-17077.10 Leroy F. Greene School Facilities Act of 1998 

Ed. Code 17210-17224 GeneralSchool Sites; general provisions (school sites) 

Ed. Code 17240-17245 New Schools Relief Act 

Ed. Code 17250.10-17250.55 Design-build contracts 

Ed. Code 17251-17256 PowersCDE powers concerning buildings and building sites 

Ed. Code 17260-17268 Plans and specifications for school facilities 

Ed. Code 17280-17317 Field Act; approval of plans and supervision of construction 

Ed. Code 17565-17592.5 Board duties re-; management and control of school property 

Ed. Code 35271 Power to acquire and construct on adjacent property 

Ed. Code 35275 New school planning; cooperation with recreation and park 

authorities 

Gov. Code 53094 Authority to render zoning ordinances inapplicable 

Gov. Code 65402 Acquisition or disposition of property 

Gov. Code 65995-65997 Developer fees 

Gov. Code 66455.9 Written notices of proposed public school site within 

development; investigation and report; conditions for 

acquisition 

H&S Code 44360 Risk assessment 

Pub. Res. Code 21000-21177 California Environmental Quality Act of 1970 

Management Resources Description 

Attorney General Opinion 82 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 130 (1999) 

Website Department of General Services, Office of Public School 

Construction 

Website California Department of Education, School Facilities 

Website Department of Toxic Substances Control 

(https://dtsc.ca.gov/) 

Website Governor’s Office of Planning and Research 

(https://opr.ca.gov/ceqa/) 

 
Cross References 

 
Code 

 

Description 

1113 District and School Web Sites (BP/AR/E(1)) 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

1220 Citizen Advisory Committees 

Page 253 of 459



1330.1 Joint Use Agreements 

3311.2 Lease-Leaseback Contracts 

3510 Green School Operations 

3514 Environmental Safety 

3514 Environmental Safety 

5142.2 Safe Routes To School Program 

5142.2 Safe Routes To School Program 

7000 Concepts And Roles 

7110 Facilities Master Plan 

7131 Relations With Local Agencies 

7140 Architectural And Engineering Services 

7140 Architectural And Engineering Services 

7210 Facilities Financing 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

9323.2 Actions By The Board 

9323.2-E PDF(1) Actions By The Board 

9323.2-E PDF(2) Actions By The Board 

Page 254 of 459



CSBA Sample District Policy Manual 

CSBA Sample Manual Site 
 

Bylaw 9100: Organization Status: ADOPTED 

Original Adopted Date: 09/01/1992 | Last Revised Date: 0709/01/20152022 | Last Revie 

0709/01/20152022 

wed Date: 

 

 
Each year, the Governing Board shall hold an annual organizational meeting. In any year in which a regular 

election of district Board members is conducted, the organizational meeting shall be held within a 15-day 

period beginning from days following the date upon which a Board member elected at thatsecond Friday 

in December after the regular election takes office.. During non-electionall other years, the meeting 

shallmay be held within the same 15-day period on the calendar. any date in December, but no later than 

December 20th. (Education Code 35143) 
 

 

The day and time of the annual meeting shall be selected byDuring any year in which a regular election is 

conducted, the Board, at itsthe regular meeting held immediately prior to the firstsecond Friday in 

December, shall select the day and time of the organizational meeting. For any other year, the day and 

time of the 15-day periodorganizational meeting shall be selected at the last regular meeting held 

immediately before the annual meeting. On behalf of the Board, the Superintendent shall notify the 

County Superintendent of Schools of the day and time selected. Within 15 days prior to the date of the 

annual meeting, the clerk of the Board, with the assistance of the Superintendent, shall notify in writing 

all Board members and members-elect of the date and time selected for the meeting. (Education Code 

35143) 

 

 

At this meeting the Board shall: 

 
1. Elect a president and a clerk and/or vice president from its members 

 

2. Appoint the Superintendent as secretary to the Board 
 

3. Authorize signatures 
 

CSBA NOTE: Pursuant to Education Code 35143, as amended by AB 486 (Ch. 666, Statutes of 2021), 

the Governing Board is required to set and hold an annual organizational meeting, in the manner 

described below, prior to the end of each calendar year. If the Board fails to select a day and time for the 

meeting, the County Superintendent of Schools must designate and notify all Board members and 

members-elect of the day and time of the meeting. A city board of education whose members are 

elected in accordance with a city charter may, by a rule of its board, establish a different timeline for 

setting the annual meeting and revise the following paragraph accordingly. 

CSBA NOTE: Unless otherwise provided by rule of the Board, the following paragraph is required 

pursuant to Education Code 35143., as amended by AB 486. 

CSBA NOTE: The following items should be modified to reflect district practice. Education Code 35022 

requires all boards with five or more members to elect a president. Education Code 35143 requires the 

election of a clerk and a president for high school, union high school, and joint union high school 

districts. City boards of education are required to elect only a president or a president and vice 

president, and all other types of districts are required to elect a clerk. For more information about 

election of officers, see the section "Election of Officers" below. 

CSBA NOTE: Item #4 below promotes the adoption of a Board calendar to ensure the scheduling of 

important governance matters such as evaluation of the Superintendent, Board self-evaluation, budget 

meetings, goal setting, and policy and program reviews. 
Page 255 of 459



4. Approve a schedule of regular meetings for the year and a Board governance calendar stating the 
time when the Board will address important governance matters 

 

5. Designate Board representatives to serve on committees or commissions of the district, other 
public agencies, or organizations with which the district partners or collaborates 

 

 

6. Review and/or consider resources that define and clarify the Board's governance and leadership 
roles and responsibilities including, but not limited to, governance standards, meeting protocols, 
Board rules and bylaws, and other Board development materials 

 
Election of Officers 

 

 

OPTION 1:  The Board shall each year elect one of its members to be (clerk)/(vice president). This 

member shall be one who previously has not served in office, unless all the Board's members have 

previously served in office. After serving one year as (clerk)/(vice president), the elected member shall 

serve one year as president of the Board. 
 

OPTION 1 ENDS HERE 
 

OPTION 2: The Board shall each year elect its entire slate of officers. 
 

OPTION 2 ENDS HERE 
 

 

No Board member shall serve more than  consecutive year(s) in the same office. 
 

 

The election of Board officers shall be conducted during an open session of the annual organizational 
meeting. 

Policy Reference UPDATE Service 
Copyright 2022 by California School Boards Association, West Sacramento, California 95691 
All rights reserved. 

 

Policy Reference Disclaimer: 

These references are not intended to be part of the policy itself, nor do they indicate the basis or authority for the 

board to enact this policy. Instead, they are provided as additional resources for those interested in the subject 

matter of the policy. 
 

State Description 

Ed. Code 35143 Annual organizational meetings; date and notice 

Ed. Code 35145 Public meetings 

Ed. Code 5017 Term of office 

CSBA NOTE: Item #6 below is recommended by CSBA through its governance trainings, including the 

Masters in Governance program. 

CSBA NOTE: Option 1 below is for districts that rotate offices so that each Board member has the 

opportunity to become president, while Option 2 is for districts that each year elect their entire slate of 

officers. The following options should be revised to reflect the sequence of offices used in the district. 

CSBA NOTE: The following optional sentence may be used with Option 2. 

CSBA NOTE: The following sentence may be used by all districts regardless of the option selected 

above. The California Attorney General has disapproved secret ballot voting in open meetings, as well as 

the casting of mail ballots (68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 65, 1985). As long as they do not use secret ballots, 

boards may elect their officers in any way they choose. 

Page 256 of 459



Gov. Code 54953 Meetings to be open and public; attendance 

Management Resources Description 

Attorney General Opinion 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 619, 621-622 (1976) 

Attorney General Opinion 68 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 65 (1985) 

 

 

Code Description 

9000 Role Of The Board 

9005 Governance Standards 

9121 President 

9123 Clerk 

9140 Board Representatives 

9223 Filling Vacancies 

9224 Oath Or Affirmation 

9230 Orientation 

9240 Board Training 

9320 Meetings And Notices 

9323 Meeting Conduct 

 

Cross References 

Page 257 of 459

https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=sHBGySNlwn3SacLla4K7Og%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=rZOJ87t1zaViVSr32aaX9w%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=KzrvMw3TEZphnX1mvmQQ6A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=ofigM3Hj9vgHrxpKWlPxMw%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=DpyplusdpUURhJ1VjyKzVmGXg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=qukrOxWG5RORv36z3372Wg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=dWBhIclkmcobIpluspJBPByLA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=CJjXUN8IKsFNsslshNpSjAfxg%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=3ESdfDgctf9DypluskEY1v7mA%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=6Fu4yQLBRZxTqW3v8pbl0A%3D%3D
https://simbli.eboardsolutions.com/Policy/ViewPolicy.aspx?S=36030855&revid=soqluOBDBjXqck0QhhuQ2A%3D%3D


HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13a Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve job description for Preschool Director/Career Technical Education Teacher at Hamilton High 
State Preschool. 
 

Background: 
As part of the California State Preschool Program, a “Program Self Evaluation” is to be completed 
annually for Hamilton High State Preschool to monitor goals and objectives of our preschool program. As 
part of that process, an updated job description is needed for the Preschool Director. 

Status: 
Pending board approval. 

Fiscal Impact: 
None. 

Educational Impact: 
Maintain an effective annual program self-evaluation process. 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board approve job description for Preschool Director/Career Technical Education Teacher. 

 

Page 258 of 459



Page | 1 
   Board Adopted: [DATE] 
   Ratified: [DATE] 
   Revision: 2022-9-22 JCT 
   Preschool Director/ 
   Career Technical Education Teacher 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
Job Description 

 
JOB TITLE:  PRESCHOOL DIRECTOR / CAREER TECHNICAL EDUCAITON TEACHER 

(Education, Child Development, and Family Services) 
 

SALARY RANGE: Certificated DIVISION:  Director/Teacher – Preschool 

DEPARTMENT: Certificated Staff LOCATION:  Hamilton High State Preschool 
   
REPORTS TO: District Administration or Designee WORK YEAR:  184 

APPROVED BY: Governing Board DATE:  October 26, 2022 
 
 
SUMMARY: 
Preschool Director - Under the supervision of the Superintendent, the preschool director/ Career Technical 
Education Teacher is jointly responsible for the development, implementation and management of early 
childhood classroom. Has knowledge of and experience with state subsidized child care, development 
programs and related support services: developmentally appropriate practices and curriculum: orients, trains, 
and supervises staff and supports volunteers and parents; coordinates recruitment and enrollment of eligible 
children; develops, establishes and maintains relationships with communities, related agencies, school 
administration and teaching staff; compiles data and prepares required reports. 
Career Technical Education Teacher - Provides instruction for Career with Children course as determined 
by course assignment. Instruction includes classroom related safety practices and procedures, career 
awareness, classroom instruction and development, and monitoring in the classroom environment. 
Coordinates efforts with college curriculum and Hamilton High State Preschool to provide oversight and 
organization of all career educational requirements. 
 
ESSENTIAL DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES: (Any one position may not include all duties listed; the 
listed examples do not include all duties and responsibilities) 
 
Preschool Director 

1. Coordinate recruitment, and enrollment process of eligible children.  
2. Provide instruction, care and assistance to preschool children in a classroom; develop and implement 

lesson plans and instructional activities to meet the social-emotional, physical and cognitive needs of 
children and enhance school/ kindergarten readiness. 

3. Coordinate, support staff and volunteers, instructional activities and resources to meet the needs of 
preschool students; 

4. Train and complete evaluation of performance of staff; participate in the interview and selection 
process of employees and recommend transfers, reassignment, termination and disciplinary actions.  
Plan, direct and supervise the work performed by teachers, professionals and others at the school 
site. 

5. Monitor and assess student needs and progress with standards-based and observational 
assessment; establish individual student goals and objectives; develop and implement instructional 
activities to enhance student skills in designated developmental areas; summarize data and share 
during parent conferences. 

6. Prepare, maintain, and submit records, reports and files related to student progress, needs, 
attendance, incidents, health, assessment, injuries, food service and assigned activities; maintain 
sign-in logs; Prepare and submit yearly comprehensive narrative and statistical self-evaluation.  

7. Maintain learning environment in a safe, orderly and clean manner in order to provide a safe and 
clean environment. Relevant duties may include cleaning tables and floors; clean, set up, and set out 

Page 259 of 459



Page | 2 
   Board Adopted: [DATE] 
   Ratified: [DATE] 
   Revision: 2022-9-22 JCT 
   Preschool Director/ 
   Career Technical Education Teacher 

toys, equipment and instructional materials as necessary. 
8. Oversee and participate in meal and snack times and required record-keeping; assist children with 

eating activities; wash children's hands and faces after play times and meals; assist children with 
toileting and change diapers and soiled clothing as needed 

9. Communicate with District personnel and outside agencies to initiate referrals and/or exchange 
information, coordinate activities and resolve issues or concerns or identified barriers, access 
services. 

10. Participate in child and family study team meeting, incorporate IEP goals and objectives into the 
center program, and cooperate with speech therapists, physical therapists, psychologist, behavior 
consultants and other ancillary support personnel. 

11. Attend and conduct parent, staff and other conferences and meetings as directed; provide information 
to parents, staff and others concerning instructional activities, student needs and related functions; 
collaborate with other staff and parents in the development and implementation of Individualized 
Education Plan goals and objectives; attend in-services as directed. Orients, trains, and supervises a 
team of teachers.   

12. Comply with mandated reporting requirements including (but not limited to) Community Care 
Licensing, Performance Standards, State Funding Terms and Conditions, Child Protective Services, 
and Worker’s Compensation.  

13. Operate variety of office and instructional equipment including a computer and assigned software; 
arrange for classroom and equipment maintenance and repairs as needed. 

14. Monitor inventory levels of classroom supplies; order, receive and maintain inventory of classroom 
supplies. 

15. Make administrative and budget decisions. Select, requisition books, upgrade materials, supplies, 
maintain inventory records and request resource speakers and field trips.   

16. Performs basic attendance accounting and business services as required in accordance with laws 
and school policies. 

17. Knowledge of current trends in the field of child development. 
 
Career Technical Education Teacher 

1. Ability to effectively present, and create lesson plans for Careers with Children curriculum. Instruct 
students to exam the underlying theoretical principles of developmentally appropriate practices 
applied to programs and environments, emphasizing the key role of relationships, constructive adult-
child interactions, and teaching strategies in supporting physical, social, creative and intellectual 
development for all children. 

2. Ability to instruct students to review the historical roots of early childhood programs and the evolution 
of the professional practices promoting advocacy, ethics and professional identity. 

3. Provide organized individual and small group instruction. 
4. Ability to establish and maintain a standard of student behavior needed to provide an orderly, 

productive classroom environment.  Able to enforce rules and disciplinary action.  
5. Maintain proper student information including grading tests and conducting progress reports. Use 

multiple assessments to identify, monitor, assess and evaluate academic and career skills 
achievement of students.  

6. Identifies student needs, cooperates with other professional staff members in assessing, counseling, 
and helping students solve health, attitude and learning problems. Communicate with parents and 
counselor to discuss individual student progress.   

 
Marginal Functions: 
 

1. Exercise supervision and care over books, supplies, and equipment; instruct students on proper use 
and preservation of school properties. 

2. Maintain a clean and safe classroom environment. 
3. Procure and order supplies and equipment. 

Page 260 of 459



Page | 3 
   Board Adopted: [DATE] 
   Ratified: [DATE] 
   Revision: 2022-9-22 JCT 
   Preschool Director/ 
   Career Technical Education Teacher 

 
QUALIFICATION REQUIREMENTS: 
 
Education: 
Bachelor’s degree from an accredited college or university. 
 
Credential: 
Possession of a valid California credential, or equivalent, which authorizes teaching of the assigned 
subjects/students; hold or qualify for Child Development Site Supervisor permit or higher; to include 24 units 
of ECE/CD, 6 units or administration, and 3 units of adult supervision, EMSA (Pediatric CPR / first aid) 
Certification and Prevention Health Class, English Learner Authorization; No Child Left Behind Act 
(NCLB)/Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) certification for self-contained classes or in the in 
the subject(s) being taught in a core class; Dual Immersion Teachers must possess a BCLAD (Bilingual, 
Cross cultural, Language and Academic Development) in the language used for student instruction 
 
Knowledge, Skills, Abilities, and Personal Characteristics: 
Knowledge of the fundamental principles and accepted practices, current trends, literature and research 
related to the grade(s) and courses taught; knowledge of teaching strategies and classroom management; 
knowledge of applicable laws, codes, regulations, policies and procedures; knowledge of record-keeping and 
report preparation techniques; ability to plan, organize, prioritize and manage time; ability to communicate 
effectively with students, parents, peers, administrators, and other district personnel, both individually and in 
a group; ability to observe, monitor, and evaluate student progress and behavior; ability to establish and 
maintain cooperative and effective working relationships with others; possess a positive attitude towards 
students, learning and teaching; knowledge of assessment tools; demonstrate flexibility and responsiveness; 
maintain consistent, punctual and regular attendance. 
 
Health 
Physical and mental fitness to engage in teaching service as certified by a licensed physician, surgeon, or 
medical officer (CA Education Code Section 44893); evidence of freedom from active tuberculosis (CA 
Education Code Section 49406). 
 
WORKING CONDITIONS 
 
Work Environment: 
Indoor classroom environment, occasionally outdoors; continuous contact with staff, students, and the public; 
may drive a vehicle to conduct work. 
 
Physical Characteristics: (with or without the use of aids; consideration will be given to reasonable 
accommodation). 
Ability to speak in an understandable voice with sufficient volume to be heard in normal conversation, on the 
telephone, and in addressing groups; physical, mental, and emotional stamina to endure long hours under 
sometimes stressful conditions; sufficient vision to read printed material; sufficient hearing to conduct in-
person and telephone conversations; sufficient physical mobility to move about the district and drive a car. 
Dexterity of hands and fingers to operate standard office and classroom equipment. Sitting, standing, 
walking, and may involve some running.  Bending at the waist, kneeling or crouching to assist students. 
Reaching overhead, above the shoulders and horizontally. Exert 10-25 pounds of force occasionally to lift, 
carry, push, pull or otherwise move objects; may occasionally life and stack heavy objects not to exceed 30 
lbs.  Seeing to read a variety of materials and monitor student activities. Hearing and speaking to exchange 
information. 
 
This job description is not a complete statement of essential functions and responsibilities. The district retains 
the discretion to add or change typical duties of a position at any time. 

Page 261 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13b Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve updated Other Duty 2022-23 salary schedule – clarification language only. 

Background: 
Clarification language on the Other Duty salary schedule is needed to identify how positions are paid. 

Status: 
Pending board approval. 

Fiscal Impact: 
None. 

Educational Impact: 
None. 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board approve updated Other Duty 2022-23 salary schedule – clarification language only. 

 

Page 262 of 459



Hamilton Unified School District
OTHER DUTY

 Salary Schedule 2022-23

Position Pay

Driver's Training Instructor 35.00$                      hour
Gate Duty 30.00$                      per athletic event, not per hour
Football Gate Duty 37.00$                      per athletic event, not per hour
AG Project Visitation One Period N/A
Adult Ed. Teacher I 31.91$                      hour
Student Helpers $        Minimum wage

COLA - 5% board approved 3/23/22 (5% for Adult Ed Teacher I only), effective 7/1/22
Increase to "Summer School Teacher/Saturday School Teacher" rate, from $30 per hour to $45 per 
hour effective 6/6/2022

Summer School Teacher/ Saturday School 
Teacher 45.00$                      hour

Page 263 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

Agenda Item Number: 13c Date:  10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Authorize Superintendent or designee to enter into an agreement with the lowest responsive bidder for 
the Hamilton Elementary School Restroom Alterations Project. 

Background: 
The purpose of this item is to update the Board of Education on the Alterations at Existing Restrooms at 
the Hamilton Elementary School. The project, Architect and Construction Manager for the project were 
previously approved by the Board of Education as indicated below: 
 

Project: Board approved 01/26/2022 
Architect: Eagle Architects Board approved 01/26/2022 
Construction Management: A-Line Board approved 8/24/2022 
 

Project Summary: 
• Demolition and Abatement of walls, ceilings, floors, doors, partitions, lights and all fixtures (sinks, 

toilets and urinals). 
• Widening the door openings and installing new doors at both restrooms. 
• Installation of all new finishes on walls, floors and ceilings 
• Installation of all new toilet compartments, lights, toilets, sinks and urinals. Saw cut and replace 

under slab waste and water. 
• Installation of new water heater and hot water circulating pump 
• Installation of new ventilation louvers and exhaust fans. 

 

The District will receive sealed bids for this project on November 8, 2022. The abatement and demolition 
portion of the work will be impactful (noisy) and should be performed while students are not on campus. 
In order to start the work over the Thanksgiving break, we request that the Board of Education grant pre-
approval of the project within the budget outlined below.  
 

It is recommended that the Board of Education authorize the Superintendent or designee to enter into an 
agreement with the lowest responsive bidder, for the project. 
 

The results of the bid will be brought back to the Board of Education at the next scheduled meeting for 
ratification of the bid award. 
 

Projected Expenses: 

Construction Budget Soft Cost Budget Total 

$237,000.00 $83,283.00 $333,533.00 
 

Status: 
Pending Board Approval 

Fiscal Impact: 
To be included in the estimated construction budget outlined above allocated from Bond Fund and 
ESSER III.  

Educational Impact: 
None. 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board authorize Superintendent or designee to enter into an agreement with the lowest 
responsive bidder for the Hamilton Elementary School Restroom Alterations Project. 
 

 

Page 264 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13d Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve NV5 Proposals for Construction Quality Assurance/Inspection Services for Hamilton Elementary 
and Hamilton High School Solar Array Installations. 
 

Background: 
In accordance with the 2019 California Building Code (CBC) and the DSA approved plans and 
specifications, HUSD must retain a Geotechnical Inspector and Lab independent of our contractor, 
Climatec, to provide basic CQA testing and inspection services for the Solar Array installations at 
Hamilton High School and Hamilton Elementary. 
 
NV5 proposes to perform the inspection and testing services specified in the DSA approved plans (DSA-
103) and the 2019 CBC. 
 
Estimated Fees are $26,845 in total: 
Hamilton Elementary Solar Array Inspection Services: $12,460.20 
Hamilton High School Solar Array Inspection Services: $14,384.80 

Status: 
Pending Board Approval 

Fiscal Impact: 
$26,845 from the general fund 

Educational Impact: 
N/A 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board approve NV5 Proposals for Construction Quality Assurance/Inspection Services for 
Hamilton Elementary and Hamilton High School Solar Array Installations. 
 

 

Page 265 of 459



Page 266 of 459



Page 267 of 459



Page 268 of 459



Page 269 of 459



Page 270 of 459



Page 271 of 459



Page 272 of 459



Page 273 of 459



Page 274 of 459



Page 275 of 459



P
age 276 of 459



Page 277 of 459



Page 278 of 459



Page 279 of 459



Page 280 of 459



Page 281 of 459



Page 282 of 459



Page 283 of 459



Page 284 of 459



Page 285 of 459



Page 286 of 459



P
age 287 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number:  13e Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified School District. 
 

Background: 
 
The Classified Unit (CSEA) and Hamilton USD agreed on a 3 Year Agreement for 2020-23. 
As approved in the June 27, 2022 board meeting packet, negotiated Articles included: 

• Article 4: Organizational Rights 

• Article 10: Pay and Allowances 

• Article 11: Health and Welfare Benefits 

• Article 20: Layoffs 

• Article 21: Classification and Salary Assessments 

Status: 
 
Pending board approval. 
 

Fiscal Impact: 
 
Changes to Article 10: Pay and Allowances, Article 11: Health and Welfare Benefits and Article 21: 
Classification and Salary Assessments were outlined and approved during the June 27, 2022 board 
meeting (6/27/22 agenda Item Number: ACTION ITEMS: “f”). 
 

Educational Impact: 
 
None. 
 

Recommendation: 
 
Recommend board approve the 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified 
School District. 
 

 

Page 288 of 459



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT 
 

Between 
 

Hamilton Unified School District 
 

And 
 

California School Employees Association 
 

Chapter 623 
 
 

July 1, 2020 – June 30, 2023

Page 289 of 459



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE 1 – AGREEMENT ............................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION .......................................................................... 2 

ARTICLE 3 – DISTRICT RIGHTS .................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 4 – ORGANIZATIONAL RIGHTS .................................................. 4 

ARTICLE 5 – PERSONNEL FILES ................................................................. 87 

ARTICLE 6 - EVALUATIONS ........................................................................ 98 

ARTICLE 7 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE .................................................. 109 

ARTICLE 8 – TRANSFERS & PROMOTIONS .......................................... 1413 

ARTICLE 9 – HOURS AND OVERTIME ................................................... 1514 

ARTICLE 10 – PAY AND ALLOWANCES ............................................... 1918 

ARTICLE 11 – HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS ............................ 2423 

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS ......................................................................... 2625 

ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES .............................................................................. 2826 

ARTICLE 14 – DISCIPLINE ............................................................................ 31 

ARTICLE 15 – VACATION ............................................................................. 35 

ARTICLE 16 – WORKING CONDITIONS ..................................................... 37 

ARTICLE 17 – SUMMER SESSION EMPLOYMENT .................................. 38 

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS ........................................ 39 

ARTICLE 19 – NO DISCRIMINATION.......................................................... 40 

ARTICLE 20 – LAYOFFS ................................................................................ 41 

SIGNATURE PAGE ......................................................................................... 43 

APPENDIX A – CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE .................................. 45 

APPENDIX B – DEFINITIONS ....................................................................... 46 

 

  

Page 290 of 459



1 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 1 – AGREEMENT 
 

1.1. The articles and provisions contained herein constitute a bilateral and binding agreement 
(“Agreement”), by and between the Hamilton Unified School District, hereinafter referred 
to as District, and the California School Employees Association and its Hamilton Chapter 
#623, hereinafter referred to as CSEA. 

 
1.2. This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect from July 1, 2020 through June 30,  

2023.   
 
1.3. If any provision of this Agreement, or any application thereof, to any classified employee 

represented by CSEA is held by a government agency or court of competent jurisdiction 
to be contrary to law, then such provision or application will be deemed invalid (to the 
extent required by such decision) but all other provisions or applications shall continue in 
full force and effect.  In the event of invalidation of any portion of this Agreement, the 
parties agree to meet after such determination for the purpose of seeking to reach an 
agreement for the replacement of the invalidated article or section. 

 
1.3.1. In the event of invalidation of any portion of this Agreement, the parties agree to 

meet within thirty (30) working days after such determination for the purpose of 
seeking to reach agreement for the replacement of the invalidated article or section. 

 
1.4. RATIFICATION OF ADDITIONS OR CHANGES 

 
Any additions or changes in this Agreement shall not be effective unless reduced to writing 
and properly ratified and signed by both parties. 

 
1.5. REOPENERS 

 
For the 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 school years, eEither Pparty may reopen negotiations 
related to salary, health, and welfare benefits and up to two (2) Aarticles of each Pparty’s 
choosing.  during the term of this contract (see any tentative agreements for limitations). 
 
Per Tentative Agreement dated June 22, 2022 between the Hamilton Unified School 
District and the California School Employees Association and it’s Hamilton Chapter No. 
623 (“CSEA”). “This agreement shall close negotiations between the Parties for the 2021-
22 and the 2022-23 school years, and neither party shall be entitled to request reopeners 
for this term. Agreement is hereby signed by the Parties on this 22 day of June, 2022.” 

Page 291 of 459



2 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 2 – RECOGNITION 
 

1.1. The District hereby acknowledges that CSEA is the exclusive representative of all 
classified employees who are not management, supervisory, confidential, substitutes or 
certificated. 

 

Page 292 of 459



3 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 3 – DISTRICT RIGHTS 
 

3.1. It is understood and agreed that the District retains all its powers and authority to direct, 
manage and control to the full extent of the law.   Included in but not limited to those duties 
and powers are the exclusive right to: 

 
a. Determine its organization. 
b. Direct the work of its employees. 
c. Determine the times and hours of operation. 
d. Establish its educational policies, goals, and objectives. 
e. Insure the rights and educational opportunities of students. 
f. Determine staffing patterns. 
g. Determine the number and kinds of personnel required. 
h. Determine the curriculum. 
i. Maintain the efficiency of District operations. 
j. Build, move, or modify facilities. 
k. Establish budget procedures and determine budgetary allocation. 
l. Determine the methods of raising revenue. 
m. Take action that is supported by law on any matter in the event of an emergency. 
n. In addition, the District retains the right to hire, classify, assign transfer, evaluate, 

promote, terminate and discipline employees. 
 
3.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the 

District, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, 
and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by 
the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then only to the extent such specific 
and express terms are in conformance with law. 

 
3.3 The provisions of this Article shall not be construed to override specific terms of this 

Agreement or to abrogate or limit rights guaranteed or provided by legal decisions or the 
operation of the law. 

 

Page 293 of 459



4 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 4 – ORGANIZATIONAL RIGHTS 
 

4.1 CSEA shall have the following rights in addition to those which are expressly set forth in 
other Articles of this Agreement.  See Appendix B for definitions. 

 
a. The right to reasonable release time and access to areas in which employees work for 

the purpose of representing bargaining unit members on grievances. 
b. The right to review employee’s personnel files and any other records dealing with 

employees when accompanied by the employee or upon written authorization of the 
employee. 

c. The right to use, without charge, facilities, buildings, bulletin boards, mailboxes and 
the use of the school mail system for official communication directed to members by 
CSEA on matters related to representation. 

d. To be supplied with an updated alphabetical list of all bargaining unit members to 
include the hire date, classification, contract hours and work location by the 1st of 
October each year. 

e. The right to review or receive upon request, copies of materials related to wages, hours, 
other terms and conditions of employment or any other documents which are relevant 
for CSEA to fulfill its duties and obligations as the exclusive representative of 
bargaining unit employees covered by this Agreement. 

f. The right to reasonable release time for the purpose of negotiating reopener and 
successor agreements. 

g. The right to release time for one elected CSEA conference delegate to attend the annual 
CSEA conference. 

h. The right to reasonable release time for the Chapter President or his/her designee for 
the purpose of attending to CSEA business. 

 
4.2 VOLUNTARY DEDUCTIONS 
 

The District shall, upon appropriate written authorization from any employee, deduct for 
any insurance premiums, credit union payments, savings bonds, or other plans or programs, 
which have been jointly approved by CSEA and the District.  The District shall pay to the 
designated payee, within a reasonable time of the deductions, all sums so deducted. 

4.3 DUES 

4.3.1 The District shall distribute CSEA-supplied membership applications to new hires 
but not make any statement suggesting employees must join. The District shall refer 
all employee questions about CSEA or dues over to the CSEA Labor Relations 
Representative. CSEA shall defend and indemnify District for any claims arising 
from its compliance with this clause. It is the mutual intention of the parties that the 
provisions of this Article protect the rights of individual bargaining unit members 
without restricting CSEA’s right to require every bargaining unit member, except 
those exempt from these provisions, to pay a fair share of the cost of collective 
bargaining activities. 

4.3.2 The District shall not interfere with the terms of any agreement between CSEA and 
the District’s employee with regard to that employee’s membership in CSEA, 

Page 294 of 459



5 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

including but not limited to automatic renewal yearly unless the employee drops 
out during a specified window period. The District need not need keep track of this 
period which shall be tracked by CSEA within its membership database. Except as 
expressly exempted herein, all bargaining unit members who do not maintain 
membership in good standing in CSEA are required to pay service fees to CSEA in 
amounts that do not exceed the periodic dues of CSEA for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

4.3.3 Bargaining unit members shall maintain membership in good standing in CSEA, 
pay service fees or, if a religious exemption is granted by CSEA, make equivalent 
payment to charity in lieu of service fees. 

4.3.4 No bargaining unit member shall be obligated to pay dues or service fees to CSEA 
until the first of the month following thirty (30) calendar days after the bargaining 
unit member first comes into the bargaining unit. 

4.3.5 Any bargaining unit member who is a member of a religious body whose traditional 
tenets or teachings include objections to joining or paying service fees to employee 
organizations shall not be required to join, maintain membership in, or pay service 
fees to CSEA as a condition of employment.  However, such bargaining unit 
member shall be required, in lieu of a service fee required by this Agreement, to 
pay sums equal to such service fee to one of the following non-religious, non-labor 
organizations, charitable funds exempt from taxation under Section 501 (c) (3) of 
the Internal Revenue Code. 

4.3.5.1 A charity, as defined above, acceptable to the District and the 
Association.  

4.3.5.2 A scholarship for the benefit of Hamilton Unified School District 
students.  

4.3.6 Any bargaining unit member claiming this religious exemption must file a written 
request for exemption with CSEA Legal Department.  If the request is granted, the 
bargaining unit member shall, as a condition of continued exemption from the 
requirement of paying service fees to CSEA, furnish CSEA Headquarters with 
copies of receipts from the charity selected, as proof that such payments have been 
made, or shall authorize payroll deduction of such payments. 

4.3.7 CSEA has the sole and exclusive right to have employee organization membership 
dues and service fees deducted by the District for bargaining unit members. 

4.3.8 The District shall deduct dues and service fees or payments to charity in accordance 
with the CSEA dues and service fee schedule from the wages of all bargaining unit 
members who have submitted payroll deduction authorization forms to the District 
unless CSEA notifies the District that the bargaining unit member is paying such 
fees directly to CSEA.  Such authorization shall remain in effect until expressly 
revoked in writing by the bargaining unit member.  A payroll deduction 
authorization form shall not be required for deduction of service fees or payments 
to charity. 

Page 295 of 459



6 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

4.3.9 The District shall, without charge, pay to CSEA within fifteen (15) days of the 
deduction all sums so deducted, except that the District shall pay to the designated 
charity sums deducted in lieu of service fees from the wages of bargaining unit 
members whose requests for religious exemption have been approved by CSEA 
Headquarters pursuant to this Agreement. 

4.3.10 Along with each monthly payment to CSEA, the District shall furnish without 
charge an alphabetical list of all bargaining unit members identifying them by 
name, hourly rate of pay, and days per year in paid status and indicating the amount 
deducted, if any, and whether such deduction is for dues, service fees or charitable 
contributions. 

4.3.11 Nothing contained herein shall prohibit a bargaining unit member from paying 
service fees directly to CSEA accounting department. 

4.3.12 The District shall immediately notify the CSEA Chapter Treasurer if any member 
of the bargaining unit revokes a dues, service fee or payment in lieu of service fee 
deduction authorization. 

4.3.13 CSEA agrees to reimburse the District, its officers and agents for reasonable 
attorney fees and legal costs incurred after notice to CSEA in  defending 
against any court or administrative action challenging the legality of the 
organization security provisions of this Agreement or the implementation thereof 
providing the District has complied with the terms of this Article and has promptly 
notified CSEA of its awareness of such an action.  The Association agrees that 
payments under this provision shall be made on a semiannual basis. 

4.3.14 The Chapter agrees to indemnify and hold the District harmless from any award or 
judgment, which may result from a court action or administrative action referenced 
in 4.3.12 above. 

4.3.15 CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such 
action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed. 

4.3.16 Bargaining unit members on voluntary leave without pay, on laid off status, 
terminated from employment or not on the District’s payroll for any reason for more 
than thirty (30) days shall be exempt from the above provisions. 

4.4 DUES DEDUCTION 
 

4.4.1 The District shall deduct, in accordance with the CSEA dues schedule, dues from 
the wages of all employees who are members of CSEA. 

 
4.4.2 The District shall not be obligated to put into effect any new or changed 

deductions until the pay period commencing thirty (30) days or more after such 
submission. 

 
4.4.3 There shall be no charge by the District to CSEA for regular membership dues 

deductions. 

Page 296 of 459



7 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

4.4.4 CSEA has the sole and exclusive right to have employee organization 
membership dues deducted by the District for bargaining unit members. 

 
4.4.5 The District shall, without charge, pay to CSEA within fifteen (15) days of the 

deduction all sums so deducted. 
 
4.4.6 Along with each monthly payment to CSEA, the District shall furnish without 

charge an alphabetical list of all bargaining unit members identifying them by 
name, hourly rate of pay, and days per year in paid status and indicating the 
amount deducted, if any. 

 
4.5       MEMBERSHIP INFORMATION 
 

4.5.1 The District shall take all reasonable steps to safeguard the privacy of CSEA 
member’s personal information, including but not limited to members Social 
Security Numbers, personal addresses, personal phone number, personal cellular 
phone number, and status as a union member. 
 

4.6 HOLD HARMLESS PROVISION 
 

4.6.1 CSEA shall defend and indemnify District for any claims arising from its 
compliance with this Article and for any claims made by the employee for 
deductions made in reliance on information provided by the employee 
organization to the District to cancel or change membership dues authorization. 
The District shall be required to promptly notify CSEA of any claims made by 
employees relating to dues authorization. 
 

4.6.2 CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such 
action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed. 

 

Page 297 of 459



8 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 5 – PERSONNEL FILES 
 
5.1 Personnel files of each bargaining unit member shall be maintained in the District’s central 

administrative offices. 

5.2 Every bargaining unit member shall have the right to examine his/her file upon request 
provided such inspection takes place outside the employee’s normal working hours. 

5.3 Employees shall be provided with a copy of any derogatory material before it is placed in 
the employee’s personnel file.  The employee’s written response, if submitted within ten 
(10) workdays shall be attached to the material. 

5.4 Any person who places written material or drafts written material for placement in the 
bargaining unit member’s file shall sign the material and signify the date on which such 
material was drafted.  Any written materials placed in a personnel file shall indicate the 
date of such placement. 

5.5 Information of a positive nature will be entered into the personnel file of a bargaining unit 
member provided it was written by the immediate supervisor or is related to the bargaining 
unit member’s job performance. 

5.6 All personnel files shall be kept in confidence and shall be available for inspection only to 
other employees of the District when actually necessary in the proper administration of the 
District’s affairs or the supervision of the Bargaining Unit Member. 

5.7 Upon request, a bargaining unit member shall be provided a copy of any material included 
in his/her personnel file.  A bargaining unit member shall have the right to authorize a 
CSEA representative to examine their file and obtain a copy of material in the file. The 
CSEA representative shall provide a form with the bargaining unit member’s signature 
authorizing the review of materials. 

5.8 Material not subject to inspection by the bargaining unit member includes rating reports or 
records which were obtained prior to the employment of the bargaining unit member or 
obtained in connection with a promotional examination. 

Page 298 of 459



9 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 6 - EVALUATIONS 
6.1 Evaluations shall be considered as a tool to provide bargaining unit member with 

information related to job performance and shall include not only a review of the past but 
a plan for future improvement as well as a provision for commendations for exemplary 
employees. 

6.2 Evaluations shall be conducted by the bargaining unit member’s immediate supervisor. All 
evaluations of classified employees shall be reviewed by the site administrator for which 
the employee works. If the immediate supervisor’s assessment is in conflict with that of 
the site administrator, the matter will be reviewed by the Superintendent, or in his absence, 
the Chief Business Officer, to gain clarity prior to the evaluation being shared with the 
employee.  

6.3 Permanent bargaining unit members shall be evaluated once each year prior to May 1st.  
Such evaluation shall consist of an overview of the current school year. 

6.4 Probationary bargaining unit members shall be evaluated two times during the first year of 
employment. Preliminary progress evaluations shall occur once at four months and once at 
eight months.  The employee shall receive a final evaluation prior to their 1st anniversary 
date.  Should the District fail to conduct at least the final evaluation prior to the employee’s 
anniversary date, the employee shall be deemed a permanent employee.   

6.5 No evaluation shall be based on statements or events which cannot be investigated.  
Evaluations shall be made based upon the direct observation and knowledge of the 
evaluator. 

6.6 Within ten (10) days of learning of any matter which may warrant placement of a negative 
rating on a bargaining unit member(s) evaluation, the immediate supervisor shall discuss 
with the bargaining unit member his/her concerns. No negative rating shall be placed on a 
bargaining unit member(s) evaluation without this discussion. 

6.7 Any negative evaluation shall include specific deficiencies and specific recommendations 
for improvement and provisions for assisting the employee in implementing any 
recommendations made. Additional training, courses and counseling referrals are options 
for specific recommendations for improvement. 

6.8 At any meeting to discuss an evaluation, the bargaining unit member is entitled to the right 
to representation if the bargaining unit member feels that the evaluation might lead to 
discipline.  Such representative shall have the right to speak on behalf of the bargaining 
unit member. 

6.9 The signing of an evaluation by a bargaining unit member only means that the bargaining 
unit member has received a copy of the evaluation, not that the bargaining unit member 
agrees with the contents of the evaluation.   

6.10 Bargaining unit members shall be given release time without loss of pay for the opportunity 
to review and comment on any evaluation before it is entered into the District personnel 
files.   

Page 299 of 459



10 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 7 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

7.1 DEFINITIONS 

7.1.1. A “grievance” is a claim by a bargaining unit member or CSEA that there has been 
a violation, misinterpretation or misapplication of this Agreement. 

7.1.2. A “grievant” is the person or person, including CSEA or representatives, making 
the claim. 

7.1.3. A “day” is any day in which the district office is open for business. 

7.2 GENERAL 

7.2.1 The purpose of this procedure is to secure at the lowest possible administrative level 
a resolution to the grievance caused from the interpretation and application of this 
Agreement. 

7.2.2 The time limits specified should be considered firm, but may be extended by mutual 
agreement in writing. 

7.2.3 Bargaining Unit members will inform their representative, i.e. local CSEA 
Representative/President their desire to file a grievance prior to the actual filing. 

 

7.2.4 Bargaining unit members are entitled to representation by CSEA at all levels. 

 

7.2.5 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by any person against any aggrieved person, 
any party in interest, any member of CSEA, or any other participant in the grievance 
procedures by reason of such participation. 

 
7.2.6 A bargaining unit member may be represented at all stages of the grievance 

procedure by himself or herself or, at their option, by a representative of CSEA.  A 
bargaining unit member may at any time present grievances to the District and have 
such grievance adjusted without the intervention of CSEA as long as the adjustment 
is reached prior to arbitration and the adjustment is consistent with the terms of this 
written Agreement.  The District shall not agree to a resolution of the grievance 
until CSEA has received a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution and 
has been given the opportunity to file a response. 

 
7.2.7 CSEA shall (on its own behalf or on the behalf of the affected employee(s)) initiate 

with the Superintendent a grievance which affects more than one bargaining unit 
member at more than one location or if the immediate supervisor does not have the 
authority to remedy the grievance. 

7.2.8 Time limits shall begin the day following receipt of a written decision.   

Page 300 of 459



11 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

7.2.9 All documents, communication, and records resulting from the processing of a 
grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel file of any participant. 

7.2.10 Appropriate forms for the filing and processing of grievances will be developed 
jointly by the District and CSEA and provided to bargaining unit members, as 
necessary, at the cost of the District. 

7.2.11 If the District does not respond in a timely fashion, the grievance automatically 
proceeds to the next level. 

7.2.12 Appropriate forms for the filing and processing of grievances will be developed 
jointly by the District and CSEA and provided to bargaining unit members, as 
necessary, at the cost of the District. 

7.2.13 If the District does not respond in a timely fashion, the grievance automatically 
proceeds to the next level. 

 
 

7.3 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 

7.3.1 Level One (Informal) 

7.3.1.1 Alleged grievances should be discussed in a private, informal 
conference between parties involved.  At least one such private meeting 
should take place between the parties before the grievance procedure is 
involved.  Grievant may request presence of CSEA representative. 

7.3.1.2 If the same alleged grievance is made by more than one employee 
against one respondent, only one employee on behalf of self and the 
other complainants may process the complaint through the adjustment 
procedure upon signed written consent of other involved grievants. 
Names of all aggrieved parties shall appear on all documents related to 
the settlement of the grievance. 

7.3.1.3 The administrator/supervisor has five working (5) days to respond to 
any informal grievance.   

7.3.1.4 The time limit provided for in this policy may be extended by mutual 
written agreement of the parties.  Any decision not appealed within the 
limits from one level to the next level in the grievance policy shall be 
considered settled on the basis of the last decision and not subject to 
further appeal. 

7.3.2 Level Two (Formal) 

7.3.2.1 Within five (5) working days of receipt of the administration or 
supervisor informal decision, the grievant has the right to move to 
formal level two of the grievance process should the decision not settle 
the issue.  The formal level two grievance shall be delivered in writing 

Page 301 of 459



12 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

to the site administrator/immediate supervisor stating the reasons for 
disagreement, specific contract violations, and an acceptable solution.   

7.3.2.2 Within five (5) working days the site administrator/supervisor shall 
communicate his/her decision to the employee in writing.  If the 
administrator does not respond or the grievance is not settled with the 
grievant in an acceptable solution, within five (5) working days from 
receipt of the written decision of the site administrator/supervisor, the 
grievant may appeal to the next level.   

7.3.3 Level Three 

7.3.3.1 Within five (5) working days the grievant shall submit in writing a 
request to have the matter mediated with the Superintendent. The 
Superintendent shall call a meeting within ten (10) working days 
between the grievant and the supervisor to hear the level-three 
grievance. In the event the Superintendent is the immediate supervisor, 
the time period shall be automatically extended for up to five (5) 
additional days so that the President of the Governing School Board or 
his/her appointee may hear the grievance and render a decision.   In 
either case, the grievant shall submit to the Superintendent a formal 
statement of grievance that includes the sections of the contract and an 
acceptable solution to the grievance.  The site administrator/supervisor 
shall forward all responses of the prior grievance level(s) prior to the 
level-three conference. 

7.3.3.2 Within five (5) working days, the Superintendent or in the event the 
President of the Governing School Board sits as moderator, shall in 
writing notify all parties of their decision.  If this decision is an 
acceptable conclusion or a negotiated agreement is reached to the 
grievance, the grievance shall be deemed settled.  If the decision or an 
agreement is not accepted/reached, the grievant may request in writing 
to have the grievance move to level four (Hearing before the School 
Board).   

7.3.4 Level Four 

7.3.4.1 Within thirty-two (32) working days of receipt of the appeal from the 
grievant, the School Board shall conduct a hearing on the grievance in 
an open or closed public session as requested by the grievant.  At the 
hearing, the grievant shall have an opportunity to testify, present 
evidence, and present witnesses pertaining to the grievance. 

7.3.4.2 Prior to the final resolution of the grievance, the district Board shall 
provide a copy of the grievance and the proposed resolution to CSEA.  
CSEA shall have seven (7) days to comment on the proposed resolution. 

7.3.4.3 If the decision is not satisfactory, the grievant has the option of 
requesting of CSEA that the grievance be submitted to arbitration.  

Page 302 of 459



13 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

7.3.4.4 CSEA shall notify the District in writing of its determination within 
thirty (30) days of the Board’s written decision. 

7.3.4.5 Either party may call witnesses and present evidence relevant to the 
arbitration issues.  Bargaining unit members called as witnesses will be 
released from duty without loss of pay to testify at the arbitration. 

7.3.4.6 The arbitrator’s decision will be in writing and will set forth to all parties 
his/her findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions on the issues 
submitted.  The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make 
any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law 
or which is in violation of the terms of this Agreement.  The arbitrator 
will have no power to add to, subtract from or modify the terms of this 
Agreement.  Should it become necessary to decide an issue, an arbitrator 
is required to review issues of “external law”.  

7.3.4.7 Provided the arbitrator abides by his or her jurisdictional mandates, 
doesn’t commit fraud, or have a conflict of interest, the decision of the 
arbitrator shall be binding. 

7.3.4.8 All costs, for the direct services of the arbitrator will be borne equally 
by the District and CSEA.  Other costs will be borne by the party 
incurring them. 

Page 303 of 459



14 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 8 – TRANSFERS & PROMOTIONS 

8.1 DEFINITIONS 

8.1.1 A transfer shall mean the movement of an employee from one school to another 
regardless of the number of hours per day or days per year.  A transfer shall not 
involve a change in classification or job title. 

8.1.2 A promotion shall mean the movement of an employee from one classification to a 
higher classification. 

8.1.3 A demotion shall mean the movement of an employee from one classification to a 
lower classification. 

8.1.4 A lateral transfer shall mean the movement of an employee from one classification 
to a different classification on the same salary range. 

8.1.5 An involuntary transfer shall mean the movement of an employee from one school 
to another regardless of the number of hours per day or days per year that the 
employee has not initiated.  An involuntary transfer shall not involve a change in 
classification or job title and shall not be used for disciplinary purposes.  Any 
employee who will be involuntary transferred shall be given at least ten-(10) 
working-days-notice along with the reason for the transfer. 

 
8.2 POSTING OF NOTICE 

8.2.1 Notice of job vacancies shall be posted on bulletin boards in prominent locations at 
each district job site for not less than six (6) full working days.  Employees meeting 
the minimum requirements for the vacancy shall apply by sending notice to the 
Personnel Department prior to the deadline.  Bargaining unit members who are on 
leave or layoff shall be sent a copy of the notice by first class mail on the date of 
the position posting. 

8.2.2 The job vacancy notice shall include, the job title, a brief description of the position 
and duties, the minimum qualifications required for the position, the assigned job 
site, the number of hours per day, work shift times, days per week and months per 
year assigned to the position, the salary range and the deadline for filing to fill the 
vacancy. 

8.2.3 Vacancies shall be filled in the following priority order: 
 

a. Reemployment Lists (if in effect) 
b. Transfers 
c. Lateral Transfers 
d. Demotions 
e. Promotions 
f. Outside candidate - If no bargaining unit member applies for the vacancy 

or meets the minimum qualifications 

Page 304 of 459



15 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 9 – HOURS AND OVERTIME 
9.1 Workweek – The workweek for each regular employee shall consist of five (5) consecutive 

workdays, Monday through Friday, unless otherwise designated by the District as posted 
in the job announcement. (TA-5-13-2014) 

9.2 Workday – The length of the workday shall be designated by the District for each classified 
assignment in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Agreement.  At the time of 
employment, bargaining unit employee shall be assigned a fixed, regular, and ascertainable 
minimum number of hours. (TA 5-13-2014) 

9.2.1 The District and/or an employee may wish to propose a special project that requires 
modification of the employees shift days/hours. When a project is proposed, the 
District and Employee may sign a side letter that states the following: 

9.1.1.1 The date, duration, and details will be delineated in the side letter. 

9.1.1.2 Either the District or the employee may cancel the side letter by a written 
notice to the other party with 30 day notice to canceling.  

9.3 Adjustment of Assigned Time – Any part time employee in the bargaining unit who works 
an average of thirty (30) minutes or more per day in excess of his/her regular part-time 
assignment for a period of twenty (20) consecutive working days or more shall have his/her 
regular assignment adjusted upward to reflect the longer hours, effective with the next pay 
period. Employees who work over assigned hours must have pre-approval of their 
supervisor before working overtime.  

9.4 Rest Periods – All bargaining unit employees shall be granted rest periods which, insofar 
as practicable, shall be in the middle of each work period at the rate of fifteen (15) minutes 
per three and three quarters (3 ¾) hours worked or more; two rest periods of fifteen (15) 
minutes shall be granted to an employee who works at least six (6) hours.  Employees who 
work less than three (3) hours shall have a ten (10) minute rest period.  Rest periods are a 
part of the regular workday and shall be compensated at the regular rate of pay for the 
employee. 

9.5 Overtime – All overtime hours shall be compensated at a rate of pay equal to one and one-
half the regular rate of pay of the employee for all work required or permitted.  Overtime 
is defined to include any time worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day or of forty (40) 
hours in any assigned work week.  Any employee that works over eight (8) hours in a day 
or 40 hours in an assigned work week without prior approval from the employee’s 
supervisor will not receive overtime compensation or compensatory time off. 

9.5.1 Compensatory Time – Compensatory time off (CTO) in lieu of cash compensation 
may be accrued in lieu of compensation for overtime.  CTO shall be taken, at a time 
that is mutually acceptable to the employee and the District.  All paid overtime or 
CTO must have prior authorization for the overtime/CTO from the employee’s 
supervisor.  Any approved overtime will be submitted monthly to your supervisor 
on a timesheet denoting your request for overtime or CTO.  The supervisor will 
forward this request to the district payroll clerk for documentation.  All requests for 
Comp time off will be submitted through the AESOP system.  

Page 305 of 459



16 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

9.5.2 Employees may accrue and carry up to 40 hours of CTO.  The employee may 
request to be paid for their CTO bank of time once annually in June.  The employee 
must submit in writing a request for payment of their CTO bank to the District Chief 
Business Officer prior to the last day business day in May of the school year. If no 
such written request is received, it will be assumed the employee wishes to carry 
over the accrued CTO bank to the following school year. (TA 6-19-2012) 

9.5.3 In economic times of financial hardship, the District may require employees to use 
any compensatory time that is recorded in lieu of overtime.  In these events, the unit 
will be notified in writing after the District issues a first or second interim report 
showing the District is presenting a qualified or negative budget to the School 
Board.  In such events, the District will work with the unit members to schedule 
time off that will minimally impact the operation of the department, site or district 
office.   

 
9.5.4 Transportation Assignments – Whenever it is necessary to provide the use of a 

school vehicle to transport more than eight (8) students, the District shall assign the 
task to a classified employee. 

 
9.5.5 Overtime shall be distributed to employees in the bargaining unit within each 

department in order of bargaining unit seniority.  If the employee with the greatest 
bargaining unit seniority elects to refuse the overtime assignment, it shall be offered 
to employees in the bargaining unit in descending order of seniority until the 
assignment is made. If overtime is mandatory and no unit member volunteers, the 
supervisor will distribute equally among unit members the required overtime on a 
reverse seniority rotational basis. Refusal by a senior employee in the bargaining 
unit of any overtime assignment shall not waive his/her right under this section to 
be offered any subsequent overtime assignment in order of seniority. Under 
extraordinary circumstances CSEA and the District agrees that a department head 
may work overtime usually owned by CSEA. (TA 5-13-2014) 

 
9.6 When a classified employee is requested to work on any paid holiday, he/she shall be paid 

compensation, or elect to take compensatory time off for such work, in addition to the 
regular pay received for the holiday, at the rate of time and one-half (1½) of his/her regular 
rate of pay. 

 
9.7 Minimum Call In Time – Any employee called in to work at a time when the employee is 

not scheduled to work, shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours pay at the appropriate 
rate of pay under this agreement. 

 
9.8 Right of Refusal -- Any employee shall have the right to reject any offer or request for 

overtime, or call back or call in time, except in the case of an emergency declared by the 
Superintendent or his/her designee. 

 
9.9 Hours Worked – For the purpose of computing seniority, all time during which an 

employee is in regular paid status, excluding overtime, as a probationary or permanent 
employee, shall be construed as hours worked. 

 

Page 306 of 459



17 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

9.10 Standby Time – All standby time shall be considered as regular hours worked and shall be 
compensated on a straight time or overtime basis as are other hours worked under this 
Agreement. 

 
9.10.1 Bus drivers on special trips, including but not limited to athletic events, field trips 

and curricular trips who are required to remain on standby for the duration of the 
event for which the special trip is made, shall be paid for all standby hours at their 
regular rate of pay. 

 
9.10.2 Whenever any combination of driving and standby hours in a day exceeds the 

established workday, all excess hours shall be compensated at the appropriate 
overtime rate based on the employee’s regular pay rate. Unit members may choose 
to adjust their work schedules for the day that they are assigned to drive if the 
trip/event exceeds their scheduled work time. (TA 5-13-2014) 

 
9.10.3 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, if a special trip requires 

an overnight stay, the District shall be relieved of the obligation of standby payment 
for any hours between the time a bus driver is relieved of duties for the evening and 
the time resumed the following morning. 

 
9.11 COMPENSATION DURING REQUIRED TRAINING PERIODS 
 

9.11.1 An employee who is required to attend training sessions or otherwise engage in 
training of any kind in order to continue his/her employment in a position shall 
receive compensation as follows: 

 
9.11.1.1 When the training occurs during the employee’s regularly assigned 

working hours, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay 
and shall receive all benefits to which he/she is entitled. All employees 
attending the two formal days of training shall complete a timesheet for 
the amount of hours worked in excess of their regular contract hours.  
All ten (10), eleven (11) and 12 month shall receive two formal days of 
training per school year. One day shall be during the district in-service 
at the beginning of the school year, and one at the direction of the district 
during the school year. When the training occurs during the regularly 
assigned working hours, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular 
rate of pay and shall receive all benefits to which he/she is entitled. Ten 
(10) and eleven (11) employees, and twelve (12) month employees (who 
exceed their daily contracted hours) attending the two formal days of 
training shall complete a timesheet for the amount of hours worked in 
excess of their regular  contract hours. (TA 3/2/18) 

 
9.11.1.2 When the regularly assigned hours of work and training combined total 

in excess of eight (8) hours on a regularly assigned work day, or when 
the training occurs at any time other that the regularly assigned work 
week, the employee shall be paid at the overtime rate appropriate for the 
day and/or time at which training occurs.  The overtime rate shall be 
based on the employee’s regular rate of pay. 

Page 307 of 459



18 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
 Training days that require adjustment of work-day/work-schedule shall 

be stated with a minimum of 10 days notice. 
 
9.11.1.3 All costs incurred under a district mandated training program for 

employee transportation, registration  fees, and supplies, shall be 
paid by the District. 

 
9.11.1.4 12 month employees will be granted one half day of leave before the 

following holidays in lieu compensation of the additional District 
training days annually: one half day prior to Christmas Eve holiday and 
one half before the New Year’s Eve holiday, i.e. “Bolt Days”. 

 

Page 308 of 459



19 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 10 – PAY AND ALLOWANCES 

10.1 The regular rate of pay for bargaining unit members shall be in accordance with Appendix 
“A.” 

10.2 Employees whose current salary schedule is higher than the salary at the corresponding 
step in the new salary schedule (Appendix A) shall be “Y-rated” and continue to receive 
their present salary until their rate of pay according to Appendix A reaches or exceeds their 
current rate.  When an employee on a “Y-rate” vacates that position, the employee who 
occupies the position shall be compensated on the applicable step in the Appendix A.  The 
“Y-rate” shall not apply in such instance unless the employee is also entitled to a “Y-rate” 
designation as defined in this article. 

10.310.2 All employees in the bargaining unit shall be paid at least once per month payable 
on or before the last working day of the month.  If the normal pay date falls on a holiday, 
the paycheck shall be issued on the preceding workday. 

10.410.3 Any error that is discovered that affects the salary of an employee shall be adjusted 
up to a three (3) year period.  If the error is in favor of the employee, the employee will be 
compensated by the amount plus five percent (5%) interest for a period of no more than 
three (3) years.  The amount will be paid within a forty-five (45) calendar day period.  If 
the error is in favor of the District, a mutually acceptable repayment plan will be undertaken 
which will reduce the employee’s monthly check accordingly. 

10.510.4 Any payroll adjustment due an employee in the bargaining unit as a result of 
working out of class, working overtime, or reasons other than payroll errors shall be 
included in either the following end-of-the-month or the 10th of the month payroll check.  
The supplemental pay period is from the 11th of the previous month to the 10th of the current 
month. 

10.610.5 Any paycheck for an employee in the bargaining unit which is lost after receipt or 
which is not delivered within seven (7) days of mailing, if mailed, shall be replaced not 
later than five (5) working days following the employee’s notice to the payroll department 
for replacement of the check. 

10.710.6 The District shall offer less than full time unit employees the opportunity to 
substitute for absent bargaining unit members.  This opportunity shall be subject to the 
following: 

10.7.110.6.1 Absent unusual circumstances, there will be no overlap in hours (i.e. the 
employee must first be able to perform his/her regular assignment). 

10.7.210.6.2 The substitute assignment shall not result in overtime costs for the District.  
In such cases, the District may split the assignment or may offer the substitute 
opportunity to persons who are on the Classified substitute list. 

10.7.310.6.3 The District and Unit agree that parental involvement is critical to maximize 
the educational opportunities for all students. Further, District and Unit agree that 
Unit members and certain classifications within the Unit require training and 

Page 309 of 459



20 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

background parameters that are preserved by this agreement and state and federal 
laws. 

10.7.410.6.4 Certain classifications that require certain certifications as a means to 
protect children are as follows: 

a. Paraprofessionals as detailed in the Elementary and Secondary Education 
Act (ESEA, see below) (3/2/18) 

b. Preschool Assistant and Preschool Teacher. 

10.7.510.6.5 Title I Paraprofessionals whose duties include instructional support must 
have: 

a. High school diploma or the equivalent, and 

b. Two years of college (48 units), or 

c. AA Degree (or higher), or 

d. Pass a local assessment of Knowledge and Skills in assisting in instruction. 

10.7.610.6.6 Other classifications who directly supervise children who are required to 
submit to a background check as prescribed by Ed Code 44830.1, 45125, 45125.01. 
(3/2/18) 

a. Child Nutrition Staff 

b. Yard Duty Supervisors 

c. District Universals 

d. District Bus Driver 

e. Office Clerical 

10.7.710.6.7 The District and Unit wish to ensure that parent involvement is protected 
while complying with state and federal statutes requiring the protection of children. 
The District and Unit agree that parents may volunteer in their child’s classroom 
up to five (5) hours weekly per child in their respective family. Such volunteerism 
is under the direct supervision of a classroom teacher and is not considered to 
infringe upon the aforementioned legal requirements or this agreement. 

10.7.810.6.8 This agreement does not inhibit parental involvement with those activities 
that are usual and customary known as parent involvement, for example PTO, 
Boosters and other like committees. 

10.810.7 When a bargaining unit member substitutes in a higher bargaining unit position, 
they shall be paid as follows: 

Page 310 of 459



21 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

10.8.110.7.1 If his/her regular hourly rate of pay is less than Step 1 of the classification 
in which they will substitute, they shall receive Step 1. 

10.8.210.7.2 If his/her regular hourly rate of pay is more than Step 1 of the 
 classification in which they will substitute, they shall receive one hundred five 
percent (105%) of Step 1, or an additional $1.00 per hour of the employee’s current 
hourly rate, whichever is higher. (3/2/18) 

10.8.310.7.3 If a unit member is appointed in writing by the Superintendent to conduct 
the duties of a department manager, that unit member shall receive one hundred ten 
percent (110%) of that unit member’s current hourly rate of pay. If more than one 
unit member is undertaking the duties of the manager, the compensation will be 
split equally. This clause shall exclude coverage for vacations. (Contingent upon 
acceptance of the district counter offer, the district will agree to retro current food 
service employees who are serving during the 2017-2018 school year during the 
second semester.). (3/2/18) 

10.8.410.7.4 A bargaining unit member may substitute in the place of a department 
manager up to one full school year at step one of that particular manager’s pay rate. 
The selection of the bargaining unit member to cover the absence of that manager 
will be solely at the discretion of the district. (3/2/18) 

 
10.910.8 Split Shift Differential – Based upon District needs, bargaining unit employees may 

be assigned to a split shift assignment.  A split shift assignment is one which has more than 
one (1) hour between the work segments (e.g. work from 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m., no 
assignment from 11:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., work from 3:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.).  Each 
employee assigned a split shift shall be paid a differential.  The differential shall be: 

10.9.110.8.1 Two and one-half percent (2½%) of his/her step placement on the salary 
schedule if the actual “split” (excluding up to one hour for a meal break) is three 
hours or less. 

10.9.210.8.2 Five percent (5%) of his/her step placement on the salary schedule if the 
actual “split (excluding up to one hour for a meal break) is more than three 
hours. 

 
10.1010.9 Mileage Reimbursement – Employees required to use his/her own automobiles in 

the performance of their assigned duties, or if attendance is required at job related meetings 
or conferences, shall be reimbursed for mileage at the IRS mileage rate.  If requested use 
by the District results in an increase of employee insurance premiums, the District will pay 
for the increase in premium costs. 

 
10.1110.10 Lodging and Meals – Any employee, who as a result of a work assignment, must 

be lodged away from home overnight shall be reimbursed by the District for the cost of 
lodging and meals in accordance with Board Policy.  If requested by the employee, the 
District shall provide advance funds to the employee for such lodging and meals. 

 

Page 311 of 459



22 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

10.1210.11 Compensation During Required Training Periods – An employee who is 
 required to attend training sessions or otherwise engage in training of any kind in 
order to continue his/her employment in a position shall receive compensation as follows: 

 
10.12.110.11.1 When the training occurs during the employee’s regularly assigned 

working hours, the employee shall be paid at his/her regular rate of pay and 
shall receive all benefits to which he/she is entitled. 

 
10.12.210.11.2 All costs incurred under a District mandated training program for 

employee transportation, registration fees, and supplies, shall be paid by the 
District. 

 
10.1310.12 Physical Examination – The District agrees to provide the full cost of any medical 

examination of regular employees, including TB test or X-rays, required for continued 
employment or when directed by the employee’s supervisor or required for license renewal. 

10.14 Medical Administration Activities (MAA): 
 

(The Unit and District agrees that the tentative agreement dated June 19, 2012 for MAA is 
the prevailing language.  The District and Unit agree that this side letter dated June 19, 
2012 will be a common reopener each year until a successor agreement is reached or the 
MAA program is discontinued.  MAA will remain a reopener each year.) 

10.14.1 In the absence of the District issuing a Negative or Qualified Certification on 
the First or Second interim reports, the District will distribute all Medical 
Administrative Activities funds accumulated from the previous fiscal year by 
the District and allocated to eligible employee units no later than December 31 
following receipt of those funds.  Subsequent to the issuance of a Negative or 
Qualified Certification, all aforementioned MAA funds shall be retained by the 
District until such time as the District issues a Positive Certification on Either 
the First or Second Interim report. 

 
10.14.2 Eligible employees: 

 
a. Those unit members, who complete the MAA survey participant 

requirements and qualifying and completing quarterly time surveys for each 
are qualified to participate in the random moment survey process and who 

complete the survey if selected, each program year, will be eligible to 
receive their portion of unrestricted MAA funds for that year.   

b. Those who replace and serve in the same position as the employee who 
generated the funds. 

c. All Classified unit employees who meet the requirements will receive 100% 
of MAA allocations to the unit.  All unit members who meet the 
qualifications in “a” and “b” shall receive an equal portion of the 
unrestricted MAA funds allocated to the classified unit for that survey year.  

d. Employee listed in January 2012 MAA time survey participate list, to be 
updated annually.  A list of Employees who qualify to survey under the 
random moment survey process shall be updated annually.   

Page 312 of 459



23 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
10.14.3 Direct costs of operating the MAA program shall receive first priority for 

funding to include the MAA portion of salaries of the MAA Coordinator and 
the Business Manager as well as program supplies and equipment.  Not to 
exceed $12,500.  

 
10.14.4 $15,000 of the High School Librarian/Technology Coordinator’s Salary and 

$7,500 of the Counseling Secretary salary and up to $15,000 of the elementary 
school librarian salary shall receive second priority for funding.  

 
10.14.5 $7,500 for computer technician and $15,000 of the Counseling 

Secretary’s/High School Library Technician salary and up to $15,000  of the 
Elementary School Library Technician’s salary shall receive second priority 
funding.   

 
10.14.6 $2,000 dollars MAA funding for Agricultural Instructors Stipend to be split 

between the agriculture teachers. 
 
10.14.7 A $20,000 Contribution to the post retirement fund shall receive third priority 

for funding.   
 
10.14.8 $10,000 annually for new computers/new labs at either at any district site as 

funding and space becomes available.  This may be used to upgrade teacher 
computers as well; Classified Employees and District Administration would not 
be included in these funds.  

 
10.14.9 Remaining MAA funds shall be allocated to eligible employees 
 
10.14.10 Classified: 15 percent of funds divided by the number of employees who 

generate MAA funds. 
 
10.14.11 The Business Manager shall keep a record of MAA account balances for all 

employees. Funds will be carried over from the current program, to the next 
program year, year-to-year. If an eligible employee is no longer employed by 
the district, the remaining fund balance shall be returned to the eligible 
employee’s unit (classified CSEA) to be reallocated and redistributed the 
following December 31st deadline to the remaining participating unit members.   

 
10.14.12 MAA fund expenditures must receive prior approval from the 
Superintendent and CBO District Administration as is the case with any 
Purchase Order/Reimbursement payable.  MAA funds are unrestricted and may 
be used on, but are not limited to, equipment, supplies, staff development, 
student enrichment, instructional materials and site improvements. (TA July 25, 
2012) 

10.12.1  
 

Page 313 of 459



24 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 11 – HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS 
 

11.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

11.1.1 The District will not change the level of existing health benefit coverage except 
through the negotiations process. 

11.1.2 The District contribution to health benefits for medical, dental, and vision coverage 
for full time employees shall be capped at the annualized rate of  $11,370 
12,370 as of July 1, 2017  October 1, 2022 and until the district and CSEA negotiate 
a successor agreement. (TA 4-25-2017) 

11.1.3 Employees whose current benefit coverage is higher than that as defined in this 
article shall continue to receive their current benefits until such time as they are no 
longer employed by the district. 

11.1.4 In addition to the benefits listed in 11.1.2, the district shall provide at no expense 
to the employee a $25,000 life insurance policy.   

11.1.5 Beginning with the 2011-2012 fiscal year, the District will no longer pay the costs 
of disability insurance (1.19% of the salary) for unit members. Unit members may 
individually elect to pay the cost of disability insurance.  In response to this, the 
salary schedule for the 2010-2011 (Appendix A) shall be increased by 1.19% at 
each step and range effective July 1, 2011.  

11.1.6 Eligible employees who began employment after the beginning of a new fiscal year 
shall receive the prorated portion of the District’s contribution to health benefits for 
medical, dental, and vision coverage. 

11.2 FULL TIME EMPLOYEES 

11.2.1 A full-time employee for purposes of this article shall be defined as an employee 
who works a minimum of six hours per day/thirty (30) hours per week. 

11.2.2 The district shall contribute the annualized cap of $11,370 per year for health 
benefits to qualifying unit members. (TA 4-25-2017) 

11.3 PART TIME EMPLOYEES 

11.3.1 A part time employee for purposes of this article shall be defined as an employee 
who works less than six hours per day/ thirty hours per week. 

11.3.2 The district shall provide life insurance at no cost to the employee. 

Page 314 of 459



25 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

11.4 RETIRED EMPLOYEES 
 
11.4.1 For each eligible fulltime employee who retires during the life of this contract, the 

district shall provide health benefits (medical, dental, vision). 
 
11.4.2 The district contribution for the benefits shall be set at the same dollar level as that 

for active employees each year. 
 
11.4.3 To be eligible for health benefit coverage, the unit member must have served a 

minimum of fifteen (15) years in the district (Hamilton Union High School District, 
Hamilton Union Elementary School District, and Hamilton Unified School District) 
and have reached the age of fifty-five (55). 

 
11.4.4 The district shall continue to provide coverage until one of the following occurs: 

11.4.4.1.1 The death of an employee; 

11.4.4.1.2 The employee reaches the age of sixty-five (65); 

11.4.4.1.3 The employee becomes eligible for Medicare or Medical; 

11.4.4.1.4 The employee gains active employment elsewhere and becomes 
eligible for health insurance at his/her new employment; or 

11.4.4.1.5 The retiree’s dependents will be added to the retiree’s coverage for 
as long as the retiree is eligible. 

 
11.5 TRANSITION COVERAGE 

 
11.5.1 Pursuant to federal law (COBRA), an employee who has been receiving health 

benefits, and who terminates his/her position or is terminated (except for gross 
misconduct), is entitled to continue group coverage at his/her expense for up to 
eighteen (18) months).    Note: For a limited time pursuant to federal law, an 
eligible employee who is terminated may purchase health insurance for up to nine 
(9) months and pay 35% of the insurance premium. 

 
11.5.2 In certain circumstances, the employee’s spouse, former spouse, or dependent child 

may have a right to continued coverage for up to thirty-six (36) months. 
 
11.5.3 Continued coverage may be subject to an administrative fee levied by the program 

administrator 
 

 

Page 315 of 459



26 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 12 – HOLIDAYS 
 

12.1 The parties agree to provide a floating holiday to all eligible unit members for the 
Juneteenth Holiday from 2020/2021 School Year for use during the 2021/2022 School 
Year. The District agrees to provide all employees in the bargaining unit with the following 
paid holidays: 

 
a. New Year’s Day – January 1 
b. Martin Luther King Day  
c. Lincoln’s Birthday - February 
d. President’s Day - February 
e. Spring Vacation Day – Good Friday 
f. Memorial Day – Last Monday in May 
g. Independence Day – July 4 
g.h.Juneteenth Day – June 19 
h.i. Labor Day – First Monday in September 
i.j. Admission Day – September 9 (Floating holiday selected by employee requires prior 

District approval) 
j.k. Veteran’s Day – November 11 
k. Bolt Day (½ Day) – Tuesday prior to Thanksgiving* 
l. Thanksgiving Travel Day – Day before Thanksgiving Day 
m. Thanksgiving Day – Thursday proclaimed by the President 
n. Thanksgiving Travel Day – Day after Thanksgiving Day 
o. Bolt Day (½ Day) – Day prior to Christmas Eve* 
p.o.Christmas Eve – December 24 
q.p.Christmas Day – December 25 
r.q. New Year’s Eve – December 31 

 

12.2 Additional Holiday – Any day proclaimed by the President of the United States or the 
Governor as a mandatory holiday shall be observed by the District office.  

12.3 Holiday Eligibility – Except as otherwise provided in this Article, an employee must be in 
a paid status on his/her normal working day preceding or succeeding the holiday to be paid 
for the holiday. 

12.3.1 Employees in the bargaining unit who are not normally assigned to work during the 
Christmas recess shall be paid for any holidays above provided they were in a paid 
status during any portion of their normal working day immediately preceding or 
succeeding the holiday period. 

12.4 Holidays on Saturday or Sunday or on Day Off – When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the 
preceding workday, not a holiday, shall be deemed to be that holiday. When a holiday falls 
on a Sunday, the following workday not a holiday shall be deemed to be that holiday. 

12.4.1 The operation of this section shall not cause any employee to lose any of the 
holidays clearly indicated in this Article. 

Page 316 of 459



27 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

12.5 If any holiday as listed in 12.1 is a student attendance day in any given year, eligible 
employees shall be awarded a floating holiday to be designated by the employee and 
approved by the District.  
 

Page 317 of 459



28 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 13 – LEAVES 
 
13.1 Sick leave for illness or injury will accrue to all bargaining unit members on the basis of 

one (1) day’s leave for each month of service rendered.  If a bargaining unit member works 
at least five (5) days in any month, the bargaining unit members shall accrue sick leave for 
that month.   Sick leave for  part-time employees shall be computed proportionately.  Pay 
for any day of such absence shall be the same as the pay which would have been received 
had the employee served during the day of illness. 

 
13.1.1 Credit for sick leave need not be accrued by the employee prior to taking leave; 

such leave may be taken at any time during the year.  However, a new employee of 
the District shall not be eligible to receive more than six (6) days credit, or the 
proportionate amount to which he/she may be entitled until the first day of the 
calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the 
District.   

 
13.1.2 Permanent employees shall be credited on the employee’s first workday of the 

school year, with one (1) year’s allowance (e.g. 12 days for a 12 month employee) 
of sick leave, which must be subsequently earned.  In the event an employee leaves 
the classified service after having used more than the total amount earned to date at 
the rate of one (1) day per month, the unearned portion shall be deducted from 
his/her final warrant.  In case the final warrant is insufficient to compensate for 
unearned leave, the separated employee shall reimburse the District by cash 
payment. 

 
13.1.3 Unused sick leave credit may be accumulated without limit and may be transferred 

to any other California school district with the transferring employee pursuant to 
law. 

 
13.1.4 Injury or illness attributed to pregnancy shall be treated as an illness for the purpose 

of sick leave. 
 
13.1.5 An employee is required to notify the District Office, on a daily basis, of his/her 

absence for reasons of personal illness and the anticipated date of return.  Exception 
to this requirement shall be made when the employee’s absence beyond one day is 
based upon advice from a qualified medical practitioner. 

 
13.1.6 Upon retirement, an eligible employee may convert all unused sick leave into 

service credits in accordance with PERS regulations. 

13.2 Extended Illness Leave 
 
Article 13.2 per Education Code Section 45196….  A regular classified employee shall 
once a year be credited with a total of not less than 100 working days of paid sick leave, 
including days to which he or she is entitled under Education Code Section 45191 (Article 
13.1). Such days of paid sick leave in addition to those required by Education Code Section 
45191 shall be compensated at not less than 50 percent of the employee's regular salary. 
The paid sick leave authorized under such a rule shall be exclusive of any other paid leave, 

Page 318 of 459



29 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

holidays, vacation, or compensating time to which the employee may be entitled. (TA 
9/9/2015) 
 

13.3 Entitlement to Other Sick Leave – When a permanent classified employee  who is  on 
illness or injury leave has exhausted all paid leave he/she is entitled to, he/she may be 
placed on a six month unpaid leave.  If at the end of the six  months unpaid leave the 
employee is still unable to return to work, he/she shall be placed on a reemployment list of 
39 months. 

13.4 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave – In addition to other benefits that an employee may 
be entitled to under the Worker’s Compensation laws of this State, employees shall be 
entitled to the following benefits: 

 
13.4.1 An employee suffering an injury or illness arising out of, and in the course and 

scope of his/her employment shall be entitled to a leave of up to sixty (60) work 
days in any one fiscal year for the same accident or illness.  This leave shall not be 
accumulated from year to year; when any leave will overlap a fiscal year, the 
employee shall be entitled to only that amount remaining at the end of the fiscal 
year in which the injury or illness occurred. 

 
13.4.2 Payment for wages lost on any day shall not, when added to an award granted the 

employee under the Worker’s Compensation laws of this state, exceed the normal 
wage for the day(s). 

 
13.4.3 The industrial accident or illness leave is to be used in lieu of normal sick leave 

benefits.  When entitlement to industrial accident or illness leave under this section 
has been exhausted, entitlement to other sick leave, vacation or other paid leave 
may be used.  If, however, an employee is still receiving temporary disability 
payments under the Worker’s Compensation laws of this state at the time of the 
exhaustion of benefits under this section, he/she shall be entitled to use only so 
much of his/her accumulated and available normal sick leave and vacation leave 
pay which, when added to the Worker’s Compensation award, provides for a day’s 
pay at the regular rate of pay. 

 
13.4.4 An employee absent from duty because of an industrial accident or illness leave, 

who has used all available paid leave pursuant to this Agreement and is unable to 
return to duty, may be granted a leave of absence without pay for further 
recuperation. 

 
13.4.5 Any time an employee on industrial accident or illness leave is able to return to 

work, he/she shall be reinstated in his/her position. 
 
13.4.6 The District reserves the right at District expense to require a medical 

examination by a District selected doctor at any state of an industrial accident 
claim. 

 
13.4.7 Any employee on industrial accident leave shall not leave the state without 

written consent from the District. 

Page 319 of 459



30 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
13.5 Catastrophic Leave 13.5 

 
13.5.1 Under the catastrophic leave program, District employees may voluntarily donate 

sick leave credits to other eligible employees within their employment group who 
have been granted leaves of absence due to a catastrophic illness or injury. Leave 
credits may not be exchanged between classified and certificated employees. 

 
13.6 Sick Leave Credits. 13.6 

 
13.6.1 Credits are received and donated on an hourly basis. 

 
13.7 Recipients. 13.7 

 
13.7.1 To be eligible to receive donations, the employee must satisfy all of the following 

conditions. 
a. Be covered by the catastrophic leave provisions of the collective bargaining 

agreement. 
 

b. Provide medical written verification from his/her licensed physician of a 
catastrophic illness or injury, indicating the capacitating nature and probable 
duration of the illness or injury. 

 
c. Have used all available sick leave credits. 

 
d. Not be receiving other salary replacement credits such as worker’s 

compensation. 
 

13.8 Donations may be solicited through an announcement by the District on behalf of an 
eligible recipient. 

 
13.9 All transfers of eligible leave credit shall be irrevocable. The Superintendent shall ensure 

that all donations are confidential. 
 
13.10 To donate sick leave credits, the employee must satisfy all of the following conditions: 

 
a. Be covered by the catastrophic leave provisions of the collective bargaining 

agreement. 
 

b. Donation per employee not to exceed ten days (10 days) accumulated sick 
days. (TA 9/9/2015) 

Page 320 of 459



31 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

13.11 Bereavement Leave – Employees of the bargaining unit shall be granted a leave with full 
pay in the event of a death in the employee’s immediate family.  The leave shall be for a 
period not to exceed three (3) days or five (5) days if travel is over 200 air miles one way 
or out-of-state travel is required to attend services. 

13.11.1. Immediate Family shall mean and include the following: husband, wife, 
mother, father sister, brother, son, step and foster son, daughter, step and foster 
daughter, grandparent, grandchild, stepmother, stepfather, stepson, 
stepdaughter of the employee or the employee’s spouse and any other relative 
person of either the employee or the spouse living in the immediate household 
of the employee. 

13.11.2. Additional time off, with pay shall be granted by the District, when an 
employee’s emotional condition warrants such consideration; however, such 
additional time off shall be subtracted from the employee’s accumulated sick 
leave. 

13.12 Jury Duty – An employee shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay for  any time the 
employee is required to perform jury duty.  The employee will reimburse the District that 
amount that he/she receives from the County for jury duty.  Any meal, mileage, and/or 
parking allowance provided the employee for jury duty shall not be considered in the 
amount reimbursed to the District.   

13.13 Personal Necessity Leave – Any seven (7) days of absence per year earned for sick leave 
under Section 13.1 of this Article may be used by the employee, at his/her election, in cases 
of personal necessity on the following basis. 

13.13.1 The death of a member of the employee’s immediate family when additional 
leave is required beyond that provided in Section 13.11 13.5 (will need to 
change with numbering of bereavement) of this Article or death not covered 
under bereavement leave but which of great personal concern to the employee; 

13.13.2 As a result of an accident or illness involving an employee’s person or property 
or the person or property of his/her immediate family as listed in Section 
13.11.1 13.5.1 or an incident of such an emergent nature that the immediate 
presence of the employee is required during his/her work day; 

13.13.3 Appearance in court as a litigant or as a witness under an official order; 

13.13.4 Illness of a member of the immediate family as defined in 13.11.1  13.5.1 of 
such a nature as to require the presence of the employee during his/her normal 
workday. 

13.13.5 Employees shall be granted up to two (2) days for paternity or adoption leave. 
(see 2017-18 TA) 

13.13.6 One (1) day of this leave may be used in each fiscal year for Compelling 
Personal Importance.  The employee using such leave shall be required to file 
a written statement with the Personnel Department that such leave was not used 
for any of the following purposes: 

Page 321 of 459



32 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
a. Engaging in other employment 
b. Work stoppage or strike  

c. Other personal reasons approved by the Superintendent, which cannot 
reasonably be taken care of outside the hours of assigned duty. 

13.14 Military Leave – An employee shall be entitled to military leave as provided for in the 
Military and Veteran’s Code and the Education Code. 

13.15 Pregnancy Disability Leave – A Unit member may use all available leaves for disability 
due to pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions and recovery from these 
conditions. 

13.15.1 The length of pregnancy disability leave, including the date on which the leave 
shall begin and the date on which the unit member is no longer disabled because 
of pregnancy and shall return to work shall be determined by the unit member’s 
physician. 

13.15.2 Before returning to work from a pregnancy disability leave, the unit member 
shall obtain a “return to work” certification from her health care provider stating 
that she is able to resume her job duties. 

13.15.3 Pregnancy disability leave shall not be granted to provide periods of 
convalescence beyond disability prior to or following child birth. Pregnancy 
disability leave shall not be granted for childcare. 

13.16 Parental/Child Bonding Leave – Employees may elect to utilize up to 12 weeks of child 
bonding leave occasioned by the birth of the employee’s child, or the placement of a with 
the employee in connection with the employee’s adoption or foster care of the child as 
provided by the California Family Rights Act (CFRA). 

13.16.1 Eligibility for Parental Leave: 

13.16.1.1 All full-time and part-time employees who have been employed for 
12 months with the employer are entitled to utilize parental leave. 

13.16.1.2 There is no threshold number of hours that part-time employees, as 
well as full-time employees, must work in order to be eligible for 
parental leave. 

13.16.2 Commencement of Leave 

13.16.2.1 For birthing mothers, the 12 week child bonding leave shall 
commence after the conclusion of any pregnancy disability leave. 

13.16.2.2 For non-birthing mothersparents, the 12 work week child bonding 
leave shall commence on the first day of such leave. 

Page 322 of 459



33 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

13.16.2.3 Child bonding leave shall run concurrently with the CFRA Leave 
and the total amount of child bonding leave and the CFRA Leave 
shall not exceed 12 work weeks in a 12 month period.  

13.16.3 A unit member may use accumulated sick leave for the purpose of Child 
Bonding Leave. Pursuant to Education Code Section 45196.1, if an employee 
exhausts his/her sick leave prior to expiration of the 12 week child bonding 
leave, the employee shall be entitled to differential pay (no less than 50% of 
regular pay, Education Code Section 45196.1) as defined in 1.12 of Appendix 
B Definitions, for the balance of the 12 week period. Should the employee 
choose not to use available sick leave, the employee will not receive 
differential pay. 

13.16.4 Pursuant to CFRA, child bonding leave may be used within one year of the 
birth, adoption or foster care placement of a child. 

13.16.5 The employee must provide the district with at least thirty (30) days prior 
notice of intent to take child bonding leave, except in case of emergency. 

13.16.6 Where both parents are employees of the District, the two parents are entitled 
to share a total of 12 work weeks of bonding leave. 

13.16.7 The employee is entitled to take parental leave in intermittent periods within 
the 12 month period; however, the aggregate amount of parental leave taken 
shall not exceed 12 works weeks in the 12 month period. 

13.16.8 If a school year concludes before the 12 work week period is exhausted, the 
employee may take the balance of the 12 work week period in the subsequent 
school year. 

13.16.9 The employee is also entitled to use his or her vacation leave in taking parental 
leave, if the employee choses to do so. 

13.16.10 Other Leaves – The District expressly reserves the sole right to grant or deny, 
on any terms mutually acceptable to the District and the employee, any other 
leave which may be requested by an employee. 

13.16.11 Break In Service – No absence under the provisions of any paid leave provided 
for in this Article shall be considered a break in service.  During the period the 
employee remains in paid status, all benefits provided to an active employee 
under the provisions of this Agreement shall continue to accrue. 

13.17 MISCELLANEOUS 

13.17.1 Each absence must be reported in AESOP. The absence must explain the 
reasons for the leave. 

13.17.2 Leaves of absence may be taken in hourly increments. 

Page 323 of 459



34 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 14 – DISCIPLINE 

14.1 PROCEDURES 

14.1.1 Bargaining unit members shall be disciplined for violation of the rules and 
regulations of the District, this Agreement and the law. 

14.1.2 Unsatisfactory performance or misconduct of a major nature or serious situations 
involving the health and welfare of students or employees shall bypass the 
progressive discipline procedures. 

14.1.3 Recommendations for discipline shall be for reasonable cause including but not 
limited to unsatisfactory performance.   

14.1.4 Prior to the imposition of discipline of five (5) days or more suspension without 
pay or greater penalty, the bargaining unit member will be provided an opportunity 
for a “Skelly hearing” and the bargaining unit member given the opportunity to 
respond orally or in writing.  Preliminary charges will be provided in writing to the 
bargaining unit member and a copy also shall be sent to the CSEA Labor Relations 
Representative in advance of the “Skelly hearing” which will give the bargaining 
unit member a reasonable opportunity of not less than five (5) days prior to the 
hearing.  A copy of the preliminary charges provided to the CSEA Labor Relations 
Representative does not prejudice the right of a bargaining unit member to select 
his/her representative in the discipline proceeding.   

14.1.4.1 A Skelly officer shall be assigned to the bargaining unit member who 
shall not be the person who initiated and/or recommended that the 
bargaining unit member be disciplined. 

14.1.4.2 The Skelly officer shall provide a written response after the Skelly 
conference with a decision as to whether the charges are to be upheld, 
the recommended discipline reduced, or the charges dropped. 

14.1.5 After the Skelly officer has provided a written response and prior to a formal 
evidentiary hearing, the bargaining unit member shall be informed of the specific 
charges against him or her and the evidence which supports it.  The bargaining unit 
member shall also be given a statement of his or her right to a formal hearing on 
such charges.  The bargaining unit member may request a hearing within ten (10) 
days after service of the notice to the bargaining unit member.  Failure to request 
the hearing within ten (10) days means the bargaining unit member has waived the 
right to a hearing.  The hearing may not be scheduled sooner than thirty (30) days 
from the time the charges were originally served.  The notice shall include a card 
or paper which when signed constitutes a demand for hearing and a denial of all 
charges. 

14.1.5.1 The burden of proof shall be the District’s. 

14.1.6 The District will provide one (1) copy each to the bargaining unit member and to 
the CSEA Labor Relations Representative of all necessary and relevant documents 
the District intends to introduce at the hearing or requested by CSEA.  The District 

Page 324 of 459



35 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

and CSEA will identify any exhibits, any physical items, and any witnesses that the 
parties expect to introduce or to call at the hearing by no later than ten (10) working 
days prior to the hearing. 

14.1.7 Any bargaining unit member against whom a recommendation of disciplinary 
action has been issued shall remain on active duty status and responsible for 
fulfilling the duties of the position pending his/her appeal or waiver. 

14.1.8 The District shall use a hearing officer to hear disciplinary actions whose decision 
shall be final and binding.  The hearing officer is limited to the following: 

14.1.8.1 Adopt the proposed decision in its entirety. 
14.1.8.2 Reduce the disciplinary action. 
14.1.8.3 Reject the proposed disciplinary action in its entirety. 

Page 325 of 459



36 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

14.2 CAUSES 

14.2.1 Grounds for discipline of any bargaining unit member include but are not limited 
to the following: 

 
a. Falsifying any information supplied to the school district, including, but not 

limited to, information supplied on application forms, employment records, or 
any other school district records. 

b. Incompetency. 
c. Inefficiency. 
d. Neglect of duty. 
e. Insubordination. 
f. Dishonesty. 
g. Drinking alcoholic beverages while on duty or in such close time proximity 

thereto as to cause any detrimental effect upon the employee or upon employees 
associated with him/her. 

h. Possessing or being under the influence of a controlled substance at work or 
away from work, or furnishing alcohol or a controlled substance to a minor.  
Possessing or being under the influence of a controlled substance while not on 
duty shall be cause for discipline if the conduct adversely affects the district or 
the employee’s ability to perform the duties or responsibilities of his/her 
position. 

i. Conviction of a felony, conviction of any sex offense made relevant by 
provisions of law, or conviction of a misdemeanor which is of such a nature as 
to adversely affect the district or the employee’s ability to perform the duties or 
responsibilities of his/her position.  A plea or verdict of guilty, or a conviction 
following a plea of no contest, is deemed to be a conviction for this purpose. 

j. Absence without leave. 
k. Immoral conduct which adversely affects the district or the employee’s ability 

to perform the duties or responsibilities of his/her position. 
l. Discourteous treatment of the public, students, or other employees. 
m. Improper political activity. 
n. Willful disobedience. 
o. Misuse of district property. 
p. Violation of district, board or departmental rule, policy, or procedure. 
q. Failure to possess or keep in effect any license, certificate, or other similar 

requirement specified in the employee’s job description or otherwise necessary 
for the employee to perform the duties of the position. 

r. A physical or mental disability which precludes the employee from the proper 
performance of his/her duties and responsibilities as determined by competent 
medical authority, except as otherwise provided by a contract or by law. 

s. Unlawful discrimination, including harassment, on the basis of race, religious 
creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical handicap, marital status, sex, or 
age while acting in the capacity of a district employee. 

t. Unlawful retaliation against any other district officer or employee or member 
of the public who, in good faith reports, discloses, divulges, or otherwise brings 
to the attention of any appropriate authority any information relative to an actual 

Page 326 of 459



37 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

or suspected violation of state or federal law occurring on the job or directly 
related thereto. 

u. Any other misconduct either during or outside of duty hours which is of such 
nature that it adversely affects the district or the employee’s ability to perform 
the duties or responsibility of his/her position. 

 
14.2.2 Except as defined in the items above, no disciplinary action shall be taken for any 

cause which arose before the bargaining unit member became permanent, nor for 
any cause which arose more than two (2) years before the date of the filing of the 
notice of cause unless this cause was concealed or not disclosed by the bargaining 
unit member when it could be reasonably assumed that the bargaining unit member 
would have disclosed the facts to the District. 

Page 327 of 459



38 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 15 – VACATION 
 

15.1 Applicable employees in the bargaining unit shall earn paid vacation time under this 
Article. 

 
15.2 Pay for vacation days for bargaining unit employees shall be the same as that which the 

employee would have received had he/she been in a working status. 
 
15.3 Vacation time shall be earned and accumulated on an annual basis in accordance with the 

following schedules: 
 

a. 1 year   = 10 days vacation 
b. 2 years = 11 days vacation 
c. 3 years = 12 days vacation 
d. 4 years = 13 days vacation 
e. 5 years = 14 days vacation 
f. 6 years through 15 years = 15 days vacation 
g. 16 years and over = 20 days vacation 

 
15.4 Less than full-time employees (8 hours per day) shall earn the same number of vacation 

days listed above regardless of the number of months the employee works per year.  
(Example:  A 5-hour employee working 10 months per year shall be entitled to earn 10 
days of vacation at 5 hours per day for a total of 50 hours vacation for the year.) 

15.5 Vacation shall be scheduled in advance at times requested by employees, to the extent 
practicable as determined by the employee’s immediate supervisor and within the work 
requirements of the District.  

15.6 Employees submitting vacation requests shall be given priority by the date the vacation 
request was submitted to and approved by the immediate supervisor.  If vacation requests 
are submitted on the same date from the same site, the supervisor shall approve the request 
of the employee with greater seniority.   

15.7 An employee may carry over one year’s earned vacation days from the previous year.  
Excess days, above one year, will be paid off to the employee in the September 10th pay of 
each year at the employee’s previous year’s hourly rate. 

15.8 An employee may request in writing that vacation of up to twenty days may be carried over 
into the next work year for a total of 40 days. The employee must include in their written 
request a plan for the use of the excessive days prior to June 30, of each year to avoid an 
additional cost to the District.  Special request for an additional carryover in the third year 
will be on a case by case basis.  In the event that a third year of carryover is approved, the 
employee agrees to take the time off as planned and will not incur additional costs to the 
District.    

15.9 An employee in the bargaining unit shall be permitted to interrupt or terminate vacation 
leave in order to begin another leave authorized by this Agreement or mandated by law.  
Upon request, the employee shall supply notice and supporting information regarding the 
justification for such interruption or termination. 

Page 328 of 459



39 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
15.10 Vacation shall not be scheduled during the first six (6) months of employment. 
 
15.11 When a holiday, as defined in this Agreement, falls during the scheduled vacation of any 

employee, such holiday shall not be charged against the employee’s vacation balance, 
provided the employee was in paid status on the day preceding the holiday or the day 
following the holiday. 

 

Page 329 of 459



40 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 16 – WORKING CONDITIONS 
 

16.1 Any personal tools and equipment used by an employee at District request shall, in the 
event of loss or damage, be full compensated for at District expense. 

 
16.2 The District shall provide, and pay for, TB tests and bi-annual bus driver physicals which 

are required by the Education Code and/or Title 5.  If required, TB testing shall also include 
chest x-rays. 

 
16.2.1 The District specifically reserves the right to meet this requirement by arranging 

for such tests to be performed at the (1) District, or (2) a clinic or a practitioner’s 
office which is acceptable to the District and CSEA. 

 
16.3 The District shall make every reasonable effort to conform to and comply with all health, 

safety and sanitation requirements imposed by state or federal law regulations adopted 
under state or federal law. 

 
16.4 Should the employment duties of an employee in the bargaining unit require the use of 

specialized equipment or gear to insure the safety of the employee or others, the District 
agrees to furnish such equipment or gear or to reimburse the employee for the full cost of 
procuring such. 

 
16.5 No employee shall be in any way discriminated against as a result of reporting any 

condition believed to be a violation of health, safety, and sanitation requirements imposed 
by state or federal law or regulations adopted under state or federal laws. 

 

Page 330 of 459



41 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 17 – SUMMER SESSION EMPLOYMENT 
 

17.1 Unless precluded by the funding source, when the District maintains school sessions at 
times other than during the regular August to June academic year, it shall assign bargaining 
unit members of the District to perform the required services. 

 
17.2 No bargaining unit member who is not normally required to render services between the 

end of the academic year in June to the beginning of the next academic year in August shall 
be required to perform services during such period. 

 
17.3 Assignments during the summer session shall typically be made on the basis of seniority 

for employment in the classification of service that is required. 
 
17.4 A bargaining unit member shall, for services performed in the summer session, receive a 

prorated portion of the compensation and benefits which are applicable to that employee 
and classification during the regular academic year. 

 

Page 331 of 459



42 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

18.1 This Agreement shall supersede any rules, regulations or practices of the District which 
are inconsistent with its terms. 

 
18.2 Upon initial employment, each employee of the bargaining unit shall receive a copy of: 
 

a. The applicable job description; 
b. A statement of the monthly or hourly rate for his/her classification; 
c. A statement of the employee’s regular work site; 
d. The assigned hours per day, days per week and months per year, and; 
e. A statement of the accrual rate for days of sick leave and vacation. 

 
18.3 The above information in 18.2 shall be provided to each employee, at the employees 

request, at the beginning of each school year.  This information shall be consistent with 
the provisions of this contract. 

 
18.4 The District shall provide each bargaining unit employee and each new bargaining unit 

employee with a copy of this Agreement at no cost to the employee. 
 

Page 332 of 459



43 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 19 – NO DISCRIMINATION 
 

19.1 The District shall not discriminate in any manner against a unit member because of race, 
religion, creed, national origin, age, or sexual orientation as provided by Title VII, Civil 
Rights Act. 

 
19.2 The District shall not threaten or discriminate against a unit member for the exercise of any 

rights guaranteed by law. 
 

Page 333 of 459



44 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

ARTICLE 20 – LAYOFFS 
 

20.1 Bargaining unit members shall be subject to layoff for lack of work or lack of funds.  
Bargaining unit members shall be subject to layoff for the reasons set forth in Education 
Code Section 45117, due to lack of work or lack of funds, and are entitled to the layoff 
procedures including layoff notice and right to hearing, per this Section. Affected employee 
shall be given notice of layoff not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of 
layoff and informed of their displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights.  When 
employees in the bargaining unit are laid off for lack of work or lack of funds, layoffs shall 
be made in reverse order of seniority in the classification in which the layoff occurs.  The 
employee who has been employed the shortest time in a classification, plus higher 
classifications, shall be considered to have the least seniority and, therefore, shall be laid 
off first. 

 
20.2 No permanent nor probationary classified employee shall be laid off from any position 

while employees serving under emergency, substitute, or limited-term employment are 
retained in positions of the same classification or similar classifications. When, as a result 
of the expiration of a specially funded program, classified positions must be eliminated at 
the end of any school year, and classification employees will be subject to layoff for lack 
of funds, the employees to be laid off at the end of such school year shall be given written 
notice on or before April 29 informing them of their layoff effective at the end of such 
school year and of their displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights.  However, 
if the termination date of any specially funded program is other than June 30, such notice 
shall be given not less than sixty (60) days prior to the effective date of their layoff. 

 
20.3 A written notice of layoff shall be personally delivered to the bargaining unit member(s) 

or mailed by certified or registered mail to the employee’s last address on file at the District 
office. No permanent nor probationary classified employee shall be laid off from any 
position while employees serving under emergency, substitute, or limited-term 
employment are retained in positions of the same classification or similar classifications. 

 
20.4 The names of permanent and probationary employees laid off shall be placed on a 

reemployment list for the classification for which they were laid off.  Names on the 
reemployment list shall be in the order of seniority and shall continue for thirty-nine (39) 
months from the date of layoff.A written notice of layoff shall be personally delivered to 
the bargaining unit member(s) or mailed by certified or registered mail to the employee’s 
last address on file at the District office not less than sixty (60) days (except in emergency 
situation as stipulated in Ed Code Section 45117) prior to the effective date of the layoff. 

 
20.5 Employees on reemployment lists shall be hired over outside applicants for vacant 

positions for which he/she meets the qualifications for the position. (Tucker v. Grossmont 
decision). The names of permanent and probationary employees laid off shall be placed on 
a reemployment list for the classification for which they were laid off.  Names on the 
reemployment list shall be in the order of seniority and shall continue for thirty-nine (39) 
months from the date of layoff. 

 
20.6 Any employee on a reemployment list shall be notified in writing by the District a vacancy 

exists along with a notice of the job posting.  The written notice will be mailed to the last 

Page 334 of 459



45 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

address given to the District office by the employee. Employees on reemployment lists 
shall be hired over outside applicants for vacant positions for which he/she meets the 
qualifications for the position. (Tucker v. Grossmont decision). 

 
20.7 Refusal of an offer of employment shall not affect the standing of any employee on a 

reemployment list. Any employee on a reemployment list shall be notified in writing by 
the District a vacancy exists along with a notice of the job posting.  The written notice will 
be mailed to the last address given to the District office by the employee. 

 
20.8 If the employee is reemployed in a permanent position, the employee will receive the 

accumulated sick leave and seniority that he/she accrued prior to the layoff. Refusal of an 
offer of employment shall not affect the standing of any employee on a reemployment list. 

 
20.9 After job site transfers have been considered, if a vacant position exists, an employee who 

has been laid off and is on a reemployment list may, based on seniority, elect to be placed 
into a vacant position within the classification from which he/she was laid off. If the 
employee is reemployed in a permanent position, the employee will receive the 
accumulated sick leave and seniority that he/she accrued prior to the layoff. 

a. If the employee accepts reemployment into the same classification from which the 
employee was laid off, the employee shall be restored to his/her former step on the 
salary schedule. 

 
20.10 In lieu of being laid off, an employee may bump to any classification in which he/she had 

previous served under permanent or probationary status providing the employee has 
seniority over an employee already in the classification.  Seniority in the current 
classification plus higher classifications in which the employee served shall be counted. 
After job site transfers have been considered, if a vacant position exists, an employee who 
has been laid off and is on a reemployment list may, based on seniority, elect to be placed 
into a vacant position within the classification from which he/she was laid off. 

 
a. If the employee accepts reemployment into the same classification from which 

the employee was laid off, the employee shall be restored to his/her former step 
on the salary schedule. 

 
20.11 In order to bump into a previous classification, the employee must notify the District office 

in writing not later than ten (10) calendar days after receiving a layoff notice. In lieu of 
being laid off, an employee may bump to any classification in which he/she had previous 
served under permanent or probationary status providing the employee has seniority over 
an employee already in the classification.  Seniority in the current classification plus higher 
classifications in which the employee served shall be counted. 

 
20.12 An employee electing to bump into a lower classification shall be placed on a 

reemployment list for thirty-nine (39) months, plus an additional twenty-four (24) months. 
In order to bump into a previous classification, the employee must notify the District office 
in writing not later than ten (10) calendar days after receiving a layoff notice. 

 
20.13 If eligible, an employee who is scheduled for layoff may elect service retirement from the 

Public Employee’s Retirement System.  The employee’s name will be placed on a 

Page 335 of 459



46 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

reemployment list.  Upon receipt of notification from the employee that he/she has elected 
service retirement, the District office will notify PERS that the employee’s retirement was 
due to a layoff. An employee electing to bump into a lower classification shall be placed 
on a reemployment list for thirty-nine (39) months, plus an additional twenty-four (24) 
months. 

 
20.14 Should an employee who elects service retirement subsequently accept, in writing, 

reemployment, the District shall maintain the vacancy until PERS has properly processed 
the request for reinstatement from retirement. If eligible, an employee who is scheduled 
for layoff may elect service retirement from the Public Employee’s Retirement System.  
The employee’s name will be placed on a reemployment list.  Upon receipt of notification 
from the employee that he/she has elected service retirement, the District office will notify 
PERS that the employee’s retirement was due to a layoff.  

 
20.15 Should an employee who elects service retirement subsequently accept, in writing, 

reemployment, the District shall maintain the vacancy until PERS has properly processed 
the request for reinstatement from retirement. 
 

  

Page 336 of 459



47 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
ARTICLE 21 – CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY ASSESMENTS 

 
21.1 The classifications established within the Hamilton Unified School District are as 

follows: 
 

a. Yard Duty Supervisor/Crossing Guard 
b.a. Child Nutrition Assistant 
b. Office Assistant I 
c. Library Media Technician 
d. Campus Supervisor/Crossing Guard 
e. Paraeducator/Library Media Technician 
f. Child Nutrition Lead 
c.g. District Bus Driver 
d.h.District Custodian 
e. Paraeducator 
f.i. Preschool Assistant 
g. Library Media Technician 
h. Child Nutrition Lead 
i. District Bus Driver 
j. Special Education Paraprofessional 
j.k. Administrative Technician 
k. District Account Clerk 
l. District Data Analyst 
m. Student Services and Library Coordinator 
n. Preschool Teacher 
o. District Universal - Maintenance & Transportation 
l.p. Business Services Technician  
q. Information Systems Technician 
m.r. Licensed Vocational Nurse 
n. Preschool Teacher 
o. Student Services and Library Coordinator 
p. District Universal – Maintenance and Transportation 

 
21.2 For the purposes of salary/duty assessment the following job alike or similar jobs will be 

grouped for reevaluation on an every five year rotational process beginning with the 
2018-19 school year. CSEA joint committee with the District will choose the positions to 
be evaluated. 

 
21.3 The District and Unit may regroup any or all classification upon mutual agreement. 
 
21.4 The process of salary/duty assessment: 
 

21.4.1 The Unit will appoint one member of the negotiation committee to serve as 
liaison for each classified group during the salary duty assessment process. 

 
21.4.2 The Superintendent or his designee shall meet with each classification to 

review the current job description to determine any changes in the job duties 

Page 337 of 459



48 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

and responsibilities. This meeting will be during the usual and customary 
work times of the classification under review. If an employee works a PM or 
alternative time other than 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, that 
employee or representative shall be provided adequate release time to 
accomplish the job description assessment. 

 
21.4.3 The Unit and District shall establish 16 (including Hamilton Unified School 

District) districts for comparison taking into account the following factors (the 
District and Unit agree to split the survey work equally): 

 
21.4.3.1 Demographic make-up of student populations 
 
21.4.3.2 Average Daily Attendance (ADA) to be similar to Hamilton 

Unified School District 
 
21.4.3.3 Economical stats (Free and Reduced lunch percentage and/or 

number with dictate supplemental and concentration data that 
supports the LCAP (Local Control and Accountability Plan) 
conditions of learning) 

 
21.4.3.4 Geographical similarities (similar characteristics to the HUSD 

boundaries) 
 
21.4.3.5 Market availability (those districts similar to the items listed above 

but close enough to create competition for workers in similar 
fields) 

 
21.4.4 Once the list of schools/districts are agreed upon, a survey shall be created to 

garner the following information: 
 

a. Similar job tasks 
b. Work hours/days 
c. Salary schedules (once acquired, remove the high salary and low salary 

from survey) 
d. Benefits 
e. Competencies 
f. Education 

 
21.4.5 The District and Unit agrees that should the district fall into financial distress, 

this article may be suspended under the following: 
 

21.4.5.1 Decrease of ADA over 10 and a sustained projected decline can be 
established. 

 
21.4.5.2 The District financial report known as Second Interim falls into 

Qualified or Negative status. 
 
21.4.5.3 To avoid layoffs of current Unit members. 

Page 338 of 459



49 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 
21.5 The suspension of this article will remain in place until all layoffs, ADA or financial 

hardship due to a Qualified or Negative budget status have been lifted and all unit 
members who were placed on the 39 month rehire list have been re-employed or have 
removed themselves due to other employment opportunities outside the district. 

  

Page 339 of 459



50 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

 

Agreement  

Between Hamilton Unified School District  

And  

California School Employees Association 

Chapter 623 

July 1, 20172021-June 30, 20202023 

 

Signed and entered this ___________day of_____________, 20172021 
 
 
 
_________________________   ____________________________ 
Charles TracyJeremy Powell,      Chris DeVries, CSEA 
President 
District Superintendent 
 
 
_________________________   ____________________________ 
Diane LyonKristen Hamman, Chief Business     Derek HawleyErin 
Johnson , CSEA Vice President 
Official 
 
 
_________________________   ____________________________ 
Matt Juhl-Darlington     Sean MontgomeryRowan Dietle, CSEA 
Member 
District Legal Council  
 
 
       ____________________________ 
       Erin JohnsonDave Elkin, CSEA Member 
 
        
       ____________________________ 
       Nanci EastmanWilliam Pope, CSEA Field  
       RepresentitiveRepresentative 

Page 340 of 459



51 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

 

Page 341 of 459



52 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

SIGNATURE PAGE 

Page 342 of 459



53
 

R
ev

is
ed

 –
 M

ar
ch

 6
, 2

01
9 

D
ra

ft,
 J

. T
ow

ne
 &

 C
. D

eV
rie

s 
– 

C
ha

ng
es

 b
y 

TW
 1

1-
29

-2
1 

– 
C

ha
ng

es
 b

y 
JT

 7
-2

2-
22

   
 

A
PP

E
N

D
IX

 A
 –

 C
L

A
SS

IF
IE

D
 S

A
L

A
R

Y
 S

C
H

E
D

U
L

E
 

 

P
ag

e 
34

3 
of

 4
59



54 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

[TW1] 

Page 344 of 459



55 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

Page 345 of 459



56 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

APPENDIX B – DEFINITIONS 

“Academic/Traditional school year” is the period normally from August to June, as designated by 
the district board, when students are normally required to be in attendance, usually defined by the 
annual district calendar that is published each year. 

 “Administrative leave” means that an employee is placed on leave with pay pending an 
investigation of disciplinary charges. 

“Allocation” Is the placement of a classification on a specific salary schedule range or rate. 

“Anniversary date” is the initial date of employment, Salary changes such as step increments shall 
occur concurrently with the first date of employment in a given fiscal year and monthly salaries 
shall successively include, up to the amount of eligible total, any prorated amounts of longevity 
for which the employee has qualified during the preceding year. 

 “Bolt Day” is a ½ day of paid leave for all 12 month employees in lieu of an additional training 
day. 

“Bumping Right” is the right of an employee, under conditions as specified under Article 20, 
to displace an employee with less seniority in a classification. 

“Catastrophic illness” or “catastrophic injury” means an illness or injury that is expected to 
incapacitate the employee or his/her family members and that requires the employee to take time 
away from work. 

“Catastrophic leave credit” means sick leave donated from one employee’s accrued sick leave 
account to another employee. 

“Classification” is a position with defined duties, responsibilities, and authority, with the same job 
title, minimum qualifications, and salary range.   

“Classify” is the act of placing a position into a classification. 

“Compensatory Time” is time banked for use by the employee, upon approval of their supervisor, 
compensating the employee for work performed above 40 hours in an assigned work week.   

“Date of Hire” shall be understood to mean the first date of paid service to the employee. 

“Demotion” Means assignment to an inferior position or status previously held by the demoted 
employee.  

“Differential” is a salary allowances in addition to the basic rate or schedule based upon additional 
skills, responsibilities, hours of employment, or distasteful or hazardous work. 

“Disciplinary action” includes any action whereby a permanent employee is deprived of any 
classification or any incident of any classification in which he/she has permanence, including, 

Page 346 of 459



57 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

dismissal, suspension, demotion, or any reassignment, without his/her voluntary consent, except a 
layoff or reassignment because of lack of work or lack of funds. 

“Donor” means any person voluntarily transferring their sick leave credits to another employee.  

“E.E.R. Committee” is an employer/employee relations committee. 

“Extra Time” Any employee who’s shift is less than eight (8) hours, and must work beyond their 
regular assigned shift time, shall be paid at their regular rate up to (8) hours.  

“Fiscal Year” is July 1 through June 30. 

“Health and Welfare Benefits” mean any form of insurance or similar benefits programs, 
including, but not limited to, medical, hospitalization, surgical, prescription drugs, dental, optical, 
psychiatric, life, disability, prepaid legal, or income protection insurance, or annuity programs. (If 
such benefits are offered.) 

“Incumbent” is an employee assigned to a position and who is currently serving in or on leave 
from the position.  

“Industrial Accident or illness” is an injury or illness arising out of or in the course of employment 
of the District. 

“Involuntary demotion” is a demotion without the employee’s voluntary written consent.   

“Job description” is the description of the duties, responsibly, minimum qualifications, and 
authority of a classification.   

“Job Family” is a group of classifications within the same occupational area.  

“Minimum qualifications” are qualifications mandated for the position and which must be 
possessed by an employee before he/she can be considered for employment in a specific 
classification.   

“Notice” whenever notice is required under this agreement, and no form of notice is otherwise 
designated, notice to the district shall be by personal delivery to the office of the Superintendent 
of written notice or First Class Mail notice to the Office of the Superintendent and notice to CSEA 

Page 347 of 459



58 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

shall be written notice by personally delivered to the President of the local chapter or First Class 
Mail Notice directed to the Hamilton Chapter 623, 620 Canal Street, Hamilton City CA 95951. 

“Overtime” is compensation paid at one and one half (1½) of the employee’s hourly rate to any 
employee who works beyond eight (8) hours in a work day and/or 40 hours in an assigned work 
week.  (Overtime must be pre-approved by the employee’s supervisor.) 

“Participant” means any unit member. 

“Permanent Employee” is a regular employee who successfully completes an initial probationary 
period of one year6 months.   

“Probationary Employee” is a regular employee who will become permanent upon successful 
completion of a probationary period of one year6 months. 

“Progressive discipline” includes but may not be limited to oral warning, written warning, 
unsatisfactory evaluation, written reprimand, suspension of less than five (5) days.  Bargaining 
unit members shall be progressively disciplined.  For these levels of discipline an employee may 
respond in writing and have it attached to any materials placed in the personnel file. 

 “Promotion” is a change in the assignment of an employee from a position in one classification to 
a vacant position in another classification with a higher maximum salary rate.   

“Reallocation” is a movement of an entire classification from salary range or rate to another salary 
range or rate. 

“Recipient” means any person meeting the eligibility requirements. 

“Reclassification” Means the upgrade of a position to a higher classification as a result of the 
gradual increase of the duties being performed by the incumbent in such position. 

“Reemployment” is the return to duty of an employee who has been placed on a reemployment 
list. 

“Reemployment List” is a list of names of person who have been laid off for lack of work or lack 
of funds, or exhaustion of sick leave, industrial accident or illness leave, or leave privileges, and 
who are eligible for reemployment without examination in their former classification for a period 
of thirty-nine (39) months, said list arranged in order of their right to reemployment (seniority). 

“Regular employee” is any employee, whether permanent, probationary, full time or part time, 
who is not a restricted, substitute, short term, temporary, or student employee.   

“Restricted Employee,” is an employee hired pursuant to any local, state, or federally funded 
program which restricts employment to persons in the low income groups, from designated 

Page 348 of 459



59 
Revised – March 6, 2019 Draft, J. Towne & C. DeVries – Changes by TW 11-29-21 – Changes by JT 7-22-22    

impoverished areas, and any other criteria which restricts the privilege of all citizens to complete 
for employment in such positions, except as may otherwise be specified by this agreement.   

“Safety” conditions of employment” means any work-related conditions affecting the health and 
safety of the employee. 

“Suspension” means temporary removal of any employee from his/her position with loss of pay 
as a disciplinary measure.  Any suspension shall not be for more than twenty (20) work days. 

“Voluntary demotion” means the assignment of an inferior position or status with the employee’s 
written consent.  

 
  
 
 

Page 349 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item Number: 13f Date: 10/26/2022 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve District and CSEA intention to negotiate “sunshine” requirements for the 2022-23 school year 
consistent with Government Code Section 3547 “sunshine” requirements. 
 

Background: 
The California School Employees Association and its Hamilton Chapter 623 (“CSEA”) and the Hamilton 
Unified School District (“District”) are parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) which expired 
on June 30, 2020 but which remains in full effect until a new contract is reached. 

 

Pursuant to the Educational Employment Relations Act (EERA), CSEA wishes to negotiate changes to 
the existing CBA. Specific proposals for all articles to be negotiated will be exchanged after a thorough 
good faith dialogue at the bargaining table. 

Status: 
Pending Board Approval 

Fiscal Impact: 
Potential depending on the outcome of Salary and Benefit negotiations. 

Educational Impact: 
n/a 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of District and CSEA intention to negotiate “Sunshine” requirements for the 2022- 
23 school year. 
 

 

Page 350 of 459



From: Chris DeVries <CDeVries@husdschools.org> 
Date: Tue, Oct 18, 2022 at 12:50 PM 
Subject: CSEA SUNSHINE NEGOTIATIONS NOV 2022 
To: Jeremy Powell <jpowell@husdschools.org>, Jolene Towne <JTowne@husdschools.org> 
Cc: Erin Johnson <EJohnson@husdschools.org>, Dave Elkin <DElkin@husdschools.org> 
 

Job study group for 23-24 

The jobs up for review 23-24 program year are 

PRESCHOOL ASSISTANT 

PRESCHOOL TEACHER 

SPECIAL ED PARA 

PARA/CROSS GUARD/YARD DUTY/LIBRARY COMBO EFFORT 

  

24-25 planned future review- may have changes.. tbd 

LVN NURSE? (may exchange/never filled?) 

DISTRICT CUSTODIAN 

STUDENT SERVICES & LIBRARY (HS) 

CAFÉ ASSISTANT 

 

Page 351 of 459

mailto:CDeVries@husdschools.org
mailto:jpowell@husdschools.org
mailto:JTowne@husdschools.org
mailto:EJohnson@husdschools.org
mailto:DElkin@husdschools.org


 
 

  

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  Rod Boone, Clerk 

Gabriel Leal, Trustee Ray Odom, Trustee Genaro Reyes, Trustee 

HAMILTON UNIFIED  

SCHOOL DISTRICT 

620 Canal Street ∙ P.O. Box 488 ∙  
Hamilton City, CA 95951 
(530) 826-3261∙ Fax (530) 826-0440∙ 
www.husdschools.org 
 
Jeremy Powell, Ed.D. 
Superintendent 
 
 

 

 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) SUNSHINE PROPOSAL  

TO  

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION AND ITS 
HAMILTON CHAPTER NO. 623 (“CSEA”) 

 
For the Successor Contract 

 
Pursuant to Government Code section 3547, the District hereby “sunshines” and submits the 
following initial proposals to the California School Employees Association and its Hamilton 
Chapter No. 623 (“CSEA”).   
 
In preparation for successor contract negotiations with CSEA, the District has examined and 
reviewed all provisions of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA).  

 
The District and CSEA, have a collective bargaining agreement that ended on June 30, 2023.  The 
District would like to open on the following articles: 

 
Article 10 Pay and Allowances: 

● The District has an interest in providing fair and equitable total compensation for all 
unit members and an interest in maintaining the District’s long-term fiscal health and 
solvency. 

Article 13 Leaves: 

● Update to Assembly Bill 1949 Bereavement Leave Language 

Article 21 Classification and Salary Assessments: 

● Update language to meet current practice 
● Update similar school districts used for comparison. 

 

The District reserves the right to reopen three additional Articles in addition to those set forth 
above in accordance with the sunshining requirements of Government Code section 3547, section 
(d). 

Page 352 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item Number: 13g Date: 10/26/2022 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve District and HTA intention to negotiate “sunshine” requirements for the 2022-23 school year 
consistent with Government Code Section 3547 “sunshine” requirements. 
 

Background: 
The Hamilton Teachers’ Association (“HTA”) and the Hamilton Unified School District (“District”) are 
parties to a Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA) which expired on June 30, 2019 but which remains in 
full effect until a new contract is reached. 

 

Pursuant to the Educational Employment Relations Act (EERA), HTA wishes to negotiate changes to the 
existing CBA. Specific proposals for all articles to be negotiated will be exchanged after a thorough 
good faith dialogue at the bargaining table. 

Status: 
Pending Board Approval 

Fiscal Impact: 
Potential depending on the outcome of Salary and Benefit negotiations. 

Educational Impact: 
n/a 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend approval of District and HTA intention to negotiate “Sunshine” requirements for the 2022- 
23 school year. 
 

 

Page 353 of 459



Memo 
To: Jeremy Powell 

From: Maria Reyes-HTA President 

Date: October 1, 2022 

RE: HTA Opener for the 2023-2024 

 

 

2023-2024 Negotiations:  HTA  requests review of the  following articles:   

 

Contract corrections: 

 Correct numbering for Articles XX, XXI, XXII, XXIV, XXV, XXVI, XXVII 

 

Article XII: Work Hours/Work Year 

● Equitable prep time for all certificated staff district-wide 

● Review policies and procedures for staff assigned to two or more school sites within the District  

(similar bell schedule, travel cost, etc.) 

● Hamilton Elementary School Recess Duty (side letter) 

 

 

Article XIV:  Class Size 

● Review Maximum class size cap and Grade Span for Dual Immersion (DI) and English Only 

(EO) classes. 

● Discuss combination classes, size and compensation 

  

 

Article XXI:  Salary Regulations  

● HTA is requesting an increase to the salary schedule for the 2023-2024 school year.  

● Agriculture Extra Duty stipends:  Ag Instructor, Farm Manager (FFA advisor?)  

 

Article XXII:  Employee Benefits 

● Review and negotiate as needed 

 

 

APPENDIX A: HUSD Certificated Salary Schedule Teachers & District Dean of Students   

● Column V (MA+PPS):   Continue Column V to Step 36 as completed last year for Columns  

I-IV, utilizing the same steps and salary formula. 

  

 

Page 354 of 459



 
 

  

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  Rod Boone, Clerk 

Gabriel Leal, Trustee Ray Odom, Trustee Genaro Reyes, Trustee 

HAMILTON UNIFIED  

SCHOOL DISTRICT 

620 Canal Street ∙ P.O. Box 488 ∙  
Hamilton City, CA 95951 
(530) 826-3261∙ Fax (530) 826-0440∙ 
www.husdschools.org 
 
Jeremy Powell, Ed.D. 
Superintendent 
 
 

 

 

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT (“DISTRICT”) SUNSHINE PROPOSAL  

TO  

HAMILTON TEACHERS ASSOCIATION (“HTA”)  
 

For the Successor Contract 

 
Pursuant to Government Code section 3547, the District hereby “sunshines” and submits the 
following initial proposals to the Hamilton Teachers Association.   
.  

In preparation for successor contract negotiations with HTA, the District has examined and 
reviewed all provisions of the current Collective Bargaining Agreement (CBA).  

 
The District and HTA have a collective bargaining agreement that ends on June 30, 2024.  The 
District would like to open on the following articles: 

 
Article XIII: Bereavement Leaves: 

● Update to Assembly Bill 1949 Bereavement Leave Language 

Article XXI & XXII: Salary Regulations & Employee Benefits: 

● The District has an interest in providing fair and equitable total compensation for all 
unit members and an interest in maintaining the District’s long-term fiscal health and 
solvency.  

Appendix E: (New)  

● Certificated Job Descriptions 

 

The District reserves the right to reopen three additional Articles in addition to those set forth 
above in accordance with the sunshining requirements of Government Code section 3547, section 
(d). 

Page 355 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13h Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve 2022-23 Butte-Glenn Community College District Allocation Agreement for California Adult 
Education Program  
 

Background:  
This contract renews HUSD agreement with Butte-Glenn Community College District for Adult Education 
Program. Membership in the consortium allows collaboration to increase opportunities and outcomes 
for Adult Education participants using allocated funds from the program. 
 

Status: 
Pending Board Approval 

Fiscal Impact: 
None 
 

Educational Impact: 
Supports HUSD Adult Education program. 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board approve 2022-23 Butte-Glenn Community College District Allocation Agreement for 
California Adult Education Program  
 

 

Page 356 of 459



BUTTE-GLENN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT 
3536 Butte Campus Drive, Oroville, CA 95965 

ALLOCATION AGREEMENT 
FOR 

CALIFORNIA ADULT EDUCATION PROGRAM 

BGCCD-ALLOCATION AGREEMENT AEBG PROGRAM (Rev. 08/18) Page 1 

This Allocation Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between the Butte-Glenn Community College 

District on behalf of its Career and Technical Education Department (“District”) and Hamilton Unified School 
District (“Consortium Member”), for the Consortium Member to perform the work which is more particularly set 

forth in this Agreement and in the Exhibits attached hereto and incorporated into this Agreement by this 

reference. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District has been awarded funds under the AB104 California Adult Education Program Regional 

Consortia Allocation from the California Community Colleges Chancellor’s Office (“Sponsor”), for the purpose of 
implementing the program entitled California Adult Education Program (CAEP) Program established by Education 

Code Sections 84900 (“Program”). 

WHEREAS, the Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium (“BGAE Consortium”) has been approved by the 

California Community Colleges Chancellor’s Office for the Butte-Glenn region. 

WHEREAS, Consortium Member is a community college district, school district, or county office of education, 

located within the geographical boundaries  of the District, and agrees to participate in the BGAE Consortium in 

accordance with the rules and procedures as approved by Sponsor and set forth in the BGAE Consortium’s 

Consortia Report on Governance Compliance of Rules and Procedures;  

WHEREAS, the District has been designated to serve as the BGAE Consortium Fund Administrator to receive and 

distribute funds for the Program; and 

WHEREAS, the BGAE Consortium has approved a Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration (CFAD) and 
subsequent Amendment that includes the amount of funds to be distributed to each member of the BGAE 

Consortium by fiscal year and an Annual Plan that references the BGAE Consortium’s key accomplishments, goals, 

and strategies. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties mutually agree as follows: 

1. STATEMENT OF WORK.  The Consortium Member shall perform the work set forth in Exhibit A, BGAE 

Consortium Annual Plan. 

2. PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE.  The period of performance for this Agreement shall commence on July 1, 
2022 and shall expire on June 30, 2023, unless extended by written amendment to this Agreement or 

terminated sooner in accordance with the termination provisions of this Agreement. 

3. KEY PERSONNEL.  The Consortium Member’s performance under this Agreement shall be under the 
direction of Consortium Member’s Designated Official, Jeremy Powell, who is considered essential to the Work. 

Substitutions or substantial reductions in Jeremy Powell level of effort will be only for compelling reasons and 

with the prior written approval of the District’s Authorized Representative for Technical Matters.  

The District’s Project Director for this Agreement is:  Melisse Boyd 

4. ALLOCATION OF FUNDS.  The total amount of funds made available for payment to Consortium Member 

for work performed under this Agreement are allocated at $232,032.00. The allocated amount is fixed and 

based upon the amounts detailed in Exhibit B, Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration (CFAD) and Allocation 
Amendment. In no event shall the District be liable for payment to Consortium Member which would result in 

Page 357 of 459



BGCCD-ALLOCATION AGREEMENT AEBG PROGRAM (Rev. 09/19) Page 2 

cumulative payment under this Agreement exceeding the total allocated funds unless this Agreement is modified 

in writing in accordance with this Agreement. 

5. ALLOWABLE COSTS.  The allowability of costs under this Agreement shall be determined in accordance 

with the terms of this Agreement and the CAEP Fiscal Management Guide. 

6. BUDGET.  The Budget, as detailed in NOVA, lists costs and categories of costs approved to fund the 
Consortium Member’s performance of the Work. The administrative requirements for approval of rebudgeting will 

be governed by the policies indicated in the CAEP Fiscal Management Guide.  

7. PAYMENT.  The District shall make payment of the funds allocated under this Agreement to Consortium 
Member in equal quarterly advance payments on:  execution of this Agreement, November 1, 2022, January 1, 

2023, and April 1, 2023. Payment shall be contingent upon the receipt of funding from the Sponsor and upon the 
Consortium Member’s compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. All payments shall be subject 

to correction and adjustment upon audit or any disallowance. The Consortium Member is solely responsible for 

reimbursing the District for amounts paid the Consortium Member but (i) disallowed under the terms of this 

Agreement, or (ii) upon termination of this Agreement, unexpended or unobligated balance of funds advanced.  

8. SEPARATE ACCOUNTING.  The Consortium Member will establish a separate account for all funds 

specified in this Agreement and will use the funds as allowed under the Program pursuant to Education Code 
Section 84913 to perform the Work specified in this Agreement. As applicable, the Consortium Member shall also 

establish and maintain such accounting and documentation of matching expenditures of the Consortium Member 

to satisfy the requirements of the Sponsor. 

9. USE OF FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT.  The Consortium Member will furnish the facilities and equipment 

necessary to perform and complete the Work under this Agreement, and District has rights to inspect facilities 

furnished. 

10. AUDIT.  The District, the Sponsor, the California State Auditor, any other appropriate government agency 

authorized by law, or their duly authorized representatives shall, until three (3) years after the expiration date of 

this Agreement, have access to any of the Consortium Member’s records related to this Agreement, at the 
Consortium Member’s regular place of business, for the purpose of conducting audits. The period of access for 

records relating to (1) appeals under a dispute, (2) litigation or settlement of claims arising from the performance 
of this Agreement, or (3) costs and expenses of this Agreement to which exception has been taken shall continue 

until such appeals, litigation, claims, or exceptions are disposed of. 

11. PROGRESS REPORTS.  The Consortium Member shall furnish regular reports of findings and progress 

made under this Agreement in accordance with the CAEP Program Guidance and CAEP Fiscal Management Guide.  

12. AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES.  For the purpose of this Agreement, the individuals identified below 

are hereby designated representatives of the respective parties.  

For the District. Technical Matters: Melisse Boyd 

Director, CTE Grants & Regional Projects 
Butte-Glenn Community College District  

3536 Butte Campus Dr. 

Oroville, CA 95965 

 Business Matters: Melisse Boyd 

Director, CTE Grants & Regional Projects 
Butte-Glenn Community College District  

3536 Butte Campus Dr. 

Oroville, CA 95965 

Page 358 of 459



BGCCD-ALLOCATION AGREEMENT AEBG PROGRAM (Rev. 09/19) Page 3 

 Authorized Official: Andrew B. Suleski 
Vice President for Administration  

SAS-320 
Butte-Glenn Community College District  

3536 Butte Campus Drive  

Oroville, CA 95965 

For the Consortium 

Member. 

Technical Matters: Jeremy Powell 

Superintendent 

Hamilton Unified School District 
620 Canal St., PO Box 488 

Hamilton City, CA  95951 
 

 Business Matters: Kristen Hamman 

Chief Business Official 
Hamilton Unified School District 

620 Canal St., PO Box 488 
 

 Authorized Official: Jeremy Powell 
Superintendent 

Hamilton Unified School District 

620 Canal St., PO Box 488 
Hamilton City, CA  95951 

 
13. CAEP Guidance.  The Work is subject to the provisions of Exhibit C, CAEP Guidance and Exhibit D, CAEP 

Fiscal Management Guide.  

14. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  For the purpose of this Agreement and all work and services specified 
herein, the parties shall be, and shall be deemed to be, independent contractors and not agents or employees of 

the other party. 

15. ASSIGNMENT.  The Consortium Member may not assign, transfer or Agreement any part of this 

Agreement, any interest herein or claims hereunder, without the prior, written approval of the District and 

Sponsor. 

16. CANCELLATION.  Either party may at any time cancel this Agreement, with or without cause, by giving 

thirty (30) days advance written notice to the other party which shall commence on the date of mailing of the 
written notice by certified mail or personal delivery. Thereafter, this Agreement shall become null and void except 

for the portion or portions of payment herein agreed upon for which expenses have been necessarily incurred in 

the performance of this Agreement. 

17. APPROPRIATED FUNDS.  The continuation of this Agreement shall be subject to sufficient appropriated 

funds being received by District to administer and support the Program. In the event sufficient funds are not 

available or are discontinued at any time, the District may immediately cancel this Agreement by delivering 

written notice to the Consortium Member. 

18. GENERAL RELEASE.  The Consortium Member’s acceptance of final payment of allocated funds under this 

Agreement shall release the District from all claims of the Consortium Member, and from all liability to the 
Consortium Member concerning the Work, except where such claims or liabilities arise from any negligent act, 

error or omission of the District. 

19. USE OF NAME.  Neither the Consortium Member nor the District shall make use of this Agreement, or use 
the other’s name or that of any member of the other’s staff for publicity or advertising purposes without prior 

written approval of the other party.  This restriction shall not include internal documents available to the public 

that identify the existence of the Agreement. 

Page 359 of 459



BGCCD-ALLOCATION AGREEMENT AEBG PROGRAM (Rev. 09/19) Page 4 

20. CHANGES.  By mutual written consent, the Consortium Member and the District may make changes to 
the Work and to the terms of this Agreement.  Any such changes shall be in the form of a written amendment 

signed by authorized representatives of the Consortium Member and the District. 

21. INDEMNIFICATION.   

21.1. Consortium Member shall defend, indemnify and hold District, its officers, employees, and agents 
harmless from and against any and all liability, loss, expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees), or claims for 

injury or damages arising out of the performance of this Agreement but only in proportion to and to the extent 
such liability, loss, expense, attorneys' fees or claims for injury or damages are caused by or result from the 

negligent or intentional acts or omissions  or willful misconduct of Consortium Member, its officers, employees, or 

agents. 

21.2. District shall defend, indemnify and hold Consortium Member, its officers, agents, and employees 

harmless from and against any and all liability, loss, expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees), or claims for 

injury or damages arising out of the performance of this Agreement but only in proportion to and to the extent 
such liability, loss, expense, attorneys' fees or claims for injury or damages are caused by or result from the 

negligent or intentional acts or omissions or willful misconduct of District, its officers, employees or agents. 

21.3. This indemnification provision shall survive termination of the Agreement and remain in effect. 

22. INSURANCE.  Consortium Member at its sole cost and expense, shall insure its activities in connection 
with this Agreement and maintain in force for the duration of this Agreement insurance policies and requirements 

as follows: 

22.1. Commercial General Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily 

injury, property damage, personal injury, products and completed operations, and blanket contractual coverage. 

22.2. Automobile Liability insurance with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000 per accident for 

bodily injury and property damage with respect to the Consortium Member’s owned, hired, and non-owned 

vehicles. 

22.3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required under California State law. 

22.4. Employer’s Liability insurance with limits of not less $1,000,000 each accident, $1,000,000 each 

employee, $1,000,000 policy limit for bodily injury or disease. 

22.5. Professional Liability insurance covering acts, errors, mistakes, and omissions arising out of the work or 
services performed by Consortium Member, or any person employed by the Agreement, with a limit of not less 

than $1,000,000 each claim. 

22.6. Such other insurance in such amounts which from time to time may be reasonably required by the 
mutual consent of the District and the Consortium Member against other insurable risks relating to performance 

of this Agreement. 

22.7. Insurance shall be issued by an insurance company(ies) licensed in California with a current A.M. Best 

rating of A:VII or better. The coverage referred to under 26.1 and 26.2 of this Section shall be endorsed to name 
“Butte-Glenn Community College District, its trustees, officers, agents, employees, and volunteers” as additional 

insureds as their interest may appear. All insurance policies shall be endorsed to provide for thirty (30) days’ 
advance written notice to the District of cancellation, suspension, or any material change of the required 

insurance coverage. If any insurance policy(ies) required by this Agreement is(are) written on a “claims made” 
basis:  (i) the retroactive date must be shown, and must be before the date of the Agreement or the beginning of 

Work; and (ii) insurance shall be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least three (3) 

years following termination of this Agreement. The Consortium Member’s insurance must be primary, and any 
insurance or self-insurance maintained by the District shall not contribute to it. The coverages required under this 

Section shall not limit the Consortium Member’s liability. If any part of this Agreement is assigned or 
subcontracted, these insurance requirements also apply to all assignees and subcontractors. The Consortium 

Page 360 of 459



BGCCD-ALLOCATION AGREEMENT AEBG PROGRAM (Rev. 09/19) Page 5 

Member may fulfill its insurance obligations under this paragraph by self-insurance pursuant to an established 
plan operated in accordance with accepted insurance practices. Prior to commencing Work under this Agreement, 

Consortium Member shall furnish District with certificates of insurance and original endorsements evidencing the 

coverage, limits, and conditions required by this Agreement. 

23. EQUIPMENT.  Upon termination of this Agreement, equipment furnished or purchased by the District for 

the Program shall be retained by the District, and equipment furnished or purchased by the Consortium Member 

shall be retained by the Consortium Member. 

24. CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  Consortium Member shall not hire or contract with any officer or employee of 

District or any member of their immediate family to perform any service covered by this Agreement. Consortium 

Member warrants that no officer or employee of District has any financial interest, direct or indirect, in 
Consortium Member. Any question which may arise during the performance of this Agreement regarding a 

possible conflict of interest shall be referred to District for adjudication. 

25. APPLICABLE LAW.  This Agreement shall be interpreted and governed by applicable federal laws and 

State of California laws.  

26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement is the complete agreement of the Consortium Member and the 

District and supersedes all prior understandings regarding the Work. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the respective parties have executed this Agreement on the dates indicated below. 

BUTTE-GLENN COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT 

By:    
(Signature of Authorized Official of District.) 

Name:  Andrew B. Suleski  

Title:  Vice President for Administration  

Date:    

HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

By:    
(Signature of authorized official of Consortium Member.) 

Name:  Jeremy Powell  

Title:  Superintendent  

Date:    

 

Exhibits 

A Cover page with attached document: Statement of Work:  BGAE Consortium Annual Plan 
B Cover page with attached document: Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration (CFAD) and Amendment 

C Cover page: CAEP Program Guidance 

D Cover page: CAEP Fiscal Management Guide 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 361 of 459



BGCCD-ALLOCATION AGREEMENT AEBG PROGRAM (Rev. 09/19) Page 6 

TO BE COMPLETED BY DISTRICT ONLY 

The person preparing this contract must complete this section and obtain appropriate initials before contract will be approved. 

Initiating Department: CTE Preparer’s Name & ID: Melisse Boyd Phone: X2862 

Vendor Name: Hamilton Unified School District Vendor ID: 3000227 

PO Description (Max. 25 characters): 2022-23 California Adult Education Program Allocation 

Budget Code: 12.247.500.1.601000.57400 PO Amount: $232,032.00 

Contract Monitor Name (Person Who Approves Invoices): Melisse Boyd Phone: X2862 

Dept. Dean/Director Initials:  Dept. Vice President Initials:  

Business Contracts Approval:  Purchase Order Number:  

 

Page 362 of 459



ALLOCATION AGREEMENT 
California Adult Education Program 

EXHIBIT A 

Statement of Work 

BGCCD- ALLOCATION AGREEMENT CAEP PROGRAM EXC (08-21) Page A-1 

The Consortium Member shall furnish all the necessary services, qualified personnel, material, equipment, and 
facilities not otherwise provided by District as needed to perform the work per the provisions of the BGAE 
Consortia Annual Plan attached hereto: 

  

Page 363 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Annual Plan: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/annual-plan/preview 1/5

California Adult Education Program : Annual Plan : ����-�� Produced: Oct ��, ����, ��:�� PM UTC Melisse Boyd

�� Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

Plans & Goals

Executive Summary
During the ����-�� program year, the Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium will continue to work collaboratively to help meet
the needs of adult learners within Butte and Glenn counties, while at the same time creating benefit for the community and each
of the consortium members. The funds will be allocated based on the originally approved percentage distribution. The
consortium's annual plan is in alignment with the goals detailed in the three-year plan, and the associated implementation
measures. During the previous planning period, the consortium had many accomplishments such as improvements to website,
necessary changes to programs, and creation of new programs, continuation of consortium collaboration, and increased regional
communication. 

Regional Planning Overview
Meeting quarterly, the consortium will discuss the goals, objectives, and implementation measures associated with the three year
plan; work toward developing and monitoring the measurements of success; and making programmatic adjustments as
necessary. The needs stated in the ����-�� annual plan mirror goals stated in the three-year plan. In addition, the annual plan
strategies mirror many of the implementation measures noted in the three-year plan. 

Meeting Regional Needs

Regional Need #�

Gaps in Service / Regional Needs
Increase collaboration between consortium members in order to increase opportunities and outcomes for adult education
participants. Increase the number of completions in programs for adult education students. Provide education and training
courses to address current and future needs of partner agencies, employers, and the labor market. Lead students forward,
creating next level growth for each participant. 

How do you know? What resources did you use to identify these gaps?
During the three-year planning process, the consortium analyzed needs based on: (�) the completion of a consortium member
pre-planning assessment, (�) review of labor market analysis and occupational outlook for Butte/Glenn County, (�) review of
existing adult education regional o�erings, and (�) completion of a logic model related to the future of adult education in the
Butte-Glenn region. 

How will you measure e�ectiveness / progress towards meeting this need?
E�ectiveness will be measured based on o�erings, completions, and enrollments. 

Address Educational Needs

����-�� Strategies

Strategy Name

Evaluate and Collaborate

Page 364 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Annual Plan: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/annual-plan/preview 2/5

Activity that Applies to this Strategy

Address Current Needs

Metrics that Apply to this Activity/Strategy

Employment and Earnings: Participants Who Became Employed in the �nd Quarter A�er Exit (AE ��� - Overall)

Strategy Description

Evaluate labor market data quarterly, and evaluate needs/gaps in the region. Collaborate, when appropriate with
employers/industry sectors. Expand numbers or types of o�erings based on identified need (labor market data, employer input,
community input, and/or student data). Research professional development opportunities, and share between consortium
members. Distribute training materials from professional development opportunities to all consortium members. Member
agency share outs at quarterly meetings regarding program o�erings and partnership opportunities. 

Improve Integration of Services & Transitions

����-�� Strategies

Strategy Name

Leverage Resources and Increase Collaborations

Activity that Applies to this Strategy

Lead Students Forward

Metrics that Apply to this Activity/Strategy

Employment and Earnings: Participants Who Became Employed in the �nd Quarter A�er Exit (AE ��� - Overall)
Transition: Participants with Transition to Postsecondary (CTE) (AE ��� - Overall)
Transition: Participants with Transition to Postsecondary (credit college) (AE ��� - Overall)

Strategy Description

Expose students to post-secondary educational opportunities through tours and educational search resources. O�er students
transitional resources including virtual resume building assistance and assistance with college applications. Engage with local
industry and industry-education liaisons. Connect with each student individually to create an adult education plan, provide early
emotional support, and create a connection with various opportunities. 

Improve E�ectiveness of Services

����-�� Strategies

Strategy Name

Best Practices, Community of Practice

Activity that Applies to this Strategy

Page 365 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Annual Plan: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/annual-plan/preview 3/5

Increase Collaboration

Metrics that Apply to this Activity/Strategy

Employment and Earnings: Participants Who Became Employed in the �nd Quarter A�er Exit (AE ��� - Overall)
Student Barriers: English Language Learner (AE ��� - Overall)
Success: Participants Who Earn a High School Diploma or Equivalency (AE ��� - Overall)

Strategy Description

Member agency share outs at quarterly meetings regarding program o�erings and partnership opportunities. Identify and share
best practices. Connect to regional and statewide resources.

Fiscal Management

A narrative justifying how the planned allocations are consistent with the annual adult education plan which is based on your
CAEP �-year plan.
The planned allocations will be distributed to member agencies based on the originally approved percentages. Each member will
utilize these funds to support existing Adult Education programs, grow programs where indicated, and initiate activities noted as
implementation measures within the Butte-Glenn Adult Education three-year plan. 

An approach to incorporating remaining carry-over funds from prior year(s) into strategies planned for ����-��.
Carry-over funds that are not already encumbered will be used to support programs that align with the consortium's three-year
plan. 

Certification

Butte Co. O�ice of Education - Member Representative

Jennifer Foglesong
Senior Director
jfoglesong@bcoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Approved by Jennifer Foglesong

Butte-Glenn CCD - Member Representative

Teresa Ward
wardte@butte.edu
(���) ���-����

Melisse Boyd
d l

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

Page 366 of 459

mailto:jfoglesong@bcoe.org
mailto:wardte@butte.edu


10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Annual Plan: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/annual-plan/preview 4/5

Director, CTE Grants and Regional Projects
boydme@butte.edu
(���) ���-����

Approved by Teresa Ward

Glenn Co. O�ice of Education - Member Representative

Elena Jones
Principal
ejones@glenncoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Lourdes Ruiz
lruiz@glenncoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Approved by Lourdes Ruiz

Hamilton Unified - Member Representative

Jeremy Powell
jpowell@husdschools.org

Approved by Jeremy Powell

Oroville Union High - Member Representative

Je� Ochs
Director of Alternative Education
jochs@ouhsd.org
(���) ���-����

Approved by Je� Ochs

Paradise Unified - Member Representative

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

Page 367 of 459

mailto:boydme@butte.edu
mailto:ejones@glenncoe.org
mailto:lruiz@glenncoe.org
mailto:jpowell@husdschools.org
mailto:jochs@ouhsd.org


10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Annual Plan: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/annual-plan/preview 5/5

���� © California Community Colleges 
NOVA Site Version: �.�.��

Mike Lerch
mlerch@pusdk��.org
(���) ���-����

Approved by Mike Lerch

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

Page 368 of 459

https://nova.cccco.edu/releaseNotes
mailto:mlerch@pusdk12.org


ALLOCATION AGREEMENT 
California Adult Education Program 

EXHIBIT B 

CONSORTIUM FISCAL ADMINISTRATION DECLARATION (CFAD) 
AND ALLOCATION AMENDMENT 

BGCCD- ALLOCATION AGREEMENT CAEP PROGRAM EXC (08-21) Page B-1 

The Consortia Member assures that it will comply with the provision of the Consortium Fiscal Administration 
Declaration (CFAD) AND subsequent Allocation Amendment attached hereto.  

Page 369 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 1/7

California Adult Education Program : CFAD : ����-�� Produced: Oct ��, ����, ��:�� PM UTC Melisse Boyd

�� Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

Fiscal Declaration - Consortium Approved

Consortium Name: �� Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium 

Funding Channel: Fiscal Agent 

Fiscal Agent: Butte-Glenn CCD

Narrative: The fiscal agent model has been e�ective since the inception of the planning grant. The fiscal agent is e�ectively
maintaining their role. The �-year plan will identify Butte College as the fiscal agent, continuing with their existing duties. 

Changes: No Changes 

Member Allocations

Member Name (2022-23) (2021-22) (2020-21)

Butte Co. O�ice of Education $204,579 $189,412 $190,941

Butte-Glenn CCD $83,401 $77,332 $77,842

Glenn Co. O�ice of Education $540,392 $500,478 $504,368

Hamilton Unified $229,354 $212,343 $214,064

Oroville Union High $1,273,097 $1,179,022 $1,188,229

Paradise Unified $122,158 $113,189 $114,015

Total Allocated to Members $2,452,981 $2,271,776 $2,289,459

Total CAEP Funds $2,481,627 $2,328,853 $2,238,205

Total Remaining $28,646 $57,077 $-51,254

Consortia Report on Governance Compliance of Rules and Procedures v.�

�. Have all community college districts, school districts, county o�ices of education, or any joint powers authority, located
within the boundaries of the adult education region been allowed to join the consortium as a member? *

Yes

Page 370 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 2/7

�. Have all members committed to reporting any funds available to that member for the purposes of education and workforce
services for adults and the uses of those funds? *

Yes

�. How will the available funds be reported and evaluated? *

Funds are managed both in the Community Colleges and Agencies local fiscal programs. The consortium is reporting and
certifying expenditures through NOVA.

�. How will you assure that each member of the consortium is represented only by an o�icial designated by the governing
board of the member? *

Governing Boards appoint members and certifications in NOVA. 

�. How will you assure that each member of the consortium participates in any decision made by the consortium? *

Members who do not participate may be subject to becoming an "ine�ective member".

�. What will be the relative voting power of each member? *

� member = � vote

�. How will decisions be approved? *

by majority vote of ��%

�. How did you arrive at that decision-making model? *

This method was selected at during the initial development of the consortium, and has not been changed.  

�. How will proposed decisions be considered in open, properly noticed public meetings of the consortium at which members
of the public may comment? *

Through voting during quarterly or special meetings. 

��. Describe how will you provide the public with adequate notice of a proposed decision and consider any comments
submitted by members of the public. *

All proposed decisions will be included with quarterly meeting agendas, which are sent out and posted to the website in advance
of the meeting time. 

��. Describe how comments submitted by members of the public will be distributed publicly. *

Comments will be recorded in meeting minutes and posted on the website. 

��. Describe the process by which the consortium will solicit and consider comments and input regarding a proposed decision
from other entities located in the adult education region that provide education and workforce services for adults. *

All quarterly meetings include time for comments. Additionally, contact information is readily available on the website for anyone
wishing for further communication. 

��. How will you determine approval of a distribution schedule pursuant to Section �����? *

Members vote and submit certifications in NOVA.

��. Has the consortium A) designated a member to serve as the fund administrator to receive and distribute funds from the

Page 371 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 3/7

program or B) chosen to have a funds flow directly to the member districts based upon the approved distribution schedule? *

A) designated a member to serve as the fund administrator to receive and distribute funds from the program

��. How will members join, leave, or be dismissed from the consortium? *

Agencies may contact the consortium directly to petition to join, leave or be dismissed from the consortium. 

��. How does the consortium monitor and administer carryover funds? *

Funds are managed both in the Community Colleges and Agencies local fiscal programs. The consortium is reporting and
certifying expenditures through NOVA. 

��. What bylaws do you have that governs carryover? *

None at this time. 

��. How does your consortium define member e�ectiveness? *

https://caladulted.org/DownloadFile/����

��. What bylaws does your consortium have addressing member e�ectiveness? *

None at this time.

��. Does the consortium have a formal document detailing its work beyond the questionnaire? *

No

��.� (No) If no, could you please address why not? *

A dra� will be in progress soon. 

Member Agencies

Member Agency Member Type Contact Phone

Butte Co. O�ice of Education County O�ice of Education (COE) Jennifer Foglesong (530) 879-7462 ext: 1209

Butte-Glenn CCD District Teresa Ward (530) 895-2543

Glenn Co. O�ice of Education County O�ice of Education (COE) Elena Jones (530) 936-6980 ext: 4774

Hamilton Unified Unified School District Jeremy Powell

Oroville Union High High School District Je� Ochs (530) 538-5350

Paradise Unified Unified School District Mike Lerch (530) 872-6478

Page 372 of 459

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/members/4059/873
https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/members/4059/119
https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/members/4059/1050
https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/members/4059/1061
https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/members/4059/894
https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/members/4059/896


10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 4/7

Certification & Assurances

By clicking "Approve" on the approval cards below, you are certifying the CFAD as well as confirming that you and ALL
consortium members agree to the Assurances listed below.

Assurances

Membership & Decision-Making

I certify that any community college district, school district, or county o�ice of education, or any joint powers authority
consisting of community college districts, school districts, county o�ices of education, or a combination of these, located
within the boundaries of the adult education region shall be permitted to join the consortium as a member (EC ����� (a)(b).
(See Membership Box above).
I certify that only members as described above (and in EC �����) are allowed to join my consortium as members and
participate in decision making and approvals whether in a public meeting, or via the NOVA planning, budgeting & expense
reporting system.
I certify that as a condition of joining a consortium, as a member, I shall commit to reporting any funds (as described in EC
�����) available to that member for the purposes of education and workforce services for adults and the uses of those funds
through the annual Program Area exercise in NOVA for reporting leveraged funds, and instructional hours.
I certify that as a member of the consortium my district shall be represented only by an o�icial designated by the governing
board of the member (EC ����� (c)).
I certify that as a member of the consortium, I shall participate in any decision made by the consortium (EC ����� (d)(�)(A)).
I certify that all decision made by the consortium and its members is final (EC ����� (d)(�)(F)).
I certify that I will adhere to the consortium rules and procedures and, as agreed upon by the consortium members, to any
additional by-laws, charters, etc.

Public Meetings

I certify that a proposed decision is considered at an open, properly noticed public meeting of the consortium at which
members of the public may comment (EC ����� (d)(�)(B)).
I certify that the consortium has provided the public with adequate notice of a proposed decision and considered any
comments submitted by members of the public, and any comments submitted by members of the public have been
distributed publicly (EC ����� (d)(�)(C)).
I certify that the consortium has requested comments regarding a proposed decision from other entities located in the adult
education region that provide education and workforce services for adults (EC ����� (d)(�)(D)(i)).
I certify that the consortium has requested comments regarding a proposed decision from other entities located in the adult
education region that provide education and workforce services for adults (EC ����� (d)(�)(D)(i)).
I certify that the consortium has considered input provided by pupils, teachers employed by local educational agencies,
community college faculty, principals, administrators, classified sta�, and the local bargaining units of the school districts and
community college districts before it makes a decision (EC ����� (d)(�)(E)).
I certify that in addition to the meeting requirements listed in EC �����, and as agreed upon by the consortium members, that
I will follow the public meeting requirements listed in the Ralph M. Brown Act as the Brown Act applies to the governing body
of any “local body created by state or federal statute.” (Ed. Code, section �����.)

Reporting Requirements

Page 373 of 459



10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 5/7

I certify that I will participate in completing and updating any consortium long range and/or short range planning e�orts
and/or budget work plans (EC �����, �����(a)).
I certify that all CAEP expenses have been expended in the CAEP seven program areas, and services provided are consistent
with the �-year plan, the annual plan, and my districtʼs work plan & budget as submitted in NOVA (EC ����� (�-�), �����,
����(a)).
I certify that my expenditures of CAEP funds match the objectives/activities included in the annual plan and the member work
plan (EC �����, �����(a)).
I certify that my expenditures of CAEP funds adhere to the allowable uses of funds as identified in the CAEP Fiscal
Management Guide.
I certify that I will report student level enrollment data and outcomes as prescribed by the State CAEP O�ice (EC �����).
I certify that I will share financial expenditure and progress reports with the members of my regional consortium.
I certify that I understand that as a member if I do not meet any of these items I have certified, I will be deemed an ine�ective
member which may result in a loss or reduction of CAEP funding (EC �����(b)).
I certify that all CAEP expenses have been expended only for the education of persons �� years of age or older (EC �����(a)).

Butte Co. O�ice of Education - Member Representative

Jennifer Foglesong
Senior Director
jfoglesong@bcoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Approved by Jennifer Foglesong

Butte-Glenn CCD - Member Representative

Teresa Ward
wardte@butte.edu
(���) ���-����

Melisse Boyd
Director, CTE Grants and Regional Projects
boydme@butte.edu
(���) ���-����

Approved by Teresa Ward

Glenn Co. O�ice of Education - Member Representative

Elena Jones
Principal
ejones@glenncoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

Page 374 of 459

mailto:jfoglesong@bcoe.org
mailto:wardte@butte.edu
mailto:boydme@butte.edu
mailto:ejones@glenncoe.org


10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 6/7

Lourdes Ruiz
lruiz@glenncoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Approved by Elena Jones

Hamilton Unified - Member Representative

Jeremy Powell
jpowell@husdschools.org

Approved by Jeremy Powell

Oroville Union High - Member Representative

Je� Ochs
Director of Alternative Education
jochs@ouhsd.org
(���) ���-����

Approved by Je� Ochs

Paradise Unified - Member Representative

Mike Lerch
mlerch@pusdk��.org
(���) ���-����

Approved by Mike Lerch

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

Page 375 of 459

mailto:lruiz@glenncoe.org
mailto:jpowell@husdschools.org
mailto:jochs@ouhsd.org
mailto:mlerch@pusdk12.org


10/14/22, 7:26 AM NOVA: CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/consortia/4059/331/cfad/preview 7/7

���� © California Community Colleges 
NOVA Site Version: �.�.��

Page 376 of 459

https://nova.cccco.edu/releaseNotes


8/26/22, 4:16 PM NOVA: CAEP Allocation Amendment: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/certification/cfad-amendment/preview/4059/331/2023?forPrint=true 1/5

CAEP Allocation Amendment: ����-�� Produced: Aug ��, ����, ��:�� PM UTC Jennifer Foglesong

�� Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

Allocation Amendment Summary

Fiscal Declaration
The Fiscal Declarat ion inf ormat ion in t his sect ion has been provided as a court esy. It  has not  been chang ed since
CFAD has been approved by t he Member Represent at ives.

Consort ium Name: �� Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium 

Funding  Channel: Fiscal Agent 

Fiscal Ag ent : Not Selected 

Narrat ive: The fiscal agent model has been e�ective since the inception of the planning grant. The fiscal agent is e�ectively
maintaining their role. The �-year plan will identify Butte College as the fiscal agent, continuing with their existing duties.

Chang es: No Changes 

Amended Member Allocations for ����-��

Member Agency Amended Allocation Adjustment Made

Butte Co. O�ice of  Education

Butte-Glenn CCD

Glenn Co. O�ice of  Education

Hamilton Unif ied

Oroville Union High

Paradise Unif ied

$206,968 $2,389

$84,375 $974

$546,702 $6,310

$232,032 $2,678

$1,287,964 $14,867

$123,586 $1,428

Total Allocated to Members $2,481,627

Total CAEP Funds $2,481,627

Total Remaining (Must be $0) $0

Member Agencies

Page 377 of 459



8/26/22, 4:16 PM NOVA: CAEP Allocation Amendment: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/certification/cfad-amendment/preview/4059/331/2023?forPrint=true 2/5

Member Agency Member T ype Contact Phone

Butte Co. O�ice of Education County O�ice of Education (COE) Jennifer Foglesong (530) 879-7462 ext: 1209

Butte-Glenn CCD District Teresa Ward (530) 895-2543

Glenn Co. O�ice of Education County O�ice of Education (COE) Lourdes Ruiz (530) 934-6320 ext: 3151

Hamilton Unified Unified School District Jeremy Powell

Oroville Union High High School District Je� Ochs (530) 538-5350

Paradise Unified Unified School District Mike Lerch (530) 872-6478

Certification & Assurances

By clicking "Approve" on the approval cards below, you are certifying the CFAD as well as confirming that you and
ALL consortium members agree to the Assurances listed below.

Assurances

Membership & Decision-Making

I certify that any community college district, school district, or county o�ice of education, or any joint powers authority
consisting of community college districts, school districts, county o�ices of education, or a combination of these, located
within the boundaries of the adult education region shall be permitted to join the consortium as a member (EC ����� (a)
(b). (See Membership Box above).
I certify that only members as described above (and in EC �����) are allowed to join my consortium as members and
participate in decision making and approvals whether in a public meeting, or via the NOVA planning, budgeting &  expense
reporting system.
I certify that as a condition of joining a consortium, as a member, I shall commit to reporting any funds (as described in EC
�����) available to that member for the purposes of education and workforce services for adults and the uses of those
funds through the annual Program Area exercise in NOVA for reporting leveraged funds, and instructional hours.
I certify that as a member of the consortium my district shall be represented only by an o�icial designated by the governing
board of the member (EC ����� (c)).
I certify that as a member of the consortium, I shall participate in any decision made by the consortium (EC ����� (d)(�)
(A)).
I certify that all decision made by the consortium and its members is final (EC ����� (d)(�)(F)).
I certify that I will adhere to the consortium rules and procedures and, as agreed upon by the consortium members, to any
additional by-laws, charters, etc.

Public Meetings

I certify that a proposed decision is considered at an open, properly noticed public meeting of the consortium at which
members of the public may comment (EC ����� (d)(�)(B)).
I certify that the consortium has provided the public with adequate notice of a proposed decision and considered any
comments submitted by members of the public, and any comments submitted by members of the public have been
distributed publicly (EC ����� (d)(�)(C)).

Page 378 of 459



8/26/22, 4:16 PM NOVA: CAEP Allocation Amendment: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/certification/cfad-amendment/preview/4059/331/2023?forPrint=true 3/5

I certify that the consortium has requested comments regarding a proposed decision from other entities located in the
adult education region that provide education and workforce services for adults (EC ����� (d)(�)(D)(i)).
I certify that the consortium has requested comments regarding a proposed decision from other entities located in the
adult education region that provide education and workforce services for adults (EC ����� (d)(�)(D)(i)).
I certify that the consortium has considered input provided by pupils, teachers employed by local educational agencies,
community college faculty, principals, administrators, classified sta�, and the local bargaining units of the school districts
and community college districts before it makes a decision (EC ����� (d)(�)(E)).
I certify that in addition to the meeting requirements listed in EC �����, and as agreed upon by the consortium members,
that I will follow the public meeting requirements listed in the Ralph M. Brown Act as the Brown Act applies to the governing
body of any “local body created by state or federal statute.” (Ed. Code, section �����.)

Reporting Requirements

I certify that I will participate in completing and updating any consortium long range and/or short range planning e�orts
and/or budget work plans (EC �����, �����(a)).
I certify that all CAEP expenses have been expended in the CAEP seven program areas, and services provided are consistent
with the �-year plan, the annual plan, and my district s̓ work plan &  budget as submitted in NOVA (EC ����� (�-�), �����,
����(a)).
I certify that my expenditures of CAEP funds match the objectives/activities included in the annual plan and the member
work plan (EC �����, �����(a)).
I certify that my expenditures of CAEP funds adhere to the allowable uses of funds as identified in the CAEP Fiscal
Management Guide.
I certify that I will report student level enrollment data and outcomes as prescribed by the State CAEP O�ice (EC �����).
I certify that I will share financial expenditure and progress reports with the members of my regional consortium.
I certify that I understand that as a member if I do not meet any of these items I have certified, I will be deemed an
ine�ective member which may result in a loss or reduction of CAEP funding (EC �����(b)).
I certify that all CAEP expenses have been expended only for the education of persons �� years of age or older (EC �����(a)).

Glenn Co. O�ice of  Educat ion - Member Represent at ive

Lourdes Ruiz
lruiz@ glenncoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Appro ved by Lo urdes Ruiz

Hamilt on Unif ied - Member Represent at ive

Jeremy Powell
jpowell@ husdschools.org

Appro ved by Jerem y Po well

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

Page 379 of 459



8/26/22, 4:16 PM NOVA: CAEP Allocation Amendment: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/certification/cfad-amendment/preview/4059/331/2023?forPrint=true 4/5

But t e-Glenn CCD - Member Represent at ive

Teresa Ward
wardte@ butte.edu
(���) ���-����

Melisse Boyd
Director, CTE Grants and Regional Projects
boydme@ butte.edu
(���) ���-����

Appro ved by Melisse Bo yd

But t e Co. O�ice of  Educat ion - Member Represent at ive

Jennif er Fog lesong
Senior Director
jfoglesong@ bcoe.org
(���) ���-���� ext: ����

Appro ved by Jennifer Fo g leso ng

Oroville Union Hig h - Member Represent at ive

Je� Ochs
Director of Alternative Education
jochs@ ouhsd.org
(���) ���-����

Appro ved by Je� O chs

Paradise Unif ied - Member Represent at ive

Mike Lerch
mlerch@ pusdk��.org
(���) ���-����

Mike Gulbransen
Director
mgulbransen@ pusdk��.org
(���) ��� ����

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� AM PDT

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

Page 380 of 459



8/26/22, 4:16 PM NOVA: CAEP Allocation Amendment: 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium

https://nova.cccco.edu/caep/certification/cfad-amendment/preview/4059/331/2023?forPrint=true 5/5

���� © California Community Colleges 
NOVA Site Version: �.�.�

(���) ���-����

Appro ved by Mike Lerch

��/��/���� ��:�� PM PDT

Page 381 of 459



ALLOCATION AGREEMENT 
California Adult Education Program 

EXHIBIT C 

CAEP PROGRAM GUIDANCE 

BGCCD- ALLOCATION AGREEMENT CAEP PROGRAM EXC (08-21) Page C-1 

The Consortium Member assures that it will comply with the provisions of the CAEP Program Guidance located at 
https://caladulted.org/Administrators/20 which hereby incorporated herein and applicable hereto.  

 

  

Page 382 of 459

https://caladulted.org/Administrators/20


ALLOCATION AGREEMENT 
California Adult Education Program 

EXHIBIT D 

CAEP Fiscal Management Guide 

BGCCD- ALLOCATION AGREEMENT CAEP PROGRAM EXC (08-21) Page D-1 

The Consortium Member assures that it will comply with the provisions of the “CAEP Fiscal Management Guide 
Updated_June 2021” CAEP Fiscal Management Guide located at https://caladulted.org/Administrators/20 which 
hereby incorporated herein and applicable hereto.  

 

  

Page 383 of 459

https://caladulted.org/Administrators/20


HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13i Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Re-Affirm 2000-01 Adopted CIF Pursuing Victory With Honor Principles 

Background: 
The past few years have seen an increase in negative behavior towards officials during school events 
nationwide, in California, and locally.  This has included inappropriate behavior at school sporting 
activities.  CIF recently passed new bylaws to include consequences for students, coaches, and now 
spectators that cause disruption to the school activity or verbally or physically harass or attack game 
officials.   
Approving his re-affirmation will show our school community, specifically our spectators, that HUSD 
stands strong in its support of our officials, administrators, and other game personnel.  Providing that our 
HUSD board members are also in adherence of, advocates for, and examples of appropriate 
sportsmanship is vital to the entire management of athletic events.   
The goal is to promote sportsmanship, encourage positive school involvement and pride, and be 
determined in fostering a strong focus on education-based athletics.  

Status: 
Pending Board Re-Affirmation 

Fiscal Impact: 
None 

Educational Impact: 
Re-affirm focus on education-based athletics through ongoing parent/spectator education. 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board Re-Affirm 2000-01 Adopted CIF Pursuing Victory With Honor Principles 

 

Page 384 of 459



Page 385 of 459



Page 386 of 459



Page 387 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Agenda Item Number: 13j Date: 10/26/22 

Agenda Item Description: 
Approve HUSD Significant Disproportionality Report to CDE. 

Background:  
 
Special Education: 
In the 21-22 school year Hamilton Unified was identified as disproportionate in the area of Hispanic 
students who have emotional or behavioral disorders for the 3rd year in a row. This has triggered a 
designation of significant disproportionality for the district. The district is required to write a 
Comprehensive Coordinated Early Intervening Services (CCEIS) Plan to address the issue. The district (& 
SELPA because of our allocation model) are required to set aside 15% of our IDEA funds for the activities 
described in the plan. The district and GCOE staff have met along with parents to develop this plan. The 
CCEIS plan is due to CDE by November 1st.  The CCEIS plans are usually approved (or sent back with 
required revision) in January. We would begin implementation in Spring 2023.  

Status: 
Pending Board approval. The CCEIS plan is provided for your review. The chairperson of the board will 
need to sign the document before it is submitted to the state. 
 

Fiscal Impact: 
It is required the district set aside 15% of Federal IDEA funding, for each year the district is in the 
significant disproportionality status. This year the required set aside is: $20,779.65 from the district & 
SELPA. 
 

Educational Impact: 
More supports to our most at risk students, parent training and support which will improve outcomes for 
students, teacher training to support the use of de-escalation practices and working with traumatized 
youth, extra support for incoming TK/K students who are at high risk for emotional/behavioral issues. 
 

Recommendation: 
Recommend Board approve HUSD Significant Disproportionality Report to CDE. 
 

 

Page 388 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  1 

2022 Significant Disproportionality Comprehensive Coordinated Early 
Intervening Services (CCEIS) Plan  
 
This form collects brief information on the activities completed by the Local Educational Agency 
(LEA) as part of the programmatic improvement process to develop their action plan for 
implementation of their Comprehensive Coordinated Early Intervening Services (CCEIS). It 
includes the completion of the Programmatic Improvement Action Plan (3.2) and the Allowable 
Costs Budget (Form 2) that will be used as the basis for monitoring and reporting on the CCEIS 
progress and expenditures during the 27-month CCEIS period (July 1, 2022 – September 30, 
2024).  
Refer to the CCEIS Plan Guidance Document for specific expectations in each of the plan 
development activities below.  You can access either the guidance document for newly identified 
LEAs or LEAs which are continuing in significant disproportionality on the 2022 CCEIS Padlet. 
 
Submit completed plan to sigdisp@cde.ca.gov by November 1, 2022. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
 LEA Name: Hamilton Unified School District 
                                                                                   

LEA Contact Name: Dr. Jeremy Powell 
 

 County District Code: 
 

LEA Contact Email: jpowell@husdschools.org 
 

SELPA Name: Glenn County 
 

LEA Contact Phone: 530-826-3261 
 

 

CCEIS Period 2022 Significant Disproportionality Indicator(s)/Element(s)  
(Refer to the Fiscal Year 2022 Notification Letter) 
 

Indicator/Element Race/Ethnicity/Disability Category 
Indicator 10 Hispanic/ Emotional Disturbance 
  
  
  

 

Previous Significant Disproportionality Indicator(s)/Element(s) 
 

Year(s) Indicator/Element Race/Ethnicity/Disability Category 
   
   
   

 
  

Page 389 of 459

https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln
http://sigdisp@cde.ca.gov


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  2 

DESCRIBE THE PLAN DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES FOR CCEIS 
 

 
 
1.1 Identify Leadership Team 
 
List members’ names, emails, titles/roles, and responsibilities related to the CCEIS Plan.   
 
Note:  This plan is a general education activity and implementation should have oversight by a 
general education administrator. In small LEAs, multiple roles may be assigned to one 
administrator or team member. 

Member 
Name 

Email Title/Role List Each Member’s 
Responsibility as it relates 

to Development or 
Implementation and 

Monitoring of CCEIS Plan 
Dr. Jeremy 
Powell 

jpowell@husdschools.org Superintendent Decision maker, monitor 
implementations and ensure 
accountability, assist with 
progress reports and budget 
reports 

Cris 
Oseguera 

COseguera@husdschools.org High School 
Principal 

Provide input/feedback on 
development and 
implementation of the 
CCEIS 

Maria Reyes mreyes@husdschools.org High School 
Counselor 

Provide input/feedback on 
development and 
implementation of the 
CCEIS plan with a focus on 
Community Engagement 

Ulises 
Tellechea 

utellechea@husdschools.org Elementary 
Principal 

Decision maker, provide 
input/feedback on 
development and 
implementation of the 
CCEIS plan with a focus on 
Equity, assist with progress 
reports 

Maggie 
Sawyer 

msawyer@husdschools.org Dean of 
Students 

Provide input/feedback on 
development and 
implementation of the 

PHASE ONE: GETTING STARTED 
Find instructions for this phase at  

https://spptap.org/phase-1-getting-started/ 

Page 390 of 459

https://spptap.org/phase-1-getting-started/


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  3 

CCEIS plan with a focus on 
English Language Learners 

Jacki 
Campos 

jcampos@glenncoe.org Assistant 
Superintendent 
of Student 
Services/SELPA 
Director 

Oversee the development of 
the CCEIS plan, coordinate 
leadership meetings, assist 
with data collection and file 
reviews for students with 
IEPs, assist in the 
development of progress 
reports and budget reporting  

Lalaynia Little lalaynialittle@glenncoe.org Special 
Education 
Program 
Specialist 

Provide input/feedback on 
the development and 
implementation of the 
CCEIS plan, assist with data 
collection and file reviews 
for IEPs 

Mary Byrd mbyrd@glenncoe.org Special 
Education 
Program 
Specialist 

Provide input/feedback on 
the development and 
implementation of the 
CCEIS plan, assist with data 
collection and file reviews 
for IEPs 

Maureen 
Burness 

moburness@gmail.com Technical 
Assistance 
Facilitator 

Support the District with the 
four phase programmatic 
improvement process which 
includes the creation of the 
CCEIS plan, assist the 
Leadership Team with 
initiatives to address the 
root causes, monitor the 
progress of the plan. 

Angela 
Pacheco 

apacheco@glenncoe.org Senior Fiscal 
Analyst for 
Student 
Services  

Budget reporting 

 
Do the members of this team have decision-making authority? What is the process for LEA 
approval of this CCEIS plan? Is this leadership team authorized to make decisions around the 
implementation of the CCEIS plan?  If not, how will the decisions be made?   
The team includes special education, general education and business services. The members 
of this team are made up of all senior leadership in the district as well as the SELPA director 
and the program specialists who oversee the special education program on both campus. The 
superintendent has given decision-making authority to this team as it relates to the CCEIS 
planning process and implementation at the school site level. In order for this plan to be 

Page 391 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  4 

approved by the LEA this plan will be provided to the Board for approval. The team met 8 times 
during the development of the plan. The team met 2 times with the educational partners.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.2 Identify Educational Partners 
 
List partners’ names, roles, and CCEIS related responsibilities.  Describe each group partners’ 
active involvement in developing, implementing, and evaluating the CCEIS Plan. 

Note: Educational Partnership composition requires a diverse group of parents and community 
members, including representatives of the identified racial/ethnic category.  (In small school 
LEAs, multiple roles may be assigned to one administrator or partner.)  

Role Partner Name(s) CCEIS Plan Responsibilities for 
Development, Implementation 

and Monitoring of the CCEIS Plan 

Superintendent  

Dr. Jeremy Powell Decision maker, monitor 
implementations and ensure 
accountability, assist with progress 
reports and budget reports 

Cabinet Level Leader-
General Education 

Ulises Tellechea Decision maker, provide 
input/feedback on development and 
implementation of the CCEIS plan 
with a focus on Equity, assist with 
progress reports 

Cabinet Level Leader-
Special Education 

Lalaynia Little 
 

Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan, assist with data 
collection and file reviews for IEPs 

Cabinet Level Leader-
Special Education 

Mary Byrd Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan, assist with data 
collection and file reviews for IEPs 

Director of Curriculum (or 
Similar) 

 
 

 

SELPA Director (or 
Designee) 

Jacki Campos 
 

Oversee the development of the 
CCEIS plan, coordinate leadership 
meetings, assist with data collection 
and file reviews for students with 
IEPs, assist in the development of 

Page 392 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  5 

progress reports and budget 
reporting 

Director of Assessment (or 
Similar) 

 
 

 

Appropriate Grade Level 
General Education Teachers 
(duplicate row for additional 
teachers) 

 
 

 

Appropriate Grade Level 
Special Education Teachers  

Kile Taylor 
 

Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

Appropriate Grade Level 
Special Education Teachers 

Amanda Von Kleist  Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

Parents/Guardians (diverse 
representation, not district 
employee/s)  
(duplicate row for additional 
parents/guardians) 

Maria A. Palafox Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

Parents/Guardians (diverse 
representation, not district 
employee/s)  

Margarita DeLos Santos Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

Parents/Guardians (diverse 
representation, not district 
employee/s)  

Cristal Barron-Reyes Provide input/feedback on the 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

Community Representatives 

Diana Camerena Provide input/feedback on 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan with a focus on 
Parent Engagement 

Principal or Site Level 
Administrators 

Maggie Sawyer 
 

Provide input/feedback on 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan with a focus on 
English Language Learners 

Principal or Site Level 
Administrators 

Maria Reyes Provide input/feedback on 
development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan with a focus on 
Community Engagement 

Continued on next page 
 
Human Resources 
Administrator (optional) 

 
 

 

Page 393 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  6 

Fiscal Services 
Representative 

Angie Pacheco 
 

Budget Reporting 

Bargaining Unit 
Representative (optional) 

 
 

 

Other: School Psychologist 
Ariel Ellis Provide input/feedback on the 

development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

Other: School Psychologist 
Jennifer Wagner Provide input/feedback on the 

development and implementation of 
the CCEIS plan 

 
Provide:  

• the dates the Educational Partners met.  
• a summary of the work completed by the Educational Partners. 
• a description of how the Leadership Team engaged with the Educational Partners. 
• a description of how student and parent voice were incorporated into the Educational 

Partners process. 
• a link to presentations, agendas, minutes, attendance records (as appropriate) 

The educational partners met September 27 3:30-4:30 & October 11 3:30-4:30 
Link to the September 27 meeting presentation 9/27/22 Presentation 
Link to the October 11 meeting presentation 10/11/22 presentation 
The Leadership team members participate in the Educational Partners meetings. The 
Educational Partners reviewed relevant data, current initiative and completed a Strength-
Weakness-Opportunity-Threat activity for the root causes and potential remedies. The 
Educational Partners provided feedback on what is currently successful in the district. The 
Educational Partners provided input on remedies for all the identified issues stemming from the 
root cause.  
 

 
1.3 Contact the State Performance Plan Technical Assistance Project (SPP-TAP) at the 
Napa County Office of Education (NCOE) and Focused Monitoring and Technical 
Assistance (FMTA) Unit at CDE. 

We acknowledge the following technical assistance activities are required and affirm that team 
members have attended these activities and viewed the accompanying recordings:  

_x__ Introduction to Significant Disproportionality Recorded Series and Developing a 
Comprehensive Coordinated Early Intervening Services Webinar (NEW LEAs and new team 
members) 
_x__ Significant Disproportionality for Continuing Local Educational Agencies Webinar 
_x__ Workshops A and B, including pre-work recordings (NEW LEAs and new team members) 

Page 394 of 459

https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1fXmsu529rhDkl3eL7e4N71eQwH6GIi1ThNL_xL10Iss/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1NU_jlkxCUCasUkth3NMEmcTH-j1171-FPdMrwa_Xz8A/edit?usp=sharing


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  7 

_x__ Consultations with CDE FMTA Consultant 
 
  

Page 395 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  8 

1.4 Choose Technical Assistance (TA) Facilitator(s) 

Name the TA Facilitator(s) and describe current and anticipated services.  LEAs must submit a 
copy of the contract or Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) for each TA facilitator.  To 
use a non-SPP-TAP TA facilitator, the LEAs must supply a copy of the TA facilitator’s resume and 
obtain written permission from the CDE by completing the Proposed TA Facilitator Eligibility Form 
located on the 2022 CCEIS Padlet. 

Note: LEAs are required to use TA Facilitation for a minimum of 10 hours for each area of 
identification.   
 

TA Facilitator Name: ___Maureen Burness_______ 
List how many hours of service the TA Facilitator has provided to your LEA: _10___ 
 

Describe how you have worked with your TA Facilitator in the development of this CCEIS plan 
(services provided prior to submission of plan). 
Maureen has attended our Leadership meetings as well as the Educational Partner meetings. 
She has helped us understand the tools available, how the tools are used and guided us 
through the process. Maureen has answered questions and given ideas of places to find 
relevant data for the root cause analysis. Maureen provided guidance on writing the plan to 
incorporate input from the meetings and CDE expectations. The TA facilitator attended each 
Leadership and Educational Partner meeting. 
 
 
Describe how you plan to work with your TA Facilitator in the implementation and/or monitoring 
of this CCEIS plan (anticipated services). 
Once the CCEIS plan is improved we plan to meet with Maureen to ask technical questions 
about implementing our plan and to support the development of progress reports. 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 396 of 459

https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  9 

1.5 Gather Relevant Data 

An LEA should gather and view data through a cultural lens. Data must be sorted by and 
analyzed with a focus on race, ethnicity, gender, and grade. The LEA should use both 
qualitative and quantitative data to complete their data analysis. Examples of both qualitative 
and quantitative data are available in the 2022 CCEIS Padlet. This activity is included here to 
initiate gathering of data that is not readily available and plan the time necessary for this task 
prior to bringing Educational Partners together. (The data analysis of the gathered data will be 
documented in Phase 2.2.) 
 
We gathered relevant data and identified data gaps prior to meeting with our Educational 
Partners. 

_x___ Yes 
____ No, please explain in the box below.  

 
A variety of data has been collected to determine root cause leading to 
significant disproportionality of Hispanic students with emotional 
disturbance. The data was gathered from the CA Dashboard, annual 
performance report, student record reviews, student information system 
data queries, and quantitative data from educational partner input. 
The Leadership team along with input from the Educational Partners used 
this data to determine the underlying issues which lead to the identification 
of Significant Disproportionality. The data was used to identify next steps 
and the development of the CCEIS plan.  
 

Page 397 of 459

https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  10 

 
 

 
2.1 Complete a Local Educational Agency (LEA) Initiative Inventory 

Step 1:  Describe Current Initiatives 
 
Complete the table below for each of the LEA’s current initiatives from both General Education and Special Education related 
to CCEIS that reflect interventions with differentiated levels of support.   
 

Initiative Funding 
Source 

Target 
Group 

Leaders and Staff 
Responsible  

(as applicable) 

Educational Area(s): 

SEL/Second 
Step 

 k-5 k-5 teachers _x_Curriculum and Instruction 
__Behavior 
__Family and Community Engagement  
__Climate 
_x_Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

Calming 
Room 

Title I k-8 Administration & school 
psychologist 

__Curriculum and Instruction 
__Behavior 
__Family and Community Engagement  
_x_Climate 
_x_Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

BRILLA Free Tk-2 CSU, Chico leading this 
as part of a 5 year grant 

_x_Curriculum and Instruction 
__Behavior 
_x_Family and Community Engagement  
__Climate 
__Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

PHASE TWO: DATA AND ROOT CAUSE ANALYSIS 
Find instructions for this phase at 

https://spptap.org/phase-ii-data-and-root-cause-analysis/ 

Page 398 of 459

https://spptap.org/phase-ii-data-and-root-cause-analysis/


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  11 

Social 
Services 
Coordinator 

Title I All Parents Diana Camarena  _Curriculum and Instruction 
_x_Behavior 
_x_Family and Community Engagement  
_x_Climate 
_x_Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

MCAP Multi-
lingual 
Project Year 
3 

Grants ELD Maggie Sawyer x_Curriculum and Instruction 
__Behavior 
_x_Family and Community Engagement  
__Climate 
__Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

Universal 
Design for 
Learning 

Free All staff GCOE is leading training x_Curriculum and Instruction 
__Behavior 
__Family and Community Engagement  
__Climate 
__Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

QTEL Title I ELD Elementary Cohort of 7 
teachers 
HHS Cohort of 1 teacher 

x_Curriculum and Instruction 
__Behavior 
__Family and Community Engagement  
__Climate 
__Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

Positive 
Behavior 
Intervention 
System 

Title I School 
wide 

Rainbow Walker & Pod-
lead teachers 

 _Curriculum and Instruction 
_x_Behavior 
__Family and Community Engagement  
_x_Climate 
_x_Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

Page 399 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  12 

Multi-Tiered 
Systems of 
Support 
Consortium 

Grant All 
teachers 

GCOE is leading 
consortium 

x_Curriculum and Instruction 
_x_Behavior 
__Family and Community Engagement  
_x_Climate 
_x_Social-Emotional Learning 
__Other: ________________________ 

 

Page 400 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  13 

Step 2:  Examine the Current Initiatives 
 
Complete the information below to identify connections between initiatives and align efforts that relate to the CCEIS plan. 
Identify and describe any gaps in services for any student groups most in need of support.  
 
Name Common Areas Among the Initiatives 
A common theme is reducing inequities to increase access for all students by implementing a framework of Mutli-tiered systems 
of support. The social-emotional learning, the quiet corners, the Second step curriculum are all part of providing social-
emotional support to students. The multi-lingual project, BRILLA and the QTEL are all part of providing academic supports to 
students who are English language learners. Universal design for learning is a significant part of supporting all students in the 
district with academic supports. The positive behavior intervention system is a component of the behavioral supports to 
students. Each initiative in some way promotes learning for all students by developing capacity to provide high quality education 
in a safe learning environment. The district has been working on developing Multi-Tiered Systems of Support for 5 years. 
Teachers continue to need to develop their understanding of tiered academic, social-emotional and behavioral interventions.  
 

 
Identify Processes for Collaboration and Integration of the Initiatives 
Creation of the CCEIS plan has highlighted some inequities in our system. Hamilton is in the early stages of developing the 
Multi-Tiered System of Support which is the umbrella for all current initiatives. LCAP goals for the 2021-24 school years center 
around behavior, academics, a safe climate for learning and parent engagement. CCEIS goals are in alignment with LCAP 
priorities. Professional Development including those CCEIS activities will focus on training teachers to provide Tier 1 and Tier 2 
interventions in academic, behavior and social-emotional domains. 
 

 
Describe any Groups of Students that are Not Served 
These initiatives have focused on supporting the needs of all students in the district, but students with significant behavioral 
and/or emotional needs are not receiving adequate interventions, which is resulting in over-representation in special education 
for this student group.  
 

 
Identify Areas that are a Higher Priority than Others 
More focus on specific classroom initiatives needs to occur. This includes collecting and analyzing data regarding social 
emotional learning and behavior interventions by student groups and designing specific interventions for those classrooms with 
the highest numbers of risk factors including disciplinary incidents and lower than expected achievement.  

 

Page 401 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  14 

2.2 Complete a Programmatic Self-Assessment 

LEAs must identify programmatic self-assessment tool(s) the LEA used and describe the 
process(es) of completion.  Note: At least 1 of the 4 CDE-Approved Programmatic Self-
Assessment tools listed below must be used.   
 
Identify one or more of the approved Self-Assessment Tools used: 

Qualitative Tools: 
_X__ Annotated Checklist for Addressing Racial Disproportionality 
___ Preventing DISPROPORTIONALITY by Strengthening District Policies and Procedures 
- An Assessment and Strategic Planning Process 
___ Success Gaps Rubric: Addressing Equity, Inclusion, and Opportunity 

 
Quantitative Tools: 
___ Racial/Ethnic Disproportionality in Special Education/Data Analysis Workbook 

Note: Each of the tools leans toward either qualitative or quantitative data, therefore your data will 
need to be supplemented to ensure both types of data are used.  For example, the Data Analysis 
Workbook is quantitative in nature, so additional self-assessment activities (such as focus groups, 
equity walks, empathy interviews) would need to be completed to gather qualitative data.  
Supplemental tools can be found on the 2022 CCEIS Padlet. 

Notes for Continuing LEAs ONLY: 

CONTINUING LEAs with new areas of identification: review previous self-assessment 
results and analyze progress towards the measurable outcomes of the existing CCEIS 
plan. You may need to complete a self-assessment tool based on the new area of 
identification and/or lack of progress.  

CONTINUING LEAs with the same area(s) of identification (three years or less): review 
previous self-assessment results and analyze progress towards the measurable outcomes 
of the existing CCEIS plan(s).  

CONTINUING LEAs with more than three years of identification: if you have NOT 
completed a thorough self-assessment process within the last 30 months you MUST use 
one of the 4 CDE-approved tools and complete the self-assessment as described in the 
guidance document for Continuing LEAs. 

Describe how the self-assessment process was completed (who, how, what, and when).  (Be 
sure to include the tools you used to supplement the CDE-Approved self-assessment(s) you 
used.) 
Hamilton Unified chose The Annotated Checklist for Addressing Racial Disproportionality in 
Special Education as the programmatic self-assessment tool for the leadership team and the 
educational partners. The Annotated Checklist is composed of three checklists to address: 
district and school resource issues, system policy, procedure, and practice issues at district, 

Page 402 of 459

https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  15 

school and classroom levels, and environmental factors to identify possible root causes of 
disproportionality. The checklist helped the leadership team and the educational partner team 
analyze racial and ethnic disparities in special education identification. The school personnel on 
the educational partners team were sent the Annotated Checklist and met in campus teams with 
the program specialists to discuss and complete the checklist according to each school site. 
The leadership team each completed the assessment and then reviewed our key findings as a 
group. This guided the team in determine the root cause for the districts significant 
disproportionality in the area of qualifying Hispanic students under the eligibility of Emotional 
Disturbance Disability for special education. 
 
Review of anecdotal data from the educational partner meetings revealed the following common 
themes:  

• Teachers need more training and support with difficult behaviors/emotional students who 
have experienced trauma 

• The student study team process appears to be “fast tracked” when a student has intense 
behaviors 

• Not enough transition planning for incoming TK/K students who have experienced 
trauma 

• Family concerns and resistance to stigma associated with mental health especially if 
there is a history for trauma and mental health issues 

• Community and student access to mental health supports are insufficient for the trauma 
in the community 

• Not enough time to conduct evaluations 
 

In addition to the other parts of the discuss the parents reported: 
• Hispanic community does not want to recognize mental health issues are “real”. She 

reported her community looks at things like anxiety and depression and see those things 
as moral failings or that someone needs to “toughen up and try harder” not seek help.  

• Parents shared they felt like they had to wait too long to get help for their children, the 
parents described “help” as getting an IEP and the services for their child. 

• Wanting education on the different disabilities, what are they, what do they look like, what 
is the difference between a “busy boy” and ADHD and how parents can help. 

• Feeling like there was much more support at the elementary school and not at the high 
school, reporting her son has “fallen through the cracks”. 

 

2.3 Conduct Policies, Practices and Procedures Review  

Upon identification of significant disproportionality, an LEA must provide for the annual review 
and, if appropriate, revision of the policies, practices, and procedures used in identification or 
placement in particular education settings, including disciplinary removals. An LEA must address 
a policy, practice, or procedure it identifies as contributing to the significant disproportionality. In 
addition an LEA must publicly report on any revision of policies, practices, and procedures. (As 
directed in 34 CFR Section 300.646(c) and 300.646(d)(1)(ii-iii).) 
 
Note: The policies, practices, and procedure review are part of the root cause analysis process.  
However, revisions do not have to be completed prior to submission of the CCEIS plan.  The 

Page 403 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  16 

Policies, Practices, and Procedures Review Matrix can support this activity and can be found on 
the 2022 CCEIS Padlet.  
 
Describe the process of reviewing the LEA’s Policies, Practices, and Procedures that relate to 
the significant disproportionality identification.   
Policies, practices, and procedures matrix was reviewed by the Leadership Team. The team determined 
the board policies relating to special education are current with CSBA updates. The Leadership Team 
looked at the practices and procedures for our Student Study Teams and determined these needed 
revision.  

 
Did your LEA revise any policies, practices, or procedures?  

_X__Yes 
___No 
___Partially completed revision 
 

Describe what policies, practices, and/or procedures have been or will be revised.  
The elementary school team is in the process of re-designing the Student Study Team process 
for the school. The school team is developing a new SST form with a spot for a fidelity checklist 
to ensure proper steps are taken before referring to special education. The team is looking at 
the process and attendees for the meeting. This is all being developed with general education 
and special education staff as part of the districts work with MTSS. 

 
Describe how the policies, practices, and/or procedures have been or will be publicly shared 
(e.g., School Board meeting minutes, posting on LEA website).  
The elementary school team is developing these practices and procedures over this school year 
and will be sharing the new process with parents through their parent communication system. 
 

 
Describe how the policies, practices, and/or procedures have been or will be internally 
disseminated and implemented.   
The elementary school team will train staff on the new practices and procedures during 
regularly scheduled collaboration time. 
 

Note: Any actions tied to this review that are not completed should be included in section 3.2. 

 
 
2.4 Complete Reflective Data Analysis 
 

Page 404 of 459

https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  17 

Note: This analysis should provide information that will connect and validate the selected root 
causes, target populations, measurable outcomes and related activities reported in 2.5, 3.1, and 
3.2. 

Briefly describe the LEA (e.g., demographics, culture, history of significant disproportionality). 
Demographics:  
For the 2021-22 school year Hamilton Unified has 694 students enrolled in the district. 
Student Group Total Percentage 
English Learners 175 25.2% 
Homeless 44 6.3% 
Socioeconomically Disadvantaged 559 80.5% 
Students with Disabilities 96 13.8% 
 
Race/Ethnicity Total Percentage 
African American 2 0.3% 
American Indian 4 0.6% 
Asian 7 1% 
Hispanic 601 86.6% 
Two or More Races 1 0.1% 
White 54 7.8% 
 
History of Significant Disability: 
Hamilton Unified has not been found to be significantly disproportionate previously. This is a 
new process for the district.  
 
Culture:  
Hamilton is small rural school district in Northern California. The culture of Hamilton is 
community driven, the district is mainly staffed by individuals who grew up in the community and 
went through the Hamilton schools and then returned to work in the district. Many parents 
attended school in Hamilton and now their children attend the school. The district has many 
events for the community which are very well attended. Parents participate in the school site 
council each year and attend all meetings. Hamilton City is a small community with few 
businesses or recreation opportunities outside of school. There is no law enforcement in 
Hamilton City, it is policed by the county Sheriff stationed 15 minutes away in another town. The 
culture of the community is based around the families and people living in the community. The 
schools are a hub for the community.  
 

 

Page 405 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  18 

 
Fill in the following table to indicate the tools/strategies used to gather relevant data, the process used to analyze the data, 
and the findings from each data source. 

Data Type Tool/Strategy Process Findings 
Qualitative CA Dashboard 

 
Annual 
Performance 
Report 
 
SEIS IEP data 
queries 

We reviewed the California dashboard 
period to look at student groups and 
performance in various target areas.  
We looked at the annual performance 
report on special education targets.   
 
We reviewed the student records in 
our information system to compare 
which grade levels most students 
were identified with Emotional 
Disturbance. 

For the CA dashboard we needed to look at 
the 19-20 & 20-21 school years to collect 
the data. In looking at student 
demographics and students with 
disabilities, it appears our identification rate 
for special education in general is in 
alignment with the population of our entire 
school community. We also looked at the 
discipline data and saw a steep decline in 
suspension rates for students with 
disabilities over the last 3 years with a 
change in practices and leadership at the 
elementary school and in the district. For 
the academic performance rate, general 
education students performed at the same 
rate (below the standard) as students with 
disabilities, while the high school scored 
higher than the elementary school. It 
appeared there is no significant disparity in 
instruction for either Hispanic students or 
students with disabilities. All students 
groups were performing below the standard 
in both ELA and Math. 
In looking at the annual performance report 
on special education targets, the district 
met all targets that were large enough to 
calculate. This included 4a Discipline Rate 
and 4b Discipline Areas with both at 0. For 
5a LRE is well above the state target of 
58% with the district at 76.4% of students 
are out in general education for 80% or 

 

 

Page 406 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  19 

more of their day. There are 0 students in 
general education for less than 40% of their 
day. For 8 the parent involvement rate is 
98.98% which is over the target rate of 
95%. For indicator 9, there are 0 overall 
disproportionality areas. The district met 
the target for transition services at 100% for 
indicator 13. The district met all targets for 
indicators 14a, b, c with rates at 75.5%, 
89.66% and 93.10% respectively.  
In looking for trends in grade level referrals 
our data for current students is:   
  
Initial Evaluation for Emotional Disturbance 
3rd grade 
Preschool – ED added later 
2nd grade 
4th grade 
8th grade 
3rd grade 
1st grade 
Kindergarten 
1st grade 
5th grade 

 Our conclusion being that elementary 
school k-8th grade students and teachers 
need to be targeted for intervention as 
there are no high school referrals. 

Quantitative Annotated 
Checklist for 
Addressing 

Each member of the leadership team 
completed the completed the checklist 
on their own then we met as a team 
and reviewed the results period from 
that we came to a few areas to 

For district and school resources issues we  
determined some areas that are a strength 
but also an opportunity to continue to grow 
during the assessment. Our key areas 
include: teacher training and time for 

Page 407 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  20 

 Racial 
Disproportionality 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Student Record 
Review 
 
Educational 
Partners Meeting 

hypothesize that were causing the 
problem of significant 
disproportionality. We were able to 
narrow this down to six possible root 
causes. We then met with the 
educational partners to review their 
findings first and then to present our 
findings and as a team we were able 
to narrow that down to one main root 
cause that is the reason for all of the 
other cascading issues. 
We reviewed the students IEP records 
to look at their goals and services 
when identified and compare this to 
their current goals, services and 
qualifying category.  

collaboration. Specifically looking at 
supporting inexperienced or struggling 
teachers, training all staff (GE & SPED) on 
SST practices, and working with students 
who have been traumatized for teacher 
training. Collaboration time is already a 
priority for the district with many existing 
opportunities for teachers to coordinate and 
interact. The key finding was the lack of 
collaboration between the preschool on 
campus and the TK/K program.  
In looking at System Policy, Procedure, and 
Practice Issues at the District, School & 
Classroom level we identified several key 
areas including, special education 
evaluation, data collection and use by 
district and school, parental outreach by 
schools and by district, attracting and 
retaining good teachers, IEP team 
meetings, and pre-referral interventions. 
Under special education evaluation the key 
issue was around supports being in place 
to identify and meet the needs of students 
who have experienced trauma. For data 
use section we identified the disaggregated 
data should be routinely shared and 
analyzed by both general and special 
education staff within the district. When 
looking at parental outreach this was 
considered a strength for the district by the 
leadership team and the educational 
partners (including the parents). This was 
identified as an opportunity to augment the 
current initiatives with more parent training 
on what mental health is and is not, 
parenting classes, information to lessen 

 

Page 408 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  21 

stigma about pursuing mental health 
supports all presented in a culturally 
sensitive manner. In the attracting and 
retaining teachers we identified that some 
teachers may need more support if they are 
struggling with classroom management. 
IEP team meetings were another strength 
for the district with broad participation from 
both general education teachers, 
administrators, special education support 
staff, teachers and administrators. For pre-
referral interventions section one key 
finding was the need for all students with 
apparent behavior issues to receive the 
supports or services they need from school 
counselors prior to referral for evaluation. 
While basic behavioral and social- 
emotional strategies are in place as part of 
tier 1 it appears there is a weakness when 
a student has ongoing or intense behavior 
issues.  
Under the Environmental Factors all 
participants in the leadership team and the 
educational partners identified access to 
and coordination with other health and 
human services as an area of need. This 
need being both medical and behavioral 
health access. 
 
In the educational partners meeting another 
area that came up from parents was the 
reticence of the Hispanic community to 
recognize mental health issues and 
understanding disabilities. 

Page 409 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  22 

• Identify who was involved in the discussions about the data analysis.  
• Briefly summarize the prioritized findings of the data analysis (including trends and 

patterns). 
• Findings should include success gaps which are differences in one or more outcome 

measures between groups of children in a district or school. An identified success gap 
indicates that the educational program a district or school offers is not meeting the needs 
of all groups of children. (See Guidance Documents for examples of success gaps.) 

 
The leadership team and the educational partners were involved in all discussion about the data 
analysis.  
Prioritized findings: 

• Cultural concerns and resistance to stigma associated with mental health especially if 
there is a history for trauma and mental health issues 

• Community and student access to mental health supports are insufficient for the level of 
trauma in the community 

• Teachers need more training and support with difficult behaviors/emotional students who 
have experienced trauma 

• All district educators need more training on the student study team process when there 
are students who are traumatized and displaying intense behaviors 

• Preschool students who have experienced trauma need more intensive transition 
planning and preparation for TK/K programs 

• k-8th grade students and teachers need to be targeted for intervention due to referral data 

We have identified a success gap for students who are Hispanic and have experienced trauma 
to have an increased likelihood of identification of the disability, Emotional Disturbance. The 
district is not meeting the needs of students who have experienced significant trauma in their 
lives. The district needs to put more supports into place for parents, students and teachers to 
support these students. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Note: This is a narrative description of the data analysis and findings. Additional charts and tables 
are not needed. 

Page 410 of 459

https://ideadata.org/toolkits/#what-is-a-success-gap


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  23 

2.5 Determine Root Cause(s) Based on Data   
 
Describe the identified Root Cause(s) of disproportionality and briefly reference the data that 
supports the root cause(s). 
Note: Root causes of disproportionality include an intersection between beliefs and practices and 
should describe an identified LEA gap or deficiency that will be addressed by the LEA. 
 

Root Cause Describe the Data Source(s) that Supports  
the Root Cause 

Trauma:  
Traumatic events experienced by students 
in the home and the community that is 
unsupported by existing community and 
school resources. The needs are 
compounded by the growing and continuing 
need for training and support for teachers, 
campus support staff and administration in 
working with these students to provide 
positive childhood experiences to counteract 
the adverse childhood experiences. The 
support for traumatized youth must be 
provided through a culturally sensitive lens. 

 
Qualitative and quantitative data suggests that 
in elementary school there is an issue around 
students with trauma, insufficient behavior 
supports for students and teachers, with a SST 
process that needs clarity for this student 
group and an unmet need in the community to 
understand mental health issues and supports 
available. 

  

  

  

 
  

Page 411 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  24 

 
 
3.1 Identify Target Population 
 
Note: For more information about how to identify the target population, see the Target 
Population Flow Chart on the 2022 CCEIS Padlet. 
 
IDEA funds reserved for CCEIS are for students in the LEA who are, “particularly, but not 
exclusively, children in those groups that were significantly over-identified, including 
children not currently identified as needing special education or related services but who 
need additional academic and behavioral support to succeed in a general education 
environment and children with disabilities.” (See 34C.F.R.§300.646(d)(2).)  “An LEA may not 
limit comprehensive CEIS…to children with disabilities.” (See 34C.F.R.§300.646(d)(3). 
 
The importance of selecting the students who would receive services (i.e., Target Population) 
cannot be overstated. Funds must be used only for the identified target population. 
 
LEAs may not limit CCEIS solely to students of the racial or ethnic group for which the LEA is 
significantly disproportionate. 
 
The Target Population: 
 

• Must be greater than zero 
• Must represent the students expected to receive CCEIS services  
• Must be particularly, but not exclusively, of the race/ethnicity for which the LEA is identified 
• Must be for students who need additional support to be successful in the general education 

environment 
• Cannot equal the number of all students  
• Cannot be exclusively students with disabilities 

 
Describe the Target Population:  List the criteria used to select the students in the LEA, who are 
particularly, but not exclusively, students from those groups that were “significantly over 
identified” who need additional support to be successful in the general education environment. 
(Please include the estimated percentages of students by race/ethnicity.) 
Criteria used:  
Data for referral for special education 
Student enrollment data 
Qualitative data  
Quantitative data 
Target population: 
Preschool students attending Head Start or California State Preschool Program who are 
Hispanic and have information on file about risk factors = 8 students 
Tk-5th grade students who have identified risk factors and are Hispanic 
Tk/k = 3 students 
1st= 1 student 

PHASE THREE: PLAN FOR IMPROVEMENT 
Find instructions for this phase at  

https://spptap.org/phase-iii-plan-for-improvement/ 

Page 412 of 459

https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln
https://spptap.org/phase-iii-plan-for-improvement/


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  25 

2nd= 3 students 
3rd= 3 students 
4th= 3 students 
5th= 3 students 
 

 
Explain how your root causes lead to selection of this group. 
The elementary school administration used data from anecdotal teacher reports, discipline data, 
AIREIS data, file review and interactions with administration to determine the students who 
should be included on our target population 
 
 
 

 
Complete the table below using estimates from current student data. Actual numbers of 
targeted students served will be provided on the Quarterly Progress Reports. 

Estimated Number of Students to Receive CCEIS 
2022 CCEIS Service Period: July 1, 2022 to September 30, 2024 

Report Periods 
Estimated number of students 

currently not identified as 
needing Special Education 

that will receive CCEIS 

Estimated number of students 
currently identified as needing 

Special Education 
that will receive CCEIS  

First 12 months: 
7/1/2022 to 6/30/2023 16 0 

Second 12 months: 
7/1/2023 to 6/30/2024 16 0 

 
Last 3 months:  

7/1/2024 to 9/30/2024 16 0 

Total Students to be 
served during this 27-

month period (non-
duplicative count) 

16 0 

Page 413 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  26 

 
 
3.2 Develop Programmatic Improvement Action Plan 

Complete information below for each measurable outcome. (You may cut and paste empty tables for additional outcomes 
and related activities. You may also add more rows to the activities table).  

Note: Information described in the Measurable Outcomes and Activities will be monitored through quarterly progress 
reporting. 
 

Measurable Outcome # 1 Indicator(s)/Element(s) Root Causes Target Population 
By June 2024, the teachers will attend 
training sessions and will attempt to 
implement 100% of the strategies 
learned to de-escalate students and 
decrease the number of referrals to 
administration.  

10 Disability 
Disproportionality 
Hispanic/Emotional 
Disturbance  

Trauma: Traumatic 
events experienced by 
students in the home and 
the community that is 
unsupported by existing 
community and school 
resources. The needs are 
compounded by the 
growing and continuing 
need for training and 
support for teachers, 
campus support staff and 
administration in working 
with these students to 
provide positive childhood 
experiences to counteract 
the adverse childhood 
experiences. The support 
for traumatized youth 
must be provided through 
a culturally sensitive lens. 

Tk-5th grade Hispanic 
students 

  
Activity Staff Responsible 

for Implementation 
and Monitoring 

Timeline Data Sources/ 
Methods for 

Funding Sources 
and Types of 
Expenditures 

Page 414 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  27 

Evaluating 
Progress 

 

Activity 1.1:Professional Development for staff 
on strategies for working effectively with  
traumatized youth 

Elementary Principal 
SELPA Director 
Mental Health 
Clinicians 
School Psychologist 

Spring 
2023 

Training 
materials 
Notes 
Classroom 
Observation by 
Administration 

Cost for trainer, 
materials 

Activity 1.2: Professional Development for all 
staff on the SST process 

Elementary Principal 
Assistant Principal 
Teachers GE & 
SPED 
SPED Staff 

Spring 
2023 

Stakeholder 
Feedback 
Fidelity 
Checklist 

During existing 
collaboration 
time/no additional 
costs 

 
Measurable Outcome # 2 Indicator(s)/Element(s) Root Causes Target Population 

By October 2023, decrease the number 
of teacher requests for external 
behavioral interventions needed to 
support students following procedures, 
routines and expectations by 50% from 
last year. 

10 Disability 
Disproportionality 
Hispanic/Emotional 
Disturbance 

Trauma: Traumatic 
events experienced by 
students in the home and 
the community that is 
unsupported by existing 
community and school 
resources. The needs are 
compounded by the 
growing and continuing 
need for training and 
support for teachers, 
campus support staff and 
administration in working 
with these students to 
provide positive childhood 
experiences to counteract 
the adverse childhood 
experiences. The support 

Preschool students with 
identified risk factors or 
behaviors as identified by 
preschool staff 

Page 415 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  28 

for traumatized youth 
must be provided through 
a culturally sensitive lens. 

  
Activity Staff Responsible 

for Implementation 
and Monitoring 

Timeline Data Sources/ 
Methods for 
Evaluating 
Progress 

Funding Sources 
and Types of 
Expenditures 

Activity 2.1:Collaboration time between 
preschool administration and elementary 
school administration 

Preschool 
Administration 
Elementary Principal 
Assistant Principal 

Spring 
2023 

Meeting dates 
Meeting notes 

No costs 

Activity 2.2: Collaboration and observational 
time for the TK/K teachers and the preschool 
teachers throughout the school year 

Preschool 
Administration 
Tk/K teachers 
Preschool teachers 

Spring 
2023 

Meeting dates 
Meeting notes 

Release time, cost 
of substitutes 

Activity 2.3: Establish a short summer camp in 
coordination with the Boys and Girls Club for 
incoming TK/K students to teach social skills 
and routine 

Elementary Principal 
Boys and Girls Club 
Site Coordinator 

Summer 
2023 

Attendance  
Discipline Data 
Anecdotal 
Interviews with 
staff 

Fund scholarships 
to become a 
member of the Boys 
and Girls Club 
Program Costs 

Activity 2.4: Establish a TK/K preview week 
with TK/K teachers for the week before school 
starts to teach classroom expectations, 
classroom supports and establish rapport with 
families and students 

Elementary Principal 
Tk teacher 
Kindergarten 
teacher 

Summer 
2023 

Attendance 
Discipline Data 
1st quarter 
report cards: 
social 
emotional 
learning 
section 

Staff costs 
Materials 

 

 

Page 416 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  29 

Measurable Outcome # 3 Indicator(s)/Element(s) Root Causes Target Population 
By June 2024, parents of the target 
population will demonstrate an increase 
in advocating for district services and 
supports for their child, including but not 
limited to academic supports, 
behavioral supports, counseling, social 
services by attending district 
workshops, school site council, LCAP 
sessions and other parent participation 
opportunities by 50% from the 22-23 
school year. 

 

10 Disability 
Disproportionality 
Hispanic/Emotional 
Disturbance  

Trauma: Traumatic 
events experienced by 
students in the home and 
the community that is 
unsupported by existing 
community and school 
resources. The needs are 
compounded by the 
growing and continuing 
need for training and 
support for teachers, 
campus support staff and 
administration in working 
with these students to 
provide positive childhood 
experiences to counteract 
the adverse childhood 
experiences. The support 
for traumatized youth 
must be provided through 
a culturally sensitive lens. 

Tk-5th grade Hispanic 
students 

 
 

Activity Staff Responsible 
for Implementation 

and Monitoring 

Timeline Data Sources/ 
Methods for 
Evaluating 
Progress 

Funding Sources 
and Types of 
Expenditures 

 
Activity 1.1: Parent training on disabilities and 
mental health disorders through a culturally 
sensitive lens 

Superintendent 
Elementary Principal 
High School 
Principal 
Social Services 
Coordinator 

Spring 
2023 

Training 
materials 
Attendee list 
Parent Survey 
Post-training 
 

Cost for trainer 
Materials 
Childcare 
Interpreter 
  

Page 417 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  30 

SELPA Director 
Mental Health 
Clinicians 
School Psychologist 

Activity 1.2: Parent training on positive 
parenting techniques through a culturally 
sensitive lens 

Superintendent 
Elementary Principal 
High School 
Principal 
Social Services 
Coordinator 
SELPA Director 
Mental Health 
Clinicians 
School Psychologist  

Spring 
2023 

Training 
materials 
Attendee list 
Parent Survey 
Post-training 
 
 

Cost for trainer 
Materials 
Childcare 
Interpreter 
 

Page 418 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  31 

3.3 Complete Budget Forms 

Complete both budget forms embedded below.  
 
 

Budget Form 1: 2022 BUDGET ALLOCATION  
 
 
Provide the Fiscal Year 2021–22 allocation awarded for Resource Codes 3310 and 3315: 
 

2021 Resource 3310 Allocation 2021 Resource 3315 Allocation 
$130,734.71 $7,796.27 

 
 
Provide the Fiscal Year 2022–23 allocation awarded for Resource Codes 3310 and 3315: 
Provide the 2022 allocations the SELPA provided to the identified LEA for resource codes 3310 
and 3315. The 15 percent set-aside for CCEIS expenditures will be determined from these two 
resource codes. 
 

2022 Resource 3310 Allocation 2022 Resource 3315 Allocation 
$130,734.71 $7,796.27 

 
In the box below, indicate the 15 percent set aside for each of the Fiscal Year 2022–23 
allocations the LEA was awarded for resource codes 3310 and 3315:  
 

2022 CCEIS Resource 3312 
3312 = 15% of 3310 

 
2022 CCEIS Resource 3318 

3318 = 15% of 3315 

 Total 2022 
CCEIS Budget 

(3312 plus 
3318) 

$19,610.21 plus $1,169.44 equals $20,779.65 
 
The above 15 percent set-aside amounts will be the 2022-23 CCEIS allocations for resource 
codes 3310 (CEIS Resource Code 3312) and 3315 (CEIS Resource 3318) and should be 
expended and reported accurately in quarterly CCEIS Progress and Expenditure Reports. 
Please use the Total 2022 CCEIS Budget indicated above to complete the 2022 Allowable 
Costs Budget form on the next page. 

Page 419 of 459



California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  32 

Budget Form 2: 2022 ALLOWABLE COSTS BUDGET 
 
Complete the table below to reflect the Total 2022 CCEIS Budget as reported on the 2022 
Budget Allocation. CCEIS expenses for 2022 must conform to the U.S. Office of Special 
Education Programs (OSEP) IDEA Part B Regulations Significant Disproportionality (Equity in 
IDEA). For detailed allowable CCEIS expenditures, please refer specifically to Questions C-3-1 
through C-3-10, pages 19 through 24, on the U.S. Department of Education Web page at 
https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/significant-disproportionality-qa-03-08-17-2.pdf. 
 
The 2022 CCEIS period is July 1, 2022, through September 30, 2024. The CCEIS 15 percent set-
aside must be fully expended by September 30, 2024. 
 
 

2022 
Budget Line Items 

Brief Description of 
2022 CCEIS Activities 

Amount for each 
CCEIS Activity 

1000–Certified Salaries Certificated Subs/Preview week $995 
2000–Classified Salaries Interpreter/Childcare $720 
3000–Employee Benefits Benefits $600 

4000–Materials and Supplies Classroom Supplies $1,925 

5000–Services and Other 
Operating Costs Student Scholarships $1,600 

5100 Contract Services (ICR 
cannot be used for Object 
Code 5100) 

 $0 

5800 Contract Services*  Training for Staff and Parents $13,000 

7300–Indirect Cost Rate (ICR) CDE-approved rate of __10.3___ percent)  $1,940 

Total Amount for 2022 CCEIS Activities. The amount must equal the Total 
2022 CCEIS Budget as indicated on the 2022 Budget Allocation Summary.  $20,780 

*Services for the same vendor are capped at $25,000 in 5800 Budget Line.  The remainder must 
be moved into the 5100 Budget Line. 
  
Signature of fiscal/business agents validate the accuracy of the information reported: 
 
LEA Business Fiscal Officer (Print Name & Signature) 
Kristen Hamman 

Date Signed: 

Contact Phone: 530-862-3261 

SELPA Business Fiscal Officer (Print Name & Signature) 
Angela Pacheco 

Date Signed: 

Contact Phone: 530-865-1267 

 

Note: This budget will be revised after actual allocations are finalized. The form for documenting 
revisions to the budget is a standalone document available on the 2022 CCEIS Padlet. 

Page 420 of 459

https://sites.ed.gov/idea/files/significant-disproportionality-qa-03-08-17-2.pdf
https://padlet.com/spptap/nnc2mh2uzmwymkln


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  33 

 
 
4.1 Implement Programmatic Improvement Action Plan and 4.2 Evaluate Effectiveness 

Describe the process for implementation and ongoing collection and analysis of data related to 
the measurable outcomes outlined in the Programmatic Improvement Action Plan. This includes 
tracking of students served, sending out feedback surveys, gathering and sharing data with 
Educational Partners, and adapting the Programmatic Improvement Action Plan based on data.  
The Leadership team will be responsible for collecting, reviewing and analyzing data on a 
quarterly basis to make informed decisions and adjust the plan as appropriate. The data points 
will be drawn from district reports cards, parent surveys post-training, discipline data, the fidelity 
check on the SST forms, and administrative observations in classrooms.  
The Leadership team will meet quarterly to receive updates and monitor the plan 
implementation and provide input for additional steps. Data collected will be analyzed by the 
Leadership Team as we monitor the success of the interventions and supports.  
 

 
4.3 Build Supports and Sustainability 
 
Describe the process for adding support for sustainability of CCEIS activities that demonstrate 
success in reducing disproportionality. Consider LCFF/LCAP, blended funding, grant writing, 
and other funding sources.  
The Leadership team will meet quarterly to determine the effectiveness of the interventions 
described in the plan. If the data analysis demonstrates the efforts have been effective, the 
district will work with existing professional development budgets to continue the efforts in this 
area and continue to allocate funds for substitute time for the Tk/K teachers. The district will 
work with the Boys and Girls Club to blend funding to support the summer program. The district 
will pursue grants to continue to pay for the parents trainings. 
 

 
Identify the General Education administrator responsible for implementing the CCEIS 
Programmatic Improvement Action Plan and will complete quarterly progress reports. 

Staff Name Title Email 
Ulises Tellechea Principal utellechea@husdschools.org 

 
Identify the Fiscal staff responsible for completing the quarterly expenditure reports. 

Staff Name Title Email 
Angela Pacheco Senior Fiscal Specialist apacheco@glenncoe.org 

 

PHASE FOUR: IMPLEMENTING, EVALUATING AND SUSTAINING 
Find instructions for this phase at  

HTTPS://SPPTAP.ORG/PHASE-IV-IMPLEMENTING-EVALUATING-AND-SUSTAINING/ 

Page 421 of 459

https://spptap.org/phase-iv-implementing-evaluating-and-sustaining/


California Department of Education (CDE)  Significant Disproportionality 
Special Education Division                                                                                2022 CCEIS Plan 

3/16/2022  34 

4.4 Complete and Submit SPP-TAP Feedback survey 

List staff responsible for completing and submitting survey provided by SPP-TAP at the end of the 
CCEIS period. 
 

Staff Name Title LEA/Agency Email 
Jacki Campos SELPA 

Director/Assistant 
Superintendent 

Glenn County Office 
of Education 

jcampos@glenncoe.org 

Ulises Tellechea Principal Hamilton Unified 
School District  

utellechea@husdschools.org 

 
 
CCEIS Plan Signatures 
 

By signing below, the authorized personnel validate the accuracy of the information reported and 
agree to implement the CCEIS Plan.   
 

Printed Name and Signature Date 
Dr. Jeremy Powell  

LEA Superintendent   
Jacki Campos  

Special Education Director   
  

School Board Chairperson   
Jacki Campos  

SELPA Director  
 
Submit completed plan to sigdisp@cde.ca.gov by November 1, 2022. 
 

Page 422 of 459

http://sigdisp@cde.ca.gov


HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 
620 Canal Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 

Wednesday, September 28, 2022 

 
5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m.  

 

Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. Please join the meeting by attending in 
person or via the livestream on Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook Group page or through the below Zoom 
link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09 

 
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: board 
 
Dial in by phone: 
        +1 669 900 6833 US  
Meeting ID: 846 8833 0892 
Passcode: 826421 

 
1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 

a. Call to order and roll call at 5:31 p.m. 
 

✓ Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  ✓ (6:31) Rod Boone, Clerk   ✓ Gabriel Leal 
✓ Genaro Reyes    ✓ Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 

may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. None 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters. at 5:31 p.m. 
a. Government Code Section 54957, Personnel Issue. To consider public employee, evaluation, reassignment, 

resignation, release, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and/or certificated employee. 
b. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
c. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 

Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 
 
Report out action taken in closed session. No action. 

 
5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:   at 6:26 p.m. lead by Mr. Leal 

 
6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 
Dr. Powell request to pull Action Item 13.0 b and table for now. 
Motion to adopt the agenda tabling item 13.0 b by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
 

7.0   COMMUNICATIONS/REPORTS: Page 423 of 459

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84688330892?pwd=aGdCb1VRZFgyTURmeW5POUU5WHlVZz09


a. Board Member Comments/Reports 
i. Board members made comments 

b. ASB President and Student Council President Reports 
i. Hamilton High School – Alyssa Fox  

ii. Hamilton Elementary School 
c. District Reports (written) 

i. Technology Report by Frank James (p. 4) 
ii. Nutrition Services Report by Sean Montgomery 

iii. Operations Report by Alan Joksch (p. 5) 
d. Principal and Dean of Student Reports (written) 

i. Ulises Tellechea, Hamilton Elementary School Principal (p. 6) 
1. Mr. Tellechea reviewed report and answered questions 

ii. Maria Reyes, District Dean of Students  
1. Ms. Reyes reviewed report and answered questions 

iii. Cris Oseguera, Hamilton High School Principal (presentation) 
iv. Silvia Robles, Adult School (p. 8) 

e. Chief Business Official Report by Kristen Hamman (p. 9) 
i. Ms. Hamman reviewed report 

f. Superintendent Report by Jeremy Powell (p.10) 
i. Dr. Powell reviewed report 

 
8.0  PRESENTATIONS: 

a. Hamilton High School Presentation 
i. Mr. O gave a presentation with handout 

 
9.0  CORRESPONDENCE: 

a. None 
 

10.0   INFORMATION ITEMS: 
a. HUSD Enrollment History for 5 years (p. 11) 

i. Dr. Powell reviewed and Mr. Lower commented 
b. Bond Status: Fund 21 Update  (p. 13) 

i. Dr. Powell reviewed 
c. Hamilton Elementary Restroom Renovation & Trash Enclosure Project Updates 

i. Ms. Wilhelm reviewed  
ii. Mr. Odom requested to add Facilities Master Plan to future agenda 

 
11.0   DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

a. None 
 

12.0   PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 
heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 

a. Mr. O and Wendell made public comments 
 

13.0   ACTION ITEMS: 
a. Approve updated 2022-23 Classified Confidential/Classified Management salary Schedule (p. 18) 

i. Range 2 Classified Management salary Schedule (5% increase) 
ii. Updated classified management range scale for Nutrition Services Director 

Motion to approve by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Boone. Motion Carried 5-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
b. Approve 3 Year Agreement 2020-23 between CSEA #623 and Hamilton Unified School District (p. 20) 

i. This item was tabled by Dr. Powell 
c. Approve 3 Year Agreement 2021-24 between HTA and Hamilton Unified School District (p. 82) 

Motion to approve by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 5-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Page 424 of 459



Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
d. Approve agreement between Capay Joint Union Elementary School District and Hamilton Unified School 

District on how Developer Fees shall be collected and divided between the two Districts (p. 170) 
After discussion motion to approve by Mr. Boone 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 5-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
 

14.0   CONSENT AGENDA: Items in the consent agenda are considered routine and are acted upon by the Board in one 
motion.  There is no discussion of these items prior to the Board vote and unless a member of the Board, staff, or public 
request specific items be discussed and/or removed from the consent agenda. Each item on the consent agenda 
approved by the Board shall be deemed to have been considered in full and adopted as recommended. 

a. Minutes from Regular Board Meeting on August 24, 2022 (p. 172) 
b. California Department of Education Consolidated Application for 2022-23 (p. 178) 
c. 2021-22 Educator Effectiveness Funds (EEF) Report (p. 185) 
d. Warrants and Expenditures (p. 189) 
e. Interdistrict Transfers (new only; elementary students reapply annually). 

i. Out 
1. Hamilton Elementary School 

a. None 
2. Hamilton High School 

a. None 
ii. In 

1. Hamilton Elementary School 
a. K x 1 

2. Hamilton High School 
a. 9th x 2 

 
f. Personnel Actions as Presented: 

i. New hires: 
Cristian Aguilar Office Assistant I HHS 
   
   
   
   

 
ii. Resignations/Retirement: 

None   
   
   

Motion to approve consent agenda by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 5-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 

Boone: AYE Reyes: AYE 

Odom: AYE  

 
15.0   ADJOURNMENT: at 7:29 p.m. 

X
Rod Boone

HUSD Board Clerk

  

X
Jeremy Powell

HUSD Superintendent

 

Page 425 of 459



HAMILTON UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
SPECIAL BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

Hamilton High School Library/Zoom/Facebook Live 
620 Canal Street, Hamilton City, CA 95951 

Wednesday, October 5, 2022 
 

5:30 p.m.  Public session for purposes of opening the meeting only  
5:30 p.m.  Closed session to discuss closed session items listed below (For Board Only) 
6:00 p.m. Reconvene to open session no later than 6:30 p.m.  

 
Hamilton Unified School District Board Meetings are open to the public. Please join the meeting by attending in 
person or via the livestream on Facebook Live on the District’s Facebook Group page or through the below Zoom 
link or dial by phone as listed below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85372805332?pwd=d01qa2tuZ0lMSlJkeVFmMmFRdVgxUT09 
 
Meeting ID: 853 7280 5332 
Passcode: board 
 

Dial in by phone: 
        +1 669 900 6833 US  
Meeting ID: 853 7280 5332 
Passcode: 579412 
1.0 OPENING BUSINESS: 

a. Call to order and roll call at 5:30 p.m. 
 

 Hubert “Wendell” Lower, President  _______Rod Boone, Clerk    Gabriel Leal 
 Genaro Reyes     Ray Odom 

 
2.0 IDENTIFY CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: 

 
3.0 PUBLIC COMMENT ON CLOSED SESSION ITEMS: Public comment will be heard on any closed session items. The board 

may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 15 minutes per item. None 
 

4.0 ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION: To consider qualified matters at 5:31 p.m. 
a. Government Code Section 54957 (b), Personnel Issue. To consider the employment, evaluation, reassignment, 

resignation, dismissal, or discipline of a classified and certificated employees. 
b. Government Code Section 54957.6, Labor Negotiations. To confer with the District’s Labor Negotiator, 

Superintendent Jeremy Powell regarding HTA and CSEA negotiations. 
c. Conference with labor Negotiator Gov. Code sec. 54957.6, subd. (a). Agency designated representative: Dr. 

Jeremy Powell; Employee Organization: Hamilton Teachers Association. 
 

Report out action taken in closed session. No action. 
 

5.0 PUBLIC SESSION/FLAG SALUTE:  at 6:00 p.m. lead by Dr. Powell 
 

6.0 ADOPT THE AGENDA: (M) 
 
Motion to adopt the agenda by Mr. Reyes 2nd  by Mr. Odom. Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 
Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 
Odom: AYE  

 
  

Page 426 of 459

https://www.google.com/url?q=https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85372805332?pwd%3Dd01qa2tuZ0lMSlJkeVFmMmFRdVgxUT09&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1664030297818530&usg=AOvVaw0Wl1ZUP7cpcpYdNFqcbol6


 
7.0 PUBLIC COMMENT: Public comment on any item of interest to the public that is within the Board’s jurisdiction will be 

heard (agenda and non-agenda items). The Board may limit comments to no more than three minutes per speaker and 
15 minutes per topic. Public comment will also be allowed on each specific action item prior to board action thereon. 
No public comment 

 
8.0 ACTION ITEMS: 

a. Adopt Board Resolution No. 22-23-102: GANN Limit (p. 5) 
i. Ms. Hamman reviewed and answered questions 

Motion to adopt the resolution by Mr. Odom 2nd  by Mr. Leal. Motion Carried 4-0 
Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 
Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 
Odom: AYE  

 
b. Review and Approved 2021-22 Unaudited Actuals (p. 6) 

i. Ms. Hamman reviewed and answered questions 
ii. Mr. Odom requested that District request list of transactions over the last 10 years that would have 

affected Fund 25 
Motion to approve by Mr. Leal 2nd  by Mr. Reyes. Motion Carried 4-0 

Leal: AYE Lower: AYE 
Boone: ABSENT Reyes: AYE 
Odom: AYE  

 
 

9.0 ADJOURNMENT: at 6:25 p.m. 

Page 427 of 459



  

 

 

AGENDA ITEM: Notice of Exemption of the California Environmental Quality Act  

Hamilton Elementary School Alterations at Existing Restrooms 

 

Prepared by: Jeremy Powell, Superintendent 

 

X Consent Board Date October 26, 2022 

    

 Information Only   

    

 Discussion/Action   

 

Background Information 

The Notice of Exemption (NOE) serves as public notice that a project is exempt from CEQA. The filing of an 

NOE and the posting on the list of notices start a 35-day statute of limitations period on legal challenges to 

the agency's decision that the project is exempt from CEQA. 

 

The project is exempt from further review under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to 

§15301 of the State CEQA Guidelines. The activity is covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to 

projects which have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment. Where it can be seen 

with certainty that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the 

environment, the activity is not subject to CEQA. 

The project entails operation, repair, maintenance, or minor alteration of existing facilities; uses of structures 

are not expanded.  The analysis confirms that the project fits within the categorical exemptions allowed by 

the California Environmental Quality Act of 1970. 

 

Fiscal Implications 

The filing fees of $50.00 will be funded with ESSER III Funds 

 

Recommendation 

It is requested that the Board of Education authorize the Superintendent to approve and execute the Notice 

of Exemption for the Hamilton Elementary School Alterations at Existing Restrooms project. 

Page 428 of 459



 
 

 

 
  
 

  

  
   

   

 

  

 

 
 

 
 
 

     

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   
     

 
  

 
      
 

   

   
 

      
   

 
   

 

 

  

 

  

 

        Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  

          

   

_______________________________________________

Print Form 

Notice of Exemption Appendix E 

 From: (Public Agency):  ____________________________To: Office of Planning and Research 
P.O. Box 3044, Room 113

 _______________________________________________Sacramento, CA 95812-3044 

 County Clerk 
(Address) 

___________________________ 

___________________________ 

County of:  __________________ 

Project Title:  ____________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Applicant:  ________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Location - Specific: 

Project Location - City: ______________________ Project Location - County: 

Description of Nature, Purpose and Beneficiaries of Project: 

_____________________ 

Name of Public Agency Approving Project:  _____________________________________________________ 

Name of Person or Agency  Carrying Out Project: ________________________________________________ 

Exempt Status:  (check one): 
Ministerial (Sec. 21080(b)(1); 15268); 

Declared Emergency (Sec. 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 

Emergency Project (Sec. 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 

Reasons why project is exempt: 

Lead Agency 
Contact Person: ____________________________ Area Code/Telephone/Extension: _______________ 

If filed by applicant: 
1. Attach certified document of exemption finding.
2. Has a Notice of Exemption been filed by the public agency approving the project?  Yes No 

Signature: ____________________________ Date: 

Signed by Lead Agency Signed by Applicant 

Authority cited: Sections 21083 and 21110, Public Resources Code. Date Received for filing at OPR:  
Reference: Sections 21108, 21152, and 21152.1, Public Resources Code. 

_______________ 

Categorical Exemption. State type and section number:  ____________________________________ 

______________________________________________ 

______________ Title: _______________________ 

Revised 2011 

X 15301

Operation, repair, maintenance, or minor alteration of existing facilities; uses of structures are not 
expanded.

Jeremy Powell, Superintendent 530-826-3261

X

Page 429 of 459



  

 

 

AGENDA ITEM: Notice of Exemption of the California Environmental Quality Act  

Hamilton High School & Elementary School Solar Array Installations 

 

Prepared by: Jeremy Powell, Superintendent 

 

X Consent Board Date October 26, 2022 

    

 Information Only   

    

 Discussion/Action   

 

Background Information 

The Notice of Exemption (NOE) serves as public notice that a project is exempt from CEQA. The filing of an 

NOE and the posting on the list of notices start a 35-day statute of limitations period on legal challenges to 

the agency's decision that the project is exempt from CEQA. 

 

The project is exempt from further review under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to 

§21080.35 of the State CEQA Guidelines which provides that solar energy systems installed on an existing 

parking lot are statutorily exempt from CEQA. 

 

Fiscal Implications 

The filing fees of $50.00 will be funded with General Funds 

 

Recommendation 

It is requested that the Board of Education authorize the Superintendent to approve and execute the Notice 

of Exemption for HES and HHS Solar Array Installations. 

Page 430 of 459



Page 431 of 459



P
age 432 of 459



P
age 433 of 459



P
age 434 of 459



P
age 435 of 459



P
age 436 of 459



P
age 437 of 459



P
age 438 of 459



P
age 439 of 459



P
age 440 of 459



P
age 441 of 459



P
age 442 of 459



P
age 443 of 459



P
age 444 of 459



P
age 445 of 459



P
age 446 of 459



P
age 447 of 459



P
age 448 of 459



P
age 449 of 459



P
age 450 of 459



P
age 451 of 459



P
age 452 of 459



P
age 453 of 459



P
age 454 of 459



P
age 455 of 459



P
age 456 of 459



P
age 457 of 459



P
age 458 of 459



P
age 459 of 459


	H2 BUTTE GLENN HUSD_CAEP_SEPT 2022.pdf
	HUSD_CAEP_SEPT 2022.pdf
	Exhibits A-D.pdf
	Allocation Agreement AEBG Program Exhibit A (08-21).pdf
	Allocation Agreement AEBG Program Exhibit A (08-21)

	Allocation Agreement CAEP Program Exhibit A (10-22).pdf
	Allocation Agreement AEBG Program Exhibit B (08-21).pdf
	Allocation Agreement AEBG Program Exhibit B (08-21)

	Allocation Agreement CAEP Program Exhibit B (10-22).pdf
	NOVA_ CAEP Consortium Fiscal Administration Declaration_ 2022-23 04 Butte-Glenn Adult Education Consortium (1).pdf
	04_Butte_Glenn_Adult_Education_Consortium_CFAD_Amendment_Allocation_2022_23.pdf

	Allocation Agreement CAEP Program Exhibit C (10-22).pdf
	Allocation Agreement CAEP Program Exhibit D (10-22).pdf



	From Public Agency: Hamilton Unified School District
	FromAddress1: 620 Canal Street
	FromAddress2: Hamilton City, CA 95951
	County of 1: Glenn
	County of 2: 516 W. Sycamore Street, Second Floor
	County of 3: Willows, CA  95988
	Project Title: Hamilton Elementary School Alterations at Existing Restroom
	Project Applicant: Hamilton Unified School District
	Project Location: 277 Capay Avenue
	Project Location  City: Hamilton City
	Project Location  County: Glenn
	Description of Nature: Renovation of existing student restrooms at Hamilton Elementary School
	Name of Public Agency Approving Project: Hamilton Unified School District
	Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project: Jeremy Powell, Superintendent
	Ministerial Sec 21080b1 15268: 
	Declared Emergency Sec 21080b3 15269a: 
	Emergency Project Sec 21080b4 15269bc: 
	Categorical Exemption State type and section number: 
	Categorical Exemption Type and Section Number: 
	Statutory Exemptions State code number: 
	Statuatory Exemptions: Code: 
	ReasonExempt: 
	Contact Person: 
	Area CodeTelephoneExtension: 
	YesNOWfiled: Off
	NOWfiledno: Off
	Date_2: 
	Date: 
	Title: 
	Signed by Lead Agency: Off
	Signed by Applicant: Off
	Date Received for filing at OPR: 


